
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 
SOLANA BEACH CITY COUNCIL 

 SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY, PUBLIC FINANCING 

AUTHORITY, HOUSING AUTHORITY  

AGENDA
Joint REGULAR Meeting 

Wednesday, October 28, 2020 * 6:00 p.m. 
Teleconference Location Only-City Hall/Council Chambers, 635 S. Highway 101, Solana Beach, California 
This meeting will be conducted in accordance with Governor Newsom’s Executive Order N-29-20 related to the COVID-19 virus. 

PUBLIC MEETING VIEWING 
 Live Broadcast on Local Government Channel, Live web-streaming, and Archived videos
online.
The Regular Meetings of the City Council are scheduled for the 2nd and 4th Wednesdays and are
broadcast live on Cox Communications-Channel 19, Spectrum(Time Warner)-Channel 24, and AT&T U-
verse Channel 99. The video taping of meetings are maintained as a permanent record and contain a
detailed account of the proceedings. Council meeting tapings are archived and available for viewing on
the City’s Public Meetings webpage.
 Zoom Virtual Webinar (registration required). Register early and Join the meeting at least 15
minutes prior to the start time.  To register to view/listen to the meeting, go to this public participant link
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_Srxz3G4fQLmot9lvFDU_-Q for this meeting, follow the
prompts to enter your name and email address. * To receive a confirmation email allowing you to enter
the meeting and the link to join, you will need to enter a valid email address. Choose Gallery View to see
the presentations, when applicable.

MEETING LOCATION WILL NOT BE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC. 
Due to the Executive Order to stay home, in person participation at City Council meetings will not be 
allowed at this time. In accordance with the Executive Order to stay home, there will be no members of 
the public in attendance at Council Meetings. Alternatives to in-person attendance for viewing and 
participating in City Council meetings are being provided under Public Participation.   

AGENDA MATERIALS  
A full City Council agenda packet including relative supporting documentation is posted online 
www.cityofsolanabeach.org Closed Session Agendas are posted at least 72 hours prior to regular meetings 
and at least 24 hours prior to special meetings.  

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 Written correspondence regarding an agenda item at an open session meeting should be submitted to
the City Clerk’s Office at EMAILGRP-CityClerksOfc@cosb.org with the Subject line including the meeting date.
Please include the Agenda Item# and topic in your email. *  Correspondence received after the official
posting of the agenda, but before 12:00 p.m. on meeting day, will be distributed to Council and made
available to the public online along with the agenda posting. Written submittals will be added to the record
and not read out loud. *  All submittals received before the start of the meeting will be made part of the
record. The designated location for viewing public documents is the City’s website
www.cityofsolanabeach.org
 Zoom Webinar Public Comment Participation:

If you wish to provide a live verbal comment during the meeting, register for the Zoom Virtual (City Council Meeting)
Webinar (registration required), register for the Zoom webinar as noted at the top, under Public Meeting/Zoom
Webinar, and join the meeting using the “Join Webinar” link provided in your confirmation email.
1) EMAIL a Speaker Request by 12:00 p.m. (noon) on meeting day to EMAILGRP-CityClerksOfc@cosb.org

 Subject line should include Request to Speak

 Content should include the Item/Topic you would like to speak on.
AND 
2) REGISTER as a speaker on meeting day by 12:00 p.m. (noon) by going to:

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_Srxz3G4fQLmot9lvFDU_-Q and follow the required prompts to

receive a confirmation email with your log in link. 

 Join the meeting 30 minutes before the meeting begins by clicking on the link provided in your confirmation
email.

 Speaking participants may use the computer's microphone and speakers to listen and communicate or they
may also call into the meeting by dialing into the meeting with a telephone (this information will be provided

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.ci.solana-2Dbeach.ca.us_index.asp-3FSEC-3DF0F1200D-2D21C6-2D4A88-2D8AE1-2D0BC07C1A81A7-26Type-3DB-5FBASIC&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=1XAsCUuqwK_tji2t0s1uIQ&m=wny2RVfZJ2tN24LkqZmkUWNpwL_peNtTZUBlTBZiMM4&s=WwpcEQpHHkFen6nS6q2waMuQ_VMZ-i1YZ60lD-dYRRE&e=
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_Srxz3G4fQLmot9lvFDU_-Q
http://www.cityofsolanabeach.org/
mailto:EMAILGRP-CityClerksOfc@cosb.org
http://www.cityofsolanabeach.org/
mailto:EMAILGRP-CityClerksOfc@cosb.org
https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_Srxz3G4fQLmot9lvFDU_-Q


Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Agenda   October 28, 2020  Page 2 of 7  

in your email confirmation). If you call in as well for better audio, mute your computer's speakers to eliminate 
feedback.  

 Participants will be called upon from those who have submitted the Speaker Request, registered, and
logged on as described above. You will be called on by name and unmuted by the meeting organizer and
may provide comments for the allotted time. Allotted speaker times are listed under each Agenda section.

 Participants can use a computer microphone and speakers to listen and communicate or dial into the
meeting with a telephone (if you log in and call in, mute one of the devices to eliminate feedback).

 Do not self-mute since you will be muted when you enter the meeting and organizers will unmute you to
provide comments. All oral comments received prior to the close of the meeting will be made part of the
meeting record.

SPECIAL ASSISTANCE NEEDED - AMERICAN DISABILITIES ACT TITLE 2 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, persons with a disability may request an 
agenda in appropriate alternative formats as required by Section 202. Any person with a disability who 
requires a modification or accommodation in order to participate in a meeting should direct such request to the 
City Clerk’s office (858) 720-2400 EMAILGRP-CityClerksOfc@cosb.org at least 72 hours prior to the meeting. 

As a courtesy to all meeting attendees, please set cellular phones and pagers to silent mode 
and engage in conversations offline/muted. 

CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 

Jewel Edson, Mayor 

Judy Hegenauer, Deputy Mayor Kristi Becker, Councilmember 

Kelly Harless, Councilmember David A. Zito, Councilmember 

Gregory Wade 
City Manager 

Johanna Canlas 
City Attorney 

Angela Ivey 
City Clerk 

SPEAKERS: 
See Public Participation on the first page of the Agenda for publication participation options. 

READING OF ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS: 
Pursuant to Solana Beach Municipal Code Section 2.04.460, at the time of introduction or adoption of an 
ordinance or adoption of a resolution, the same shall not be read in full unless after the reading of the title, 
further reading is requested by a member of the Council. If any Councilmember so requests, the ordinance 
or resolution shall be read in full. In the absence of such a request, this section shall constitute a waiver by 
the council of such reading. 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT:  

FLAG SALUTE: 

PROCLAMATIONS/CERTIFICATES: Ceremonial 

None at the posting of this agenda 

PRESENTATIONS: Ceremonial items that do not contain in-depth discussion and no action/direction. 

None at the posting of this agenda 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA:  

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
Note to Public: Refer to Public Participation for information on how to submit public comment.   
This portion of the agenda provides an opportunity for members of the public to address the 
City Council on items relating to City business and not appearing on today’s agenda by 

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.ci.solana-2Dbeach.ca.us_index.asp-3FSEC-3DF0F1200D-2D21C6-2D4A88-2D8AE1-2D0BC07C1A81A7-26Type-3DB-5FBASIC&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=1XAsCUuqwK_tji2t0s1uIQ&m=C7WzXfOw2_nkEFMJClT55zZsF4tmIf_7KTn0o1WpYqI&s=3DcsWExM2_nx_xpvFtXslUjphiXd0MDCCF18y_Qy5yU&e=
mailto:EMAILGRP-CityClerksOfc@cosb.org
mailto:https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/SolanaBeach/


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Agenda                  October 28, 2020                 Page 3 of 7  

having submitted written comments for the record to be filed with the record or by registering 
to join the virtual meeting online to speak live, per the Public Participation instructions on the 
Agenda.  
 
Comments relating to items on this evening’s agenda are taken at the time the items are 
heard. Pursuant to the Brown Act, no action shall be taken by the City Council on public 
comment items.  Council may refer items to the City Manager for placement on a future 
agenda.  The maximum time allotted for each speaker is THREE MINUTES (SBMC 2.04.190).  
 

COUNCIL COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS / COMMENTARY: 
An opportunity for City Council to make brief announcements or report on their activities. These items 
are not agendized for official City business with no action or substantive discussion.  
 

A. CONSENT CALENDAR:  (Action Items) (A.1. - A.5.) 
Note to Public: Refer to Public Participation for information on how to submit public comment.   
Items listed on the Consent Calendar are to be acted in a single action of the City Council 
unless pulled for discussion.  
Any member of the public may address the City Council on an item of concern by submitting 
written correspondence for the record to be filed with the record or by registering to join the 
virtual meeting online to speak live, per the Public Participation instructions on the Agenda. 
The maximum time allotted for each speaker is THREE MINUTES (SBMC 2.04.190).  
Those items removed from the Consent Calendar by a member of the Council will be trailed to 
the end of the agenda, while Consent Calendar items removed by the public will be discussed 
immediately after approval of the Consent Calendar. 

 
A.1. Minutes of the City Council.  
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Approve the Minutes of the following City Council meetings, September 9 and 
September 23, 2020.  

 

Item A.1. Report (click here)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 
 
A.2. Register of Demands. (File 0300-30) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1.  Ratify the list of demands for September 26, 2020 – October 9, 2020. 
 

Item A.2. Report (click here)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 
 
A.3. General Fund Adopted Budget Changes for Fiscal Year 2020/21. (File 0330-30)  
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Receive the report listing changes made to the Fiscal Year 2020-2021 
General Fund Adopted Budget. 

 

Item A.3. Report (click here)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 



 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Agenda                  October 28, 2020                 Page 4 of 7  

Clerk’s Office. 

 
A.4. Closing City Hall Between the Christmas and New Year’s Holidays. (File 

0110-75) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1.  Adopt Resolution 2020-138 authorizing the closure of City Hall and all non-
public safety facilities on Monday, December 28th, Tuesday, December 
29th, and Wednesday, December 30th for miscellaneous, confidential and 
management employees, and approve 12-hours of additional leave to the 
fire employees’ leave banks and 24-hours of additional leave to the marine 
safety employees’ leave banks. 

 

Item A.4. Report (click here)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
A.5.  City’s Housing and Safety Elements Update Services Agreement.  (File 0610-

10) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Adopt Resolution 2020-137 authorizing the City Manager to execute an 
amendment to the Professional Services Agreement with Kimley-Horn and 
Associates Inc. for an additional amount not to exceed $65,000. 
  

Item A.5. Report (click here)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
 
B.  PUBLIC HEARINGS:  None 
 
 
C. STAFF REPORTS:  (C.1. – C.4.) 
Note to Public: Refer to Public Participation for information on how to submit public comment.   
Any member of the public may address the City Council on an item of concern by submitting 
written correspondence for the record to be filed with the record or by registering to join the 
virtual meeting online to speak live, per the Public Participation instructions on the Agenda. 
The maximum time allotted for each speaker is THREE MINUTES (SBMC 2.04.190).  
 
 

C.1. 6th Cycle Housing Element Update Discussion.  (File 0610-10) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Discuss and provide guidance regarding the Draft Housing Element Update. 
 

Item C.1. Report (click here)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
 



 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Agenda                  October 28, 2020                 Page 5 of 7  

 
C.2. Senate Bill 1383 Organic Waste Requirements and Impacts. (File 1030-50) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 
1. Receive a presentation from Staff on SB 1383 and provide direction to Staff 

as appropriate. Direction could include to draft regulations and ordinances 
as required by SB 1383 for Council to consider and to explore options to 
address SB 1383 requirements collaboratively with other RSWA cities. 

 

Item C.2. Report (click here)   
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
 
C.3. Community Development Block Grant CARES Act (CDBG-CV) and CARES 

Act CRF Funding and Community Resource Center Administration of a 
Rental Assistance Program.  (File 0230-20) 

 
Recommendation: That the City Council  
 
1. Adopt Resolution 2020–136 approving the use of CDBG-CV funding for the Food 

Distribution Event and the Rental Assistance Program. 
2. Adopt Resolution 2020–140 approving the use of CARES Act CRF funding for the 

Rental Assistance Program. 
3. Approve the MOUs with CRC to administer the Rental Assistance Program. 
4. Authorize the City Manager to enter into any and all agreements with the County of 

San Diego to administer the CDBG-CV program. 
 

Item C.3. Report (click here)   
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
 
C.4. Vacation Accrual Administrative Policy Amendment.  (File 0520-80) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Consider adoption of Resolution 2020-139 approving and directing the City 
Manager to amend current polices to allow executive and mid-management 
employees to cash out a certain number of vacation hours on an annual 
basis. 

 

Item C.4. Report (click here)   
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
 
WORK PLAN COMMENTS:  
Adopted June 12, 2019 
 
 



 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Agenda                  October 28, 2020                 Page 6 of 7  

COMPENSATION & REIMBURSEMENT DISCLOSURE:  
GC: Article 2.3.  Compensation: 53232.3. (a) Reimbursable expenses shall include, but not be 
limited to, meals, lodging, and travel. 53232.3 (d) Members of a legislative body shall provide 
brief reports on meetings attended at the expense of the local agency “City” at the next regular 
meeting of the legislative body.  
 

COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS: Council Committees 

REGIONAL COMMITTEES: (outside agencies, appointed by this Council) 
a. City Selection Committee (meets twice a year) Primary-Edson, Alternate-Zito 
b. County Service Area 17: Primary- Harless, Alternate-Edson 
c. Escondido Creek Watershed Authority: Becker /Staff (no alternate). 
d. League of Ca. Cities’ San Diego County Executive Committee: Primary-Becker, Alternate-  

Harless and any subcommittees. 
e. League of Ca. Cities’ Local Legislative Committee: Primary-Harless, Alternate-Becker 
f. League of Ca. Cities’ Coastal Cities Issues Group (CCIG): Primary-Becker, Alternate-

Harless 
g. North County Dispatch JPA: Primary-Harless, Alternate-Becker 
h. North County Transit District: Primary-Edson, Alternate-Becker 
i. Regional Solid Waste Association (RSWA): Primary-Hegenauer, Alternate-Becker 
j. SANDAG: Primary-Zito, 1st Alternate-Edson, 2nd Alternate-Becker, and any subcommittees.  
k. SANDAG Shoreline Preservation Committee: Primary-Hegenauer, Alternate-Zito 
l. San Dieguito River Valley JPA: Primary-Hegenauer, Alternate-Zito 
m. San Elijo JPA: Primary-Zito, Primary-Becker, Alternate-City Manager 

n. 22nd Agricultural District Association Community Relations Committee: Primary-Edson, 
Primary-Harless 

STANDING COMMITTEES: (All Primary Members) (Permanent Committees) 
a. Business Liaison Committee – Zito, Edson.  
b. Fire Dept. Management Governance & Organizational Evaluation – Harless, Hegenauer 
c. Highway 101 / Cedros Ave. Development Committee – Edson, Becker 
d. Parks and Recreation Committee – Zito, Harless  
e. Public Arts Committee – Edson, Hegenauer 
f. School Relations Committee – Hegenauer, Harless 
g. Solana Beach-Del Mar Relations Committee – Zito, Edson 

 
ADJOURN: 
 
 

Next Scheduled Meeting is a Special Meeting on November  18, 2020 
Always refer the City’s website Event Calendar for Special Meetings or an updated schedule.  

Or Contact City Hall 858-720-2400 
www.cityofsolanabeach.org      

 

 
AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING 
 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 

§ 
 

I, Angela Ivey, City Clerk of the City of Solana Beach, do hereby certify that this Agenda for the October 
28, 2020 Council Meeting was called by City Council, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency, 
Public Financing Authority, and the Housing Authority of the City of Solana Beach, California, was 
provided and posted on October 21, 2020 at 5:00 p.m. on the City Bulletin Board at the entrance to the 
City Council Chambers. Said meeting is held at 6:00 p.m., October 28, 2020, in the Council Chambers, 
at City Hall, 635 S. Highway 101, Solana Beach, California.       

        Angela Ivey, City Clerk * City of Solana Beach, CA  

https://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=584E1192-3850-46EA-B977-088AC3E81E0D&Type=B_BASIC
http://www.cityofsolanabeach.org/


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Agenda                  October 28, 2020                 Page 7 of 7  

 

 
CITIZEN CITY COMMISSION AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS: 
Regularly Scheduled, or Special Meetings that have been announced, are posted on each Citizen 
Commission’s Agenda webpage. See the Citizen Commission’s Agenda webpages or the City’s 
Events Calendar for updates.  

o Budget & Finance Commission 
o Climate Action Commission 
o Parks & Recreation Commission 
o Public Arts Commission 
o View Assessment Commission 

 

https://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=3302C065-5C8A-43D2-88C2-F03C61D1DA2A&Type=B_BASIC
https://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=FA26EC83-8D1C-4941-A3B2-20CA81EDCDDE&Type=B_EV


 

 

CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 
SOLANA BEACH CITY COUNCIL 

 SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY, PUBLIC FINANCING 

AUTHORITY, HOUSING AUTHORITY  
 

 

 

Solana Beach City Council Closed Session Minutes                   September 9, 2020                     Page 1 of 1  

MINUTES 
Joint – Closed Session 

Wednesday, September 9, 2020 5:00 p.m.  
Teleconference Location Only-City Hall/Council Chambers, 635 S. Highway 101, Solana Beach, California 

Pursuant to Governor Newsom’s Executive Order N-29-20, City Council and staff participated in this meeting via teleconference. 

Minutes contain a summary of significant discussions and formal actions taken at a City Council meeting. 
 

CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 

Jewel Edson, Mayor 

Judy Hegenauer, Deputy Mayor Kristi Becker, Councilmember 

Kelly Harless, Councilmember David A. Zito, Councilmember 

Gregory Wade 
City Manager 

Johanna Canlas 
City Attorney 

Angela Ivey 
 City Clerk 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: 
Mayor Edson called the meeting to order at 5:04 p.m. 
Present:  Jewel Edson, Judy Hegenauer, Kristi Becker, Kelly Harless, David A. Zito 
Absent:  None 
Also Present: Gregory Wade, City Manager 

Johanna Canlas, City Attorney 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS (ONLY):  None 
 

CLOSED SESSION: 
1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – INITIATION OF LITIGATION 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4) 
One (1) Potential case(s). 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2)  

3. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) 
- Cox Communications v. City of Solana Beach (Case 37-2020-0002848-CU) 

4. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION  
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957 
City Manager review. 

5. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – INITIATION OF LITIGATION (added 9-3-20)  
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(4)  
One (1) Potential case(s). 
 

ACTION: No reportable action. 
 

ADJOURN: 
Mayor Edson adjourned the meeting at 5:50 p.m. 
 
 
 

Angela Ivey, City Clerk    Approved:  ______________________ 



 

CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 
SOLANA BEACH CITY COUNCIL 

 SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY, PUBLIC FINANCING 

AUTHORITY, HOUSING AUTHORITY  
 

 

MINUTES 
Joint REGULAR Meeting 

Wednesday, September 9, 2020 *6:00 p.m.  
Teleconference Location Only-City Hall/Council Chambers, 635 S. Highway 101, Solana Beach, California 

This meeting was conducted in accordance with Governor Newsom’s  

Executive Order N-29-20 and N-33-20 related to the COVID-19 virus. 

Minutes contain a summary of significant discussions and formal actions taken at a City Council meeting. 
➢ City Council meetings are video recorded and archived as a permanent record. The video recording captures the 

complete proceedings of the meeting and is available for viewing on the City's website.  
➢ Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time prior to meetings for processing new 

submittals. Complete records containing meeting handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records 
Request. 

 
 

CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 

Jewel Edson, Mayor 

Judy Hegenauer, Deputy Mayor Kristi Becker, Councilmember 

Kelly Harless, Councilmember David A. Zito, Councilmember 

 

Gregory Wade 
City Manager 

Johanna Canlas 
City Attorney 

Angela Ivey 
City Clerk 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: 
Mayor Edson called the meeting to order at 6:05 p.m. 
 
Present:   Jewel Edson, Judy Hegenauer, Kristi Becker, Kelly Harless, David A. Zito 

Absent:    None 

Also 
Present:   
        

Greg Wade, City Manager 
Johanna Canlas, City Attorney 
Angela Ivey, City Clerk 
Dan King, Assistant City Manager  
Mo Sammak, City Engineer/Public Works Dir. 
Marie Berkuti, Finance Director 
Rod Greek, Interim Finance Director 
Joseph Lim, Community Development Dir.  

 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT: No reportable action. 
 
FLAG SALUTE: 
 

PROCLAMATIONS: 
 
Randy Treadway 
Mayor Edson presented a proclamation to Randy Treadway, Commander of the 
Veterans of Foreign Wars Post 5431 and as a U.S. Army Veteran, in honor of his 40-
plus years of service to Veterans, and service to the community and Country.  
 
Teacher Recognition  

https://solanabeach.12milesout.com/#page=1
http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F5D45D10-70CE-4291-A27C-7BD633FC6742&Type=B_BASIC
http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F5D45D10-70CE-4291-A27C-7BD633FC6742&Type=B_BASIC


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 9, 2020               Page 2 of 8  

Deputy Mayor Hegenauer presented a proclamation to Debra Shade in honor of 
Solana Beach Teachers for their tireless commitment, talent and creativity to educate 
and inspire students during unprecedented and extraordinary circumstances.  
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA:  
 
Motion: Moved by Mayor Edson and second by Deputy Mayor Hegenauer to approve 
the agenda with moving item C.3., Climate Action Commission Appointment, prior to 
item C.1., Lomas Santa Fe Corridor Improvements. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, 
Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
Terri-Ann Skelly spoke in opposition to Measure S, which allows commercial marijuana 
retailers, due to risks to youth, and requested that Council take a strong stand against it.      
 
Speakers regarding Council Resolution 2020-116, adopted June 8, 2020, in support 
and solidarity with black residents and communities of color: 
 

Shawn McClondon proposed a Sister City project for partnerships between affluent 
areas and marginalized regions to build relationships in concert with the Resolution. 
 
Susana Arnold, Solana Beach for Equality, inquired about actions taken in support 
of the Resolution. 
 
Paris Lovely spoke about addressing racism.  
 
Lisa Montes discussed diversity and proposed a law enforcement task force. 
 
Rachel McHale asked about Council’s plans to achieve equality and the creation of 
a task force. 
 
Tina Zuker questioned the direction the City would be taking to implement the 
Resolution. 
 
April Mosebrook supported comments of previous speakers, urging action and 
accountability.    
 
Jennifer Ball suggested that City Council use inclusive language so as not to 
devalue dark skin and to form a taskforce. 
 
Alice Kres stated action was critical to live the stated values and that a task force 
was needed.  
 
Kristen O'Hagan spoke in support of prior speakers.   
 
Susan McQueeney spoke about the lack of diversity and taking more action.   

 
COUNCIL COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS / COMMENTARY: 
Council reported community announcements and events. 



 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 9, 2020               Page 3 of 8  

 
A. CONSENT CALENDAR:  (Action Items) (A.1. - A.6.) 
 

A.1. Minutes of the City Council.  
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Approve the Minutes of the following City Council meetings May 13, May 27, 
June 10 and June 24, 2020. 

 

Approved Minutes http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F0F1200D-21C6-4A88-8AE1-0BC07C1A81A7&Type=B_BASIC 

 

Motion: Moved by Councilmember Harless and second by Councilmember Becker to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
A.2.   Register of Demands. (File 0300-30) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1.  Ratify the list of demands for August 8, 2020 – August 21, 2020. 
 

Item A.2. Report (click here)  
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Harless and second by Councilmember Becker to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 

A.3.    General Fund Adopted Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 Changes. (File 0330-

30) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
   

1. Receive the report listing changes made to the Fiscal Year 2020-2021 
General Fund Adopted Budget. 

 

Item A.3. Report (click here)  
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Harless and second by Councilmember Becker to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
A.4.  League of California Cities’ 2020 Annual Business Meeting Voting Delegates 

Designees. (File 0140-10) 

 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Appoint Councilmember Becker, primary voting delegate, Councilmember 
Harless, 1st alternate, and City Manager Gregory Wade, 2nd alternate, as the 
voting delegates for the 2020 Annual Business Meeting of the League of 
California Cities Annual Conference being held virtually, or provide 
alternative appointments. 

2. Authorize the City Clerk to attest to the appointments and submit the Official 
Voting Form to the League of California Cities before September 30, 2020. 

http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F0F1200D-21C6-4A88-8AE1-0BC07C1A81A7&Type=B_BASIC
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_A.2._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_A.3._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 9, 2020               Page 4 of 8  

 

Item A.4. Report (click here)  
 

Motion: Moved by Councilmember Harless and second by Councilmember Becker to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 

A.5.  Recognized Obligation Payment Schedule (ROPS) for the Period January 
1, 2021 to June 30, 2021 Amendment. (File 0115-20) 

 

Recommendation: That the Successor Agency   
 

1. Adopt Resolution SA-026 approving the SA Amendment to the ROPS for 
the period January 1, 2021 to June 30, 2021. 

 

Item A.5. Report (click here) 
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Harless and second by Councilmember Becker to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
A.6.  Crossing Guard Services. (File 0860-35) 

 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Consider adoption of Resolution 2020-126:   
a. Approving the Amended MOU with the Solana Beach School District for 

crossing guard services. 
b. Approving the updated PSA with ACMS to provide crossing guard 

services for one year with the option to extend the agreement for up to 
four additional one-year terms.  

c. Authorize the City Manager to execute the MOU and PSA pending 
approval of these items by the Solana Beach School District.  

 

Item A.6. Report (click here)  
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Harless and second by Councilmember Becker to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Council recessed briefly at 7:05 p.m. to address technology issues and reconvened at 
7:10 p.m. 
 
C.  STAFF REPORTS:  (C.1. – C.5.) 
 

C.3. Climate Action Commission – Appointment and Discuss Youth Member. 
(File 0120-06) 

 

Recommendation: That the City Council: 
 

1. Consider the applications submitted and make an appointment to the 
vacancy on the Climate Action Commission with a term until January 2021.  

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_A.4._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_A.5._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20_-_O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_A.6._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 9, 2020               Page 5 of 8  

2. Consider the addition of a youth CAC member with full voting privileges and, 
if approved, give direction on the eligibility requirements for the new youth 
member. 

 

Item C.3. Report (click here) 
 
Greg Wade, City Manager, introduced the item. 
 
Peter Zahn spoke about his support for a youth member, the Climate Action 
Commission weighing in on the addition of a youth voting member, and support for 
appointing Shawna McGarry to the Commission due to her qualifications and 
experience. 
 
Shawna McGarry spoke about her passion for the position, her experience, her 
program plans, and getting things done. 
 
Council discussed the appointment of a youth member, applicant Ben Gollin’s interest 
and timing for the remaining term of a few months as he would be returning to school 
in January, an opportunity for a short-term experience of a youth member appointment, 
and that unappointed applicants could re-apply in January for a full-term.  
 
Motion: Moved by Deputy Mayor Hegenauer and second by Mayor Edson to appoint 
Ben Gollin as the youth member to the Commission, saying he is available for the next 
three months. 
 
Motion: A substitute motion was moved by Councilmember Zito and seconded by 
Councilmember Becker to appoint Shawna McGarry to the Climate Action Commission 
to complete a term until January 2021. Approved 3/2: Ayes: Becker, Harless and Zito. 
Noes: Edson and Hegenauer. Motion carried. 
 
Council provided direction to Staff to request the Climate Action Commission review 
and provide suggestions to Council for Youth representation on the Commission. 
 

C.1. Lomas Santa Fe Corridor Improvement Project – Phase III Update. (File 0820-

15) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council: 
 

1. Receive this report and provide input and direction on the Lomas Santa Fe 
Corridor Improvement Project.  

 

Item C.1. Report (click here) 
Supplemental Items (up to 9-9 2:06pm) 
 
Greg Wade, City Manager, introduced the item. 
 
Dawn Wilson, Michael Baker International, presented a PowerPoint (on file) reviewing 
the proposed project.  
 
Council, Staff, and Consultant discussed interaction with School District and Fire 
Department particularly about intersections, bridge widening requiring a sub-phase if 

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.3._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.1._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.1._Supplemental_Docs_(Upd_9-9_at_206pm)_-_O.pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 9, 2020               Page 6 of 8  

directed, traffic analysis at pinch points, extra requirements/cost for a true multi-use 
path or local guidance/changes for bicycles on narrow sidewalk areas, feasibility and 
likelihood of bicycles using sidewalk, landscape separation from vehicular traffic 
adding feel of safety, eight-foot width of Coastal Rail Trail, delayed pedestrian 
movement at intersection or split phasing, desirability of meandering trail, and 
consideration of less than 100% controlled left turns at some intersections, and that 
there were 22 comments received from the public. 
 
LaMar L. Going spoke about the four years of planning, the input and designs for the 
trail without discussion or request for input from the public on the section of Lomas 
Santa Fe between Granados and El Viento until now. He stated the trail was currently 
not used 99% of the time and sufficiently met current demands, without improvements. 
 
Craig McLeod spoke about the section of the trail at Pinch-Point 2 on Granados, a 
previous public meeting when the majority of the community selected a Class 2 bike 
lane, his objection to a Class 1 because of the negative impact to his driveway, 
removal of his wall, and lack of accessibility from his property, and that the trail 
improvements were not needed.  
 
Shawna McGarry spoke about her support for the extension of the multi-use trail for all 
modes of transportation, the demand may increase with the infrastructure, securing 
grant money, providing safety education.  
 
Peter Zahn spoke about his support for the Staff recommendation, Council proceeding 
with the project to the fullest extent possible within financial considerations, the 
improvements coordinating with the City’s Climate Action Plan, and benefits to other 
environmental and transportation objectives. 
 
Council discussed the presented options of 15½, 11½, and 10 feet for the multi-use 
trail, that  options for 10 and 11½ feet at Pinch-Point 2 would not impact the drive-way 
slopes of the property owners, weighing the goal of a true multi-use corridor of 15½ ft. 
against costs and impacts to property owners, shifting the median at Pinch-Point 1 at 
an estimated cost of $300,000 and narrowing the trail at Pinch-Points to avoid 
impacting property owners, that the facility would need to be safe and inviting to use, 
looking at reducing the parking to increase the 12 foot trail width at Granados to Rios, 
and to include a pedestrian bridge adjacent to the current bridge as part of the City’s 
regional transportation plan with SANDAG (San Diego Association of Governments) 
instead of rebuilding the bridge. 
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Zito and second by Mayor Edson to approve 
moving forward with Phase III of the Lomas Santa Fe Corridor Improvement Project 
with the following direction, including additional design costs estimated at $15,000: 

1. Modify Pinch-Point 1 design to move the median to the South, allowing for a 
multi-use path; and 

2. Modify Pinch-Point 2 design to reduce parking to seven feet and buffer to 2½ 
feet in order to provide an 11½ feet sidewalk without impacts to the adjacent 
property owners; and 

3. Remove rebuilding the bridge in this design and project and instead add 
pursuing a new pedestrian bridge at the rail station next to the existing 
bridge as part of the City’s future regional transportation plan. 



 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 9, 2020               Page 7 of 8  

Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: None. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
C.2. Year-End Preliminary Budget Review for Fiscal Year 2019-20. (File 0330-30)  
This item was removed from the agenda.  
 

C.4. Introduce (1st Reading) Ordinance 514 - Encroachment Permit 
Requirements and Installation of Wireline Communication Facilities 
Policy.  (File 1000-10) 

 

Recommendation:  That the City Council: 
 

1. Introduce Ordinance 514 amending Section 11.20.220 of the Solana Beach 
Municipal Code; and 

2.  Adopt Resolution 2020-125 authorizing the adoption and implementation of 
an administrative policy. 

 

Item C.4. Report (click here) 
C.4. Staff Report Update 1 

Supplemental Items (up to 9-9 2:15pm) 
 
Greg Wade, City Manager, introduced the item. 
 
Tripp May, Telecom Law, Special Counsel, spoke about Resolution 2019-077 
regarding encroachment maintenance and removal agreements for fiber optic facilities, 
and addressing the City’s process for providers with the adoption of an administrative 
policy, and the changes in technology and increased demand for high-speed wireless 
communication service applications.  
 
John Osborne, AT&T, said they are glad to see proposed changes but needed more 
time to review them and that they provided a list of violations to the City in May of 2019 
that had never been addressed.   
 
Johanna Canlas, City Attorney, spoke about AT&T’s last submittal to the City Council, 
the City having never violated any laws in this matter nor any franchise agreements, 
the possible misunderstanding on how broadly or narrowly State law was being 
interpreted, both State law and statutory law allowing the City to have authority over 
time, place, and manner and to dictate installation, construction and maintenance 
requirements as part of local control. She spoke about collaboration with special 
counsel and the City’s confidence in the policy of the previous Encroachment 
Maintenance and Removal Agreement (ERMA) and the policy proposed for adoption 
both being legal. She said that no permits were denied and AT&T was given multiple 
opportunities to proceed with an application but chose not to sign the ERMA, that fee 
increases were not proposed and that previously adopted fees were not in violation of 
Proposition 26 due to the exemption of fees for services, that fees were calculated 
based on the actual cost of processing these types of applications within the confines 
of Proposition 26, and that the prior administration and current administration had both 
always had open dialogue with interested applicants.  
 

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.4._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/C.4._Staff_Report_Update_1_09-090-20.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/C.4._Staff_Report_Update_1_09-090-20.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.4._Supplemental_Docs_(Upd_9-9_at_105pm)_-_O.pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 9, 2020               Page 8 of 8  

Council discussed that the City desired a collaborative but regulated environment, and 
that the current installation of fiber optic reflected the City’s cooperation with 
telecommunication and infrastructure companies. 
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Zito and second by Councilmember Harless to 
approve Staff recommendation. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, 
Harless, and Zito. Noes: None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
C.5. City Manager’s Employment Agreement. (File 0400-10) 
 

Recommendation:  That the City Council: 
 

1. Adopt Resolution 2020-127 authorizing the Mayor to execute the Fifth 
Amendment to the Employment Agreement between the City of Solana 
Beach and Gregory Wade to reflect the $1500.00 increase in deferred 
compensation annual contribution and annual adjustments thereafter based 
on Internal Revenue Code section 415 to both Normal Limit and Age 50 
Catch-up Limit and a one-time benefit to cash-out up to 80 hours of vacation 
leave that would have been accrued in FY 2019-2020 and FY 2020-2021. 

 

Item C.5. Report (click here) 

 
Johanna Canlas, City Attorney, introduced the item. 
 
All Councilmembers thanked City Manager Wade for all his hard work and service.   
 
Councilmember Zito stated that the only reason he could not support the proposal was 
because he objected to the City allowing the cash-out vacation benefit since he 
believed it could contribute to a culture of expecting employees to not take vacation. 
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Becker and second by Deputy Mayor Hegenauer 
to approve Staff recommendation. Approved 4/1: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, 
and Harless. Noes: Zito. Motion carried. 
 
WORK PLAN COMMENTS: None 
 
COMPENSATION & REIMBURSEMENT DISCLOSURE: None 
 
COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS: Council Committees None 
REGIONAL COMMITTEES: (outside agencies, appointed by this Council) 
STANDING COMMITTEES: (All Primary Members) (Permanent Committees) 

 

ADJOURN: 
 
Mayor Edson adjourned the meeting at 9:37 p.m.  
 
 
 
Angela Ivey, City Clerk     Approved: __________ 
 

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.5._Report_(click_here)_09-09-20-O.pdf
https://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=584E1192-3850-46EA-B977-088AC3E81E0D&Type=B_BASIC


 

CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 
SOLANA BEACH CITY COUNCIL, SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT 

AGENCY, PUBLIC FINANCING AUTHORITY, AND HOUSING AUTHORITY  

 

MINUTES 

Joint – Closed Session 
Wednesday, September 23, 2020 * 5:00 p.m.  

Teleconference Location Only-City Hall/Council Chambers, 635 S. Highway 101, Solana Beach, California 
Pursuant to Governor Newsom’s Executive Order N-29-20, City Council and 

staff participated in this meeting via teleconference. 

Minutes contain a summary of significant discussions and formal actions taken at a City Council meeting. 
 

CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 

Jewel Edson, Mayor 

Judy Hegenauer, Deputy Mayor Kristi Becker, Councilmember 

Kelly Harless, Councilmember David A. Zito, Councilmember 
 

Gregory Wade 
City Manager 

Johanna Canlas 
City Attorney 

Angela Ivey 
 City Clerk 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: 
Mayor Edson called the meeting to order at 5:03 p.m. 
Present:  Jewel Edson, Judy Hegenauer, Kristi Becker, Kelly Harless, David A. Zito 
Absent:  None 
Also Present: Gregory Wade, City Manager 

Johanna Canlas, City Attorney 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS (ONLY): None 
  
CLOSED SESSION: 

 

1. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – EXISTING LITIGATION 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1) 
- Cox Communications v. City of Solana Beach (Case 37-2020-0002848-CU) 

2. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9 (d)(2) 
One (1) Potential case. 

3. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – INITIATION OF LITIGATION 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 
54956.9(d)(4) One (1) Potential case. 

4. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION (added 9-21-20) 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9 (d)(2) 
One (1) Potential case. 
 

ACTION: No reportable action. 
 

ADJOURN: 
Mayor Edson adjourned the meeting at 6:04 p.m. 
 
 
 

Angela Ivey, City Clerk   Approved:  ______________________ 



 

CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 
SOLANA BEACH CITY COUNCIL 

 SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY, PUBLIC FINANCING 

AUTHORITY, HOUSING AUTHORITY  
 

 

MINUTES  
Joint REGULAR Meeting 

Wednesday, September 23, 2020 * 6:00 p.m.  
Teleconference Location Only-City Hall/Council Chambers, 635 S. Highway 101, Solana Beach, California 

This meeting was conducted in accordance with Governor Newsom’s  

Executive Order N-29-20 and N-33-20 related to the COVID-19 virus. 

Minutes contain a summary of significant discussions and formal actions taken at a City Council meeting. 
➢ City Council meetings are video recorded and archived as a permanent record. The video recording captures the 

complete proceedings of the meeting and is available for viewing on the City's website.  
➢ Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time prior to meetings for processing new 

submittals. Complete records containing meeting handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records 
Request. 

 

CITY COUNCILMEMBERS 

Jewel Edson, Mayor 

Judy Hegenauer, Deputy Mayor Kristi Becker, Councilmember 

Kelly Harless, Councilmember David A. Zito, Councilmember 

 

Gregory Wade 
City Manager 

Johanna Canlas 
City Attorney 

Angela Ivey 
City Clerk 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL: 
Mayor Edson called the meeting to order at 6:15 p.m. 
 

Present:     Jewel Edson, Judy Hegenauer, Kristi Becker, Kelly Harless, David A. Zito 

Absent:       None 

Also 
Present:     

Greg Wade, City Manager 
Johanna Canlas, City Attorney 

 Angela Ivey, City Clerk,  
 Dan King, Assistant City Manager  

Mo Sammak, City Engineer/Public Works Dir. 
Marie Marron Berkuti, Finance Dir. 
Rodney Greek, Interim Finance Dir.  

 Joseph Lim, Community Development Dir.   
 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT:  None 

 

FLAG SALUTE: 
 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA:  
Motion: Moved by Deputy Mayor Hegenauer and second Councilmember Harless to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS:  
 

https://solanabeach.12milesout.com/#page=1
http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F5D45D10-70CE-4291-A27C-7BD633FC6742&Type=B_BASIC
http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F5D45D10-70CE-4291-A27C-7BD633FC6742&Type=B_BASIC


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 23, 2020                 Page 2 of 6  

Lisa Montes, Vice President, La Colonia Community Foundation, Inc., announced a 
Free Food Distribution event for Solana Beach residents on Monday, September 28,  
2020 from 12:30 p.m. to 2:30 p.m. at the La Colonia Community Center parking lot.  
 
Kathleen Lippitt urged voters to oppose Measure S because it puts local land use 
control at risk and because out-of-towners are exploiting residents for profit. 
 

COUNCIL COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS / COMMENTARY: 
Council reported community announcements and events. 
 
A. CONSENT CALENDAR:  (Action Items) (A.1. - A.3.) 
 

A.1. Minutes of the City Council.  
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1. Approve the Minutes of the following City Council meetings August 28, 2019; 
July 1, 2020 and July 8, 2020.  

Approved Minutes http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F0F1200D-21C6-4A88-8AE1-0BC07C1A81A7&Type=B_BASIC 

 

Motion: Moved by Councilmember Becker and second by Councilmember Harless to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
A.2.   Register of Demands. (File 0300-30) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1.  Ratify the list of demands for August 22, 2020 – September 4, 2020. 
 

Item A.2. Report (click here)  
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Becker and second by Councilmember Harless to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 

A.3.   General Fund Adopted Budget Changes for Fiscal Year 2020/21. (File 0330-30) 
 

Recommendation: That the City Council  
 

1.  Receive the report listing changes made to the FY 2020-2021 General Fund 
Adopted Budget. 

 

Item A.3. Report (click here)  
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Becker and second by Councilmember Harless to 
approve. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: 
None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
B.  PUBLIC HEARINGS:  None 
 
C. STAFF REPORTS:  (C.1. – C.5.) 
 

C.1. General Fund Update (Unaudited) for Fiscal Year 2019/20. (0300-80) 
 

The Staff recommends that the City Council 

http://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=F0F1200D-21C6-4A88-8AE1-0BC07C1A81A7&Type=B_BASIC
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_A.2._Report_(click_here)_09-23-20_O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_A.3._Report_(click_here)_09-23-20_O.pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 23, 2020                 Page 3 of 6  

 

1. Approve Resolution 2020-129 authorizing the City Treasurer to amend 
appropriations in the FY 2019/20 budget to bring the Camp Programs 
Special Revenue fund to a zero-fund balance amount as of June 30, 2020 as 
follows: 

a. General Fund – Increase in Transfers Out  
b. Camp Programs – Increase in Transfers In 
c. In an amount as determined by the Finance Department 

 

Item C.1. Report (click here)  
C.1. Staff Report Update 1 
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
Greg Wade, City Manager, introduced the item. 
 
Marie Marron Berkuti, Finance Director, presented a PowerPoint (on file).  
 
Council and Staff discussed the Camp Programs deficit, sales tax forecast, use of 
surplus funds, Budget & Finance Committee comments, and to include a column of 
prior year actuals in future presentations.  
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Zito and second by Mayor Edson to approve Staff 
recommendation with modifications to zero out the Camps Programs fund balance, up 
to a maximum of $380,000, and allocate $250,000 to the PARS Trust Fund. Approved 
5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: None. Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
Greg Wade, City Manager, spoke about Marie Berkuti’s 14 years of service to the City, 
her ability to clarify governmental fund accounting; and on behalf of Staff, wished her 
the best in her retirement.  
 
Ed Murphy, on behalf of the Budget & Finance Commission, thanked Marie for her 
guidance, patience, conservative fiscal management, being a good steward of City 
finances, and her integrity. He said she had been knowledgeable of the big picture, 
paid attention to details, and that it had been a pleasure to work with these many 
years.  
 
Mayor Edson presented a proclamation on behalf of the City in recognition of retiring 
Finance Director Marie Berkuti for her 14-year career with the Solana Beach and 
wishing her well in her retirement.  
 
Marie Berkuti expressed appreciation to the Finance team Staff members, and said 
she was grateful for everyone’s words of kindness. 
 
C.2. Quarterly Investment Report. (0350-44) 
 

The Staff recommends that the City Council 
 

1. Accept and file the attached Cash and Investment Report for the quarter 
ended June 30, 2020.  

 

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.1._Report_(click_here)_09-23-20_O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/C.1._Staff_Report_Update_1_(09-23-20).pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 23, 2020                 Page 4 of 6  

Item C.2. Report (click here)  
C.2. Supplemental Items (9-23 1130am)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
Greg Wade, City Manager, introduced the item.  
 
Rodney Greek, Interim Finance Dir., presented a PowerPoint (on file) on the City’s 
investments.   
 
Genny Lynkiewicz, Chandler Asset Management, presented a PowerPoint (on file).  
 
Jennifer Meza, PARS, presented a PowerPoint (on file). 
 
Chris Tsuda, HighMark Capital, presented a PowerPoint (on file). 
 
Council and Consultants discussed the prediction of a new recession, Berkshire 
Hathaway’s investment in fossil fuels, the short-term shift from corporate bonds to 
money markets, and providing comparative returns of active management versus 
passive portfolio management in future reports.   
 
C.3. Solana Energy Alliance (SEA) Activities and Operations Annual Report. 

(File 1010-45) 
 

The Staff recommends that the City Council 
 

1. Receive the annual report on SEA activities, operations and preliminary 
financial results through June 2020 and provide any direction, as 
necessary. 

2. Approve Resolution 2020-128 authorizing the City Manager to execute a 
Professional Services Agreement (PSA) with Bayshore Consulting Group 
Inc. to continue administrative and operational support for SEA and 
authorizing a one-year extension if necessary and at the City Manager’s 
discretion. 
                                  

Item C.3. Report (click here)  
Item C.3. Supplemental Docs (Upd 9-21 at 1205pm) 
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the 
City Clerk’s Office. 

 
Greg Wade, City Manager, presented a PowerPoint (on file).  
 
Barbara Boswell, CEO of SEA, continued the PowerPoint. 
 
Jeff Fuller, T.E.A., continued the PowerPoint.  
 
Council, Staff, and Consultants discussed the projected ending SEA balance of 
$89,000, a $400,000 projected ending SEA balance prior to Council direction in May to 
adjust generation rates to parity with SDG&E, the restructuring of a renewable portfolio 
resulted in a new estimated ending SEA balance of $288,000, the reason for reduced 
projection was primarily due to revaluing resource adequacy, potential changes in 

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.2._Report_(click_here)_09-23-20_O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/C.2._-_Supplemental_Items_(9-23-20_1130am)_-_O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.3._Report_(click_here)_09-23-20_O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.3._Supplemental_Docs_(Upd_9-21_at_1205pm)(1).pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 23, 2020                 Page 5 of 6  

generation rates and power charge indifference rate, the SEA provided rate savings to 
residents for the last two years the fact that SEA customers realized 100% greenhouse 
gas free energy for 2019, and meeting Climate Action Plan goals. 
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Zito and second by Councilmember Becker to 
approve Staff recommendation. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, 
Harless, and Zito. Noes: None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Lane Sharman commended the City Council for COVID relief assistance. He spoke 
about the SEA and the need for a greater understanding of procurement techniques 
with a professional organization, documenting how many metric tons of GHG 
emissions had been avoided relative to SDG&E during the year, substituting the 
resource adequacy proceeding instead of the micro grid proceeding, SEA’s 
procurement which had allowed for 100% greenhouse gas free energy usage, and 
support for renewal of the Bayshore contract.  
 
C.4. CARES Act Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) Community Assistance/Relief 

Program Options. (File 0240-70) 
 

The Staff recommends that the City Council 
 

1. Discuss program options and provide direction to Staff on Community 
Assistance Grant Program guidelines and selection criteria. 
 

Item C.4. Report (click here)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
Greg Wade, City Manager, introduced the item. 
 
Rimga Viskanta, Sr. Management Analyst, presented a PowerPoint (on file).     
 
Council and Staff discussed rental assistance, food pantry events, difficulty in 
combining CDBG-CV funds with CRF monies, funding allocation, expenditure 
deadline, whether Staff or an outside non-profit organization could administer the 
program, and determining factors for eligibility including low income, minor children or 
those behind in rent since March.   
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Zito and second by Mayor Edson to approve Staff 
recommendation and allocate the remaining CRF funds of approximately $61,000 to 
establish a Rent Relief Program, preferably working with a local nonprofit for 
administration with parameters as outlined in the Staff Report to include targeting 
people behind on their rent with low income but who were current before COVID with 
grant amounts of up to $2,500 but not more than their arrears, and that if there were 
more applicants than funds available that priority be given to those families with 
children in the school lunch program. Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, 
Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: None. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.4._Report_(click_here)_09-23-20_O.pdf


 

Solana Beach City Council Regular Meeting Minutes               September 23, 2020                 Page 6 of 6  

 
 
C.5. Adopt (2nd Reading) Ordinance No. 514 – Encroachment Permit 

Requirements for Installation of Wireline Communication Facilities in the 
Public Right-of-Way. (File 0480-20) 

 

The Staff recommends that the City Council 
 

1. Adopt Ordinance No. 514 amending Section 11.20.220 of the Solana Beach 
Municipal Code. 
 

Item C.5. Report (click here)  
C.5. Supplemental Items (9-23, 1130am)  
Posted Reports & Supplemental Docs contain records up to the cut off time, prior to the start of the meeting, for processing new 
submittals. The final official record containing handouts, PowerPoints, etc. can be obtained through a Records Request to the City 
Clerk’s Office. 

 
Johanna Canlas, City Attorney, stated that City Staff was available to address any 
concerns, regarding a blue folder supplemental submittal.  
 
Johanna Canlas, City Attorney, read the title of the ordinance.  
 
Motion: Moved by Councilmember Zito and second Mayor Edson to approve. 
Approved 5/0: Ayes: Edson, Hegenauer, Becker, Harless, and Zito. Noes: None. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
COMPENSATION & REIMBURSEMENT DISCLOSURE: None 
GC: Article 2.3.  Compensation: 53232.3. (a) Reimbursable expenses shall include, but not be 
limited to, meals, lodging, and travel. 53232.3 (d) Members of a legislative body shall provide 
brief reports on meetings attended at the expense of the local agency “City” at the next regular 
meeting of the legislative body.  

 
COUNCIL COMMITTEE REPORTS: Council Committees 

REGIONAL COMMITTEES: (outside agencies, appointed by this Council) 
STANDING COMMITTEES: (All Primary Members) (Permanent Committees) 
 
 
ADJOURN: 
Mayor Edson adjourned the meeting at 9:17 p.m. in honor of Ray Renteria, veteran 
and former Public Works Superintendent for the City of Solana Beach, Clyde J. 
Harless, Marine veteran, sports fan, and father of Councilmember Kelly Harless, and 
Associate Supreme Court Justice Ruth Bader Ginsberg. 
 
 
 
 
Angela Ivey, City Clerk     Approved: _____________ 
 
 
 

 

https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/Item_C.5._Report_(click_here)_09-23-20_O.pdf
https://solanabeach.govoffice3.com/vertical/Sites/%7B840804C2-F869-4904-9AE3-720581350CE7%7D/uploads/C.5._-_Supplemental_Items_(9-23_1130am).pdf
https://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us/index.asp?SEC=584E1192-3850-46EA-B977-088AC3E81E0D&Type=B_BASIC


CITY COUNCIL ACTION: ____________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
FROM: Gregory Wade, City Manager 
MEETING DATE:  October 28, 2020  
ORIGINATING DEPT: Finance 
SUBJECT:  Register of Demands

BACKGROUND: 

Section 3.04.020 of the Solana Beach Municipal Code requires that the City Council ratify a 
register of demands which represents all financial demands made upon the City for the 
applicable period. 

DISCUSSION: 

Staff certifies that the register of demands has been reviewed for accuracy, that funds are 
available to pay the above demands, and that the demands comply with the adopted budget.  

CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: 

Not a project as defined by CEQA. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The register of demands for September 26, 2020 through October 9, 2020 reflects total 
expenditures of $1,030,437.20 from various City funding sources. 

Register of Demands- 09/26/20 through 10/09/20
Check Register-Disbursement Fund (Attachment 1) $ 660,210.08  
Health Insurance for October October 1, 2020 46,653.97    
Net Payroll October 2, 2020 199,785.87       
Federal & State Taxes October 2, 2020 66,637.31      
PERS Retirement (EFT) October 2, 2020 47,022.05      
Retirement Payroll October 6, 2020 5,089.00      
Council Payroll October 8, 2020 4,103.98      
Federal & State Taxes October 8, 2020 399.60       
PERS Retirement (EFT) October 8, 2020 535.34       

TOTAL $ 1,030,437.20    



October 28, 2020 
Register of Demands 

Page 2 of 2 

WORK PLAN: 

N/A 

OPTIONS: 

 Ratify the register of demands.
 Do not ratify and provide direction.

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the City Council ratify the above register of demands.  

CITY MANAGER’S RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Department Recommendation. 

________________________ 
Gregory Wade, City Manager 

Attachments: 

1. Check Register – Disbursement Fund



PENTAMATION PAGE NUMBER:    1
DATE: 10/13/2020 CITY OF SOLANA BEACH, CA ACCTPA21
TIME: 08:02:20 CHECK REGISTER − DISBURSEMENT FUND

SELECTION CRITERIA: transact.gl_cash=’1011’ and transact.ck_date between ’20200926 00:00:00.000’ and ’20201009 00:00:00.000’
ACCOUNTING PERIOD:  4/21

FUND − 001 − GENERAL FUND

CASH ACCT CHECK NO  ISSUE DT VENDOR   NAME BUDGET UNIT −−−−−DESCRIPTION−−−−−−  SALES TAX AMOUNT

1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00160006170 9391019469 7/20−8/19 0.00 25.10
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00150005450 9391012278 7/24−8/23 0.00 3,248.73
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00150005450 9391012282 7/24−8/23 0.00 20.88
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00150005450 9391053641 7/24−8/23 0.00 164.68
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00150005450 9391062899 7/24−8/23 0.00 164.68
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00165006540 9391012279 6/24−7/23 0.00 45.72
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00165006540 9391012279 7/24−8/23 0.00 46.20
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 50900007700 9391012277 6/24−7/23 0.00 13.60
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 50900007700 9391012277 7/24−8/23 0.00 14.06
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00160006120 9391059865 8/01−8/31 0.00 393.71
1011 98001   10/01/20 4832 AT&T CALNET 3 00160006120 9391012280 7/24−8/23 0.00 594.00
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 4,731.36

1011 98002   10/01/20 3069 JOSHUA BLEA 00165006560 MILEAGE 09/13/20 0.00 28.75
1011 98002   10/01/20 3069 JOSHUA BLEA 00165006560 REISSUE CK#94762 0.00 29.00
1011 98002   10/01/20 3069 JOSHUA BLEA 00165006530 REISSUE CK#94762 0.00 52.20
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 109.95

1011 98003   10/01/20 5336 COLANTUONO, HIGHSMITH, & 65278007820 SDCOE CONSORTIUM−MAR 0.00 5.23
1011 98003   10/01/20 5336 COLANTUONO, HIGHSMITH, & 65278007820 SDCOE CONSORTIUM−APR 0.00 7.77
1011 98003   10/01/20 5336 COLANTUONO, HIGHSMITH, & 65278007820 SDCOE CONSORTIUM−MAY 0.00 14.22
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 27.22

1011 98004   10/01/20 5926 CAMERON COOPER           001 REISSUE CK#48022 0.00 20.10

1011 98005   10/01/20 1048 COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO−EMER 00160006150 FY20/21 UDC MEMBERSHP 0.00 822.00

1011 98006   10/01/20 218 DATATICKET INC. 00160006140 PRKNG TCKT ADMIN−MAR 0.00 637.52
1011 98006   10/01/20 218 DATATICKET INC. 00160006140 PRKNG TCKT ADMIN−AUG 0.00 569.74
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 1,207.26

1011 98007   10/01/20 227 DEKRA−LITE INC 00170007110 20’ HOLIDAY TREE 0.00 7,942.07

1011 98008   10/01/20 2062 ENTERPRISE RENT A CAR    27060006120 STRIKETM−7/30−FORD 0.00 217.67

1011 98009   10/01/20 94 ESGIL CORPORATION 45994506510 REISSUE CK#94787 0.00 47.00

1011 98010   10/01/20 223 FEDEX 00150005150 SHIPPING−09/02/20 0.00 29.30

1011 98011   10/01/20 11 ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST−45 001 ICMA PD 10/02/20 0.00 24,379.97

1011 98012   10/01/20 3859 ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST−RH 001 ICMA PD 10/02/20 0.00 2,084.20

1011 98013   10/01/20 5098 JOSE GARCIA 00165006530 MILEAGE 9/17−9/20 0.00 69.00
1011 98013   10/01/20 5098 JOSE GARCIA 00165006560 MILEAGE 9/17−9/20 0.00 69.00
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 138.00

1011 98014   10/01/20 2562 LALLEY CONSTRUCTION 00165006570 ON CALL RPR−06/25/20 0.00 2,337.50
1011 98014   10/01/20 2562 LALLEY CONSTRUCTION 00165006570 ON CALL RPR−06/25/20 0.00 2,212.50
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 4,550.00

1011 98015   10/01/20 2887 LANCE,SOLL & LUNGHARD, L 55000007750 FY20 AUDIT SVC 0.00 294.13



PENTAMATION PAGE NUMBER:    2
DATE: 10/13/2020 CITY OF SOLANA BEACH, CA ACCTPA21
TIME: 08:02:20 CHECK REGISTER − DISBURSEMENT FUND

SELECTION CRITERIA: transact.gl_cash=’1011’ and transact.ck_date between ’20200926 00:00:00.000’ and ’20201009 00:00:00.000’
ACCOUNTING PERIOD:  4/21

FUND − 001 − GENERAL FUND

CASH ACCT CHECK NO  ISSUE DT VENDOR   NAME BUDGET UNIT −−−−−DESCRIPTION−−−−−−  SALES TAX AMOUNT

1011 98015   10/01/20 2887 LANCE,SOLL & LUNGHARD, L 50900007700 FY20 AUDIT SVC 0.00 3,911.96
1011 98015   10/01/20 2887 LANCE,SOLL & LUNGHARD, L 00150005300 FY20 AUDIT SVC 0.00 5,603.22
1011 98015   10/01/20 2887 LANCE,SOLL & LUNGHARD, L 26355005580 FY20 AUDIT SA HSNG 0.00 594.15
1011 98015   10/01/20 2887 LANCE,SOLL & LUNGHARD, L 00150005300 FY19 SINGLE AUDIT 0.00 691.21
1011 98015   10/01/20 2887 LANCE,SOLL & LUNGHARD, L 65278007810 FY20 AUDIT SVC 0.00 735.33
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 11,830.00

1011 98016   10/01/20 5927 LAND HOLDINGS, LLC 001 RFND−SBGRD0003/476 MA 0.00 42,021.31

1011 98017   10/01/20 2102 LEGAL SHIELD CORP 001 PPD LEGAL−SEP 20 0.00 64.75

1011 98018   10/01/20 5014 MANAGED SOLUTION 00150005450 PROF SVC−JUL 0.00 750.00
1011 98018   10/01/20 5014 MANAGED SOLUTION 00150005450 PROF SVC−JUL 0.00 1,011.60
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 1,761.60

1011 98019   10/01/20 5925 TREVOR NORE 001 REISSUE CK#47991 0.00 29.21

1011 98020   10/01/20 5580 PACIFICA NEUHAR SOLANA B 616 REISSUE CK#94613 0.00 1,023.36
1011 98020   10/01/20 5580 PACIFICA NEUHAR SOLANA B 61600007850 REISSUE CK#94613 0.00 32.56
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 1,055.92

1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005150 RTRN−TIME STAMP CLOCK 0.00 −260.75
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005150 PENS 0.00 13.59
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005300 PLANNER 0.00 17.23
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005300 FILE HOLDER 0.00 44.17
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005150 BATTRS/PENS/WIPES 0.00 89.13
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005350 PAPER/FOLDERS 0.00 196.96
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005300 TONER/PLANNER 0.00 265.03
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005350 PAPER/DOOR STP/DSTR 0.00 338.68
1011 98021   10/01/20 1231 STAPLES CONTRACT & COMME 00150005350 RETURN PAPER 0.00 −185.82
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 518.22

1011 98022   10/01/20 4959 TELECOM LAW FIRM 21355005550 DUP19003/200 MARINE VI 0.00 514.00
1011 98022   10/01/20 4959 TELECOM LAW FIRM 00150005250 LCC PROF SVC−08/06/20 0.00 3,500.00
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 4,014.00

1011 98023   10/01/20 2894 TIENG VIET SAN DIEGO NEW 00150005150 REISSUE CK#94474 0.00 50.00

1011 98024   10/01/20 2759 TRISTAR RISK MANAGEMENT  12550005465 FY21 CLAIMS SRVC− Q1 0.00 6,829.54
1011 98024   10/01/20 2759 TRISTAR RISK MANAGEMENT  12550005465 FY21 CLAIMS SRVC− Q2 0.00 6,829.55
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 13,659.09

1011 98025   10/01/20 30 VERIZON WIRELESS−SD 50900007700 PW CELL 08/02−09/01 0.00 8.24
1011 98025   10/01/20 30 VERIZON WIRELESS−SD 21100007600 PW CELL 08/02−09/01 0.00 8.24
1011 98025   10/01/20 30 VERIZON WIRELESS−SD 00165006540 PW CELL 08/02−09/01 0.00 22.66
1011 98025   10/01/20 30 VERIZON WIRELESS−SD 00165006560 PW CELL 08/02−09/01 0.00 22.66
1011 98025   10/01/20 30 VERIZON WIRELESS−SD 00165006510 PW CELL 08/02−09/01 0.00 28.83
1011 98025   10/01/20 30 VERIZON WIRELESS−SD 00165006520 PW CELL 08/02−09/01 0.00 28.83
1011 98025   10/01/20 30 VERIZON WIRELESS−SD 00165006530 PW CELL 08/02−09/01 0.00 28.83
TOTAL CHECK 0.00 148.29

1011 98026   10/01/20 5594 WEX BANK 00160006120 CR EXEMPT TAX−JUL 0.00 −84.14



PENTAMATION                                                                                                        PAGE NUMBER:    3
DATE: 10/13/2020                                      CITY OF SOLANA BEACH, CA                                     ACCTPA21
TIME: 08:02:20                                   CHECK REGISTER − DISBURSEMENT FUND

SELECTION CRITERIA: transact.gl_cash=’1011’ and transact.ck_date between ’20200926 00:00:00.000’ and ’20201009 00:00:00.000’
ACCOUNTING PERIOD:  4/21

     FUND − 001 − GENERAL FUND             

CASH ACCT CHECK NO  ISSUE DT VENDOR   NAME                     BUDGET UNIT      −−−−−DESCRIPTION−−−−−−  SALES TAX            AMOUNT

1011        98026   10/01/20 5594     WEX BANK                 00160006120      AUTO FUEL−JUL                0.00          1,131.06
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          1,046.92

1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      COPIER CLRKS−JUL             0.00            271.68
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      COPIER CLRKS−AUG             0.00            271.68
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      FIERY CLRKS−AUG              0.00            122.84
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      COPIER UPSTAIRS−JUL          0.00            298.25
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      COPIER UPSTAIRS−AUG          0.00            298.25
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      FIERY UPSTAIRS−JUL           0.00            132.61
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      FIERY UPSTAIRS−AUG           0.00            132.61
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      COPIER PLANNING−JUL          0.00            546.78
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      COPIER PLANNING−AUG          0.00            546.78
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      FIERY PLANNING−JUL           0.00            132.61
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      FIERY PLANNING−AUG           0.00            132.61
1011        98027   10/01/20 37       XEROX CORPORATION        00150005350      FIERY CLRKS−JUL              0.00            122.84
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          3,009.54

1011        98028   10/08/20 1135     AFFORDABLE PIPELINE SERV 50900007700      I−SEWER CLEANING             0.00            425.00

1011        98029   10/08/20 4832     AT&T CALNET 3            00165006540      9391012279 8/24−9/23         0.00             45.83
1011        98029   10/08/20 4832     AT&T CALNET 3            50900007700      9391012277 8/24−9/23         0.00             13.79
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00             59.62

1011        98030   10/08/20 3902     CORODATA RECORDS MANAGEM 00150005150      RECORDS STRG−JUL             0.00            338.05
1011        98030   10/08/20 3902     CORODATA RECORDS MANAGEM 00150005150      RECORDS STRG−AUG             0.00            338.05
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00            676.10

1011        98031   10/08/20 94       ESGIL CORPORATION        00155005560      BLDG PRMT 09/14−09/18        0.00          6,672.23

1011        98032   10/08/20 223      FEDEX                    00150005150      SHIPPING−09/22/20            0.00             17.40

1011        98033   10/08/20 5928     FINANCIAL CREDIT NETWORK 55000007750      XX0767 COLLECTION RVD        0.00           −129.34
1011        98033   10/08/20 5928     FINANCIAL CREDIT NETWORK 55000007750      XX6835 COLLECTION RVD        0.00            −93.00
1011        98033   10/08/20 5928     FINANCIAL CREDIT NETWORK 55000007750      XX4667 COLLECTION RVD        0.00            −89.45
1011        98033   10/08/20 5928     FINANCIAL CREDIT NETWORK 55000007750      FN28093 COLLECTN DUE         0.00          1,168.68
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00            856.89

1011        98034   10/08/20 11       ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST−45 001              ICMA PD 10/08/20             0.00          6,542.47
1011        98034   10/08/20 11       ICMA RETIREMENT TRUST−45 001              ICMA PD 10/02/20 ADJ         0.00              0.03
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          6,542.50

1011        98035   10/08/20 1075     IRON MOUNTAIN            00150005150      RECORDS STRG−SEP             0.00            410.23
1011        98035   10/08/20 1075     IRON MOUNTAIN            00150005150      RECORDS STRG−OCT             0.00            415.14
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00            825.37

1011        98036   10/08/20 5817     JOHNSON CONTROLS FIRE PR 00165006570      EXTNGSHER INSPECTION         0.00            891.11

1011        98037   10/08/20 5456     LANGUAGE LINK            00150005150      NTC OF ELEC TRANSLTNS        0.00            640.00

1011        98038   10/08/20 172      LEE’S LOCK & SAFE INC    00165006570      SUPPLIES                     0.00             31.25
1011        98038   10/08/20 172      LEE’S LOCK & SAFE INC    00165006570      REPAIR LOCK−CH               0.00            167.37
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00            198.62



PENTAMATION                                                                                                        PAGE NUMBER:    4
DATE: 10/13/2020                                      CITY OF SOLANA BEACH, CA                                     ACCTPA21
TIME: 08:02:20                                   CHECK REGISTER − DISBURSEMENT FUND

SELECTION CRITERIA: transact.gl_cash=’1011’ and transact.ck_date between ’20200926 00:00:00.000’ and ’20201009 00:00:00.000’
ACCOUNTING PERIOD:  4/21

     FUND − 001 − GENERAL FUND             

CASH ACCT CHECK NO  ISSUE DT VENDOR   NAME                     BUDGET UNIT      −−−−−DESCRIPTION−−−−−−  SALES TAX            AMOUNT

1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     00165006560      LC PRK RPR−9/22/20           0.00            191.17
1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     00165006560      CSTL TRL RPR−8/31/20         0.00            247.50
1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     00165006560      LC R&R RPR−8/31/20           0.00            263.47
1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     00165006570      PUBFAC LNDSCP SVC−JUL        0.00          2,509.06
1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     20375007510      MID#33 LNDSCP SVC−JUL        0.00          2,678.26
1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     20875007580      CRT LNDSCP SVC−JUL           0.00          3,396.52
1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     00165006530      STREET LNDSCP SVC−JUL        0.00          1,827.00
1011        98039   10/08/20 4522     NISSHO OF CALIFORNIA     00165006560      PRKS LNDSCP SVC−JUL          0.00         11,625.14
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00         22,738.12

1011        98040   10/08/20 1377     ONE DAY SIGNS            00165006560      LC SKATE PARK RULES          0.00            134.69

1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      1719.09/632 MAR VISTA        0.00            250.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      1719.07/336 S NARDO          0.00            250.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      1717.20/729 BARBARA          0.00            250.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      DRP20007/778 W SOLANA        0.00            300.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      1717.34/652 STEVENS          0.00            375.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      1717.20/729 BARBARA          0.00            375.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      DRP19003/521 S RIOS          0.00            375.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      1719.11/1530 SANTA           0.00            450.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      DRP19008/0 FORD AVE          0.00            450.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      DRP20010/425 S GRANA         0.00            450.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      DRP20004/840 AVOCA           0.00            600.00
1011        98041   10/08/20 4797     PAMELA ELLIOTT LANDSCAPE 21355005550      DRP19006/838 ACADE           0.00            600.00
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          4,725.00

1011        98042   10/08/20 113      PITNEY BOWES GLOBAL FINA 00150005100      POSTG MTR−7/30−10/29         0.00            704.94

1011        98043   10/08/20 314      SAN ELIJO JPA            50900007700      Q2 MAINT & OP                0.00        413,280.00
1011        98043   10/08/20 314      SAN ELIJO JPA            00165006520      FY20 STRM DRAIN SEDIMN       0.00          2,518.00
1011        98043   10/08/20 314      SAN ELIJO JPA            00165006570      FY20 GENERATR MAINT          0.00          3,424.00
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00        419,222.00

1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             00165006540      UTILITIES−08/05−09/04        0.00            445.60
1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             00165006530      UTILITIES−08/05−09/04        0.00            538.19
1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             00165006530      UTILITIES−08/05−09/07        0.00            759.15
1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             00165006540      UTILITIES−08/05−09/07        0.00          1,066.20
1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             20375007510      UTILITIES−08/05−09/07        0.00          2,563.76
1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             00165006570      UTILITIES−08/05−09/04        0.00          3,318.27
1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             00165006570      UTILITIES−08/05−09/07        0.00          5,824.26
1011        98044   10/08/20 169      SDG&E CO INC             21100007600      UTILITIES−08/05−09/04        0.00          6,506.98
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00         21,022.41

1011        98045   10/08/20 4638     THE EPOCH TIMES          00150005150      NOMINEES NTC 09/25           0.00            120.00
1011        98045   10/08/20 4638     THE EPOCH TIMES          00150005150      ELECTION NOTICE 7/10         0.00            210.00
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00            330.00

1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00170007110      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00             52.13
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00165006560      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00             56.53
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00165006570      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00             94.21
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00165006510      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00            103.63



PENTAMATION                                                                                                        PAGE NUMBER:    5
DATE: 10/13/2020                                      CITY OF SOLANA BEACH, CA                                     ACCTPA21
TIME: 08:02:20                                   CHECK REGISTER − DISBURSEMENT FUND

SELECTION CRITERIA: transact.gl_cash=’1011’ and transact.ck_date between ’20200926 00:00:00.000’ and ’20201009 00:00:00.000’
ACCOUNTING PERIOD:  4/21

     FUND − 001 − GENERAL FUND             

CASH ACCT CHECK NO  ISSUE DT VENDOR   NAME                     BUDGET UNIT      −−−−−DESCRIPTION−−−−−−  SALES TAX            AMOUNT

1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      50900007700      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00            113.05
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00160006140      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00            242.25
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00165006530      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00            273.22
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00165006520      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00            301.47
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00160006120      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00            468.46
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      00160006170      AUTO FUEL−08/08−09/07        0.00            624.69
1011        98046   10/08/20 5916     WEX FLEET UNIVERSAL      001              WEX BALANCE FWD              0.00          4,000.00
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          6,329.64

1011        98047   10/08/20 3193     DAVID ZITO               001              CANDIDATE STMT RFND          0.00          1,500.00

1011     V9000169   10/01/20 13       SOLANA BEACH FIREFIGHTER 001              FD DUES PD 10/02/20          0.00            913.50
1011     V9000169   10/01/20 13       SOLANA BEACH FIREFIGHTER 001              REISSUE CK#093513            0.00            778.50
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          1,692.00

1011     V9000170   10/01/20 2097     UT SAN DIEGO − NRTH COUN 00150005150      ORD 514−AMEND                0.00             60.58

1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00             87.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 55000007750      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00             87.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00            157.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00            227.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00            350.00
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00            388.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00            717.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          1,890.00
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          2,030.00
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          2,554.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          2,730.00
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          3,272.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          3,307.50
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 12050005460      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          3,779.12
1011     V9000171   10/08/20 1130     MCDOUGAL LOVE ECKIS SMIT 00150005250      PROF SERV PE 07/31/20        0.00          5,500.00
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00         27,079.62

1011     V9000172   10/08/20 3066     SUMMIT ENVIRONMENTAL GRO 45099266190      9926 PROF SVC SND−SEP        0.00            920.00
1011     V9000172   10/08/20 3066     SUMMIT ENVIRONMENTAL GRO 45099266190      9926 PROF SVC SND−AUG        0.00          1,150.00
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          2,070.00

1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              JUL 20 SUPP LIFE INS         0.00            417.75
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              AUG 20 SUPP LIFE INS         0.00            417.75
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              SEP 20 SUPP LIFE INS         0.00            417.75
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              JUL 20 LIFE&ADD INS          0.00            962.97
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              AUG 20 LIFE&ADD INS          0.00          1,148.90
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              SEP 20 LIFE&ADD INS          0.00          1,155.65
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              SEP 20 LTD                   0.00          1,536.30
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              AUG 20 LTD                   0.00          1,559.06
1011     V9000173   10/08/20 4465     SUN LIFE FINANCIAL       001              JUL 20 LTD                   0.00          1,604.58
TOTAL CHECK                                                                                                  0.00          9,220.71

1011     V9000174   10/08/20 2097     UT SAN DIEGO − NRTH COUN 00150005150      ORD 514 AMEND ADOPT          0.00             60.58

TOTAL CASH ACCOUNT                                                                                           0.00        660,210.08



PENTAMATION                                                                                                        PAGE NUMBER:    6
DATE: 10/13/2020                                      CITY OF SOLANA BEACH, CA                                     ACCTPA21
TIME: 08:02:20                                   CHECK REGISTER − DISBURSEMENT FUND

SELECTION CRITERIA: transact.gl_cash=’1011’ and transact.ck_date between ’20200926 00:00:00.000’ and ’20201009 00:00:00.000’
ACCOUNTING PERIOD:  4/21

     FUND − 001 − GENERAL FUND             

CASH ACCT CHECK NO  ISSUE DT VENDOR   NAME                     BUDGET UNIT      −−−−−DESCRIPTION−−−−−−  SALES TAX            AMOUNT

TOTAL FUND                                                                                                   0.00        660,210.08

TOTAL REPORT                                                                                                 0.00        660,210.08



COUNCIL ACTION: 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
FROM: Gregory Wade, City Manager  
MEETING DATE:  October 28, 2020 
ORIGINATING DEPT: Finance  
SUBJECT: Report on Changes Made to the General Fund Adopted 

Budget for Fiscal Year 2020/21 

BACKGROUND: 

Staff provides a report at each Council meeting that lists changes made to the current 
Fiscal Year (FY) General Fund Adopted Budget. 

The information provided in this Staff Report lists the changes made through October 14, 
2020.   

DISCUSSION: 

The following table reports the revenue, expenditures, and transfers for 1) the Adopted 
General Fund Budget approved by Council on June 12, 2019 (Resolution 2019-085) and 
2) any resolutions passed by Council that amended the Adopted General Fund Budget.

Action Description Revenues Expenditures
 Transfers 
from GF Net Surplus

Reso 2019-085 Adopted Budget 19,827,600 (19,602,500)  (151,100)   (1) 74,000$    

Reso 2020-101 FY2019/20 (495,000)   361,000  80,000  (2) 20,000  

(1) Transfers to: 151,100  

 Debt Service for Public Facilities 151,100  

(2) Transfer to: (80,000)   

  City CIP Fund (80,000)   

GENERAL FUND - ADOPTED BUDGET PLUS CHANGES
As of October 14, 2020

CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: 

Not a project as defined by CEQA 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

N/A 



October 28, 2020 
General Fund Budget Changes -FY 2021 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 
WORK PLAN:  
 
N/A 
 
OPTIONS:  

 

∙ Receive the report. 

∙ Do not accept the report 
 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council receive the report listing changes made to the 
FY 2020-2021 General Fund Adopted Budget. 

 
CITY MANAGER’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve Department Recommendation 
 
 
 
_________________________________  
Gregory Wade, City Manager 



CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
FROM: Gregory Wade, City Manager  
MEETING DATE:  October 28, 2020 
ORIGINATING DEPT: City Manager 
SUBJECT:  Council Consideration of Resolution 2020-138 Closing 

City Hall Between the Christmas and New Year’s Holidays  

BACKGROUND: 

In appreciation of the City’s employees and due to the alignment of the Christmas and 
New Year’s holidays, the City Manager is recommending that the City Council (Council) 
consider closing City Hall and all non-safety facilities for three additional days for this 
year only. Currently, City Hall and non-public safety facilities will be closed on: 

 Thursday, December 24th (Christmas Eve)

 Friday, December 25th (Christmas Day and Closed Friday)

 Thursday, December 31st (New Year’s Eve)

 Friday, January 1st (New Year’s Day)

This leaves Monday, December 28th, Tuesday, December 29th and Wednesday, 
December 30th as scheduled open days for City Hall and other non-public safety 
facilities. Therefore, due to the placement of these holidays during the workweek and in 
appreciation of the employees’ service during these unprecedented times of the global 
COVID-19 pandemic, the City Manager is recommending three additional days (27 
hours) of paid holidays for the miscellaneous, confidential and management employees.  

This item is before the City Council to consider approving Resolution 2020-138 closing 
City Hall and all non-public safety facilities on Monday, December 28th, Tuesday, 
December 29th, and Wednesday, December 30th, and grant City employees the time off. 

DISCUSSION: 

As a gesture of appreciation and due to the placement of the holidays during the 
workweek, the City Manager is recommending the Council close City Hall and all non-



October 28, 2020 
City Hall Holiday Closure 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

public safety facilities on Monday, December 28th, Tuesday, December 29th, and 
Wednesday, December 30th, and granting City employees the time off. For 
miscellaneous, confidential and management employees, this would constitute an 
additional 27 hours of paid holidays. These additional hours cannot be banked, carried 
over or cashed out.  
 
Fire employees will receive an additional twelve (12) hours of leave and Marine Safety 
employees will receive an additional twenty-four (24) hours of leave.  
 
All additional paid holidays and leave hours granted to all employees will be on a one-
time basis during the month of December 2020.  
 
Essential City services will be provided and Staff will be available in case of any 
emergencies. In addition, limited inspection appointments will be scheduled by the 
City’s Building Department during the designated holiday. 
 
CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   
 
No leave will be accrued to the miscellaneous employees’ leave banks. The additional 
hours of leave added to the marine safety and fire employees’ leave banks is not 
expected to create a fiscal impact, since the hours will be used during the employees’ 
tenure.  
 

WORK PLAN:  N/A   
 
OPTIONS: 
 

∙ Approve Staff recommendation to close City Hall and all non-public safety facilities 
on Monday, December 28th, Tuesday, December 29th, and Wednesday, December 
30th for miscellaneous, confidential and management employees, and grant 12-
hours of additional leave to the fire employees’ leave banks and 24-hours of 
additional leave to the marine safety employees’ leave banks.  

∙ Do not approve Staff recommendation. 

∙ Provide direction. 

 
DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council approve Resolution 2020-138 authorizing the 
closure of City Hall and all non-public safety facilities on Monday, December 28th, 
Tuesday, December 29th, and Wednesday, December 30th for miscellaneous, 
confidential and management employees, and approve 12-hours of additional leave to 
the fire employees’ leave banks and 24-hours of additional leave to the marine safety 
employees’ leave banks. 



October 28, 2020 
City Hall Holiday Closure 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

CITY MANAGER’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Approve Department Recommendation 
 
 
_______________________________  
Gregory Wade, City Manager  
 
 
Attachments:  
 

1. Resolution 2020-138 – City Hall Holiday Closure 



RESOLUTION 2020-138 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SOLANA BEACH, CALIFORNIA, APPROVING THE 
CLOSURE OF CITY HALL BETWEEN THE CHRISTMAS 
AND NEW YEAR’S HOLIDAYS FOR 2020.  
 

WHEREAS, the City observes December 24th, December 25th, December 31st and 
January 1st as paid holidays for its employees; and 
 

WHEREAS, the placement of holidays between the Christmas and New Year’s 
holidays only leaves three separate days with City Hall being open; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to the placement of holidays this year and in appreciation of the 

City’s employees for their work during the COVID-19 pandemic, the Council approves the 
closure of City Hall and all non-public safety facilities on Monday, December 28, 2020, 
Tuesday, December 29, 2020, and Wednesday, December 30, 2020; and 

 
WHEREAS, the miscellaneous, confidential and management employees will 

receive 27-hours of additional time off for the three days; and 
 
WHEREAS, the marine safety employees will receive 24-hours of additional leave 

to their leave bank; and 
 
WHEREAS, the fire employees will receive 12-hours of additional leave to their 

leave bank; and 
 

WHEREAS, essential City services will still be conducted and Staff will be available 
for emergency situations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City’s Building Department will have limited availability for 

scheduled inspections as necessary. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Solana 
Beach, California, does resolve as follows:  
 

1. That the above recitations are true and correct. 
 

2. That City Hall and all non-public safety facilities will be closed from Monday, 
December 28, 2020, through Friday, January 1, 2021. 

 
3. City will provide essential services on an as needed basis and during 

emergencies. 
 
4. City Hall will resume normal business hours on Monday, January 4, 2021. 

 
  
 ATTACHMENT 1 



Resolution 2020 - 138 
City Hall Closure – December 2020 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 28th day of October 2020, at a regularly scheduled 

meeting of the City Council of the City of Solana Beach, California, by the following vote: 
      

AYES:   Councilmembers –  
NOES:   Councilmembers –  
ABSTAIN:  Councilmembers – 
ABSENT:   Councilmembers – 
 
 
 

__________________________ 
JEWEL EDSON, Mayor 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________               _________________________ 
JOHANNA N. CANLAS, City Attorney           ANGELA IVEY, City Clerk	



 

 
COUNCIL ACTION: 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

                                                                                                     
 

      

 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 

  
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
FROM:  Gregory Wade, City Manager  
MEETING DATE:  October 28, 2020 
ORIGINATING DEPT: Community Development Department 
SUBJECT: Consideration of Resolution 2020-137 to Amend a 

Professional Service Agreement with Kimley-Horn and 
Associates Inc. to Provide Professional Planning Services 
to Update the City’s Housing and Safety Elements 

 
 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 

Housing Element Law, enacted in 1969, mandates that local governments adequately 
plan to meet the existing and projected housing needs of all economic segments of the 
community. The law acknowledges that, in order for the private market to adequately 
address housing needs and demand, local governments must adopt land use plans and 
regulatory systems which provide opportunities for, and do not unduly constrain, 
housing development.  
 

In August 2019, the City Council authorized the City Manager to execute a Professional 
Services Agreement to update the City’s Housing and Safety Element updates for an 
amount not to exceed $79,999. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
In 2020, HCD issued a Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) for its LEAP Grant 
Program.  The LEAP Grant Program is intended for the preparation, adoption, and 
implementation of plans that streamline housing approvals, accelerate housing 
production, facilitate housing affordability for lower- and moderate-income households, 
promote development consistent with the State Planning Priorities, and ensure 
geographic equity in the distribution and expenditure of the funds.  
 
The program provides grants through a noncompetitive, over-the-counter process for 
local governments who meet certain criteria: 1) have a HCD-compliant housing element, 

AGENDA ITEM A.5.  



October 28, 2020 
Housing Element Agreement Amendment 

Page 2 of 3 

 

2) have submitted a recent Annual Progress report, 3) demonstrate a nexus to 
accelerating housing production, and 4) demonstrate that the application is consistent 
with State Planning Priorities. 
 
Eligible activities under this NOFA include, 1) updates to general plans, community 
plans, specific plans local planning related to implementation of sustainable 
communities strategies, or local coastal plans, 2) updates to zoning ordinances, 3) 
environmental analyses that eliminate the need for project-specific review, and 4) local 
process improvements that expedite local planning and permitting. In July, the City 
Council authorized the submission of a grant application for funds that would be used 
toward the update of the City's Housing and Safety Elements, any Zoning Ordinance 
updates and environmental documents that would be associated with the Housing and 
Safety Element policies and programs. On October 6, 2020 the City received notice 
from HCD that the LEAP Grant Funds had been awarded to the City in the amount of 
$65,000. 
 
Kimley-Horn has been assisting with the City’s 6th Cycle Housing and Safety Element 
updates.  Since the execution of the contract, it was identified that pursuant to newly 
adopted statutes, additional services were necessary to complete the General Plan 
Housing and Safety Element update.  Additionally, as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic, it was determined that additional outreach efforts were necessary for the 
Housing and Safety Element updates. The additional services include, but are not 
limited to, 1) an analysis of Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing that identifies areas of 
opportunity and potential concentrations of lower income households, 2) an analysis of 
Environmental Justice that would identify objectives and policies to reduce the unique or 
compounded risks in disadvantaged communities, 3) preparation of an online survey 
regarding housing, and 4) additional CEQA analysis. These tasks are above and 
beyond what the original Request for Proposals anticipated and the original contract 
agreement with Kimley-Horn included. 
 
CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: 
 
This is not a project under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
As part of the FY 2019/20 and FY 2020/21 Adopted Budgets, the City Council approved 
expenditures associated with the work plan efforts. The original contract for Housing 
and Safety Element Updates with Kimley-Horn and Associates Inc. is for $79,999, an 
amount funded by an SB 2 grant from HCD.  The additional costs and services to 
complete the Housing and Safety Element Updates will cost an additional $65,000.  
These costs will be covered by the Local Early Action Planning (LEAP) Grant that was 
approved by Council on July 8, 2020 and awarded by the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development (HCD) on October 6, 2020.  This action will 
increase the budget in the General Plan Update - Housing Plan project number 9905.03 
by $45,000 to a total of $145,000. 



October 28, 2020 
Housing Element Agreement Amendment 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
 
 
WORK PLAN:  
 
Authorization to execute this contract amendment will complete the key task in bullet 
one of Community Character Priority A.1 (General Plan Update), to select a consultant 
to assist with the City’s Housing and Safety Element update. 
 
OPTIONS: 
  

∙ Authorize Staff recommendation. 

∙ Do not authorize Staff recommendation. 

∙ Provide alternative direction to Staff. 
 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2020-137 (Attachment 1) 
authorizing the City Manager to execute an amendment to the Professional Services 
Agreement with Kimley-Horn and Associates Inc. for an additional amount not to exceed 
$65,000. 
 
CITY MANAGER’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Approve Department Recommendation 
 
 
_________________________  
Gregory Wade, City Manager   
 
 
Attachments:  
 

1. Resolution 2020-137  
2. Revised Scope of Work – Kimley-Horn and Associates Inc. 
3. HCD 2020 LEAP Grants Program Award Letter 



ATTACHMENT 1 

  RESOLUTION 2020-137 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SOLANA BEACH, CALIFORNIA, APPROVING A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT AMENDMENT 
WITH KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC. FOR 
PROFESSIONAL PLANNING SERVICES TO UPDATE 
THE CITY’S HOUSING AND SAFETY ELEMENTS 

 
 WHEREAS, in August 2019, the City Council authorized the City Manager to 
execute a Professional Services Agreement (PSA) to update the City Housing and 
Safety Element with Kimley-Horn and Associates for an amount not to exceed $79,999; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, since the execution of the Kimley-Horn PSA, it was identified that 
pursuant to newly adopted statues, additional services were necessary to complete the 
General Plan Housing and Safety Element update; and 
 
 WHEREAS, those additional services result in additional costs, up to $65,000; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has been awarded Local Early Action Planning (LEAP) Grant 
funds in the amount of $65,000 by the California Department of Housing and 
Community Development (HCD) to complete the additional services. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Solana Beach does resolve as 
follows: 

 
1. That the foregoing recitations are true and correct. 

 
2. That the City Council authorizes the City Manager to execute an amendment to 

the professional service agreement with Kimley-Horn and Associates Inc. for an 
amount of $65,000 to provide additional professional planning services to update 
the City’s Housing and Safety Element. 
 

3. That the City Council approves increasing the Fiscal Year 2021 budget in the 
General Plan Update -Housing Plan project 9905.03 by $45,000 to a total of 
$145,000. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 28th day of October 2020, at a regularly 
scheduled meeting of the City Council of the City of Solana Beach, California by the 
following vote: 
      

AYES:   Councilmembers –  
NOES:   Councilmembers –  
ABSTAIN:  Councilmembers – 
ABSENT:   Councilmembers – 

 



Resolution 2020-137 
PSA with Kimley-Horn 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 

______________________________ 
JEWEL EDSON, Mayor 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________  _______________________________ 
JOHANNA N. CANLAS, City Attorney  ANGELA IVEY, City Clerk 



kimley-horn.com 765 The City Drive, Suite 200, Orange, CA 92868 714 786 6111 

October 19, 2020 

Mr. Joseph Lim, AICP 
Community Development Director 
City of Solana Beach 
635 Hwy 101 
Solana Beach, CA 92075 

RE: Amendment to the Kimley-Horn Existing Housing Element Contract 

Kimley-Horn requests an amendment to the existing Housing Element contract dated September 1, 
2019.  This amendment would modify the existing agreement to include services to be performed by 
Kimley-Horn as described below and in accordance with the terms of the original Agreement. . 

Kimley Horn will supplement the approved Scope of Work for the following tasks: 

Scope of Work Task 3.3. Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH).  The analysis of fair 
housing opportunities and issues is a new statutory requirement of the Housing Element with specific 
HCD guidance on the content and method of analysis. The specific guidance from HCD for the analysis 
and policy considerations were adopted subsequent to the execution of the original contract.  Pursuant 
to this new guidance, the City is required to identify areas of opportunity and potential concentrations 
of lower income households, including mapping and analysis.  Kimley-Horn will conduct this required 
new analysis and develop policies/programs to further the development of fair and equitable housing 
citywide. 

Scope of Work Task 3.3. Housing Resources. Kimley Horn will incorporate additional analysis and 
programmatic findings relating to newly adopted AFFH guidance, the incorporation of accessory 
dwelling units (ADUs) pursuant to recent 2020 statutes, and justification of using of non-vacant sites 
pursuant to new 2020 guidance from HCD to demonstrate the ability to meet the City’s Regional 
Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA).  This additional work effort considers recently released HCD 
guidance that specifies additional new submittals that are now required to accompany the adequate 
sites analysis.   

LEAP Grant Proposed Activities Checklist: 

• Performing infrastructure planning, including for sewers, water systems, transit, roads, or other
public facilities necessary to support new housing and new residents

• Planning documents to promote development of publicly owned land such as partnering with
other local entities to identify and prepare excess or surplus property for residential
development

• Implementation measures to intensify land use patterns in strategic locations such as close
proximity to transit, jobs or other amenities

Scope of Work Task 3.4. Housing Plan and Environmental Justice.  As required by new statutory 
requirements of SB 1000, the City must incorporate environmental justice policies into the General 
Plan.  Kimley-Horn will conduct the requisite analysis and development of policies identifying objectives 



Page 2 

kimley-horn.com 765 The City Drive, Suite 200, Orange, CA 92868 714 786 6111 
 

and policies to reduce the unique or compounded risks in disadvantaged communities, including access 
to safe and sanitary housing.  It is assumed these policies will be incorporated into applicable existing 
General Plans Housing Element Policy Plan in lieu of creating an independent, standalone Element.   

Kimley-Horn will develop additional programs in-light of new requirements and guidance by the State 
Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) that was released June 10, 2020.  This 
includes policies relating to accessory dwelling units (ADU) and additional analysis for affirmatively 
furthering fair housing (AFFH) policies. 

LEAP Grant Proposed Activities Checklist: 

• Rezoning and encouraging development by updating planning documents and zoning 
ordinances, such as general plans, community plans, specific plans, implementation of 
sustainable communities’ strategies, and local coastal programs  

• Revamping local planning processes to speed up housing production  
• Preparing and adopting housing elements of the general plan that include an implementation 

component to facilitate compliance with the sixth cycle RHNA  
• Establishing Prohousing Policies  
• Establishing housing incentive zones or other area based housing incentives beyond State 

Density Bonus Law such as a workforce housing opportunity zone pursuant to Article 10.10 
(commencing with Section 65620) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of Title 7 of the Government Code 
or a housing sustainability district pursuant to Chapter 11 (commencing with Section 66200) of 
Division 1 of Title 7 of the Government Code  
 

Scope of Work Task 7. Safety Element Update.  Kimley-Horn will complete additional statutorily 
required analysis to the Safety Element.  The Safety Element update will require additional analysis, 
including mapping, policies, programs, and procedures relating to identification and mitigation of 
potential hazards citywide.  Kimley-Horn will complete the required additional analysis, mapping, and 
updates to programs and policies that will address amendments as required by Senate Bill 379, 
Assembly Bill 747, and new procedures for the development of policies and  third-party consultation 
requirements pursuant to  new guidance from CalFire.   

LEAP Grant Proposed Activities Checklist: 

• Environmental hazard assessments; data collection on permit tracking; feasibility studies, site 
analysis, or other background studies that are ancillary (e.g., less than 15% of the total grant 
amount) and part of a proposed activity with a nexus to accelerating housing production  

Scope of Work Task 10. California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Analysis.  To incorporate 
the additional new CEQA considerations influenced by the additional work efforts required that address 
Safety and Environmental Justice, supplementary CEQA analysis will be performed.  

LEAP Grant Proposed Activities Checklist: 

• Completing environmental clearance to eliminate the need for project-specific review  
• Environmental hazard assessments; data collection on permit tracking; feasibility studies, site 

analysis, or other background studies that are ancillary (e.g., less than 15% of the total grant 



Page 3 

kimley-horn.com 765 The City Drive, Suite 200, Orange, CA 92868 714 786 6111 
 

amount) and part of a proposed activity with a nexus to accelerating housing production  

The additional services described above shall be completed for the Fee Estimate listed below: 

 

Fee Estimate 
Existing Tasks to be Amended Fee 
Task 3.3 Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing $8,000 
Task 3.3 Housing Resources $20,000 
Task 3.4 Environmental Justice $7,000 
Task 7. Safety Element Update $15,000 
Task 10. CEQA Analysis $15,000 

Total: $65,000 
 

The scope contained within this amendment request aligns with the requirements of the City’s approved 
Local Early Action Planning (LEAP) grant funding.   

With Kimley-Horn, you should expect more and will experience better. Please contact me at (714) 
786-6111 or nick.chen@kimley-horn.com should you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 

 

Nick Chen, AICP 

mailto:nick.chen@kimley-horn.com


STATE OF CALIFORNIA - BUSINESS, CONSUMER SERVICES AND HOUSING AGENCY GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor  
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DIVISION OF HOUSING POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
2020 W. El Camino Avenue, Suite 500 
Sacramento, CA  95833 
(916) 263-2911 / FAX (916) 263-7453
www.hcd.ca.gov

October 6, 2020 

Gregory Wade  
City Manager 
City of Solana Beach 
635 S Hwy 101 
Solano Beach, CA 92075 

RE: 2020 Local Early Action Planning (LEAP) Grants Program Award 

Dear Gregory Wade: 

The California Department of Housing and Community Development (Department) is 
pleased to announce that the City of Solana Beach has been approved for funding 
under the Local Early Action Planning Grants Program (LEAP Program). The 
Department has determined that the application submitted in response to the Notice of 
Funding Availability released on January 27, 2020, meets LEAP Program requirements. 
This letter constitutes a conditional commitment of an award in the amount of $65,000. 

The LEAP Program reflects the state’s commitment to work in partnership with local 
governments to address California’s critical housing needs. Local governments are 
using the grant awards for the preparation and adoption of planning documents, 
process improvements that accelerate housing production, and to facilitate compliance 
in implementing the sixth cycle of the regional housing need assessment (RHNA). 

Congratulations on your successful application. Staff will be contacting you shortly to 
initiate the process of the Standard Agreement for fund distribution. For further 
information, please contact Fidel Herrera, of our staff, at (916) 263-7441 or at 
fidel.herrera@hcd.ca.gov. 

Sincerely, 

Gustavo Velasquez 
Director



 

 

 
COUNCIL ACTION: 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 
 

 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 

  
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
FROM:  Gregory Wade, City Manager  
MEETING DATE:  October 28, 2020 
ORIGINATING DEPT: Community Development  
SUBJECT:  6th Cycle Housing Element Update Discussion 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 

The Housing Element is a State-mandated policy document. The Housing Element is 
required by State Housing law to be updated every eight years. The City’s current Housing 
Element is for the 5th Cycle planning period which covers 2013-2021. The next planning 
period is the 6th Cycle which covers 2021-2029. 
 
Housing Element Law, enacted in 1969, mandates that local governments adequately 
plan to meet the existing and projected housing needs of all economic segments of the 
community. The law acknowledges that, in order for the private market to adequately 
address housing needs and demand, local governments must adopt land use plans and 
regulatory systems which provide opportunities for, and do not unduly constrain, housing 
development.  
 
All California municipalities are required by Article 10.6 of the Government Code 
(Sections 65580-65590) to adopt a Housing Element as part of their General Plan. 
Distinct from the other General Plan elements, the Housing Element is subject to detailed 
statutory requirements and mandatory review by the California Department of Housing 
and Community Development (HCD). 
 
This item is before the City Council to discuss and provide guidance regarding the Draft 
Housing Element Update. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
 



                                                    October 28, 2020 
6th Cycle Housing Element Update Discussion 

Page 2 of 4 

 

The Housing Element is a guiding document that is used to implement goals, policies, 
objectives and programs that further the development of housing for all income levels in 
the City. The Housing Element is one of seven mandatory Elements of the General Plan 
that identifies ways to address housing needs of current and future residents.   
 
As mandated by state law, the City is required to include specific content within the 
Housing Element in an effort to provide each jurisdiction’s “fair share” of regional housing 
needs. The San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) is responsible for 
preparing the Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) for all jurisdictions within the 
SANDAG region.  For the 6th Cycle planning period (April 15, 2021 to April 15, 2029), the 
City of Solana Beach was allocated a total 875 units, including 316 very low-income units, 
159 low-income units, 160 moderate income units, and 240 above-moderate income 
units. 
 
The City has conducted two workshops (March 5, 2020 and October 15, 2020), during 
which, City Staff and Kimley-Horn Associates, the City’s Housing Element consultant, 
updated the community about the State’s requirements for the Housing Element Update 
process and solicited input from the community regarding various housing challenges, 
facilitation of housing programs, and housing opportunities within the community. 
Comments received from the community and City Council have contributed to the draft 
Housing Plan section of the Housing Element which lays out the goals, policies and 
programs aimed to facilitate housing development in the community.   
 
The draft Housing Element also includes a map and list of candidate sites where the 
housing for each income category could be developed.  After review and evaluation of 
the City’s existing zoning and General Plan land use capacity, it has been determined 
that the City can accommodate the 2021-2029 RHNA allocation through a variety of 
methods and among the candidate sites identified without the need to rezone any 
properties in the City.  While the City has very little vacant/undeveloped land, the draft 
Housing Element identifies vacant and City-owned properties suitable for development of 
housing, identifies additional capacity on existing residentially zoned and commercially 
zoned sites, and identifies future development capacity for accessory dwelling units 
(ADUs) throughout the City. Details of this analysis are contained in Appendix B – 
Candidate Sites Analysis of the Housing Element. 
 
Sites identified to meet the City’s very-low and low income housing categories were 
selected based on factors established by the State (AB 1397), which include a default 
density of 20 dwelling units per acre and a minimum parcel size of ½ acre, but not greater 
than 10 acres. There were some exceptions to the minimum parcel size requirement 
either where there had been examples of recent development on similarly sized sites or 
where sites were identified as having common ownership to adjacent parcels that could 
possibly be combined into suitable site for housing or mixed use development.  Due to 
City’s existing land use and zoning designations, the candidate sites analysis resulted in 
a greater concentration of very low and low-income housing sites being located in the 
southwestern quadrant of the City, where higher density zoning designations currently 
exist. 



                                                    October 28, 2020 
6th Cycle Housing Element Update Discussion 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 
For moderate-income and above moderate-income housing, sites were identified based 
on properties that had the greatest possibility to be redeveloped on existing medium- and 
low-density zoned properties.  In most instances, the sites identified would allow for 
development of one or more units based on the permitted densities. 
 
As noted in the draft Housing Element, the RHNA allocation of residential units by income 
category is summarized in the following table: 
 

 
 
The draft Housing Element is being made available for public comment on October 22, 
2020 through November 23, 2020. Comments from the public and City Council will be 
incorporated into the final draft of the City’s 2021-2029 Housing Element which is 
scheduled to be forwarded to HCD in December 2020. HCD will provide comments to the 
final draft within 60 days of City submittal.  Based on HCD comments, edits will be made 
for final consideration and adoption by City Council prior to April 15, 2021. 
 
CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: 
 

This discussion item is not a project as defined by CEQA. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

There is no fiscal impact as a result of this item. 
 
 



                                                    October 28, 2020 
6th Cycle Housing Element Update Discussion 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 
OPTIONS: 

 
City Council may wish to consider including any number of policies that would further 
housing development.  The following are a list of items that City Council may consider: 

 Suggest, modify, and/or comment on candidate sites. 

 Incentives to encourage affordable ADU construction. 

 Less restrictive development standards for ADU development. 

 Explore zoning modifications that would support ADU and affordable housing 
development. 

 
DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Staff recommends that the City Council discuss and provide guidance regarding the Draft 
Housing Element Update. 

 
CITY MANAGER’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Approve Department Recommendation. 
 
 
_________________________  
Gregory Wade, City Manager   
 
 
Attachments:   
 
1. Legislative Fact Sheet 
2. SANDAG RHNA Allocation Per Income Category 
3. Solana Beach Candidate Housing Sites 
4. Draft Housing Element Update 

 
 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

1 
 

As part of the housing package, a variety of new laws have been adopted that will influence the City of 
Solana Beach as they achieve certification. The following chart provides a summary of these new laws. 

2018 LEGISLATION 

FUNDING MEASURES 

SB 2 - Projected to generate hundreds of millions of dollars annually for affordable housing, 
supportive housing, emergency shelters, transitional housing and other housing needs via a 
$75 to $225 recording fee on specified real estate documents. 

SB 3 - Placed a $4 billion general obligation bond on the November 2018 ballot to fund 
affordable housing programs and the veteran’s homeownership program (CalVet). 
STREAMLINING MEASURES 

SB 35 - Streamlines multifamily housing project approvals, at the request of a developer, in a 
city that fails to issue building permits for its share of the regional housing need by income 
category. In an SB 35 city, approval of a qualifying housing development on qualifying site is a 
ministerial act, without CEQA review or public hearings. 

SB 540 - Streamlines the housing approval process by allowing jurisdictions to establish 
Workforce Housing Opportunity Zones (WHOZs), which focus on workforce and affordable 
housing in areas close to jobs and transit and conform to California’s greenhouse gas 
reduction laws. SB 540’s objective is to set the stage for approval of housing developments by 
conducting all of the necessary planning, environmental review and public input on the front 
end through the adoption of a detailed Specific Plan. SB 540 provides the development 
community with certainty that for a five-year period, development consistent with the plan 
will be approved without further CEQA review or discretionary decision-making. 

AB 73 – Similar to SB 540 the Bill streamlines the housing approval process by allowing 
jurisdictions to create a housing sustainability district to complete upfront zoning and 
environmental review in order to receive incentive payments for development projects that 
are consistent with the ordinance. 
ACCOUNTABILITY MEASURES 

SB 167 / AB 678 / AB 1515 – These three measures were amended late in the 2017 
legislative session to incorporate nearly all of the same changes to the Housing 
Accountability Act (HAA). The HAA limits the ability of a jurisdiction to deny an affordable or 
market-rate housing project that is consistent with existing planning and zoning 
requirements. 
OTHER MEASURES 

AB 1505 - Allows a jurisdiction to adopt an ordinance that requires a housing development to 
include a certain percentage of residential rental units affordable to and occupied by 
households with incomes that do not exceed limits for households with extremely low, very 
low, low or moderate income. 
Such an ordinance must provide alternative means of compliance such as in-lieu fees, off-site 
construction, etc. 

AB 879 - Expands upon existing law that requires, by April 1 of each year, general law cities 
to send an annual report, that includes information related to the implementation of the 
General Plan, including RHNA, to their respective city councils, the state Office of Planning 
and Research (OPR) and HCD. 

kvinson
Stamp



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

2 
 

AB 1397 - Makes numerous changes to how a jurisdiction establishes its housing 
element site inventory. Its purpose is to strengthen the obligation of local governments 
to identify a supply of adequate sites available to meet their housing needs for all 
income levels in their housing elements. Updated requirements include the following: 
Sites must be available and either vacant or have a “realistic and demonstrated 
potential for redevelopment during the planning period” for the designated income 
level. There is now a presumption that an existing use on a non‐vacant site will impede 
development if more than 50% of the sites identified as available to accommodate the 
lower income RHNA are non‐vacant. Sites identified to accommodate the lower income 
RHNA must be served by water, sewer and “dry” utilities.  Sites identified in prior 
housing elements may only be included in a new element as available to accommodate 
the lower income RHNA if they are rezoned for by‐right development and require at 
least 20% of the housing on those sites  be affordable to lower income households. To 
identify these sites as available to accommodate lower income housing the analysis 
must demonstrate a history of affordable housing development on sites of these sizes. 
Calculating the unit capacity for  sites must be realistic based on analysis 
demonstrating a history of development of affordable housing at the assigned density.  
A site cannot be presumed to accommodate the maximum density permitted. 

AB 72 - Provides HCD new broad authority to find a jurisdiction’s housing element out of 
substantial compliance if it determines that the jurisdiction fails to act in compliance with its 
Housing Element and allows HCD to refer violations of law to the attorney general. 

2019 LEGISLATION 

AB 2753 - Seeks to expedite the processing of density bonus applications pursuant to the 
State Density Bonus Law. The State Density Bonus Law, originally enacted in 1979, requires an 
agency to grant a density bonus and/or a certain number of concessions or incentives to 
developers who agree to construct developments that provide affordable housing and meet 
certain criteria. Updates require local governments to provide determinations to developers 
regarding the amount of density bonus for which a development is eligible, all reductions in 
parking requirements for which the applicant is eligible and whether the applicant has 
provided adequate information for the local government to decide regarding any requested 
incentives, concessions, waivers or reductions in required parking. The law also requires 
determinations to be based on the development project at the time the application is 
deemed complete and provides that the local government shall adjust the amount of density 
bonus and required parking based on any changes during the development process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

3 
 

AB 2372 - Authorizes cities or counties to grant a developer of an eligible housing 
development under the State Density Bonus Law a floor area ratio bonus in lieu of a bonus on 
the basis of dwelling units per acre. The floor area bonus is calculated based on a formula 
prescribed in the new statute (i.e., allowable residential base density x (site area in square 
feet / 43,500) x 2,250). An eligible housing development under the law is a multifamily 
housing development that provides at least 20 percent affordable units, is located within a 
transit priority area or a half-mile from a major transit stop, meets requirements for the 
replacement of existing units and complies with height requirements applicable to the 
underlying zone. The law also prohibits cities and counties from imposing parking 
requirements in excess of specified ratios and allows an applicant for an eligible development 
to calculate impact fees based on square feet and not  per unit. 

SB 1227 - Extends the State Density Bonus Law to apply to student housing. It allows student 
housing projects where at least 20 percent of the units are affordable for lower income 
students to receive a 35 percent density bonus. The law also states that the development 
must provide priority to students experiencing homelessness. The density bonus under the 
law will be calculated based on the number of beds instead of units. 

AB 2797 - Requires the State Density Bonus Law to be harmonized with the California Coastal 
Act so that both statutes can be given effect within the coastal zone to increase affordable 
housing in the coastal zone while protecting coastal resources and access. 

AB 3194 - Makes three important revisions to strengthen the Housing Accountability Act 
(HAA). The HAA strictly limits local governments' authority to reject or restrict housing 
development projects that comply with applicable objective general plan, zoning and 
subdivision standards. This year, as revised by AB 3194, if the zoning for a project site is 
inconsistent with the general plan, a proposed housing development project cannot be 
considered "inconsistent" with a jurisdiction's zoning standards and cannot be required to 
seek a rezoning, as long as the project complies with the jurisdiction's objective general plan 
standards. Second, local agencies must now apply zoning standards and criteria to facilitate 
and accommodate development at the density allowed on the site by the general plan. Third, 
the Legislature declared its intent that a "specific, adverse impact on the public health and 
safety" – the only permissible basis on which a local government can reject or reduce the size 
of a project that complies with objective standards—will "arise infrequently." 

SB 765 - Makes a series of "cleanup" revisions to SB 35, the major streamlining law enacted in 
2017, which requires localities to grant a streamlined ministerial approval to housing projects 
that meet the locality's objective standards, commit to provide prevailing wage labor and 
provide a specified amount of affordable housing, among other criteria. 

AB 2263 - Authorizes parking reductions for a development project in which a designated 
historical resource is being converted or adapted. For projects converting or adapting a 
designated historical resource to a residential use that is located within a half-mile of a major 
transit stop, an agency shall not require the project to provide parking spaces greater than the 
number of parking spaces that existed on the project site at the time the project application 
was submitted. For a project converting or adapting a designated historical resource to a 
nonresidential use, a local agency shall provide a 25 percent reduction in the amount of 
parking spaces that would otherwise be required. 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

4 
 

AB 2162 - Requires supportive housing to be considered a use "by right" in zones where 
multifamily and mixed uses are permitted, including nonresidential zones permitting 
multifamily uses, if the proposed housing development meets specified criteria. Supportive 
housing is housing linked to an onsite or offsite service that assists the resident in retaining 
the housing, improving his or her health status and ability to live and work in the community. 
Qualifying criteria relates to affordability, long-term deed restrictions, nonresidential floor 
use providing supportive services and other design requirements. The law requires a local 
government to approve, within specified periods, supportive housing developments that 
comply with these requirements. The law prohibits the local government from imposing any 
minimum parking requirement for units occupied by supportive housing residents if the 
development is located within a half-mile of a public transit stop. 

AB 829 - Prohibits local governments from requiring a developer of obtain a letter of 
acknowledgment or similar document prior to applying for state assistance for a housing 
development. The law defines state assistance as any state funds, a state tax credit or a 
federal tax credit administered by the state. The legislative analysis for the bill explained that 
in at least one case in the state, city council members have delayed projects for supportive 
housing requiring financial assistance by conditioning a project to receive official sign-off from 
the local elected official in order to receive funding. This law ends that practice for all 
jurisdictions. 

SB 828 / AB 1771 - Makes several changes to the Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) 
process to use more data to more accurately and fairly reflect job growth and housing needs, 
with an emphasis on fair housing goals. RHNA is the process to identify the total number of 
housing units and income levels that each jurisdiction must accommodate in its housing 
element. The RHNA process has been in the spotlight recently due to claims that some cities 
have artificially low RHNA targets due to a politically driven process. New amendments revise 
the data that the council of governments (the entities that determine RHNA targets) must 
provide to HCD as part of the RHNA process. That data must now include new information 
regarding overcrowding rates, vacancy rates and cost- burdened housing (among other new 
data points). This law adds more opportunities for public comment and HCD adjustments to 
the council of governments' methodology for selecting RHNA targets, as well an ability for 
local governments to appeal RHNA targets. Additionally, the law prohibits a council of 
governments from using prior underproduction of housing, or stable population numbers, as 
justification for a determination or reduction in a local government's share of the RHNA. 

AB 686 - Requires a public agency to administer its programs and activities relating to housing 
and community development in a manner to affirmatively further fair housing and not take 
any action that is inconsistent with this obligation. "Affirmatively furthering fair housing" 
means, among other things, "taking meaningful actions ... that overcome patterns of 
segregation and foster inclusive communities" and "address significant disparities in housing 
needs and in access to opportunity." Additionally, an assessment of fair housing practices 
must now be included in upcoming housing elements. 
 
 

 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

5 
 

SB 1333 - Makes charter cities (those governed by a city charter document rather than by 
general law) subject to several planning laws that previously only applied to general law 
cities. These include laws related to general plan amendment processing, accessory dwelling 
unit permitting and the preparation of housing elements. Notably, the new law now requires 
a charter city's zoning ordinances to be consistent with its adopted general plan. 

AB 1919 - Recognizes that under current prohibitions against "price gouging," landlords 
cannot raise rents by more than 10 percent within 30 days of a declared disaster, but the 
prohibition does not apply to rental properties that were not on the market at the time of the 
emergency. This new law expands the existing crime of price gouging to include new rentals 
that were not on the market at the time of the emergency within the types of goods and 
services that are price-controlled in the immediate aftermath of an emergency. The law also 
makes other related reforms to limit rent increases and evictions following an emergency. 

AB 2913 - Extends the duration of a building permit from six months (180 days) to 12 months, 
as long as construction has started and has not been abandoned. The law also provides that a 
permit is subject to the building standards in effect on the date of original issuance, and if the 
permit does expire, the developer may obtain approval from the local building official for one 
or more six-month extensions. 

DEVELOPMENT, STREAMLINING, PRODUCTION AND INCENTIVES 

SB 330 – Limits a jurisdiction’s ability to change development standards and zoning applicable 
to the project once a “preliminary application” is submitted. Amends the Permit Streamlining 
Act to specify what constitutes a “preliminary application” and states that a jurisdiction has 
one chance to identify incomplete items in an initial application, and after that may not 
request any new information. Prevents jurisdictions from increasing exactions or fees during a 
project’s application period, and only allows such increases if the resolution or ordinance 
establishing the fee calls for automatic increases in the fee over time. Prohibits jurisdictions 
from conducting more than 5 hearings if a proposed housing project complies with the 
applicable, objective general plan and zoning standards in effect at the time the application is 
deemed complete. Prohibits a jurisdiction from enacting development policies, standards or 
conditions that would change current zoning and general plan designations of land to “lessen 
the intensity of housing”; from placing a moratorium or similar restrictions on housing 
development; and from limiting or capping the number of land use approvals or permits. 
Creates the Housing Accountability Act. 

AB 1763 – Creates enhanced density bonus options, including a potential 80% increase in base 
density and unlimited density bonuses for qualifying projects within a half-mile of a major 
transit stop. Applies only to projects that consist of 100% affordable housing (no more than 
20% moderate-income, and the rest for lower-income). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

6 
 

AB 1485 – Clarifies that the calculation to determine if a project qualifies for SB 35 where it 
consists of two-thirds residential excludes underground space. Clarifies that the 3-year 
expiration for SB 35 approval in case of litigation expires 3 years after a final judgment 
upholding the approval and clarifies that the approval also remains valid as long as vertical 
construction has begun and is in progress. Clarifies that local governments must issue 
subsequent permits without unreasonable delay, as long as those subsequent permit 
applications substantially comply with the approved SB 35 permit. Clarifies that a project 
complies with SB 35’s qualifying criteria as long as “there is substantial evidence that would 
allow a reasonable person to conclude” that the development qualifies. Clarifies that under 
existing law, SB 35 projects are entitled to protection under the Housing Accountability Act. 

AB 1483 – Requires local agencies to make information available on housing development 
fees, applicable zoning ordinances and standards, annual fee reports and archived nexus fee 
studies. Requires cities to clearly post their impact fee schedules and nexus studies. HCD will 
be required to prepare a 10-year housing data strategy that identifies the data useful to 
enforce existing housing laws and inform state housing policymaking. 

AB 101 – Effective as of July 31, 2019. Requires local governments to provide “by right,” 
CEQA-exempt approvals to certain qualifying navigation centers that move homeless 
Californians into permanent housing. Creates additional incentives for cities to comply with 
their mandates to plan for sufficient housing under housing element law. Creates steep 
penalties for cities that refuse to comply with Housing Element law and ties financial 
incentives to cities that adopt “pro-housing” policies. 

CEQA FAST TRACK 

AB 1560 – Broadens the definition of a “major transit stop” to include bus rapid transit. 
Provides that projects located within a ½ mile of a qualifying bus rapid transit stop may qualify 
for parking reductions, CEQA infill housing, aesthetic and parking exemptions, SB 375 
streamlining for qualifying transit priority projects, and a less than significant VMT impact 
presumption. The new definition also applies to local incentives. 

SB 744 – Streamlines the approval process for supportive housing projects by clarifying that a 
decision to seek funding through the No Place Like Home program is not a project for the 
purpose of CEQA. 

AB 1197 – Exempts from CEQA, until January 1, 2025, any action taken by certain local public 
agencies to convey, lease, encumber land or provide financial assistance in furtherance of 
providing emergency shelters or supportive housing in the City of LA. 

TENANT PROTECTIONS 

AB 1482 - Enacts a yearly cap of 5% plus the change in cost of living on rent increases 
statewide for the next 10 years. Enacts a just cause provision to prevent landlords from 
evicting certain tenants absent just cause. Contains exemptions, the 2 most important of 
which are (i) properties built in the last 15 years, and (ii) single-family home rentals not owned 
by a REIT or corporation. Does not replace more stringent local measures, including existing 
local rent control with lower limits and local just cause eviction laws. 

AB 1110 - Requires 90-day notice, rather than 60-day notice, before a landlord may increase 
the rent of a month-to-month tenant by more than 10%. 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

7 
 

SB 329 - Prohibits landlords from discriminating against tenants who rely on housing 
assistance paid directly to landlords, such as a Section 8 voucher. 

SB 18 - Removes the December 31, 2019 sunset date on a state law which gives tenants at 
least 90-days’ notice before their tenancy can be terminated if a landlord loses ownership of 
their rental property as a result of a foreclosure sale 

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 

AB 68 - Allows 2 ADUs on a single lot, as well as multiple ADUs on multifamily lots. Requires 
local agencies to approve or deny an ADU project within 60 days. Restricts local agencies’ 
ability to adopt certain ordinances that would discourage ADUs. 

AB 881 - Restricting local jurisdictions’ permitting criteria. Clarifies that ADUs must receive 
streamlined approval if constructed in existing garages. Eliminates local jurisdictions’ ability to 
require owner-occupancy for 5 years. 

SB 13 - Sunsets on January 1, 2025. Creates a tiered fee structure which charges ADUs more 
fairly based on their size and location. Prohibits local jurisdictions from imposing impact fees 
on ADUs under 750 square feet. Prohibits conditional approval of an ADU on the applicant 
being an “owner-applicant.” 

AB 587 - Provides that local jurisdictions may allow ADUs to be sold or conveyed separately 
from a primary residence if certain conditions are met. Allows affordable housing 
organizations to sell deed-restricted ADUs to eligible low-income homeowners. 

AB 670 - Prevents homeowners’ associations from barring ADUs. Allows reasonable 
restrictions. 

AB 671 - Requires local governments to include in their housing plans to incentivize and 
promote the creation of affordable ADUs. Requires HCD to develop a list of state grants and 
financial incentives for ADU development and post it by Dec. 31, 2020. 

SURPLUS LAND 

AB 1486 - Expands Surplus Land Act requirements for local agencies. Clarify what it means to 
grant “priority” to affordable housing proposals by requiring that agencies negotiate 
exclusively with the entity proposing the most units at the deepest affordability. Requires 
local governments to include specified information relating to surplus lands in their housing 
elements and annual progress reports. 
Requires HCD to maintain a searchable and public inventory of all publicly owned or 
controlled lands and their present usage. Provides that a local agency that violates the Act is 
liable for up 30 percent to 50 percent of the final sale price. 

SB 6 - Requires DGS to create public searchable database of: (1) local land suitable and 
available for residential development based on information included in local Housing 
Elements; and (2) state land determined or declared to be excess. 

AB 1255 - Requires cities and counties to report to the state an inventory of its surplus lands 
in urbanized areas. Requires the state to include this information in a digitized inventory of 
state surplus land sites. 

FUNDING 

AB 116 - Removes the requirement that Enhanced Infrastructure Financing Districts (EIFDs) 
must receive voter approval prior to issuing bonds. 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Legislation Fact Sheet 
 

8 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

SB 128 - Extends the pilot program allowing certain counties to select a bidder on a “best 
value” basis for construction projects over $1 million to January 1, 2025 and adds new 
counties to the program. Participating counties must submit a report describing, among other 
things, the projects awarded using the best value procedure. 

AB 695 - Effective July 1, 2020. A design-build entity cannot be prequalified or shortlisted 
unless the entity provides an enforceable commitment to the school district that the entity 
and its subcontractors use skilled and trained workers or building and construction trade 
apprentices to perform all work on the project or contract. 

AB 1768 - Workers employed on public works projects may not be paid less than the general 
prevailing rate of per diem wages. Expands the definition of public works to include 
preconstruction works such as design, feasibility studies, land surveying, and site assessments. 

AB 197  - Department of Transportation is indefinitely prohibited from withholding retention 
proceeds when making progress payments for work performed by a contractor. 

 
 



 

SANDAG RHNA Allocation Per Income Category 

 

aivey
Stamp



! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! !

1.85; 4

1.36; 2

2.81; 6

1.33; 4

1.86; 2

1.95; 1 1.99; 2

1.104; 2

3.3; 13

2.85; 7

1.92; 1
1.91; 1

1.15; 1

2.83; 6

1.14; 1

1.94; 1

1.37; 1

3.2; 6

1.16; 1

1.93; 1

1.38; 1

1.7; 1
1.9; 1

2.69; 2

3.1; 4

1.88; 1

1.11; 1

2.80; 4
2.70; 1

2.56; 1
2.2; 1

2.74; 2

2.57; 1

2.58; 1

1.96; 2
1.97; 1

2.72; 2

2.60; 1

2.61; 1

1.100; 1

2.62; 1

2.63; 1

2.64; 1

2.65; 1 2.66; 1
2.53; 1

2.19; 1

2.54; 1

4.10; 54

4.4; 28

4.22; 27

4.42; 27

4.40; 17

4.47; 17

4.44; 17

4.12; 51

4.37; 29

4.9; 31

4.36; 21 4.38; 19

4.15; 23

4.8; 15

4.51; 11

4.52; 124.70; 16

4.23; 15

4.54; 15

4.32; 10

4.33; 11

4.39; 15

4.45; 13

4.30; 7

4.41; 12

4.1; 8

4.35; 6
4.26; 6

4.46; 9

4.34; 64.20; 8

4.28; 10

4.19; 6

4.43; 7

4.18; 7

4.13; 8

4.69; 6
4.68; 5

4.73; 5

4.71; 3

4.72; 4

4.81; 3

4.82; 0

4.74; 1

4.75; 14.76; 1

4.79; 2
4.78; 1

4.80; 2

4.77; 5

4.63; 63

Solana Beach 6th Cycle Potential RHNA Sites
Environmentally Sensitive Habitat Area (ESHA)

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! !

! ! ! ! ! ! ! Potential ESHA
Very High Fire Severity
City of Solana Beach Limits

By Income Level
Residential

Above Moderate Income
Moderate Income
Very Low/Low Income

Non-Residential
Above Moderate Income
Very Low/Low Income

0 1,000 2,000500
FeetN



ID
Included 

in HE
APN ZoneCode Zoning Address Size (AC)

Units 
(Existing)

Density
Potential 

Units
Vacant 
Parcels

1.100 AM 2980943200 LRc Low Residential c 0  GRANADOS AVE 0.34 0 3 1 VAC

1.104 AM 2981215600 LRc Low Residential c 524 S NARDO AVE 1.19 1 3 2

1.11 AM 2630321800 LMRc Low-Medium Residential c 717  SEABRIGHT LN 0.53 1 4 1

1.14 AM 2630821700 LRc Low Residential c 615 N GRANADOS AVE 0.77 1 3 1

1.15 AM 2631607100 LRd Low Residential d 403  MARVIEW DR 0.78 1 3 1

1.16 AM 2631607500 LRd Low Residential d 404  MARVIEW DR 0.70 1 3 1

1.33 AM 2634020500 LRc Low Residential c 148 S NARDO AVE 1.79 1 3 4

1.36 AM 2634022200 LRc Low Residential c 170 S NARDO AVE 1.26 1 3 2

1.37 AM 2634040100 LMRd Low-Medium Residential d 321  EL VIENTO ST 0.73 1 4 1

1.38 AM 2634041000 LMRd Low-Medium Residential d 390  LOMAS SANTA FE DR 0.65 1 4 1

1.7 AM 2630311200 LMRc Low-Medium Residential c 645 N RIOS AVE 0.54 1 4 1

1.85 AM 2980811100 LRc Low Residential c 302 S NARDO AVE 2.02 2 3 4

1.86 AM 2980812500 LRc Low Residential c 258 S NARDO AVE 1.56 2 3 2

1.88 AM 2980838600 LMRc Low-Medium Residential c 130 S GRANADOS AVE 0.56 1 4 1

1.9 AM 2630320800 LMRc Low-Medium Residential c 725  SEABRIGHT LN 0.53 1 4 1

1.91 AM 2980844400 LRc Low Residential c 422 S NARDO AVE 0.85 1 3 1

1.92 AM 2980844500 LRc Low Residential c 430 S NARDO AVE 0.86 1 3 1

1.93 AM 2980844700 LRc Low Residential c 326  NARDO AVE 0.68 1 3 1

Residential Sites
Draft 10/21/2020



ID
Included 

in HE
APN ZoneCode Zoning Address Size (AC)

Units 
(Existing)

Density
Potential 

Units
Vacant 
Parcels

1.94 AM 2980844800 LRc Low Residential c 318 S NARDO AVE 0.74 1 3 1

1.95 AM 2980921000 LRc Low Residential c 526 S CEDROS AVE 1.10 2 3 1

1.96 AM 2980921300 LRc Low Residential c 0  RIOS AVE 0.42 0 3 2 VAC

1.97 AM 2980921400 LRc Low Residential c 0  RIOS AVE 0.40 0 3 1 VAC

1.99 AM 2980934400 LRc Low Residential c 535 S GRANADOS AVE 1.05 1 3 2

2.19 M 2982701800 MRd Medium Residential d 2466 MANGO WAY 0.21 0 5 1 VAC

2.2 M 2982701600 MRd Medium Residential d 686  VIA DE LA VALLE 0.41 1 5 1

2.53 M 2981331300 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 820  VERA ST 0.16 0 8 1 VAC

2.54 M 2981331100 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 834  VERA ST 0.15 0 8 1 VAC

2.56 M 2982703500 MRd Medium Residential d 684  VIA DE LA VALLE 0.51 1 5 1

2.57 M 2630212500 MRd Medium Residential d 637 W CIRCLE DR 0.46 1 5 1

2.58 M 2982704400 MRd Medium Residential d 690  VIA DE LA VALLE 0.44 1 5 1

2.60 M 2982120100 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 601 S CEDROS AVE 0.30 1 8 1

2.61 M 2633510600 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 147 N RIOS AVE 0.29 1 8 1

2.62 M 2981401400 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 667  IDA AVE 0.29 1 8 1

2.63 M 2982124400 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 755  CEDROS AVE 0.27 1 8 1

2.64 M 2981400600 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 635  IDA AVE 0.27 1 8 1

2.65 M 2981340300 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 819  VERA ST 0.27 1 8 1

Residential Sites
Draft 10/21/2020



ID
Included 

in HE
APN ZoneCode Zoning Address Size (AC)

Units 
(Existing)

Density
Potential 

Units
Vacant 
Parcels

2.66 M 2981401800 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 655  IDA AVE 0.26 1 8 1

2.69 M 2982830900 MRd Medium Residential d 880  STEVENS AVE 0.62 1 5 2

2.70 M 2982932100 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 804  IDA AVE 0.51 3 8 1

2.72 M 2981400900 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 645  IDA AVE 0.38 1 8 2

2.74 M 2981340501 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 833  VERA ST 0.46 1 8 2

2.80 M 2982932000 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 0  IDA AVE 0.51 0 8 4 VAC

2.81 M 2982704100 MRd Medium Residential d 990  HIGHLAND DR 1.22 0 5 6 VAC

2.83 M 2981623700 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 0  IDA AVE 0.77 0 8 6 VAC

2.85 M 2982604400 MHRd Medium-High Residential c 0  DEL MAR DOWNS RD 0.94 0 8 7 VAC

3.1 L/VL 2981643200 HRd High Residential d 802  STEVENS AVE 0.51 2 13 4

3.2 L/VL 2982810900 HRd High Residential d 841  STEVENS AVE 0.59 1 13 6

3.3 L/VL 2980100900 HRd High Residential d 153 S SIERRA AVE 1.01 0 13 13

Residential Sites
Draft 10/21/2020



ID
Included 

in HE
APN ZONING Zoning Address

Existing 
UNIT
QTY

acres DENSITY
Development 

Factor
Potential 

Units

Units w/ 15% 
lower income DB 

Assumption

Vacant 
Parcel

4.1 AM 2633040100 C
General 

Commercial
354  ACACIA AVE 0 0.52 20 0.8 8 10

4.9 AM 2634210900 C
General 

Commercial
225  STEVENS AVE 1 2.02 20 0.8 31 39

4.10 AM 2634211000 C
General 

Commercial
663  SAN RODOLFO DR 1 3.49 20 0.8 54 68

4.12 AM 2634211200 C
General 

Commercial
114  SOLANA HILLS DR 1 3.26 20 0.8 51 65

4.13 AM 2634211300 C
General 

Commercial
0  SOLANA HILLS DR 0 0.51 20 0.8 8 10

4.15 AM 2634211500 C
General 

Commercial
667  SAN RODOLFO DR 1 1.55 20 0.8 23 29

4.39 AM 2981313000 C
General 

Commercial
616  STEVENS AVE 1 1.004 20 0.8 15 19

4.4 L/VL 2633513500 SC
Special 

Commercial
124  LOMAS SANTA FE 1 1.82 20 0.8 28 35

4.8 L/VL 2634210800 C
General 

Commercial
607  LOMAS SANTA FE 

DR
1 1.05 20 0.8 15 19

4.18 L/VL 2980102000 C
General 

Commercial
236 S SIERRA AVE 1 0.53 20 0.8 7 8

4.19 L/VL 2980106100 C
General 

Commercial
155 S OLD HIGHWAY 

101 
2 0.55 20 0.8 6 7

4.20 L/VL 2980106200 C
General 

Commercial
120 S SIERRA AVE 1 0.58 20 0.8 8 10

4.22 L/VL 2980521200 C
General 

Commercial
305  HIGHWAY 101 1 1.80 20 0.8 27 34

4.23 L/VL 2980531700 C
General 

Commercial
405 S HIGHWAY 101 0 0.98 20 0.8 15 19

4.26 L/VL 2980735200 SC
Special 

Commercial
214 S CEDROS AVE 3 0.61 20 0.8 6 7

4.28 L/VL 2980761200 SC
Special 

Commercial
342 S CEDROS AVE 0 0.66 20 0.8 10 12

4.30 L/VL 2980910100 SC
Special 

Commercial
337 S CEDROS ST 1 0.71 20 0.8 7 8

4.32 L/VL 2980920100 SC
Special 

Commercial
410 S CEDROS AVE 1 0.93 20 0.8 10 12

Non-Residential Sites
Draft 10/21/2020



ID
Included 

in HE
APN ZONING Zoning Address

Existing 
UNIT
QTY

acres DENSITY
Development 

Factor
Potential 

Units

Units w/ 15% 
lower income DB 

Assumption

Vacant 
Parcel

4.33 L/VL 2980921100 SC
Special 

Commercial
0  CEDROS AVE 0 0.91 20 0.8 11 14

4.34 L/VL 2981121500 SC
Special 

Commercial
741  ACADEMY DR 1 0.58 20 0.8 6 7

4.35 L/VL 2981121900 SC
Special 

Commercial
524  STEVENS AVE 1 0.62 20 0.8 6 7

4.36 L/VL 2981122000 SC
Special 

Commercial
532  STEVENS AVE 1 1.79 20 0.8 21 26

4.37 L/VL 2981122100 SC
Special 

Commercial
722  GENEVIEVE ST 1 2.43 20 0.8 29 36

4.38 L/VL 2981122200 SC
Special 

Commercial
742  GENEVIEVE ST 1 1.61 20 0.8 19 24

4.40 L/VL 2982114000 C
General 

Commercial
511 S HIGHWAY 101 1 1.15 20 0.8 17 21

4.41 L/VL 2982114700 C
General 

Commercial
647 S HIGHWAY 101 1 0.82 20 0.8 12 15

4.42 L/VL 2982114900 C
General 

Commercial
731 S HIGHWAY 101 0 1.72 20 0.8 27 34

4.43 L/VL 2982118400 C
General 

Commercial
617 S HIGHWAY 101 1 0.54 20 0.8 7 8

4.44 L/VL 2982118500 C
General 

Commercial
635  OLD HIGHWAY 101 0 1.08 20 0.8 17 21

4.45 L/VL 2982118800 C
General 

Commercial
621 S HIGHWAY 101 0 0.84 20 0.8 13 16

4.46 L/VL 2982402400 C
General 

Commercial
100  BORDER AVE 0 0.60 20 0.8 9 11

4.47 L/VL 2982405800 C
General 

Commercial
777  HIGHWAY 101 0 1.11 20 0.8 17 21

4.51 L/VL 2985301900 SC
Special 

Commercial
761  ACADEMY DR 1 1.03 20 0.8 11 14

4.52 L/VL 2985302000 SC
Special 

Commercial
809  ACADEMY DR 0 1.03 20 0.8 12 15

4.54 L/VL 7729805320 C
General 

Commercial
329 S HIGHWAY 101 0 0.96 20 0.8 15 19

4.63 L/VL 2632936000 C
General 

Commercial
971 LOMAS SANTA FE 

DRIVE
0 3.98 20 0.8 63 80

Non-Residential Sites
Draft 10/21/2020



ID
Included 

in HE
APN ZONING Zoning Address

Existing 
UNIT
QTY

acres DENSITY
Development 

Factor
Potential 

Units

Units w/ 15% 
lower income DB 

Assumption

Vacant 
Parcel

4.68 L/VL 2980103200 C
General 

Commercial
201 S HIGHWAY 101 0 0.35 20 0.8 5 6

4.69 L/VL 2980103100 C
General 

Commercial
204 S SIERRA AVE 0 0.43 20 0.8 6 7

4.70 L/VL 2980106300 C
General 

Commercial
140 S SIERRA AVE 0 1.00 20 0.8 16 20

4.71 L/VL 2980910600 SC
Special 

Commercial
507 S CEDROS AVE 0 0.31 20 0.8 3 3

4.72 L/VL 2630532000 C
General 

Commercial
435 N HIGHWAY 101 0 0.22 20 0.8 4 5

4.73 L/VL 2982118100 C
General 

Commercial
N/A 0 0.33 20 0.8 5 6

4.74 L/VL 2630531900 C
General 

Commercial
421 N HIGHWAY 101 0 0.07 20 0.8 1 1

4.75 L/VL 2630530300 C
General 

Commercial
445 N HIGHWAY 101 0 0.07 20 0.8 1 1

4.76 L/VL 2630530200 C
General 

Commercial
N HIGHWAY 101 0 0.07 20 0.8 1 1

4.77 L/VL 2980920200 SC
Special 

Commercial
444 S CEDROS AVE 0 0.48 20 0.8 5 6

4.78 L/VL 2633040800 C
General 

Commercial
301 N HIGHWAY 101 0 0.07 20 0.8 1 1

4.79 L/VL 2633040900 C
General 

Commercial
301 N HIGHWAY 101 0 0.11 20 0.8 2 2

4.80 L/VL 2633041000 C
General 

Commercial
301 N HIGHWAY 101 0 0.12 20 0.8 2 2

4.81 L/VL 2633041100 C
General 

Commercial
ACACIA AVE 0 0.19 20 0.8 3 3

4.82 L/VL 2633041200 C
General 

Commercial
312 N ACACIA AVE 1 0.08 20 0.8 0 0 VAC

Non-Residential Sites
Draft 10/21/2020



City of Solana Beach 
Housing Element 2021-2029
Public Review Draft

aivey
Stamp



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Table of Contents 
Section 1: Introduction 

A.  Role of the Housing Element ............................................................................................................. 1‐1 

B.  Role of the Housing Element ............................................................................................................. 1‐1 

C.  State Policy and Authorization ........................................................................................................... 1‐1 

1.  Background .................................................................................................................................... 1‐1 

2.  State Requirements ....................................................................................................................... 1‐1 

3.  Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) ................................................................................ 1‐3 

4.  Relationship to Other General Plan Elements ............................................................................... 1‐4 

5.  Public Participation (UPDATED AS WE PROCEED) ......................................................................... 1‐4 

6.  Data Sources (UPDATED AS WE PROCEED) .................................................................................... 1‐5 

7.  Housing Element Organization ...................................................................................................... 1‐5 

Section 2: Community Profile 

A.  Population Characteristics ................................................................................................................. 2‐1 

1.  Population Growth ......................................................................................................................... 2‐1 

2.  Age Characteristics ......................................................................................................................... 2‐2 

3.  Race/Ethnicity Characteristics ....................................................................................................... 2‐3 

B.  Economic Characteristics ................................................................................................................... 2‐4 

1.  Employment and Wage Scale ........................................................................................................ 2‐5 

C.  Household Characteristics ................................................................................................................. 2‐7 

2.  Household Type and Size ............................................................................................................... 2‐8 

3.  Household Income ....................................................................................................................... 2‐10 

D.  Housing Problems ............................................................................................................................ 2‐13 

1.  Overcrowding ............................................................................................................................... 2‐14 

2.  Overpayment (Cost Burden) In Relationship to Income .............................................................. 2‐15 

E.  Special Needs Groups ...................................................................................................................... 2‐16 

1.  Seniors .......................................................................................................................................... 2‐16 

2.  Persons with Physical and Developmental Disabilities ................................................................ 2‐17 

3.  Large Households ......................................................................................................................... 2‐19 

4.  Single‐Parent Households ............................................................................................................ 2‐20 

5.  Farmworkers ................................................................................................................................ 2‐20 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

6.  Extremely Low‐income Households and Poverty Status ............................................................. 2‐20 

7.  Homeless ...................................................................................................................................... 2‐22 

8.  Students ....................................................................................................................................... 2‐23 

F.  Housing Stock Characteristics .......................................................................................................... 2‐24 

1.  Housing Growth ........................................................................................................................... 2‐24 

2.  Housing Type ................................................................................................................................ 2‐24 

3.  Housing Availability and Tenure .................................................................................................. 2‐25 

4.  Housing Age and Condition .......................................................................................................... 2‐27 

5.  Housing Costs and Affordability ................................................................................................... 2‐27 

Section 3: Housing Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing 

A. Nongovernmental Constraints ........................................................................................................... 3‐1 

1.  Land Costs and Construction Costs ................................................................................................ 3‐1 

2.  Availability Financing ..................................................................................................................... 3‐1 

3.  Economic Constraints .................................................................................................................... 3‐2 

B. Governmental Constraints ................................................................................................................. 3‐3 

1.  Land Use Controls .......................................................................................................................... 3‐3 

2.  State Density Bonus Law ................................................................................................................ 3‐5 

3.  Residential Development Standards .............................................................................................. 3‐6 

4.  Growth Management Measures .................................................................................................... 3‐9 

5.  Specific Plans ................................................................................................................................ 3‐10 

6.  Provisions for a Variety of Housing Types.................................................................................... 3‐11 

7.  Housing for Persons with Disabilities ........................................................................................... 3‐16 

1.  Development Fees ....................................................................................................................... 3‐19 

8.  Inclusionary Housing and Provisions for Affordable Housing ...................................................... 3‐23 

9.  On‐/Off‐Site Improvements ......................................................................................................... 3‐27 

10.  Building Codes and Enforcement ................................................................................................. 3‐28 

11.  Local Processing and Permit Procedures ..................................................................................... 3‐28 

12.  State Policies and Regulations ..................................................................................................... 3‐29 

C. Infrastructure Constraints ............................................................................................................... 3‐30 

1.  Water Supply and Wastewater Capacity ..................................................................................... 3‐30 

2.  Stormwater Management ........................................................................................................... 3‐31 

3.  Fire and Emergency Services ....................................................................................................... 3‐32 

4.  Police Services .............................................................................................................................. 3‐33 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

D. Environmental Constraints .............................................................................................................. 3‐33 

1.  Geologic and Seismic Hazards ...................................................................................................... 3‐33 

2.  Flooding ........................................................................................................................................ 3‐35 

E. Housing Resources ........................................................................................................................... 3‐37 

1.  Residential Sites Inventory ........................................................................................................... 3‐37 

2.  Above Moderate and Moderate Income Sites............................................................................. 3‐37 

3.  Sites Suitable for Lower Income Housing .................................................................................... 3‐38 

4.  Development of Non‐Vacant Sites and Converting to Residential Uses ..................................... 3‐41 

F. Financial Resources .......................................................................................................................... 3‐44 

1.  Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher .............................................................................................. 3‐44 

2.  Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) .......................................................................... 3‐45 

3.  HOME Investment Partnership Program (HOME) ....................................................................... 3‐45 

4.  Infrastructure and Facilities ......................................................................................................... 3‐45 

5.  Energy Conservation .................................................................................................................... 3‐45 

6.  Title 24 and Solana Beach Climate Action Plan ............................................................................ 3‐45 

7.  Solana Energy Alliance ................................................................................................................. 3‐46 

G. Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) Analysis .................................................................... 3‐47 

1.  Needs Assessment ....................................................................................................................... 3‐48 

Section 4: Housing Plan 

A. Housing Goals .................................................................................................................................... 4‐2 

B. Housing Policies and Programs .......................................................................................................... 4‐2 

C. Summary of Quantified Objectives .................................................................................................. 4‐10 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Review of Past Performance ............................................................................................... A‐1 

Appendix B: Candidate Sites Analysis....................................................................................................... B‐1  

Appendix C: Community Outreach Summaries ........................................................................................ C‐1  

Appendix D: Glossary .............................................................................................................................. D‐1  

 



Introduction



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Introduction [DRAFT]    Page 1‐1 

Section 1: Introduction 
A. Role of the Housing Element 
The Housing Element of the Solana Beach General Plan is the guiding document used to plan for the City’s existing 
and projected housing needs.   The Housing Element describes the City’s goals, policies, quantified objectives, and 
programs for the preservation, improvement, and development of housing for all income levels.  The Housing Element 
identifies available candidate housing sites and the establishes the City’s official housing policies and programs to 
accommodate their Regional Housing Need Assessment (RHNA) goal as determined by the San Diego Association of 
Governments (SANDAG).  

B. Role of the Housing Element 
The Solana Beach Housing Element establishes appropriate policies, procedures and incentives for land use planning 
and  development  activities,  resulting  in  the  maintenance  and  expansion  of  housing  supply  to  accommodate 
households  currently  living  and  expected  to  live  in  Solana  Beach.  The Housing  Element  establishes  policies  and 
programs that guide future decision‐making to achieve the City’s housing goals for the 2021‐2029 planning period.   

C. State Policy and Authorization 
1. Background 
The Housing Element is a Chapter of the Solana Beach General Plan that identifies and analyzes the City’s existing and 
projected housing needs. The Housing Element contains a detailed outline and work program of  the City’s goals, 
policies, quantified objectives and programs addressing the preservation, improvement, and development of housing 
for a sustainable  future. The Housing Element  is one of  the seven mandatory Elements of  the General Plan. The 
Housing Element identifies ways to address housing needs of current and future residents.  

2. State Requirements 
California State Housing Element Law  (California Government Code Article 10.6) establishes  the  requirements  for 
Housing Elements. California Government Code Section 65588 requires that local governments review and revise the 
Housing Element of their comprehensive General Plans not less than once every eight years. 

The California Legislature has adopted an overall housing goal for the State to ensure every resident has a decent 
home and suitable living environment. Section 655880 of the California Government Code states: 

a. The availability of housing is of vital statewide importance, and the early attainment of decent housing and 
a suitable living environment for every Californian, including farmworkers, is a priority of the highest order. 

b. The early attainment of this goal requires cooperative participation of government and the private sector in 
an  effort  to  expand  housing  opportunities  and  accommodate  the  housing  needs  of  Californians  in  all 
economic levels. 

c. The provisions of housing affordable to low‐ and moderate‐income households requires the cooperation of 
all levels of the government. 

d. Local  and  State  governments  have  a  responsibility  to  use  the  powers  vested  in  them  to  facilitate  the 
improvement and development of housing to make adequate provision for housing needs of all economic 
segments of the community. The Legislature recognizes that  in carrying out this responsibility, each  local 
government  also  has  the  responsibility  to  consider  economic,  environmental,  and  fiscal  factors  and 
community goals set forth in the general plan and to cooperate with other local governments and the state 
in addressing regional housing needs. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Introduction [DRAFT]    Page 1‐2 

Table 1‐1 summarizes State Housing Element requirements and identifies the location in this document where these 
requirements are addressed. 

Table 1‐1: Housing Element Requirements 

Housing Element Requirement(s)  Gov. Code Section  Reference in Housing 
Element 

Analysis of employment trends.  Section 65583.a  Section TBD 
Projection and quantification of existing and projected housing 
needs for all income groups. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Analysis and documentation of the City’s housing 
characteristics, including cost for housing compared to ability to 
pay, overcrowding, and housing condition. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

An inventory of land suitable for residential development 
including vacant sites and sites having redevelopment potential. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Analysis of existing and potential governmental constraints 
upon the maintenance, improvement or development of 
housing for all income levels. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Analysis of existing and potential nongovernmental (private 
sector) constraints upon 
maintenance, improvement or development of 
housing for all income levels. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Analysis concerning the needs of the homeless.  Section 65583.a  Section TBD 
Analysis of special housing needs: handicapped, 
elderly, large families, farm workers, and female‐headed 
households. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Analysis of opportunities for energy conservation 
with respect to residential development.  Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Identification of Publicly‐Assisted Housing 
Developments. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Identification of Units at Risk of Conversion to 
Market Rate Housing. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Identification of the City’s goal relative to the 
maintenance, improvement, and development of 
housing. 

Section 65583.a  Section TBD 

Analysis of quantified objectives and policies 
relative to the maintenance, improvement, and 
development of housing. 

Section 65583.b  Section TBD 

Identification of adequate sites that will be made 
available through appropriate action with 
required public services and facilities for a variety 
of housing types for all income levels. 

Section 65583.c(1)  Section TBD 

Identification of strategies to assist in the 
development of adequate housing to meet the 
needs of low and moderate‐income households. 

Section 65583.c(2)  Section TBD 

Description of the Public Participation Program in 
the formulation of Housing Element Goals, Policies, 
and Programs. 

Section 65583.d  Section TBD 

Description of the Regional Housing Needs 
Assessment (RHNA) prepared by the Southern 
California Association of Governments. 

Section 65583.e  Section TBD 

Analysis of Fair Housing, including Affirmatively Furthering Fair 
Housing.  

  Section TBD 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Introduction [DRAFT]    Page 1‐3 

Table 1‐1: Housing Element Requirements 

Housing Element Requirement(s)  Gov. Code Section 
Reference in Housing 

Element 
Review of the effectiveness of the past Element, 
including the City’s accomplishments during the 
previous planning period. 

Section 65583.f  Section TBD 

Source: State of California, Department of Housing and Community Development. 

Solana Beach’s Housing Element was last amended in 2014 for the 5th cycle for the 2014 to 2021 planning period.  
The 6th Cycle Housing Element, for the 2021‐2029 planning period, is part of a new update cycle for jurisdictions within 
the  SANDAG  (San  Diego  Association  of  Governments)  region  to  allow  for  synchronization  with  the  Regional 
Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy (RTP/SCS). The Element sets forth an 8‐year strategy to 
address the City’s identified housing needs, including specific implementing programs and activities. 

Multiple amendments have been made to Housing Element  law since the adoption of the City’s 5th Cycle Housing 
Element.   These new statutory provisions change the analysis reporting and policy requirements contained  in the 
Housing Element. The contents of this updated Housing Element comply with these amendments to state housing law 
and all other federal, state and local requirements.  

3. Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) 
Section 65583 of  the California Government Code  sets  forth  the  specific content  requirements of a  jurisdiction’s 
housing element. Included in these requirements are obligations on the part of local jurisdictions to provide their “fair 
share” of regional housing needs. Local governments and Councils of Governments (COGs) are required to determine 
existing and future housing need and the allocation of this need must be approved by the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development  (HCD). Solana Beach  is a member agency of  the San Diego Association of 
Governments (SANDAG).  SANDAG is responsible for preparing the Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) for 
all jurisdictions within the SANDAG region. 

HCD established the planning period for the current Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) from April 15, 2021 
to April 15, 2029. For the 2021‐2029 planning period the City  is allocated a total of 875 units,  including 316 units 
affordable to very  low‐income households, 159 units affordable to  low‐income, 160 units affordable to moderate‐
income, and 240 units affordable to above‐moderate income households.   

4. Relationship to Other General Plan Elements 
The Housing Element  is one Element  (Chapter) of the Solana Beach General Plan. The goals, policies, actions, and 
programs described in the Housing Element relate to and are consistent with the other Elements of the Solana Beach 
General  Plan.  The  City’s  Housing  Element  focuses  on  programs  and  policies  that  support  the  preservation, 
improvement, and development of housing to meet the existing and projected future needs of its population. 

The Housing  Element  relates  to development policies  contained  in  the  Land Use  Element, which designates  the 
proposed general distribution, general  location, and extent of the uses of the  land for housing, business,  industry, 
open space, and other uses.  The Land Use Element also includes the standards of housing density (dwelling units per 
acre) and building intensity (Floor Area Ratio) established for various land use designations identified in the plan.  By 
designating areas for residential development, the General Plan  identifies  limits on densities and types of housing 
units constructed in the City. The Land Use Element identifies lands designated for a range of commercial and office 
uses creating employment opportunities for various income groups. The presence and potential for job growth affects 
the current and future demand for local housing at the various income levels in the City.  

The Circulation Element of the General Plan also relates to the Housing Element. The Circulation Element is intended 
to better balance the needs of all roadway users by making enhancements to existing circulation facilities to establish 
a comprehensive multi‐modal system that facilitates more walking, cycling, and transit use. Consequently, the Housing 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Introduction [DRAFT]    Page 1‐4 

Element must include policies and incentives that consider the types of infrastructure essential for residential housing 
units in addition to mitigating the effects of growth in the City. 

The Housing Element has been reviewed  for consistency with the City’s other General Plan components, and  the 
policies and programs in this Element are consistent with the policy direction contained in other parts of the General 
Plan. As portions of the City’s General Plan may be amended in the future, the Housing Element will be reviewed to 
ensure internal consistency is maintained.  

5. Public Participation (UPDATED AS WE PROCEED) 
Section 65583 of the Government Code states that, "The local government shall make diligent effort to achieve public 
participation  of  all  economic  segments  of  the  community  in  the  development  of  the  housing  element,  and  the 
program shall describe this effort." Meaningful community participation is also required in connection with the City's 
Assessment of Fair Housing (AFH).  A discussion of citizen participation is provided below.   

As part of the 6th Cycle Housing Element Update process, the City of Solana Beach has conducted extensive public 
outreach activities beginning  in 2019.   All  information  relating  to  the project  is available on  the Housing Element 
Update website page located on the City’s website and the page is updated regularly to include new information as it 
becomes available.   

Outreach for the 6th Cycle Housing Element to the Solana Beach community, includes the following actions:  

Community Workshop#1 ‐ The City of Solana Beach conducted a Community Workshop at City Hall on Thursday, 
March 5, 2020.  The purpose of the meeting was to provide information on the Housing Element update process 
and to gather input and ideas from the public that will shape the goals, policies and programs in the Housing 
Element. The workshop included a PowerPoint presentation as well as an interactive feedback session to answer the 
following questions: 

 What are the biggest challenges to housing in Solana Beach? 
 What types of programs or assistance could the City provide to facilitate housing? 
 What other opportunities or ideas do you have to address Housing issues in Solana Beach? 

 
There were a number of common themes expressed by participants during the workshop.  These themes ranged 
from challenges relating to the high cost of land and limited remaining undeveloped areas within the City to 
participants wanting to see an emphasis on accessory dwelling units and mixed‐use development.  The comments 
provide great insight into the areas of opportunity that are addressed within the Housing Element.  Appendix C 
contains a summary of all public comments regarding the Housing Element received by the City during the update 
process.  

[ADDITIONAL WORKSHOP/OUTREACH INFORMATION WILL BE PROVIDED AS OUTREACH IS COMPLETED] 

As required by Government Code Section 65585(b)(2), all written comments regarding the Housing Element made 
by the public have previously been provided to each member of the City Council.  

Project Website – The City made diligent efforts to be transparent with the community regarding the Housing 
Element Update process, including the creation of a centralized source for all information.   

Fact Sheets – In an effort to inform the public of the Housing Element Update process and the different 
components, the City created a fact sheet that provided information on the process, timeline, the City’s local RHNA 
allocation, and different methods for obtaining more information.  This fact sheet was translated into Spanish as 
well.   

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Introduction [DRAFT]    Page 1‐5 

 

6. Data Sources (UPDATED AS WE PROCEED) 
The data used for the completion of this Housing Element comes from a variety of sources.  These include, but are 
not limited to: 

 2000 and 2010 Census 
 American Community Survey 
 Regional Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing (AI) 
 Regional Forecast by the San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG), 2019 
 Point‐in‐Time Homeless Census by the Regional Task Force on the Homeless, 2019 
 Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA) lending data 
 California Department of Economic Development 
 California Employment Development Division Occupational Wage data, 2019 
 Department of Housing  and Urban Development, Comprehensive Housing Affordability  Strategy  (CHAS), 

2012‐2016 
 San Diego Apartment Association Survey, 2019 

The data sources represent the best data available at the time this Housing Element Update was prepared.  The 
original source documents contain the assumptions and methods used to compile the data. 

7.  Housing Element Organization 
This Housing Element represents the City’s policy program for the 2021‐2029 6th Planning Period. The Housing 
Element is comprised of the following Chapters: 

Chapter 1: Introduction contains as summary of the content, organization and statutory considerations of the 
Housing Element; 

Chapter 2: Community Profile contains an analysis of the City’s population, household and employment base, and 
characteristics of the housing stock; 

Chapter 3: Housing Constraints and Resources examine governmental and non‐governmental constraints on the 
production, maintenance, and affordability of housing and provides a summary of housing resources, including sites 
identification, funding and financial considerations, and an analysis of fair housing; 

Chapter 4: Housing Policy Plan addresses Solana Beach’s identified housing needs, including housing goals, policies 
and programs. 

Appendices provides various appendices with supplementary background resources including:  

 Appendix A – Review of Past Performance of 5th Cycle Housing Element Programs 
 Appendix B – Adequate Sites Analysis 
 Appendix C – Community Engagement Summary 
 Appendix D – Glossary of Housing Terms (Optional) 



Community Profile



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐1 

City of Solana Beach Community Profile 
This Community  Profile  for  the City  of  Solana Beach provides  an  overview of  the City’s housing  and  population 
conditions. The Community Profile lays the foundation for the Housing Element’s policies by describing and assessing 
the factors and characteristics that contribute to the supply and demand for housing in Solana Beach. Specifically, the 
Community Profile describes  the community’s population, employment, economic, and household characteristics. 
Special Needs groups and housing stock characteristics are also described. 

The data used  for this community profile has been collected using the most current available  from the San Diego 
County  Association  of Governments  (SANDAG),  2010 U.S.  Census,  2013‐2017  American  Community  Survey,  the 
California Department of Finance, the California Employment Development Department, the California Department 
of Education and other currently available real estate market data. 

A. Population Characteristics 
The characteristics of Solana Beach  inform the planning process and help establish policies  for current and  future 
needs of the City. Population characteristics affect current and future housing demand in the City. Population growth, 
age composition, and  race/ethnicity  influence  the  type and extent of housing needed and  the ability of  the  local 
population to afford housing costs. The following section describes and analyzes the various population characteristics 
and local trends that affect housing needs.  

1. Population Growth 
Solana Beach is a small coastal community in the San Diego Region, with an estimate population of 13,367 residents. 
The  2010 American  Census  reported  that  from  2000  to  2010  Solana  Beach’s  population  declined  by  about  one 
percent. Compared  to  surrounding  cities,  the one percent population decline  is modest  relative  to Del Mar’s 14 
percent decline and Carlsbad’s 66 percent  increase  in population  in  those  ten years. SANDAG’s Regional Growth 
Forecast data (Table 1) shows Solana Beach  is projected to grow fourteen percent from 2010 through 2050, from 
12,867 to 14,870. The  increase  in population compares closely to neighboring  jurisdiction, which are projected to 
grow from ten to sixteen percent through 2050.  

Table 1: Population Growth (2000‐2020) 

Jurisdictions 
Population  Percent Change 

2000 
Actual 

2010 
Actual 

2012 
Projected 

2020 
Projected  

2035 
Projected 

2050 
Projected 

2000 ‐
2010 

2012‐
2050 

Oceanside*  161,029  167,086  169,319  177,840  188,597  189,377  3.8%  12% 
Carlsbad*  78,247  105,328  107,674  118,450  124,351  124,518  34.6%  16% 
Encinitas*  58,014  59,518  60,346  62,908  65,264  66,670  2.6%  10% 
Solana Beach*  12,979  12,867  13,000  13,367  14,207  14,870  ‐0.9%  14% 
Del Mar  4,389  4,161  4,194  4,399  4,672  4,732  ‐5.2%  13% 
San Diego City  1,223,400  1,307,402  1,321,315  1,453,267  1,665,609  1,777,936  6.9%  35% 
San Diego 
County 

2,813,833  3,095,313  3,143,429  3,435,713  3,853,698  4,068,759  10.0%  29% 

Represents an estimate from the SANDAG 2050 Regional Growth Forecast. 
Sources: Bureau of the Census (2000‐2010) and SANDAG Regional Growth Forecast Update (2013). 
*North coastal cities in San Diego County 

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐2 

2. Age Characteristics 
The age composition of a community  is an  important factor  in evaluating housing needs because housing demand 
within the market  is often determined by the preferences of certain age groups. Conventionally, young adults and 
seniors tend to favor apartments, low to moderate‐cost condominiums, and smaller or more affordable single‐family 
units  because  they  tend  to  live  on  smaller  or  fixed  incomes  and  have  smaller  families. While  the middle‐aged 
demographic, persons between 35‐years and 65‐years, makes up a major portion of buyers, as well as the market for 
moderate  to  high  cost  apartments  and  condominiums    because  they  generally  have  higher  incomes  and  larger 
families. As population moves through different stages of life, housing is required to accommodate new or adjusted 
needs.  In order  to produce a well‐balanced  and healthy  community, where needs are met,  it  is essential  that a 
community be provided with appropriate housing to accommodate needs of all ages.  

As shown in Figure 1, in 2017, majority of Solana Beach’s population (54.6 percent) falls into middle age, 25 years to 
64 years, category. The data in Figure one shows a slightly reduced middle age population, from 58.3 percent in 2000 
to 54.6 percent in 2017, a 6.3 percent change. The data also shows an increasing population of 65 years or over from 
seventeen percent to about 23 percent, a 31.7 percent  increase. Figure 1 also exemplifies a decline  in population 
under the age 18 from 17.9 percent to 16.2 percent. An aging population in a community is important to note because 
of the changing or additional needs in housing costs, accessibility and accommodations that an aging population may 
require.  

Figure 1: Age Distribution in Solana Beach (2000 – 2017)

 
Source: United States Census Bureau, 2000 and 2010 and American community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 
The data in Table 2 compares the age distribution of Solana Beach to San Diego County and surrounding jurisdictions. 
According the American Community Survey 2017 estimates, the Solana Beach population of 65+is approximately 10% 
higher than San Diego County. However, an older population is not abnormal in North County when comparing age 
demographics to surrounding communities. In Del Mar, 25 percent of the population is age 65 years and over, the 
highest percentage in the North County region; in Oceanside, Carlsbad and Encinitas the population 65 years and over 
is above fifteen percent, higher than the County and City of San Diego of about twelve percent. In Solana Beach, the 
population under the age of 18 is lower than the county by about seven percent. The population of people age 18 to 
24 is 5.3 percent lower than the County.  
 

Under 18 18 to 24 25 to 44 45 to 64 65+
2000 17.9% 6.5% 30.9% 27.4% 17.3%

2010 18.5% 5.7% 27.3% 29.8% 18.7%

2017 16.2% 6.4% 26.1% 28.5% 22.8%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐3 

Table 2: Age Characteristics / Age Distribution 2017 

Jurisdiction  Under 5  5 to 17  18 to 24  25 to 44  45 to 64  65 years + 

Oceanside  6.4%  15.0%  10.1%  28.1%  25.2%  15.1% 
Carlsbad  6.0%  17.4%  6.4%  24.3%  29.8%  16.0% 
Encinitas  5.5%  15.0%  5.7%  26.5%  30.4%  16.9% 

Solana Beach  3.9%  12.4%  6.4%  26.1%  28.5%  22.8% 
Del Mar  1.7%  10.3%  1.3%  25.0%  36.2%  25.6% 
San Diego  6.3%  14.2%  11.7%  32.6%  23.3%  12.0% 

San Diego County  6.5%  15.7%  10.9%  29.5%  24.5%  12.9% 
Source:  American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017.  

 

3. Race/Ethnicity Characteristics 
Racial and ethnic composition of a community is important to understand and analyze the implications for housing to 
the extent that different racial and ethnic groups have different household characteristics, income levels, and cultural 
backgrounds which may affect their housing needs, housing choice and housing types.  

The American Community Survey data (shown in Table 3) reports Solana Beach’s White population to be 12.6 percent 
higher  than San Diego County. The City of Solana Beach’s demographics  (shown  in Figure 2)  show a  significantly 
smaller percentage of residents who are Black compared to the County of San Diego (0.6 percent compared to five 
percent). Similarly, the percentage of the population within Solana Beach who is Asian is less than half of the overall 
County’s  percentage  of  the  population who  is  Asian  (5.1  percent  compared  to  11.7  percent).  Both  the  Native 
Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander and American Indian/Alaska Native populations are each below one percent of the 
total population (0.4 and 0.6 percent respectively). Of San Diego’s total population, 33.4 reported Hispanic or Latino, 
nearly  triple  the  11.5  percent who  reported Hispanic  or  Latino  in  Solana  Beach.   Overall,  Solana  Beach’s White 
population is a higher percentage than the County’s, with less overall diversity than the County. 

Figure 2: Racial Ethnic Composition, 2017 

 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

White Black

American
Indian
and

Alaska
Native

Asian

Native
Hawaiian
or Other
Pacific
Islander

Some
Other
Race

Two or
More
Races

Hispanic
or Latino

Solana Beach 83.4% 0.6% 0.9% 5.1% 0.2% 4.6% 5.3% 11.5%

San Diego County 70.8% 5.0% 0.6% 11.7% 0.4% 6.3% 5.1% 33.4%

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐4 

 

In addition to comparing Solana Beach’s demographics to the County of San Diego, the data in Table 4 tracks the racial 
and ethnic demographics over the course of about 20 years, from 2000 to 2017. The American Community Survey 
data reports the racial and ethnic composition of Solana Beach from 2000 to 2017, showing the trends and changes 
in  the  City.  The  data  shows  that  Solana  Beach’s  population  has  been  primarily White  between  2000  and  2017, 
however, the White population has shown a modest decline by about four percent overall. While the Black population 
percentage remains virtually unchanged, under one percent of the total population  from 2000 to 2017, the Asian 
population  increased from 3.5 percent  in 2000 to 5.1 percent  in 2017. Of Solana Beach’s total population  in 2000, 
about fifteen percent identified as Hispanic or Latino, whereas in 2017 the Hispanic or Latino population decreased 
to 11.5 percent in 2017.  

Table 4: Solana Beach Racial/Ethnic Composition 2000‐2017 

Race/Ethnicity  2000  2010  2017 
Percent 

Change 2000 
to 2010 

Percent 
Change 2010 

to 2017 

White  87.0%  85.8%  83.4%  ‐1.4%  ‐2.8% 

Black  0.5%  0.5%  0.6%  0.0%  20.0% 

American Indian and 
Alaska Native 

0.4%  0.5%  0.9%  25.0%  80.0% 

Asian  3.5%  4.0%  5.1%  14.3%  27.5% 

Native Hawaiian or 
Other Pacific Islander  0.1%  0.1%  0.0%  0.0%  ‐100.0% 

Some Other Race  5.6%  5.7%  4.6%  1.8%  ‐19.3% 

Two or More Races  2.9%  3.4%  5.3%  17.2%  55.9% 

Hispanic or Latino  14.8%  15.9%  11.5%  7.4%  ‐27.7% 

Source: United States Census Bureau, 2000 and 2010 and American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 

The  racial  and  ethnic  composition  of  a  population may  affect  housing  needs  because  of  cultural  preferences 
associated with different racial/ethnic groups. Cultural influences may reflect preference for a specific type of housing; 
additionally, race and ethnicity tend to correlate with other characteristics such as  location choices, mobility, and 
income. In Solana Beach, most of the population is white, and poverty primarily affects the City’s Black and American 
Indian or Alaskan Native residents, with 17.3 percent and twenty percent living below the poverty level respectively 
(Shown  in Figure 6). Race and ethnicity as  they correlate with  income and poverty, are  important  in  recognizing 
housing needs trends and housing availability.  

B. Economic Characteristics 
Reporting and analyzing economic characteristics of a community is an important component of the Housing Element 
because the data provides valuable insight of the community’s ability to access the housing market as well as financial 
restraints  consistent  with  housing  needs  and  accommodations.  Incomes  associated  with  different  types  of 
employment and the number of workers in a household affect housing affordability and choice. Therefore, to consider 
a  healthy  balance  between  jobs  and  housing  ,  it  is  important  to  consider  the  employment  characteristics  of  a 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐5 

community.  Local  employment  growth  is  linked  to  local  housing  demand,  and  the  reverse  being  true  when 
employment contracts. 

1. Employment and Wage Scale 
For a City to achieve a healthy balance between jobs and housing, it is important to consider employment, wage and 
occupational characteristics and growth changes. Based on the SANDAG Sub‐regional Growth Forecast (Table 5), San 
Diego County can expect a 17.6 percent employment growth from 2020 to 2050. Solana Beach is expected to grow 
18.7 percent between 2000 and 2050, but only about 8 percent from 2020 to 2050. Though the job growth in San 
Diego County outpaces Solana Beach, nearby counties are shown to experience similar growth rates. Solana Beach’s 
neighbor to the North, Encinitas, is shown to experience a fifteen percent job growth from 2010 to 2050. Del Mar, to 
the south, projects a significantly lower job growth rate (6.6 percent). 

Table 5: Job Growth (2010‐2050) 

Jurisdiction  2010  2020  2050 
% Change 
2010‐2050 

Numeric Change 
2010‐2050 

Carlsbad  64,956  77,431  85,718  32.0%  20,762 
Del Mar  4,431  4,542  4,725  6.6%  294 
Encinitas  25,643  27,276  29,542  15.2%  3,899 
Oceanside  41,142  48,208  54,091  31.5%  12,949 
Solana Beach  7,417  8,156  8,802  18.7%  1,385 
San Diego County   1,421,941  1,624,124  1,911,405  34.4%  489,464 

Source:  SANDAG Series 13 Subregional Growth Forecast (2013) 
 

Table 5 shows Solana Beach  to generate a  total of 1,385  jobs between 2010 and 2050, an 18.7 percent  increase 
overall, higher than the neighboring Cities, with similar demographics and populations, of Del Mar and Encinitas . The 
2010 to 2050 employment growth of 15.2 percent  in Solana Beach  is nearly equal  to  its population growth  (15.5 
percent)  shown  in Table 1. In 2035, Solana Beach  is projected to have 19.4 jobs per developed employment acre, 
which total 8,536 jobs available for a projected population of 11,809 (persons 18 years or over). In 2050, there are a 
projected 8,802 jobs available for a projected 12,247 persons over the age of 18.  

Analyzing the employment by sector in a city is important in understanding growth changes, income and wages, and 
access to different types of housing, as well as, what housing needs maybe be present. Solana Beach is a moderate to 
high income community (see Table 11 ), which may be attributed to the high percent of persons in the professional, 
scientific, management, and administrative services Industries, an estimated 21.7 percent in 2010 and 23.6 percent 
in 2017. The data in Table 6 shows a large increase (211.4%) in agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining 
from 2010 to 2017, as well as a in retail (104.5%). The data also reports a fifty percent decrease in public administration 
roles, and a twenty percent drop in the arts, entertainment, recreation and hospitality sectors. Education, healthcare 
and  social  services  as well  as  professional,  scientific, management  and  administration make  up majority  of  the 
positions in Solana beach in 2017 (39.5 percent combined). 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐6 

Table 6: Employment by Sector in Solana Beach (2017) 

Industry Sector 
2010  2017  Percent 

Change 
2010‐2017 

# of people 
employed 

% of City 
Employment 

# of people 
employed 

% of City 
Employment 

Agriculture, forestry, fishing and 
hunting, and mining  35  0.5%  109  1.5%  211.4% 

Construction  359  5.5%  364  5.1%  1.4% 
Manufacturing  365  5.6%  454  6.3%  24.4% 
Wholesale trade  254  3.9%  232  3.2%  ‐8.7% 
Retail trade  396  6.1%  810  11.3%  104.5% 
Transportation and warehousing, 
and utilities 

111  1.7%  202  2.8%  82.0% 

Information  327  5.0%  201  2.8%  ‐38.5% 
Finance and insurance, and real 
estate and rental leasing 

644  9.9%  761  10.6%  18.2% 

Professional, scientific, 
management, and administrative 
services 

1,409  21.7%  1,689  23.6%  19.9% 

Education services, health care, 
and social assistance 

1,108  17.1%  1,140  15.9%  2.9% 

Arts, entertainment, recreation, 
accommodation, and food services  963  14.8%  767  10.7%  ‐20.4% 

Other services (except public 
administration) 

279  4.3%  309  4.3%  10.8% 

Public Administration  236  3.6%  117  1.6%  ‐50.4% 
Total  6,486  100%  7,155  100%  10.3% 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2010 and 2017. 

 
In addition to reporting and analyzing employment sector trends, analyzing the unemployment rate  is essential to 
understanding  current  housing  affordability  and  needs,  as well  as  projected  needs.  According  to  the  American 
Community Survey Data, (Table 7) Solana Beach experienced just below a four percent unemployment rate in 2017, 
the lowest unemployment rate in the North County region. The data reports San Diego County to have about a seven 
percent unemployment rate in 2017, and surrounding jurisdictions to have unemployment rates ranging from 3.9 in 
Del Mar to 6.6 percent in Oceanside.  
 

Table 7: Unemployment Rate, 2017 

Jurisdiction  Unemployment rate* 

Oceanside  6.6% 
Carlsbad  5.2% 
Encinitas  4.9% 
Solana Beach  3.8% 
Del Mar  3.9% 
San Diego  7.0% 
San Diego County  7.1% 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 
*Population 16 years and over 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐7 

Table 8 displays average annual wage data  for occupations compiled by  the California Employment Development 
Department  (EDD)  for  the  San  Diego Metropolitan  Statistical  Area  in  2019.    Professional  and  health  services 
occupations,  including managers,  doctors,  attorneys,  architects,  and  engineers were  among  the  highest  paying 
professions  in  the  region.  In addition  to  the  traditionally higher paying occupations, computer and mathematical 
occupations  averaged  over  $100,000  in  the  County,  and making  careers  in  tech  higher  paying  than  healthcare, 
architecture and engineering occupations. Education and financial occupations generally offer high to moderate pay 
scales while the food preparation and rail sales offer lower wages. Compared to County statistics, the City of Solana 
Beach’s residents benefitted from higher paying jobs and a lower unemployment rate. According to the data in Table 
6, majority of Solana Beach’s residents maintain mid to high level paying occupations. 

Table 8: Mean Salary by Occupation in San Diego County 

Occupation  Salary 

Management  $131,550 
Legal  $125,772 
Healthcare Practitioners and Technical  $97,702 
Architecture and Engineering  $98,760 
Computer and Mathematical  $101,629 
Life, Physical and Social Sciences  $86,073 
Business and Financial Operations  $80,510 
Education, Training and Library  $66,335 
Arts, Design, Entertainment, Sports and Media  $61,635 
Construction and Extraction  $58,011 
Protective Services  $58,798 
Community and Social Service  $57,077 
Installation, Maintenance and Repair  $53,025 
Sales  $43,543 
Office and Administration Support  $43,266 
Production  $42,499 
Transportation and Material Moving  $38,450 
Healthcare Support  $38,858 
Building, Grounds Cleaning, and Maintenance  $33,718 
Personal Care and Service  $31,530 
Farming, Fishing and Forestry  $32,872 
Food Preparation and Serving Related  $26,380 
Source: California Employment Development Division, Occupational Wage 
data, 2019. 

 

C. Household Characteristics 
A household is considered all persons who occupy a housing unit, as defined by the Census; this may include single 
persons  living alone,  families  related  through marriage, blood or  adoption, domestic partnerships  and unrelated 
individuals  living together. Not all housing  is considered a housing unit  including, nursing facilities, residential care 
facilities, dormitories, and other group living, as well as, the persons living with them are not considered a household. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐8 

Information on household  characteristics assists understanding growth and   determining  the housing needs of a 
community. Income and affordability are best measured at the household level, as well as the special needs of certain 
groups, such as large families, single parent households, or low and extremely low‐income households. For example, 
if  a  City  has  a  prominent  aging  population,  who  are  homeowners  but  live  on  fixed  incomes,  it may  consider 
implementing a home beautification assistance program.  

2. Household Type and Size 
According to the American Community Survey 2017, there were 1,111,739 total households in San Diego County. Of 
those households, 5,744– less than one percent– were in Solana Beach. Compared to surrounding jurisdictions, Solana 
Beach is one of the smallest communities, being only larger than Del Mar, which has 2,157 households. The data in 
Table 9 breaks down characteristics the total households of Solana Beach and its surrounding communities. Nearly 
half of all  the Households  in  Solana Beach were married‐couple  families,  similar  to both  the County and nearby 
jurisdictions. Just under six percent of the households were female headed with no husband present, about half of 
the eleven percent female headed households  in San Diego County. The data also reports that 44.6 percent of all 
households reported non‐family; an abnormally high number compared to 32.8 percent reported in the County and 
as low as 29.2 percent in Carlsbad to 41.8 percent in Del Mar, of nearby jurisdictions.  

Table 9: Household Characteristics  

Jurisdiction 

Married‐
couple 
Family 

Households 

% of Total 
Households 

Female 
Household, 

No 
Husband 
Present 

% of Total 
Households 

Non‐Family 
Household 

% of Total 
Households 

Total 
Households 

Oceanside  31,652  51.1%  7,115  11.5%  20,142  32.5%  61,978 
Carlsbad  24,617  56.9%  4,576  10.6%  12,626  29.2%  43,281 
Encinitas  13,026  53.6%  1,560  6.4%  8,698  35.8%  24,284 
Solana 
Beach 

2,608  45.4%  331  5.8%  2,559  44.6%  5,744 

Del Mar  1,060  49.1%  75  3.5%  901  41.8%  2,157 
San Diego  221,461  44.5%  56,305  11.3%  196,653  39.6%  497,189 
San Diego 
County  556,665  50.1%  133,696  12.0%  364,949  32.8%  1,111,739 

Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 
Figure 3 displays the data in Table 9, with the addition of householder age 65 and above. Previously noted in Figure 
1, Solana Beach has a growing population over the age of 65.  In 2000, the population 65 years and over was 17.3 
growing to 22.8 percent in 2017. A high percentage of persons over 65 years contributes to a higher percentage of 
Senior headed households. About sixteen percent of all households in Solana Beach are senior headed. 

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐9 

 

Figure 3: Solana Beach Household Characteristics in Percent (2017) 

 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

Table 10 shows that between 2000 and 2010, Solana Beach experienced a five percent decrease in total households 
and a 1.6 percent increase from 2010 to 2017. Overall Solana Beach has experienced a less than one percent decrease 
in total households  from 2010 to 2017. The data shows that both the married‐couple households and the female 
households with  no  husband  present  have  slightly  decreased  from  2000  to  2017.  However,  the  percentage  of 
householders 65 years and over, or senior headed households, has steadily increased; jumping from 10.4 percent in 
2000 to 11.5% in 2010 then increasing again to 16.1 percent in 2017. 

Table 10: Changes in Household Types  

  2000  Percent  2010  Percent  2017  Percent 

Total Households  5,754  100.0%  5,650  100.0%  5,744  100.0% 
Married‐couple 
Family Households 

2,723  47.3%  2,730  48.3%  2,608  45.4% 

Female Household, 
No Husband Present 

389  6.8%  360  6.4%  331  5.8% 

Non‐family 
Household 

2,474  43.0%  2,367  41.9%  2,556  44.6% 

Householder 65 
Years and Over 

599  10.4%  647  11.5%  ‐‐  16.1% 

Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017.  

 

Married‐couple Family
Households

Female Household, No
Husband Present NonFamily Household Householder Age 65 or

Above
Solana Beach 45.4% 5.8% 44.6% 16.1%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐10 

Household size is an indicator of one source of population growth and an indicator of the character households, which 
represent the most basic unit of demand for housing. Although there can be more than one family in a housing unit, 
the measure of persons per household provides  an  indicator of  the number of persons  residing  in  a household 
organizing unit and the number of persons living in a housing unit. Average household size can be both a result and 
indicator of housing affordability and other household economic conditions.  

Table 11 displays the average number of persons per household in North County San Diego as well as San Diego city 
and the County as a whole. The American Community Survey reports Solana Beach to have an average household size 
of 2.33 persons in 2017. The average household size of Solana Beach is smaller than the 2.87 average for the County. 
However,  the  average  household  size  of  surrounding  communities  is  similar,  ranging  from  2.01  persons  per 
households in Del Mar to 2.81 persons per household in Oceanside. 

Table 11: Average Household Size  

Jurisdiction  Average Persons 
per Household 

Oceanside  2.81 
Carlsbad  2.60 
Encinitas  2.56 
Solana Beach  2.33 
Del Mar  2.01 
San Diego  1.37 
San Diego 
County 

2.87 

Source: American Community Survey, 5‐
Year Estimates, 2017. 

 

3. Household Income 
Household  income  is directly connected  to affordability, as household  income  increases,  it  is more  likely  that  the 
household can afford market rate housing units, larger units and/or pursue ownership opportunities.  As household 
income decreases, households tend to pay a disproportionate amount of their income for housing. This may influence 
increased incidence of overcrowding and substandard living conditions.   

The California State Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) has identified the following income 
categories based on the Area Median Income (AMI) of San Diego County; 

 Extremely Low‐income: households earning up to 30 percent of the AMI 
 Very Low‐income: households earning between 31 and 50 percent of the AMI 
 Low‐income: households earning between 51 percent and 80 percent of the AMI 
 Moderate Income: households earning between 81 percent and 120 percent of the AMI 
 Above Moderate Income: households earning over 120 percent of the AMI 

Combined, the extremely  low, very  low, and  low‐income groups are referred to as  lower  income.1 Comprehensive 
Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) estimates based on 2006‐2016 American Community Survey (ACS) data used 
below.    In  2016,  approximately  72.5  percent  of  Solana Beach  households  earned moderate  or  above moderate 

 
1   Federal housing and  community development programs  typically assist households with  incomes up  to 80 percent of  the AMI and use 

different  terminology.   For example,  the Federal Community Development Block Grant  (CDBG) program  refers households with  incomes 
between 51 and 80 percent AMI as moderate income (compared to low‐income based on State definition).   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐11 

incomes (Table 12), while 27.5 percent of households had incomes in the extremely low, very low, and low‐income 
levels.   

Table 12: Households by Income Category in Solana Beach (2016) 
Income Category (% of County AMI)  Households  Percent 

Extremely Low (30% AMI or less)  435  7.6% 
Very Low (31 to 50% AMI)  445  7.7% 
Low (51 to 80% AMI)  700  12.2% 
Moderate or Above (over 80% AMI)  4,170  72.5% 
Total  5,750  100% 
Source: Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS), 2012‐
2016. 

 

Household  incomes  in  Solana  Beach  are  significantly  higher  than  the  County,  yet  comparable  to  incomes  in 
surrounding communities. The American Community Survey data reports that the median income in San Diego County 
was $71,535 in 2017 (Figure 4). In the same year, Solana Beach reported an average income of $103,864, similar to 
Encinitas’ median  income of $103,842 and Carlsbad’s median  income of $102,722. Solana Beach’s median  income 
represents  its high volume of professional residents  in moderate to high paying  jobs (Tables 6 and 8). The data  in 
Table 13 shows that Solana Beach’s median reported income in 2017 was 32 percent higher than the County’s median 
income, a common trend in the North County region. 

Figure 4: Median Household Income by City (2013‐2017) 

 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

   

$61,778.00 

$102,722.00  $103,842.00  $103,864.00 

$122,563.00 

$71,535.00 $70,588.00 

 $‐

 $20,000.00

 $40,000.00

 $60,000.00

 $80,000.00

 $100,000.00

 $120,000.00

 $140,000.00

Oceanside Carlsbad Encinitas Solana Beach Del Mar San Diego City

Median Income Median Income of San Diego Region



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐12 

 
Table 13: Median Household Income  

Jurisdiction  Median Income  
Percent 

Above/Below 
Regional Median 

Oceanside  $61,778  ‐14.3% 
Carlsbad  $102,722  31.3% 
Encinitas  $103,842  32.0% 
Solana Beach  $103,864  32.0% 
Del Mar  $122,563  42.4% 
San Diego  $71,535  1.3% 
San Diego County  $70,588  ‐‐ 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017.  

 

The data displayed  in Figure 5 shows the majority of households  in Solana Beach (63.5 percent) had an  income of 
$75,000 or higher. Majority of residents made above $100,000 per year in 2017, with 21.6 percent households making 
$100,000 to $149,999 and 32.5 percent of households making $150,000 or more. On the other hand, just 7.7 percent 
of households made less than $24,000 and 13.5 percent made $25,000 to $49,999. Overall, the majority of Solana 
Beach’s households have moderate to high incomes. 

Figure 5: Solana Beach Income Breakdown by Category 

 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

< $24,999, 
7.7%

$25,000 ‐
$34,999, 
6.2%

$35,000 ‐
$49,999, 
7.3%

$50,000 ‐ $74,999, 
15.5%

$75,000 ‐
$99,999, 
9.4%

$100,000 ‐ $149,999, 
21.6%

> $150,000 , 
32.5%

>75,000, 
63.5%



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐13 

 

D. Housing Problems 
The Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) developed by the Census Bureau for HUD provides detailed 
information on housing needs by income level for different types of households in Solana Beach.  The most recent 
available CHAS data for Solana Beach was published in August 2019 and was based on 2006‐2016 ACS data. Housing 
problems considered by CHAS included:  

 Units with physical defects (lacking complete kitchen or bathroom);  
 Overcrowded conditions (housing units with more than one person per room);  
 Housing cost burdens, including utilities, exceeding 30 percent of gross income; or 
 Severe housing cost burdens, including utilities, exceeding 50 percent of gross income. 

The  types of problems  in Solana Beach vary according  to household  income,  type, and  tenure  (Table 14). These 
include: 

 In general, owner‐households had a  lower  level of housing problems (16 percent) than renter‐households 
(22.6 percent).   

 Approximately seven percent of owner households reported having a severe housing problem, where as 
almost sixteen percent of renters reported a severe housing problem.  

 Overall,  38.6  percent  of  all  households  reported  at  least  one  housing  problem  and  22.8  percent  of  all 
households reported at least one severe housing problem. 

 

Table 14: Housing Problem Overview 
Housing Problem 

Overview* 
Owner  Percent  Renter  Percent  Total  Percent 

Household has at least 1 
of 4 Housing Problems 

920  16.0%  1,300  22.6%  2,220  38.6% 

Household has none of 4 
Housing Problems  2,385  41.5%  1,085  18.9%  3,470  60.3% 

Cost Burden not available, 
no other problems 

25  0.4%  40  0.7%  65  1.1% 

Total  3,325  57.8%  2,425  42.2%  5,750  100% 
Severe Housing Problem 

Overview** 
Owner  Percent  Renter  Percent  Total  Percent 

Household has at least 1 
of 4 Severe Housing 
Problems 

400  7.0%  910  15.8%  1,310  22.8% 

Household has none of 4 
Severe Housing Problems  2,900  50.4%  1,470  25.6%  4,370  76.0% 

Cost Burden not available, 
no other problems 

24  0.4%  40  0.7%  65  1.1% 

Total  3,325  57.8%  2,425  42.2%  5,750  100% 
Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) 2012‐
2016. 
* The four housing problems are: incomplete kitchen facilities, incomplete plumbing facilities, more than 1 person per room, and 
cost burden greater than 30%. 
** The four severe housing problems are: incomplete kitchen facilities, incomplete plumbing facilities, more than 1.5 persons per 
room, and cost burden greater than 50%. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐14 

 
1. Overcrowding 
A  combination  of  low  incomes  and  high  housing  costs  forces  households  to  live  in  overcrowded  conditions. 
“Overcrowding” is generally defined as a housing unit occupied by more than one person per room in house (including 
living room and dining rooms, but excluding hallways, kitchen, and bathrooms). An overcrowded household results 
from either a  lack of affordable housing (which forces more than one household to  live together) and/or a  lack of 
available housing units of adequate size. Overcrowding can  indicate that a community does not have an adequate 
supply of affordable housing, especially for large families.  

Overcrowded and severely overcrowded households can lead to neighborhood deterioration due to the intensive use 
of  individual  housing  units  leading  to  excessive wear  and  tear,  and  the  potential  cumulative  overburdening  of 
community infrastructure and service capacity. Furthermore, overcrowding in neighborhoods can lead to an overall 
decline  in social cohesion and environmental quality. Such decline can often spread geographically and  impact the 
quality of  life and the economic value of property and the vitality of commerce within a city.   The combination of 
lower incomes and high housing costs result in many households living in overcrowded housing conditions.  

Table 15: Overcrowding by Tenure 

  Total 

Overcrowded 
Housing Units 
(1.01‐1.5 

persons/room) 

Percent 
Severely 

Overcrowded 
Housing Units 

 (>1.5 persons/room) 

Percent 

Owner 
Occupied 

3,368  27  0.47%  0  0.0% 

Renter 
Occupied 

2,376  15  0.26%  28  0.49% 

Total  5,744  42  0.73%  28  0.49% 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 
Because of Solana Beach’s demographic profile (older population, smaller household, higher income) overcrowding 
has not been a reported issue. According to the American Community Survey, shown in Table 15, less than one percent 
of owner‐occupied households reported overcrowding  (more  than one person per room) and no owner‐occupied 
households reported severe overcrowding (more than 1.5 persons per room). Of the renter‐occupied households, 
less than one percent reported overcrowding or severe overcrowding. Only 1.2 percent of all households reported 
any kind of crowding, nearly five percent less than San Diego County. Additionally, overcrowding was less of an issue 
in Solana Beach than many of its neighbors, where oceanside experienced 4.8 percent reported overcrowding and 3.4 
percent in Encinitas. Overall, overcrowding in the North County area is reported as less of a problem than in San Diego 
County as a whole. 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐15 

Table 16: Overcrowded Housing Units  

Jurisdiction 
Total Overcrowded 

Units  Percent 

Oceanside  2,997  4.8% 
Carlsbad  892  2.1% 
Encinitas  816  3.4% 
Solana Beach  70  1.2% 
Del Mar  0  0% 
San Diego  31,411  6.3% 
San Diego County  72,686  6.5% 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 

2. Overpayment (Cost Burden) In Relationship to Income 
State and  federal standards  indicate  that a household paying more  than 30 percent of  its  income  for housing  is 
overpaying.  Overpayment  for  housing  can  cause  an  imbalance  on  the  remainder  of  a  household’s  budget. 
Understanding and measuring overpayment for housing in a community is an indicator of the dynamics of demand 
and supply.  

Per the Housing and Urban Development CHAS report, show in Table 17, 3,189 households or about half of Solana 
Beach’s households reported some type of overpayment. About 15 percent of owners experienced a cost burden 
over 30 percent and only about six percent of owners reported a cost burden of 50 percent or greater. The data in 
Table 17 show that renters were importunately affected by cost burden, where 20.4 percent reported a 30 percent 
or higher burden and 13.5 percent reported a 50 percent or high cost burden.  

Table 17: Summary of Housing Overpayment  

Income by Cost 
Burden* 

Owner  Renter  Total 
Households 
with Cost 
Burden 

% of 
Tot. 
HH 

Cost 
Burden 
> 30% 

% of 
Tot. 
HH* 

Cost 
Burden 
> 50% 

% of 
Tot. 
HH 

Cost 
Burden 
> 30% 

% of 
Tot. 
HH 

Cost 
Burden 
> 50% 

% of 
Tot. 
HH 

Household 
Income is less‐
than or = 30% 

65  1.1%  55  1.0%  255  4.4%  240  4.2%  615  10.7% 

Household 
Income >30% to 
less‐than or = 
50% HAMFI 

99  1.7%  95  1.7%  275  4.8%  250  4.3%  719  12.5% 

Household 
Income >50% to 
less‐than or = 
80% HAMFI 

135  2.3%  95  1.7%  355  6.2%  235  4.1%  820  14.3% 

Household 
Income >80% to 
less‐than or = 
100% HAMFI 

120  2.1%  50  0.9%  205  3.6%  35  0.6%  410  7.1% 

Household 
Income >100% 
HAMFI 

465  8.1%  60  1.0%  85  1.5%  15  0.3%  625  10.9% 

Total  884  15.4%  355  6.2%  1,175  20.4%  775  13.5%  3,189  55.5% 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐16 

Source: Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) 2012‐
2016. 
*% of tot. HH = Percent of Total Households in Solana Beach 

* Cost burden is the ratio of housing costs to household income. For renters, housing cost is gross rent (contract rent plus utilities). For 
owners, housing cost is "select monthly owner costs", which includes mortgage payment, utilities, association fees, insurance, and real 
estate taxes. 
Note: HAMFI = HUD Area Median Family Income, this is the median family income calculated by HUD for each jurisdiction, to determine 
Fair Market Rents (FMRs) and income limits for HUD programs. HAMFI will not necessarily be the same as other calculations of median 
incomes (such as a simple Census number), due to a series of adjustments that are made. 

 

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐17 

E. Special Needs Groups 
Certain  households  may  have  more  difficulty  in  finding  adequate  and  affordable  housing  due  to  special 
circumstances, therefore, it is important to understand the demographics of persons with special needs to recognize 
how it influences the housing needs within a community. Special needs populations include seniors, persons with 
disabilities, female‐headed households,  large households, and farm workers.  In addition, many often have  lower 
incomes because of their conditions. Table 18 displays the data for persons with special needs in Solana Beach. 

Table 18: Special Needs Groups  

Special Needs Groups  # of People or 
Households 

Percent of Total 
Population/ 
Households 

Senior Headed 
Households 

1,067  18.6% 

Households with 
Seniors (65 years and 
over) 

2,190  38.1% 

Seniors Living Alone  926  16.1% 
Persons with 
Disabilities 

861  6.5% 

Large Households (5 
or more persons per 
household) 

197  3.4% 

Single‐Parent 
Households 

267  4.6% 

Single‐Parent, Female 
Headed Households 
with Children (under 
18 years) 

119  2.1% 

People Living in 
Poverty 

656  4.9% 

Farmworkers  109  0.8% 
Homeless*  80  ‐‐‐ 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017 
 
* Total number of people includes counts for Solana Beach and 
surrounding jurisdictions, including Del Mar, Encinitas and San Deiguito. 

 

1. Seniors 
The senior population, generally defined as those 65 years of age and over, has several concerns: limited and fixed 
incomes, high health care costs, transit dependency, and living alone. Specific housing needs of the senior population 
include affordable housing, supportive housing (such as intermediate care facilities), group homes, and other housing 
that includes a planned service component.  

A  limited  income  for many seniors, often makes  it difficult  to  find affordable housing. Table 19 compares Solana 
Beach’s senior population to San Diego County and nearby cities. The data reports than in Solana Beach 22.8 percent 
of  the  population  is  age  65  or  over,  3,040  persons.  Among  the  senior  population,  926  living  alone,  and  2,190 
households have persons 65 years and over living in them (Table 18). Furthermore, about 18 percent of all households 
in  Solana  Beach  were  seniors  headed  households.  In  2017,  ACS  reported  12.9  percent  of  San  Diego  County’s 
population to be age 65 or over, about half of Solana Beach’s Senior population. The North County Cities all report a 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐18 

higher senior population than the County, Del Mar’s being the highest at 25.6 percent. In addition to overpayment 
problems faced by seniors due to their relatively fixed incomes, many seniors are faced with various disabilities (Table 
20).  

Table 19: Persons Age 65 and Over  

Jurisdiction 
Population 
Count 

Percent 

Oceanside  26,461  15.1% 
Carlsbad  18,082  16.0% 
Encinitas  10,582  16.9% 
Solana Beach  3,040  22.7% 
Del Mar  1,109  25.6% 
San Diego  166,922  12.0% 
San Diego 
County  425,217  12.9% 

Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 
 

2. Persons with Physical and Developmental Disabilities 
Physical and developmental disabilities can hinder access to traditionally designed housing units as well as potentially 
limit the ability to earn adequate income. Physical, mental, and/or developmental disabilities may deprive a person 
from earning income, restrict mobility, or make self‐care difficult.  Thus, persons with disabilities often have special 
housing needs related to limited earning capacity, a lack of accessible and affordable housing, and higher health costs 
associated with a disability.  Additionally, some residents suffer from disabilities that require living in a supportive or 
institutional setting. 

Although  no  current  comparisons  of  disability with  income,  household  size,  or  race/ethnicity  are  available,  it  is 
reasonable to assume that a substantial portion of persons with disabilities would have annual incomes within Federal 
and State income limits, especially those households not in the labor force. Furthermore, many lower income persons 
with disabilities are likely to require housing assistance and services. Housing needs for disabled persons are further 
compounded  by  design  issues  and  location  factors,  which  can  often  be  costly.  For  example,  special  needs  of 
households with wheelchair‐bound or semi‐ambulatory individuals may require ramps, holding bars, special bathroom 
designs, wider doorways, lower cabinets, elevators, and other interior and exterior design features. 

Housing opportunities for persons with disabilities can be addressed through the provision of affordable, barrier‐free 
housing.  Rehabilitation  assistance  can  be  targeted  toward  renters  and  homeowners  with  disabilities  for  unit 
modification to improve accessibility. 

The  2017  ACS  identifies  six  disability  types:  hearing  disability,  vision  disability,  cognitive  disability,  ambulatory 
disability, self‐care disability and independent living disability.  The Census and the ACS provide clarifying questions to 
determine persons with disabilities and differentiate disabilities within the population. The ACS defines a disability as 
a report of one of the six disabilities identified by the following questions: 

 Hearing Disability: Is this person deaf or does he/she have serious difficulty hearing? 
 Visual Disability: Is this person blind or do they have serious difficulty seeing even when wearing glasses? 
 Cognitive Difficulty: Because of a physical, mental, or emotional condition, does this person have serious 

difficulty concentrating, remembering, or making decisions? 
 Ambulatory Difficulty: Does this person have serious difficulty walking or climbing stairs? 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐19 

 Independent Living Difficulty: Because of a physical, mental, or emotional condition, does this person have 
difficulty doing errands alone such as visiting a doctor’s office or shopping? 
 

According to the 2017 ACS, shown in Table 20, majority of persons in Solana Beach with a disability reported having 
an  ambulatory  disability  (30.2  percent).  Twenty‐three  percent  of  persons  with  a  disability  reported  having 
independent living difficulties, which could be an effect of the generally older population of Solana Beach. The 2017 
ACS data reports that 18.3 percent of persons with a disability had a cognitive difficulty and 17.6 percent had a hearing 
difficulty.  

Among the persons with reported disabilities, 1,120 were 65 years and older, about 70 percent of reported disabilities. 
Only about five percent of documented disabilities were reported for persons under the age of eighteen, and a 24.6 
percent were persons aged 18 to 64. Overall, of the total population in Solana Beach 6.5 percent are reported to have 
at least one disability (Table 18). 

Table 20: Disability Status of Residents in Solana Beach 

Disability Type 
Under 18 
with a 

Disability 

18 to 64 
with a 

Disability 

65 years 
and Over 
with a 

Disability 

Total 

Percent of 
Population 

with 
Disability 

Percent of 
Total 

Population 

Population with 
a Hearing 
Difficulty 

0  54  228  282  17.6%  2.1%  

Population with 
a Vision 
Difficulty 

5  17  34  56  3.5%  0.4% 

Population with 
a Cognitive 
Difficulty 

46  111  136  293  18.3%  2.2% 

Population with 
an Ambulatory 
Difficulty 

17  88  378  483  30.2%  3.6% 

Population with 
a Self‐care 
Difficulty 

17  35  64  116  7.3%  0.9% 

Population with 
an independent 
Living Difficulty 

‐‐  90  280  370  23.1%  2.8% 

Total  85  395  1,120  1,600*  100.0%  ‐‐ 

Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 
*This number may double count as some persons report having one or more disabilities, therefore this total 
number differs from the total number of persons with a disability in Table 18.  

 

State law requires that the Housing Element discuss the housing needs of persons with developmental disabilities.  As 
defined by the Developmental Disabilities Assistance and Bill of Rights Act of 2000, a “developmental disability” is a 
severe, chronic disability of an individual that: 

 Is attributable to a mental or physical impairment or combination of mental and physical impairments; 
 Is manifested before the individual attains age 22; 
 Is likely to continue indefinitely; 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐20 

 Results in substantial functional limitations in three or more of the following areas of major life activity: a) 
self‐care; b)  receptive  and expressive  language;  c)  learning; d) mobility;  e)  self‐direction;  f)  capacity  for 
independent living; or g) economic self‐ sufficiency; and 

 Reflects  the  individual’s  need  for  a  combination  and  sequence  of  special,  interdisciplinary,  or  generic 
services, individualized supports, or other forms of assistance that are of lifelong or extended duration and 
are individually planned and coordinated. 
 

Many  people  with  developmental  disabilities  can  live  and  work  independently  within  a  conventional  housing 
environment.  Individuals with more  severe  developmental  disabilities  require  a  group  living  environment where 
supervision  is  provided.  The most  severely  affected  individuals may  require  an  institutional  environment where 
medical attention and physical therapy are provided. Because developmental disabilities exist before adulthood, the 
first issue in supportive housing for persons with developmental disabilities is the transition from the person’s living 
situation as a child to an appropriate level of independence as an adult. 

3. Large Households 
Large Households are defined as households consisting of five or more persons. Such households comprise special 
needs groups because many communities have a limited supply of adequately sized and affordable housing units. To 
save for other necessities such as food, clothing and medical care, it is common for lower income large households to 
reside  in  smaller units with  inadequate number of bedrooms, which  frequently  results  in overcrowding  and  can 
contribute to fast rates of deterioration. 

Securing housing large enough to accommodate all members of a household is more challenging for renters, because 
multi‐family rental units are typically smaller than single‐family ownership units. While apartment complexes offering 
two and three bedrooms are common, apartments with four or more bedrooms are rare. It is more likely that a large 
family will experience overcrowding  in comparison  to smaller  families. Additionally,  throughout  the  region,  larger 
single‐family homes, whether to rent or own, are generally not affordable to most lower income households. 

The 2017 ACS reported a small percentage of large households in Solana Beach. Table 21 displays the data for large 
households, showing that under four percent of total households in Solana Beach were large households. Among large 
households  in Solana Beach, majority were owner occupied, 177; while  just twenty were renter occupied. Overall, 
Solana beach has a small percentage of large households to accommodate. 

Table 21: Large Households (by Tenure) 

Household 
Size 

Owner  Percent  Renter  Percent  Total  Percent 

5‐Person 
Household  130  2.2%  9  0.1%  139  2.4% 

6‐person 
household 

20  0.3%  10  0.2%  30  0.5% 

7‐or‐more 
person 
Households 

27  0.5%  1  0.01%  28  0.5% 

Total  177  3.1%  20  0.3%  197  3.4% 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017.  

 

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐21 

4. Single‐Parent Households 
Single‐parent households often require special consideration and assistance due to their greater need for affordable 
and accessible day care, health care, and other supportive services. Many female‐headed households with children 
are susceptible to having lower incomes than similar two‐parent households. Single, female mothers often face social 
marginalization pressures that often limit their occupational choices and income earning potential, housing options 
and access to supportive services. 

The data in Table 22, gathered from the 2017 ACS, shows that under five percent (267) of all households are single‐
parent households in Solana Beach. Of the 267 single parent households, 119 are reported female headed, no male 
present  and  148  are male  headed,  no  female  present. Overall,  the  data  shoes  that  there  are  no  single‐parent 
households living in poverty. 

Table 22: Single Parent Households  

 
Single Parent‐

Male, No Female 
Present 

Single Parent‐
Female, No Male 

Present 

Single Parent 
Households 

Living in Poverty 

Single Parent 
Households 

Percent of Total 
Households 

Solana Beach  148  119  0  267  4.6% 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 

5. Farmworkers 
Farm workers are traditionally defined as persons whose primary incomes are earned through seasonal agricultural 
work. Farm workers have special housing needs because they earn lower incomes than many other workers and move 
throughout the year from one harvest location to the next.  

Currently, there are a reported less than one percent of the population employed in agriculture, forestry, fishing and 
hunting, and mining occupations in Solana Beach. Due to the City’s urban setting and the lack of farming‐related land 
uses, there is no specific identified need for  special housing for this. 

6. Extremely Low‐income Households and Poverty Status 
2012‐2016 Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) data indicates there were approximately 700 low‐
income households and 445 very  low‐income households. Very  low‐income households are those households that 
earn 50 percent or less of the median family income (MFI) for San Diego County.  Extremely low‐income households 
are those households which earn less than 30 percent of the MFI. There are approximately 435 extremely low‐income 
households in Solana Beach (renters and owners). Table 23 below, includes data characterizing affordability and cost 
burden for various income groups.  



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐22 

Table 23: Housing Problems for All Households (by Tenure) 

Income by Housing Problem 

Owner 
Household has at 
least 1 of 4 Housing 

Problems 

Household has none 
of 4 Housing 
Problems 

Cost Burden not 
available, no other 
Housing Problem 

Household Income is less‐than or = 30%  65  30  25 
Household Income >30% to less‐than or = 50% 
HAMFI 

100  70  ‐‐ 

Household Income >50% to less‐than or = 80% 
HAMFI 

140  200  ‐‐ 

Household Income >80% to less‐than or = 100% 
HAMFI 

125  170  ‐‐ 

Household Income >100% HAMFI  490  1,915  ‐‐ 
Total  920  2,385  25 

Income by Housing Problem 

Renter 
Household has at 
least 1 of 4 Housing 

Problems 

Household has none 
of 4 Housing 
Problems 

Cost Burden not 
available, no other 
Housing Problem 

Household Income is less‐than or = 30%  255  20  40 
Household Income >30% to less‐than or = 50% 
HAMFI 

275  ‐‐  ‐‐ 

Household Income >50% to less‐than or = 80% 
HAMFI  355  10  ‐‐ 

Household Income >80% to less‐than or = 100% 
HAMFI 

250  60  ‐‐ 

Household Income >100% HAMFI  165  995  ‐‐ 
Total  1,300  1,085  40 
Total Households (Owner and Renter)  2,220  3,470  65 
Source: Source: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) 
2012‐2016. 
* The four housing problems are: incomplete kitchen facilities, incomplete plumbing facilities, more than 1 person per room, and cost 
burden greater than 30%. 
** The four severe housing problems are: incomplete kitchen facilities, incomplete plumbing facilities, more than 1.5 persons per room, 
and cost burden greater than 50%. 
Note: HAMFI = HUD Area Median Family Income, this is the median family income calculated by HUD for each jurisdiction, to 
determine Fair Market Rents (FMRs) and income limits for HUD programs. HAMFI will not necessarily be the same as other 
calculations of median incomes (such as a simple Census number), due to a series of adjustments that are made. 

 

According the 2017 ACS, 656 persons were reported to be  living  in poverty, about 4.9 percent of the population. 
Figure 6, displays the percent of persons living in poverty by race or ethnicity and Hispanic or Latino origin, based on 
own race/ethnicity.  

The lowest percentage of people living in poverty was the population who identified as White, with just 4.1 percent 
of all persons who identified White living in poverty. American Indian and Alaska native was the highest percent of 
persons  living  in poverty at 20 percent of the total American  Indian and Alaska native population  living  in poverty. 
Additionally, both the Black or African American and Asian populations were disproportionately affected by poverty 
as 17.3 percent of the Black or African American population in the City reported living in poverty and 10.9 percent of 
the Asian population in the City reported living in poverty. The Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islander population 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐23 

shows no persons living in poverty; however, it should be noted that no people within Solana Beach reported their 
race/ethnicity as Native Hawaiian/other Pacific Islander. 

Figure 6: Percent below Poverty Level, by Race and Hispanic or Latino Origin in Solana Beach

 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

7. Homeless 
Throughout the country and the San Diego region, homelessness has become an increasingly important issue in light 
of the current economic conditions. Factors contributing to the rise in homelessness include increased unemployment 
and underemployment, a  lack of housing affordable to  lower and moderate‐income persons (especially extremely 
low‐income households), reductions in public subsidies to the poor, and the de‐institutionalization of the mentally ill.  

State  law mandates  that municipalities  address  the  special needs of homeless persons within  their  jurisdictional 
boundaries.    “Homelessness” as defined by  the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development  (HUD) has 
recently been updated, the  following  list the updated descriptions for homeless and the changes  in the definition 
from HUD: 

 People who  are  living  in  a place  not meant  for  human habitation,  in  emergency  shelter,  in  transitional 
housing,  or  are  exiting  an  institution where  they  temporarily  resided.  The  only  significant  change  from 
existing practice  is  that people will be considered homeless  if  they are exiting an  institution where  they 
resided for up to 90 days (it was previously 30 days), and were in shelter or a place not meant for human 
habitation immediately prior to entering that institution. 

 People who are losing their primary nighttime residence, which may include a motel or hotel or a doubled‐
up situation, within 14 days and lack resources or support networks to remain in housing. HUD had previously 
allowed people who were being displaced within 7 days to be considered homeless. The proposed regulation 
also describes specific documentation requirements for this category. 

 Families with children or unaccompanied youth who are unstably housed and likely to continue in that state. 
This is a new category of homelessness, and it applies to families with children or unaccompanied youth who 
have not had a lease or ownership interest in a housing unit in the last 60 or more days, have had two or 
more moves in the last 60 days, and who are likely to continue to be unstably housed because of disability 
or multiple barriers to employment. 

 People who  are  fleeing or  attempting  to  flee domestic  violence, have no other  residence,  and  lack  the 
resources or support networks to obtain other permanent housing. This category  is similar to the current 
practice regarding people who are fleeing domestic violence. 

4.1%

17.3%
20.0%

10.9%

0.0%

5.2%

8.2%

5.2%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

White Black or
African
American

American
Indian and
Alaska
Native

Asian Native
Hawaiian
and Other
Pacific
Islander

Some other
race

Two or
more races

Hispanic or
Latino
origin



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐24 

This definition does not  include persons  living  in  substandard housing  (unless  it has been officially  condemned); 
persons living in overcrowded housing (for example, doubled up with others), persons being discharged from mental 
health facilities (unless the person was homeless when entering and is considered to be homeless at discharge), or 
persons who may be at risk of homelessness (for example, living temporarily with family or friends.) 

The Regional Task Force on the Homeless (RTFH) is San Diego County’s leading resource for information on issues of 
homelessness.   The RTFH promotes a regional approach as the best solution to ending homelessness  in San Diego 
County.  RTFH compiles data from a physical Point‐In‐Time (PIT) count of sheltered (emergency and transitional) and 
street homeless persons.  The 2019 Count was conducted on January 25, 2019 and the results are shown in Table 24.  
Oceanside  had  the  largest  homeless  population  of  the  North  County  coastal  cities.  Solana  Beach’s  homeless 
population includes homeless persons in Encinitas, San Dieguito, and Del Mar. 

Table 24: Homelessness in Solana Beach and Surrounding Cities  

Jurisdiction  Unsheltered  Sheltered  Total  % of County 

Oceanside  242  166  408  5.4% 

Carlsbad  94  53  147  1.9% 

Solana Beach*  47  33  80  1.1% 

San Diego  2,283  2,604  4,887  64.1% 

San Diego County  3,971  3,648  7,619  100% 
Source: San Diego Regional Task Force on the Homeless (RTFH), WeAllCount Survey Results, 
2019. 
* Total number of people includes counts for Solana Beach and surrounding jurisdictions, 
including Del Mar, Encinitas and San Deiguito 

 
According to RTFH, the San Diego region’s homeless population can be divided  into two general groups: (1) urban 
homeless, and (2) rural homeless, including farm workers and day laborers who primarily occupy the hillsides, canyons 
and fields of the northern regions of the County.  It is important to recognize that homeless individuals may fall into 
more than one category (for example, a homeless  individual may be a veteran and a substance abuser), making  it 
difficult to accurately quantify and categorize the homeless. RTFH reports the San Diego Region has seen an increase 
in the average  length of time people reside  in emergency shelters. The report shows that over 40 percent of the 
people who exit shelter move on to stable living conditions, but 26 percent return to homelessness within two years.  

The North County region of San Diego experiences a reduced amount of homelessness compared to San Diego City 
and  the County as a whole  (Table 24). The City of Solana Beach  (including nearby cities) has  the  lowest count of 
homeless persons in the North County region, 79 unsheltered and 41 unsheltered, a total of 120 homeless persons. 

8. Students 
The college student population in the area is another significant factor affecting housing demand.  Solana Beach is 
located near the University of California, San Diego, San Diego State University, the University of San Diego, California 
State University at San Marcos, Point  Loma Nazarene University, Palomar College, Mesa College and Mira Costa 
College.  According to the 2013‐2017 ACS, 696 persons, about 5.2 percent of Solana Beach’s population, were enrolled 
in college or graduate school, of total persons enrolled in college or graduate school 456 were females (65.5percent).  
While many of the City’s college students reside with their parents, some students reside in Solana Beach in their own 
independent  housing  and  a  general  lack  of  affordable housing  is  often  a  factor  in  a  student’s decision  to move 
elsewhere after graduation. 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐25 

F. Housing Stock Characteristics 
The characteristics of the housing stock, including growth, type, availability and tenure, age and condition, housing 
costs, and affordability are important in determining the housing needs for the community. This section details the 
housing stock characteristics of Solana Beach to identify how well the current housing stock meets the needs of its 
current and future residents. 

1. Housing Growth 
According to the 2017 ACS, between 2000 and 2010, the Solana Beach housing stock was estimated to grow from 
6,456 to 6,540 units, a 1.3 percent growth shown in Table 25. From 2010 to 2017, Solana Beach experienced a 1.9 
percent housing growth. The Overall housing growth in the Northern Coastal County areas has been limited; when 
compared to adjacent cities, Solana Beach experienced the lowest percent of housing growth as Carlsbad saw a 32 
percent growth from 2000 to 2010 and another 5.5 percent increase in housing stock from 2010 to 2017. Additionally, 
smaller cities, such as Del Mar saw a 9.3 percent growth from 2010 to 2017. 

Table 25: Housing Unit Growth (Growth Trends) 

Jurisdiction  2000  2010  2017 
Percent Change 
2000 to 2010 

Percent Change 
2010 to 2017 

Oceanside  59,581  64,435  66,715  8.1%  3.5% 
Carlsbad  33,798  44,673  47,119  32.2%  5.5% 
Encinitas  23,843  25,740  26,321  8.0%  2.3% 
Solana Beach  6,456  6,540  6,665  1.3%  1.9% 
Del Mar  2,557  2,596  2,838  1.5%  9.3% 
San Diego  469,689  516,033  533,973  9.9%  3.5% 
San Diego County  1,040,149  1,164,786  1,195,868  12.0%  2.7% 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 and 2010 and  American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimate, 2017. 

 

2. Housing Type 
Table 26 provides characterization of the housing stock in Solana Beach and San Diego County per the 2013‐2017 
American Community Survey. The 2013‐2017 American Community Survey indicates that single‐family detached 
homes are the predominant housing type in both Solana Beach and San Diego County. However, Solana Beach 
proves to provide a diverse assortment of housing. Single‐family housing units make up about 45.7 percent of 
Solana Beach’s housing stock and multi‐family units make up 38.9  percent of the housing stock. Mobile homes 
make up under one percent of the total housing stock. 

Table 26: Total Housing Units by Type  

 
Single‐ Family 
Detached 

Single‐Family 
Attached  Multi‐Family   Mobile Homes  Total Units 

Solana Beach  3,051  992  2,596  26  6,665 
San Diego 
County 

613,113  112,939  426,053  42,614  1,195,868 

Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐26 

3. Housing Availability and Tenure 
Housing tenure and vacancy rates generally influence the supply and cost of housing.  Housing tenure defines if a unit 
is owner‐occupied or renter‐occupied.  Tenure is an important market characteristic as it  relates to the availability of 
housing product types and length of tenure.  The tenure characteristics in a community can indicate several aspects 
of the housing market, such as affordability, household stability, and availability of unit types, among others.  In many 
communities,  tenure  distribution  generally  correlates  with  household  income,  composition  and  age  of  the 
householder. 

In 2017, Solana Beach’s occupied housing was nearly split evenly between owners and renters. Owners made up 58 
percent of occupied housing units, majority in single‐family detached housing (2,334). Just sixteen percent of single 
family detached units were occupied by renters  , where nearly 80 percent of multi‐family units were occupied by 
renters. All occupied mobile homes in the City were owner occupied.  

Table 27: Occupied Housing Units by Type and Tenure  

 
Single‐ Family 
Detached 

Single‐Family 
Attached 

Multi‐Family   Mobile Homes 
Total Occupied 

Units 

Owner 
Occupied 

2,334  600  408  26  3,368 

Renter 
Occupied 

451  336  1,589  0  2,376 

Total  2,785  936  1,997  26  5,744 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 
As shown in Table 28, owner‐occupied households had a slightly higher average household size than renter‐occupied 
households  in 2017.   The average owner‐household size  in 2017 was 2.41, whereas renter‐occupied units average 
2.21 persons per household. Additionally, overall household size  is smaller than both the County’s average of 2.87 
persons and the nearby jurisdictions ranging from 2.56 in Encinitas to 2.81 in Oceanside. The smaller household sizes 
could be due to the large number of seniors and senior headed households and smaller number of persons under 18 
years in the City.  

Table 28: Average Household Size by Tenure  

Jurisdiction 
Owner 

Occupied 
Household Size 

Renter 
Occupied 

Household Size 

Average 
Household Size 

Oceanside  2.73  2.91  2.81 
Carlsbad  2.67  2.47  2.60 
Encinitas  2.68  2.36  2.56 
Solana Beach  2.41  2.21  2.33 
Del Mar  2.19  1.80  2.01 
San Diego  2.80  2.66  2.72 
San Diego County  2.89  2.85  2.87 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 
Vacancy rates are an important housing indicator because they indicate the degree of choice available.  High vacancy 
rates usually indicate low demand and/or high supply conditions in the housing market.  Too high of a vacancy rate 
can be difficult for owners trying to sell or rent. Low vacancy rates usually indicate high demand and/or low supply 
conditions in the housing market.  Too low of a vacancy rate can force prices up making it more difficult for lower and 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐27 

moderate‐income households to find housing.  Vacancy rates of between two to three percent are usually considered 
healthy for single‐family or ownership housing, and rates of five to six percent are usually considered healthy for multi‐
family or rental housing.  However, vacancy rates are not the sole indicator of market conditions.  They must be viewed 
in the context of all the characteristics of the local and regional market. 

The data displayed in Figure 7 shows that Solana Beach has a vacancy rate of 13.8 percent, lower than Del Mar’s 24 
percent, but nearly double the County’s vacancy rate and higher than nearby jurisdictions. 

Figure 7: Vacancy Rates by Jurisdiction 

 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

Table 290 displays the breakdown of type of vacant units in Solana Beach. Seasonal, recreational and occasional use 
units have the highest count of vacancy at 681 units, meaning that many of the vacant homes in Solana Beach are 
primarily seasonal vacation homes. There were 45 rented but unoccupied units in 2017 and 16 sold but unoccupied 
units. In addition, there were zero units vacant for migrant workers and only 88 units available for sale and for rent 
combined in 2017. 

Table 29: Vacant Housing Units by Type in Solana Beach 

Type of Housing  Estimate 

For rent  88 
Rented, not occupied  45 
For sale only  0 
Sold, not occupied  16 
For seasonal, recreational or occasional use  681 
For migrant workers  0 
Other vacant  91 
Total  921 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

Oceanside Carlsbad Encinitas Solana Beach Del Mar San Diego San Diego
County

Vacancy Rate 7.1% 8.1% 7.7% 13.8% 24.0% 6.9% 7.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐28 

4. Housing Age and Condition 
Housing age can be an important indicator of housing condition within a community.  For example, housing that is 
over 30 years old  is typically in need of some major rehabilitation, such as a new roof, foundation,  plumbing, etc. 
Many  federal and state programs also use the age of housing as one  factor  in determining housing rehabilitation 
needs.   

According to the data displayed in Figure 8, there was a housing stock boom from 1970 to 1978, with 46.2 percent of 
all housing built during this time. Between 1980 and 1989, a smaller number of homes were built but overall a large 
percentage of homes were built during the mid to late 20th century. Only about 4 percent units in Solana Beach built 
after 2000, and about 2 percent in 2014 or later. Typically, a large proportion of older housing would indicate that 
most of the City’s housing stock could require major rehabilitation.  However, due to the City’s higher than average 
median household  income and housing values, owner‐occupied housing  is better maintained  than  in many other 
jurisdictions.   

Figure 8: Housing Stock Age

 
Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

5. Housing Costs and Affordability 
Housing costs  reflect  the  supply and demand of housing  in a community.   This  section  summarizes  the cost and 
affordability of the housing stock to Solana Beach’s residents. 

Table 30 shows the median home value in Solana Beach was $1,103,900 in 2017. Value is significantly lower than Del 
Mar’s  median  home  value  of  $2,000,000,  Solana  Beach’s  median  home  value  is  28%  higher  than  Encinitas. 
Additionally, Solana Beach’s median home value is about 56 percent higher than the County’s median home value of 
$484,900.  

Built
2014 or
later

Built
2010 to
2013

Built
2000 to
2009

Built
1990 to
1999

Built
1980 to
1989

Built
1970 to
1979

Built
1960 to
1969

Built
1950 to
1959

Built
1940 to
1949

Built
1939 or
earlier

Solana Beach 1.6% 0.1% 2.7% 5.3% 20.6% 46.2% 8.4% 10.6% 1.8% 2.5%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐29 

Table 30: Median Home Value by Community 

Jurisdiction  Median Home Value 

Oceanside  $423,100 

Carlsbad  $713,600 

Encinitas  $862,300 

Solana Beach  $1,103,900 

Del Mar  $2,000,000 

San Diego  $523,600 

San Diego County  $484,900 

Source: American Community Survey, 5‐Year Estimates, 2017. 

 

The  primary  source  of  information  on  rental  costs  in  the  San Diego  region  is  the  San Diego  County Apartment 
Association (SDCAA).  SDCAA conducts two surveys of rental properties per year.  For the spring 2019 survey, 6,000 
surveys were  sent out  to  rental property owners and managers  throughout San Diego County.   Responses were 
received from 23,000 units.  Although this survey sampled a broad variety of rental housing,  it was not a scientific 
sampling.  

Table 31 shows that in the fall of 2018, average monthly rents in Solana Beach ranged from $2,043 for a one‐bedroom 
apartment  to  $2,770  for  a  three‐bedroom  apartment.    In  Spring  of  2019,  the  average  rent  for  a  one‐bedroom 
apartment increased from $2,043 to $2,099, and the rent for larger apartments increased moderately from $2,391 
for a two bedroom in 2018 to $2,443 in 2019 and from $2,770 to $2,820 for a three bedroom. Average costs of rent 
in Spring of 2018 ranged from $1,500 for a studio to $2,712 for a three‐bedroom.  

Table 31: Average Monthly Rental Rates in Solana Beach 

Unit Type  Properties 
Surveyed 

Spring 2019 
Average 

Monthly Rent 

Spring 2019 
Average 

Rent/Sq. Foot 

Fall 2018 
Average 

Monthly Rent 

Spring 2018 
Average 

Monthly Rent  

Studio  0/0  $0  $0.00  $0  $1,500 

1 Bedroom  77/1  $2,099  $3.10  $2,043  $1,985 

2 bedrooms  91/1  $2,443  $2.66  $2,391  $2,331 

3+ Bedrooms  8/1  $2,820  $2.69  $2,770  $2,712 
Source: Southern California Rental Housing Association, San Diego 2019 Vacancy and Rental Rate Survey, 
March 2019. 

 

Housing affordability can be inferred by comparing the cost of renting or owning a home in the City with the maximum 
affordable housing costs for households at different  income  levels.  Taken together, this  information can generally 
show who can afford what size and type of housing and  indicate the type of households most  likely to experience 
overcrowding and overpayment. 

The  Federal Department of Housing  and Urban Development  (HUD)  conducts  annual household  income  surveys 
nationwide to determine a household’s eligibility for federal housing assistance.  Based on this survey, the California 
Department of Housing and Community Development  (HCD) developed  income  limits, based on the Area Median 
Income (AMI), which can be used to determine the maximum price that could be affordable to households  in the 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐30 

upper range of their respective income category.  Households in the lower end of each category can afford less by 
comparison than those at the upper end. The maximum affordable home and rental prices for residents in San Diego 
County are shown in Table 33. 

The data shows the maximum amount that a household can pay for housing each month without  incurring a cost 
burden (overpayment).  This amount can be compared to current housing asking prices (Table 30) and market rental 
rates (Table 31) to determine what types of housing opportunities a household can afford. 

Extremely Low‐income Households 

Extremely  low‐income households earn  less than 30 percent of the County AMI – up to $22,500 for a one‐person 
household and up to $34,700 for a five‐person household in 2019.  Extremely low‐income households cannot afford 
market‐rate rental or ownership housing in Solana Beach without assuming a substantial cost burden. 

Very Low‐income Households 

Very low‐income households earn between 31 percent and 50 percent of the County AMI – up to $37,450 for a one‐
person household and up to $57,800 for a five‐person household in 2019.  A very low‐income household can generally 
afford homes priced  between $174,500 and $269,500, adjusting for household size.  A very low‐income household 
at  the maximum  income  limit  can  afford  to  pay  approximately  $936  to  $1,445  in monthly  rent,  depending  on 
household size.  Given the high cost of housing in Solana Beach, persons or households of very low‐income could not 
afford to rent or purchase a home in the City.   

Low‐income Households 

Low‐income households earn between 51 percent and 80 percent of the County’s AMI  ‐ up to $59,950 for a one‐
person household and up to $92,450 for a five‐person household in 2019.  The affordable home price for a low‐income 
household at the maximum income limit ranges from $239,500 to $430,750.  Based on the asking prices of homes for 
sale in 2019 (Table 24), ownership housing would not be affordable to low‐income households.  A one‐person low‐
income household could afford to pay up to $1,499 in rent per month and a five‐person low‐income household could 
afford to pay as much as $2,311.  Low‐income households in Solana Beach would not be able to find adequately sized 
affordable apartment units (Table 25). 

Moderate income Households 

Persons and households of moderate income earn between 81 percent and 120 percent of the County’s AMI – up to 
$111,850,  depending  on  household  size  in  2019.    The maximum  affordable  home  price  for  a moderate‐income 
household  is  $338,000  for  a  one‐person  household  and  $521,250  for  a  five‐person  family.   Moderate  income 
households in Solana Beach would not be able to purchase a home in the City.  The maximum affordable rent payment 
for moderate income households is between $1,813 and $2,796 per month.  Appropriately‐sized market‐rate rental 
housing is generally affordable to households in this income group. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Community Profile [DRAFT]    Page 2‐31 

Table 32: Affordable Housing Costs (2019) San Diego County 

Annual Income 
Affordable Monthly Housing Cost 

Utilities Allowances, Taxes, and 
Insurance  Affordable 

Purchase Price 
Rent  Sale  Rent  Sale 

Taxes/ 
Insurance 

Extremely Low‐income (30% of AMI) 

1‐Person  $22,500  $563  $563  $119  $180  $84  $105,000 

2‐Person  $25,700  $643  $643  $152  $220  $96  $120,000 

3‐Person  $28,900  $723  $723  $222  $261  $108  $135,000 

4‐Person  $32,100  $803  $803  $237  $323  $120  $149,750 

5‐Person  $34,700  $868  $868  $271  $364  $130  $162,000 

Very Low‐income (50% of AMI) 

1‐Person  $37,450  $936  $936  $119  $180  $140  $174,500 

2‐Person  $42,800  $1,070  $1,070  $152  $220  $161  $199,500 

3‐Person  $48,150  $1,204  $1,204  $222  $261  $180  $224,500 

4‐Person  $53,500  $1,338  $1,338  $237  $323  $201  $249,500 

5‐Person  $57,800  $1,445  $1,445  $271  $364  $217  $269,500 

Low‐income (80% AMI) 

1‐Person  $59,950  $1,499  $1,499  $119  $180  $225  $279,500 

2‐Person  $68,500  $1,713  $1,713  $152  $220  $257  $319,500 

3‐Person  $77,050  $1,926  $1,926  $222  $261  $289  $359,000 

4‐Person  $85,600  $2,140  $2,140  $237  $323  $321  $399,000 

5‐Person  $92,450  $2,311  $2,311  $271  $364  $347  $430,750 

Moderate Income (120% AMI) 

1‐Person  $72,500  $1,813  $1,813  $119  $180  $272  $338,000 

2‐Person  $82,850  $2,071  $2,071  $152  $220  $311  $386,000 

3‐Person  $93,200  $2,330  $2,330  $222  $261  $350  $434,000 

4‐Person  $103,550  $2,589  $2,589  $237  $323  $388  $482,750 

5‐Person  $111,850  $2,796  $2,796  $271  $364  $419  $521,250 
Source: San Diego Housing Commission, Allowances for Tenant‐Furnished Utilities and Other Services Report and California Department 
of Housing and Community Development, 2019 Income Limits and Kimley Horn and Associates Assumptions: 2019 HCD income limits; 
30% gross household income as affordable housing cost; 15% of monthly affordable cost for taxes and insurance; 10% down payment; 
and 4.5% interest rate for a 30‐year fixed‐rate mortgage loan.  Utilities based on San Diego County Utility Allowance. 

 



Constraints, Resources, 
and Fair Housing



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐1 

Section 3: Housing Constraints, Resources and 
Fair Housing 
 
A  variety  of  constraints  affect  the  provisions  and  opportunities  for  adequate  housing  in  Solana  Beach. Housing 
constraints consist of both governmental constraints, including but not limited to development standards and building 
codes, land use controls, and permitting processes; as well as, nongovernmental or market constraints, including but 
not limited to land costs, construction costs, and availability of finances. Combined, these factors create barriers to 
availability and affordability of new housing, especially for lower and moderate‐income households.  

A. Nongovernmental Constraints 
Nongovernmental constraints largely affect the cost of housing in Solana Beach and can produce barriers to housing 
production and affordability. These constraints include the availability and cost of land for residential development, 
the demand for housing, financing and  lending, construction costs, and the availability of  labor, which can make  it 
expensive for developers to build any housing, and especially affordable housing. The following highlights the primary 
market factors that affect the production of housing in Solana Beach. 
 

 Land Costs and Construction Costs 
High land costs are a significant constraint to the development of affordable and middle‐income housing in the City 
of Solana Beach. Land cost represents a significant cost component in residential development.  There are significant 
fluctuations in land costs per square foot depending on location. 
 
While the City contains numerous vacant properties, an April 20, 2020, web search revealed that less than 100 units 
were listed for sale, majority of the parcels zoned for  single‐family residence.  Current housing data shows that the 
price of single‐family residences ranged from $889,000 for a three bed and two bath unit (1,072 sf) to $2,545,000 for 
a three bed and 2 bath (2,124 sf). Beach front property with similar square is listed for as much as $2,599,000 and 
homes with higher square footage reach $4,200,000 and $5,500,000. The limited supply and high cost of vacant land 
poses the largest constraint to the construction of affordable housing, especially affordable housing in Solana Beach. 
High land costs have a demonstrable effect on the cost of housing in Solana Beach, as the price of housing is directly 
related to the costs of acquiring land 
 
The cost of construction is another major factor in the price of housing.  The International Code Council (ICC) provides 
estimates for the average cost of labor and materials for typical Type VA wood‐frame housing. Estimates are based 
on “good‐quality” construction, providing for materials and fixtures well above the minimum required by state and 
local building codes.  In August 2019, the ICC estimated that the average per square‐foot cost for good‐quality housing 
in  the  San  Diego  region  was  approximately  $117  for  multi‐family  housing  and  $129  for  single‐family  homes.  
Construction costs for custom homes and units with extra amenities, run even higher.  Although construction costs 
are a significant portion of the overall development cost, they are consistent throughout the region and, especially 
when considering land costs, are not considered a major constraint to housing production in Solana Beach. 
 

 Availability Financing 
The availability of financing in a community depends on a number of factors, including the type of lending institutions 
active in a community, lending practices, rates and fees charged, laws and regulations governing financial institutions, 
and equal access to such loans. Additionally, availability of financing affects a person’s ability to purchase or improve 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐2 

a home.  Under the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA), lending institutions are required to disclose information 
on the disposition of loan applications and the income, gender, and race of loan applicants.  The primary concern in a 
review of lending activity is to determine whether home financing is available to residents of a community.  The data 
presented  in  this  section  include  the disposition of  loan applications  submitted  to  financial  institutions  for home 
purchase, home improvement, and refinancing in Solana Beach.   
 
Table 3‐1 below displays the disposition of loan applications for the county of San Diego, per the 2016 Home Mortgage 
Discloser Act report. Given the relatively high rate of approval for home purchase, improvement, and refinance loans, 
home  financing  is  generally  available  and  not  considered  to  be  a  significant  constraint  to  the  provision  and 
maintenance of housing in Solana Beach. 
 

Table 3‐1  Disposition of Loan Applications – San Diego County  

Applications  Total 
Percent 
Approved 

Percent 
Denied 

Percent 
Other 

By Loan Type 

Conventional Purchase  20,129  77.6%  5.2%  17.2% 

Government‐Backed Purchase1  6,721  72.8%  5.6%  21.5% 

Home Improvement  1,875  78.0%  7.9%  14.2% 

Refinancing  14,015  72.8%  7.3%  19.8% 

Notes: Percent approved includes loans approved by the lenders whether or not they are accepted by the applicants.   
Percent Other includes loan applications that were either withdrawn or closed for incomplete information. 
Source: HMDA data, 2017. 
1. Government‐backed loans include loans insured or guaranteed by the Federal Housing Administration (FHA), Veteran 
Administration (VA), and Farm Service Agency (FSA)/Rural Housing Services (RHS). 

 

 Economic Constraints 
Market forces on the economy and the trickle‐down effects on the construction industry can act as a barrier to housing 
construction and especially to affordable housing construction. It is estimated that housing price growth will continue 
in the city and the region for the foreseeable future. Moving  into 2020, the economy was growing, California was 
seeing a 1.6 percent growth in jobs from 2019 and experiencing all‐time lows for unemployment rates.  
 
A 2020 California Association of Realtors (CAR) report found that homes on the market in San Diego County cost an 
average of $670,000 in February 2020, a seven percent increase year to year change.  According to the CAR First Time 
Buyer Housing Affordability Index, from 2018 to 2019 the median value of a home in San Diego County was $556,750 
with monthly payments (including taxes and insurance) of $2,880, requiring an average qualifying income of $86,400. 
However, in the City of Solana Beach, homes and cost of living was significantly higher. According to March 2020 data 
from Zillow, the median cost of a home in Solana Beach is $1,475,031. According to research conducted on Zillow.com, 
the median price of a home in Solana Beach increased nine percent from 2018 to 2020 ($1,200,000 to $1,310,000), 
and they are expected to rise another 0.4 percent moving into 2021. The same report found that the median list price 
per square foot in Solana Beach is $790, which is higher than the San Diego‐Carlsbad Metro average of $390. 
 
Solana Beach’s home value index ($1,480,000) outpaced nearby coastal cities such Encinitas ($925,000) and Carlsbad 
($785,100). The high cost of  land and  increasing home prices  in Solana Beach can be seen as a constraint  to  the 
development of and access to housing, particularly the development of and access to affordable housing. 
 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐3 

B. Governmental Constraints 
In addition to market constraints, local policies and regulations also affect the price and availability of housing and the 
provision of affordable housing. For example, State and Federal regulations affect the availability of land for housing 
and the cost of housing production, making it difficult to meet the demand for affordable housing and limiting supply 
in a region. Regulations related to environmental protection, building codes, and other topics have significant, often 
adverse, impacts on housing cost and availability.  
 
While the City of Solana Beach has limited control over State and Federal Laws that affect housing, local laws including 
land use  controls,  site  improvement  requirements,  fees and exactions, permit processing procedures,  and other 
factors can constrain the maintenance, development, and improvement of housing create barriers to housing.  
 

 Land Use Controls 
In the State of California, cities are required to prepare a comprehensive,  long term General Plan to guide  future 
development. The Land Use Element of the General Plan establishes land uses and density of development within the 
City of Solana Beach, and  is consistent with  the City’s Municipal Code.  In 1976 California Legislature enacted  the 
Coastal act which created a mandate for coastal cities and counties to manage the conservation and development of 
coastal zone areas. Solana Beach is located entirely within the State’s Coastal Zone, therefore, in accordance with the 
Coastal  Act  requirements,  the  City  developed  a  Local  Coastal  program which  provides  additional  guidelines  for 
development. 
 
The Land Use Element in the City of Solana Beach’s General Plan and the City’s Local Coastal Program (LCP) set forth 
policies  and  regulations  for  guiding  local development.  These policies,  together with existing  zoning  regulations, 
establish the amount and distribution of land to be allocated for different uses within the City. The LCP and Zoning 
Ordinance, each of which is consistent with the Community Plan, identify the following residential categories and their 
existing allowed densities: 
 

 Estate Residential (ER‐1, ER‐2) (Max. 2 units/net acre) 
 Low Residential (LR) (Max. 3 units/net acre) 
 Low Medium Residential (LMR) (Max. 4 units/net acre) 
 Medium Residential  (MR) (Max. 7 units/net acre) 
 Medium High Residential (MHR) (Max. 12 units/net acre) 
 High Residential (HR) (Max. 20 units/net acre) 

 
In addition to residential categories, Solana Beach also allows residential uses in commercial zones when integrated 
into a mixed‐use development. Residential uses in commercial zones are also subject to additional limitations such as 
specific  guidelines  for  placement  of  units,  floor  area  ratio,  and  additional  review.  Commercial  zones  that  allow 
residential uses include the following: 
 

 General Commercial (C) (Max. 20 units/net acre) 
 Light Commercial (LC) (Max. 12 units/net acre) 

 
These  categories  accommodate  development  of  a  wide  range  of  housing  types  in  Solana  Beach. Most  future 
residential  development  will  occur  as  in‐fill  housing  on  existing  lots  due  to  the  built‐out  nature  of  the  City.  
Furthermore, maintaining the existing residential categories is important for ensuring compatibility between the new 
and existing housing.  
 
Scenic Area Overlay Zone 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐4 

The purpose of the Scenic Area overlay zone is to regulate the development in areas of high scenic value to preserve 
and  enhance  the  scenic  resources  present  within  and  adjacent  to  such  areas  and  to  assure  the  exclusion  of 
incompatible  uses  and  structures. All  projects within  the  zone  require  a Development Review  Permit.  Submittal 
requirements for applications for development review permits in the overlay zone can be found within Title 30 of the 
City’s Municipal Code. The Scenic Area overlay zone primarily affects Open Space, Right of Way and Commercial zones, 
therefore, it is not considered a constraint to the development of housing. 
 
Hillside Overlay Zone 

The purpose of the Hillside overlay zone is to restrict the grading of natural slopes with an inclination of 25 percent or 
greater in order to achieve the following: 

 Preserve the natural topography and scenic qualities of the city; 
 Protect native coastal sage/chaparral and grassland habitat; 
 Preserve existing watersheds; and 
 Reduce  the  potential  for  environmental  hazards  including  soil  erosion,  siltation  of  coastal  wetlands, 

landslides, adverse impacts due to runoff, and other impacts which could affect the public health, safety and 
general welfare. 

All  projects within  the  zone  require  a Development  Review  Permit.  Submittal  requirements  for  applications  for 
development review permits in the overlay zone can be found within Title 30 of the City’s Municipal Code. The Hillside 
overlay zone primarily affects small portions of residential zones and because it intends to reduce potential for hazards 
the overlay zone is necessary and not considered a constraint to the development of housing. 
 
Floodplain Overlay Zone 

The  purpose  of  the  Floodplain  overlay  zone  is  to  ensure  that  any  permitted  development within  the  100‐year 
floodplain  of  the  San  Dieguito  River  Valley  will  not  constitute  an  unreasonable,  undesirable,  or  unnecessary 
obstruction to  flood  flow and that such development will not adversely affect coastal wetlands, riparian areas, or 
other sensitive habitat areas within the floodplain. . All projects within the zone require a Development Review Permit. 
Submittal requirements for applications for development review permits in the overlay zone can be found within Title 
30 of the City’s Municipal Code. The Floodplain overlay zone intends to protect residents from environmental hazards 
and protect and conserve the land, it is therefore not considered a constraint to housing in Solana Beach. 
 
Scaled Residential Overlay Zone 

The purpose of the Scaled Residential overlay zone is to preserve and enhance the existing community character and 
aesthetic  quality  of  the  city  of  Solana  Beach,  by  providing  regulations  to  ensure  and  protect  the  character  of 
established residential neighborhoods; and by preserving the traditional scale and seaside orientation of residential 
areas  in  the city of Solana Beach. The  requirements of  the overlay zone primarily affect Low‐Medium Residential 
Medium Residential zones west of Interstate 5. The development standards set forth by the Scaled Residential zone 
include but are not limited to the following: 

 Floor Area Ratio (FAR) must comply with a four‐tiered standard. 
 Required parking within garages is excluded from the FAR calculation.  
 The floor area of any basement portion of a residential building will follow standards based on whether the 

basement has exposed sides or no exposed sides 
 Bay windows may extend into the setback given that they will not exceed three feet by four feet by two feet 

(depth). 
 Three level building facades are prohibited 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐5 

In detail Development standards can be found within Title 30 of the City’s Municipal Code. The Scaled Residential 
overlay zone primarily affects lower density zones which are buildout, the overlay zone is therefore not considered a 
constraint to housing.  
 

 State Density Bonus Law 
Density bonuses are another way to increase the number of dwelling units otherwise allowed in a residentially zoned 
area.  The City’s Zoning Ordinance identifies the purpose of the Density Bonus Ordinance to provide density bonuses 
or equivalent financial incentives for the provision of affordable housing and implement the housing element of the 
Solana Beach general plan. Density bonus provisions do not apply to senior citizen and senior congregate care housing 
projects that utilize alternative density bonus provisions.  
 
Density Bonuses may be awarded to applicants who agree to construct at least one of the following: 

 Ten percent (10%) of the total units of a housing development for lower income households; 
 Five percent (5%) of the total units of a housing development for very low‐income households; 
 A senior citizen housing development; or 
 Ten percent (10%) moderate income housing in a common interest development; provided, that all of the 

units in the development are offered to the public for purchase. 
 
If an applicant exceeds  the percentages mentioned above,  the applicant shall be entitled  to an additional density 
bonus above 20 percent calculated as follows: 

 For each one percent (1%) increase above ten percent (10%) in the percentage of units affordable to lower 
income  households,  the  density  bonus  shall  be  increased  by  one  and  one‐half  percent  (1.5%),  up  to  a 
maximum of thirty‐five percent (35%) for the total project; 

 For each one percent (1%)  increase above five percent (5%)  in the percentage of units affordable to very 
low‐income households, the density bonus shall be increased by two and one‐half percent (2.5%), up to a 
maximum of thirty‐five percent (35%) for the total project; 

 For each one percent  (1%) above  ten percent  (10%)  in  the percentage of units affordable  to moderate 
income households, the density bonus shall be increased by one percent (1%), up to a maximum of thirty‐
five percent (35%) for the total project 

 
Each housing developments is entitled to only one density bonus, density bonuses from more than one category may 
not be combined, additionally, density bonus provisions do not apply to senior citizen and senior congregate care 
housing projects that utilize alternative density bonus provisions. An applicant with a development which qualifies for 
density bonus may also submit a proposal for additional  incentives. Additional  incentives may  include, but are not 
limited  to,  reductions  in  restrictions  on  building  standards,  parking  requirement,  or  approval  of    mixed‐use 
development in conjunction with housing development.  Qualifications for additional incentives include: 

 One  additional  incentive  for projects  that  include  at  least 10  percent  of  the  total units  for  low  income 
households, at least 5 percent for very low‐income households, or at least 10 percent for moderate income 
households in a common interest development where all units are offered for purchase. 

 Two additional  incentives  for projects  that  include at  least 20 percent of  the  total units  for  low  income 
households, at least 10 percent for very low‐income households, or at least 20 percent for moderate income 
households in a common interest development where all units are offered for purchase. 

 Three additional  incentives  for projects that  include at  least 30 percent of the total units  for  low  income 
households, at least 15 percent for very low‐income households, or at least 30 percent for moderate income 
households in a common interest development where all units are offered for purchase. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐6 

 Residential Development Standards 
Residential development standards allow cities to dictate the standards and regulations associated with development 
in order to maintain community compatibility and to provide well‐designed housing options for the community. The 
City of Solana Beach requires a variety of regulations and restrictions for new developments, those pertaining to the 
construction of housing are described below and specific requirements can be found in Table 3‐2. 
 
Minimum Lot Sizes 

Minimum  lot sizes and dimensions  (width and depth) correspond  to  their  residential density categories such  that 
application of these standards will allow planned density to be achieved. For example, the LR Low Residential zone 
requires a minimum  lot size of 14,000 square  feet  (sf) per dwelling unit  (du)  to achieve a maximum of 3 du/acre 
(43,560 sf/3 = 14,000 sf). However, to achieve a higher density, minimum lot area is reduced as in the MHR Medium‐
High Residential Zone which allows 5,000 square feet  lot area to achieve a density of 8 du/acre (43,560 sf /8 du = 
5,000 sf/du). While minimum lot sizes, achieve appropriate densities per the desired housing type, all residential zones 
also  allow  one  Accessory  Dwelling  Unit  on  lots  with  existing  or  proposed  single‐family  homes  or multi‐family 
developments.  Therefore, minimum  lot  size  and  lot dimension  standards do not  constrain  the  ability  to  achieve 
planned densities. 
 
Setbacks 

Minimum setback or yard requirements vary among the residential zones. The primary purposes of imposing setbacks 
is to ensure adequate air and light between properties, to ensure adequate on‐site access and circulation, to provide 
opportunities for private open space areas (yards), and to separate uses between properties to minimize conflicts and 
potential  life/safety  hazards. Generally  speaking,  setbacks  are  tied  to  lot  size, meaning  smaller  lots  have  lower 
minimum setbacks, and larger lots require larger “yards.” While it is possible that setback requirements may inhibit 
maximum density from being realized in some cases, there is enough flexibility in the current ordinances that setback 
requirements do not constitute a significant constraint on residential development. Setback requirements have been 
considered in the City's calculation of realistic site capacity. 
 
Lot Coverage and FAR 

Lot coverage and  floor area  ratio  (FAR)  standards are  intended  to control bulk, mass, and  intensity of a use. Lot 
coverage limits a building’s footprint and is defined as the percentage between the ground floor area of building(s) 
and the net area of a lot. FAR limits the total usable floor area and is expressed as a ratio between the bulk floor area 
of building(s) and gross lot area. Floor area ratio is a supplementary device that under some conditions improves upon 
(but does not necessarily replace) the traditional means of relating bulk of building to land, to other buildings in the 
vicinity, and to public facilities. It permits variable dimensions within an over‐all volume limit and it offers a way of 
predicting the ratio of persons to a unit of land in office building districts of high land use intensity. 
 
In the residential‐only zones maximum floor area ration ranges depending on desired density and requirements. For 
example,  in  the LR zone maximum  lot coverage  is 60 percent  for the  first 5,000 square  feet, 30 percent  for each 
additional  square  foot  between  5,000  and  20,000,  and  15  percent  for  additional  square  footage  above  20,000. 
However, in the higher density zones such as MHR and HR maximum floor area ratio jumps to 75 percent. As applied 
to residential development, these standards may only limit the size of dwelling units, and do not limit the number of 
units, which is an expression of density (that is, zoning). FAR, combined with height limitations, can potentially prevent 
maximum density from being achieved in certain cases. 
 
Maximum Building Height 

All properties within the City of Solana Beach are located within the Coastal Zone as defined in the California Coastal 
Act. Therefore,  the City’s  Local Coastal Program, as approved by  the California Coastal Commission,  restricts  the 
maximum building height within the City to 25 feet.   Additionally,  in the MHR and HR residential zones, maximum 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐7 

building height may be increased to 30 feet pursuant a development review permit or 35 feet pursuant a conditional 
use permit, as deemed appropriate. This  figure  is compatible with, and often more generous,  than other nearby 
coastal  jurisdictions;  for example,  the City of Encinitas  restricts most building heights  to 22  feet. Solana Beach  is 
considered a built‐out City, as many of  its neighboring coastal cities which have more restrictive building heights, 
therefore, building height regulations in Solana Beach have not been considered an impediment to the development 
of housing within the City. 
 

Table 3‐2: Residential Development Standards in Solana Beach ‐ Dimensions 
Residential Zone  Dimensions  Construction Standards 

Community Plan (Zone)  Min. Lot 
Size (sf) 

Street 
Frontage 

Width 
(Interior) 

Width 
(Corner)  Depth  Max. FAR  Max Height 

(feet) 

Estate Residential (ER‐1)  40,000  100’  100’  100’  150’  60%1  25 
Estate Residential (ER‐2)  20,000  80’  80’  85’  150’  60%1  25 
Low Residential Zone (LR)  14,000  65’  65’  70’  100’  60%1  25 
Low Medium Residential 
Zone (LMR)  10,000  60’  60’  65’  100’  60%1  25 

Medium Residential Zone 
(MR‐East)  6,000  60’  60’  65’  100’  60%1  25 

Medium Residential Zone 
(MR‐West)  5,000  50’  50’  55’  100’  60%1  25 

Medium High Residential 
(MHR)  5,000  50’  50’  55’  100’  75%  252 

High Residential Zone 
(HR)  10,000  60’  60’  65’  100’  75%  252 

North Rios Specific Plan  As allowed under the North Rios Specific Plan. 
Tangaroa Estates Specific 
Plan  As allowed under the Tangaroa Estates Specific Plan. 

Highway 101 Corridor 
Specific Plan  As allowed under the Highway 101 Corridor Specific Plan. 

FAR= Floor Area Ratio 
1. 60% for the first 5,000 sf of lot area, 30% for each additional sf of lot area between 5,000 and 20,000 sf, and 15% for each additional sf of lot area above 
20,000 sf. 
2. Pursuant to a development review permit the max. building height for may be increased to 30 feet and pursuant to a conditional use permit, limited 
height increases to a max. of 35 feet for civic uses may be allowed. 

 
Minimum yard dimensions for the (ER‐1), (ER‐2), (LR), (LMR), (MR), (MHR), and (HR) zones shall be determined by the 
setback designator indicated on the city of Solana Beach official zoning map, on file with the city clerk and available 
at the department of community development. All yards shall be measured from the property line and/or road right‐
of‐way as follows: 
 

Table 3‐3: Residential Development Standards in Solana Beach ‐ Setbacks 
Setback 

Designator 
Front Yard (feet) 

Side Yard Interior 
(feet) 

Side Yard Street 
(feet) 

Rear Yard 
(feet) 

A  35  15  10  50 
B  25  10  10  40 
C  25  10  10  25 
D  25  5  10  25 

Source: City of Solana Beach Zoning Ordinance. 
Note: Setback Designators are assigned in the City’s Zoning Map, Figure 3 below. 

 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐8 

Figure 3‐1: City of Solana Beach Zoning Map 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐9 

Parking Standards 

In addition to the development standards identified in Table 3‐3, Solana Beach requires a certain number of covered 
spaces for two family and multifamily rental apartments as well as an additional space for all accessory living units. 
Guest parking is also required for multi‐family housing at a ratio of one space for every four units. The Solana Beach 
Municipal code provides additional direction for parking standards and regulation, such as when a garage or parking 
lot is converted or used for purposes other than parking, the required amount of parking shall be provided on the site 
consistent with the design standards of this chapter. 
 

Table 3‐4: Parking Requirements for Residential Uses 

Unit Type  Number of Spaces Required 

Single‐family dwellings  2 Spaces 

Two‐family dwellings, multiple‐family 
dwellings and mobile homes1  ‐‐ 

Studios/efficiency units/single 
room occupancy  1.5 Spaces 

Two or more bedrooms  2 Spaces 

Additional guest parking  1 uncovered space for each 4 units 

Mobile home parks 
2 covered spaces per unit within an 
enclosed garage and 1 uncovered guest 
space for each 4 units. 

Group residential 

1 space for each resident in accordance 
with total permitted occupancy plus 1 
guest space for each 4 residents of 
permitted occupancy. 

Accessory living units 
1 space in addition to those required for 
primary residence. 

Residential day care  2 spaces in addition to those required for 
primary use. 

Residential care facilities  2 spaces in addition to those required for 
primary residence. 

1. (For rental apartments ‐ a minimum of 50 percent of required parking spaces shall 
be covered) 

 
Typically, the cost associated with garage parking construction can be viewed as a constraint to affordable housing 
development,  particularly  for multi‐family  housing. However,  the  City’s  parking  regulations  are  not  a  significant 
constraint because the number of required parking spaces for duplexes and multi‐family projects varies by the number 
of bedrooms.  Furthermore, affordable housing projects that qualify for a density bonus can request application for 
additional incentives which can be provided in the form of reduction of parking requirements. While off‐street parking 
standards can affect planned residential density, especially for small lots and in‐fill areas, this potential constraint is 
mitigated by the incentives and flexible standards described above.  
 

 Growth Management Measures 
Growth management measures are  techniques used by a government  to  regulate  the  rate, amount and  type of 
development. In the General Election of 2000, Solana Beach’s voters passed Proposition T, known as the “Community 
Protection  Act”  which  requires  voter  approval  to  change,  alter,  or  increase  General  Plan  land  use  categories. 
Proposition T amended the General Plan to specify that without approval by a majority of voters in the City, no General 
Plan Amendment, including a Specific Plan adoptions or changes, shall be adopted if they would: 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐10 

 change, alter, or increase the General Plan Residential Land Use Categories, or  
 change any  land use designation to any other, except changes to  land already designated residential and 

which clearly result in a reduction in intensity or density of said land use designated as residential. 
 
Subsequently, in 1998 Solana Beach citizens voted into law Ordinance No. 251, which requires a public vote on all City 
Council approved General Plan amendments meeting the following threshold requirements:  

 a 2.5 gross acre size; 
 an increase in the amount of potential building space allowed by 50,000 square feet; or 
 an increase in potential traffic generation by 25 percent or ten percent during peak hours. 

 
Both Proposition T and Ordinance No. 251 require a public vote for general plan amendments affecting land use, with 
the exception of amendments necessary to comply with state or federal law. Proposition T does not interfere with 
rights  to  obtain  density  bonuses  (which  do  not  require  a  general  plan  amendment),  or  limit  rights  or  other 
entitlements available under affordable housing law.  The 2021‐2029 Housing Element does not anticipate the need 
to rezone any land within Solana Beach, therefore Proposition T will not be triggered.  
 

 Specific Plans 
 
North Rios Specific Plan 

The North Rios Specific Plan, approved February 18, 1997, allows for the development of approximately 10 acres of 
previously underdeveloped  land  located at the northeast corner of Rios Avenue and Patty Hill Drive  in the City of 
Solana  Beach.    The  Specific  Plan  consists  of  a  residential  development  which  intends  to  create  a  “livable” 
neighborhood through the implementation of sensitive street and lot design.   
 
The North  Rios  Specific  Plan  outlines  the  development  regulations  and  guidelines,  streetscape  treatment,  view 
preservation components, and implementation measures applicable to development of the project, which includes 
development of approximately 24 single‐family residences on individual lots.  Since adoption of the specific plan, these 
dwelling units have been constructed and currently remain as of September 2020.  
 
Tangaroa Estates Specific Plan 

The Tangaroa Estates Specific Plan, adopted September 3, 1996, permits the proposed residential development of a 
single parcel of land of approximately six acres in size.  The subject land is located at the northern terminus of Rios 
Avenue in the City of Solana Beach, County of San Diego, California.  The specific plan permits the development of 
nine single‐family residential dwelling units, with an average lot size greater than 14,000 square feet. The specific plan 
permits a residential density three units per net acre with a maximum of nine lots.   
 
These units are located directly north of the North Rios Specific Plan area.  Since adoption of the specific plan, these 
dwelling units have been constructed and currently remain as of September 2020. 
 
Highway 101 Corridor Specific Plan 

The Highway 101 Corridor Specific Plan  is a plan  for physical development and  redevelopment of  this  important 
roadway  area  that  defines  Solana  Beach.  The  Plan  provides  a  set  of  guidelines  and  regulations  for  directing 
development within the 163‐acre project area. The purpose of the Specific Plan is to provide for new development 
and  redevelopment  to  achieve  a  physical  environment  along  the  Highway  101  corridor  that  is  cohesive  and 
representative of the unique character of Solana Beach. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐11 

 
The Specific Plan carries out the goals and objectives of the Solana Beach General Plan through its identification of a 
development plan which complements General Plan policy, while implementing area‐specific development standards 
and design guidelines. Additionally, the Specific Plan and the Zoning Ordinance are designed to work together in the 
Highway  101  corridor  to  implement  General  Plan  policy  for  this  area.  As  such,  certain  development  standards 
contained in the Specific Plan are tailored to the unique character of the Highway 101 corridor and supersede those 
contained in the Zoning Ordinance. The Specific Plan designates ten land uses; commercial and industrial uses include, 
General Commercial, Light Commercial, Office/Professional, Planned Industrial, and Special Commercial. Residential 
development  consists  of  single‐family  low medium  residential  (approximately  four  units  per  acre),  single‐family 
medium residential (up to seven units per acre), and single‐family/multi‐family medium high residential (up to 12 units 
per acre) For other standards, the Specific Plan refers directly to those contained in the Zoning Ordinance. Residential 
development standards for the Highway 101 Corridor Specific Plan are shown in Table 3‐5. 
 

Table 3‐5: Highway 101 Residential Development Standards 

Development Standard 

Designated Zone 
Residential 

Low Medium and 
Medium 

Residential 
Medium High 

Minimum Lot Area (a)  10,000 SF  6,000 SF 
Front Setback  25’  20’ 
Side Setback  10’  5’ 
Rear Setback  25’  25 
Max. FAR  N/A  N/A 
Height Limit*  25’  30’ 
Parking  Refer to Zoning Ordinance 
Landscaping  Refer to Zoning Ordinance 
Source: Highway 101 Specific Plan 

* Building height greater than 16 feet is subject to View Assessment Process. 
 
 

 Provisions for a Variety of Housing Types 
Housing  Element  law  specifies  that  jurisdictions  must  identify  adequate  sites  to  be  made  available  through 
appropriate zoning and development standards to encourage the development of a variety of types of housing for all 
income  levels.   Table 3‐6 below  summarizes  the City’s  zoning provisions  for various  types of housing. Permitted, 
conditional, and prohibited residential uses are indicated as follows: 

 “P” indicates the use shall be a permitted use in the zone. 
 “PL” indicates the use shall be permitted subject to the limitations set forth in the individual zone. 
 “C” indicates the use is subject to a conditional use permit issued by the director of community development. 
 “CC” indicates the use is subject to a conditional use permit issued by the city council. 
 “E” indicates the use shall be prohibited within the zone. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐12 

Table 3‐6: Permitted, Conditional, and Prohibited Uses in Solana Beach 

Housing Type 
Residential Zones  Commercial/Industrial/Professional Zones 

Er‐1  Er‐2  LR  LMR  MR  MHR  HR  C  SC  LC  OP  PI  LI 
P = Permitted Use | PL = Permitted subject to Limitations |C = Conditional Use Permit issued by Community Development 

Director| CC = Conditional Use Permit issued by City Council | E = Prohibited 
Single‐family 
Dwelling  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  E  E  E  E  E  E 

Two‐Family 
Dwellings 
(duplex) 

E  E  E  E  P  P  P  PL  PL  PL  E  E  E 

Multiple‐Family 
Dwellings 
(condos, 
townhomes, 
apartments) 

E  E  E  E  P  P  P  PL  PL  PL  E  E  E 

Residential/ 
Mixed Use 
Buildings 

E  E  E  E  E  E  E  PL  PL  PL  E  E  E 

Residential Care 
Facilities (6 or 
fewer persons 

P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  E  E  E  E 

Residential Care 
Facilities (7 ‐ 12 
persons) 

C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  E  E  C  E 

Residential Care 
Facilities (13 or 
more persons) 

CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  E  E  CC  E 

Family Day Care 
Homes (6 or 
fewer persons) 

P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  E  E  E  E 

Group 
Residential 
Facilities 

E  E  E  E  E  C  C  CC  E  E  E  E  E 

Senior Citizen/ 
Congregate Care 
Housing 

E  E  E  E  CC  CC  CC  E  E  E  E  E  E 

Mobile Home 
and 
Manufactured 
Housing 
(individual lots) 

PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  E  E  E  E  E  E 

Mobile Home 
Parks  CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  CC  E  E  E  E  E  E 

Guest Houses  PL  PL  PL  E  E  E  E  E  E  E  E  E  E 
Accessory Living 
Units  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  C  C  E  E  E  E  E  E 

Caretaker Units  E  E  E  E  E  E  E  PL  PL  PL  PL  C  PL 
Home 
Occupations  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  PL  E  E  E 

Live/Work Uses  E  E  E  E  E  E  E  C  E  E  E  E  E 
Emergency 
Shelters  E  E  E  E  E  E  E  P  E  E  E  C  E 

*Permitted as an accessory to an allowed use  

Source: City of Solana Beach, Zoning Ordinance, accessed April 2020. 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐13 

Single‐family 

Any building designed and used to house not more than one family including all domestic employees of such family.  
Single‐family use is permitted in all residential zones in the City. 
 
Two‐Family Dwellings 

Any building designed and used  to house  two  families  living  independently of each other on  the  same  legal  lot. 
Dwelling units may be attached or detached. Minimum separation between principal structures on the same lot is 15 
feet. Duplexes are permitted in the MR, MHR, and HR zones, and they are permitted with limitations in the C, SC, and 
LC zones. 
 
Multi‐family 

Any building designed and used to house three or more families living independently of each other on the same legal 
lot. Dwelling unit may be attached or detached. Minimum separation between principal structures on the same lot is 
15 feet. This includes apartment houses, townhomes, and condos.  Currently, multi‐family housing is permitted in the 
MR, MHR, and HR zones and permitted with limitations in the C, SC, and LC zones.   
 
Residential/Mixed Use Buildings 

Any buildings designed and used to house one or more families living independently of each other in addition to one 
or more principal nonresidential uses permitted by the zone. Residential/Mixed Use is permitted with limitations in 
the C, SC, and LC zones. 
 
Residential Care Facilities 

Any family home, group care facility, or similar facility for 24‐hour nonmedical care of persons  in need of personal 
services, supervision, or assistance essential for sustaining the activities of daily living that is licensed by the State of 
California Department of Social Services or  the Department of Alcohol and Drug Programs. Small  residential care 
facilities serve six or  fewer persons. Large residential care  facilities serve seven or more persons. Residential care 
facilities designed for six persons or fewer are permitted in all residential zones and the C, SC and LC zones. Residential 
care facilities designed to for seven to twelve persons are conditionally permitted in all residential zones and the C, 
SC, and PI zones. Residential Care Facilities designed for thirteen or more persons are conditionally permitted in all 
residential zones and the C, SC, and PI zones. 
 
Family Day Care Homes 

A day care facility for six or fewer children. Family Day Care homes include infant centers, preschools and extended 
day care facilities. Family Day Care Homes are permitted in all residential zones and the C and SC zones. 
 
Farmworker Housing 

The City has a very small portion of  land designated  for agriculture uses.   According to  the American Community 
Survey, less than two percent of Solana Beach’s workforce was employed in the farming industry.  Therefore, there is 
no  need  for  farmworker  housing  in  Solana  Beach.    However,  he  City’s  overall  efforts  to  provide  and maintain 
affordable housing opportunities will help to provide housing for any farmworkers that may choose to reside in the 
city. 
 
Group Residential Facilities 

Any fraternity, sorority, boarding house, retirement homes or other residential occupancy of living units by groups of 
seven or more persons, exclusive of residential care facilities, single room occupancy hotels and senior congregate 
care housing. Group Residential Facilities are conditionally permitted in the MHR, HR, and C zones. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐14 

 
 
Senior Citizen/ Congregate Care Housing 

A structure providing residence for a group of senior citizens (60 years of age or more) with central or private kitchen, 
dining,  recreational, etc.  facilities with  separate bedrooms and/or  living quarters. Senior Citizen/Congregate Care 
Housing is conditionally permitted in the MR, MHR, and HR zones.  
 
Mobile Homes/Manufactured Housing and Mobile Home Parks 

The Solana Beach Municipal code defines Mobile/Manufactured Homes as a factory‐built or manufactured home as 
permitted by state of California and federal laws and installed on a permanent foundation system. Therefore, a Mobile 
Home Park  is defined as a residential facility arranged or equipped for the accommodation of two or more mobile 
homes, with spaces for such mobile homes available for rent, lease, or purchase, and providing utility services and 
other  facilities either  separately or  in  common  to mobile home  space  therein. Mobile/Manufactured Homes are 
permitted with  limitations  in all residential zones. Mobile Home Parks are conditionally permitted  in all residential 
homes. 
 
Guest Houses 

The Solana Beach Municipal code a guest house as a detached accessory building for the temporary use by guests of 
the  occupants  of  the  premises  including  provisions  for  living,  sleeping,  and  sanitation,  but  exclusive  of  cooking 
facilities. Guest Houses are permitted with limitations in the ER‐1, ER‐2, and LR zones. 
 
Accessory Living Units 

The Solana Beach Municipal code defines Accessory Living Units as a dwelling unit attached to a primary residence or 
accessory garage  (to a primary  residence) providing  complete  independent  living  facilities  for no more  than  two 
persons including provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation. Accessory living units include granny 
flats and second units. Accessory Living Units are permitted with limitations in the ER‐1, ER‐2, LR, LMR, and MR zones, 
and are conditionally permitted in the MHR and HR zones. Development standards applied to Accessory Living Units 
are as follows:  
A detached primary dwelling unit shall exist on the lot or premises. 
The lot on which an accessory living unit is proposed shall have a minimum area of 6,000 square feet, not including 
any commonly owned area. 

 The accessory living unit shall be attached to or contained within the primary dwelling in such a manner as 
to avoid the appearance of the add‐on unit. For the purposes of this regulation, “attachment” shall include 
second story additions to (a) the principal structure, (b) an attached garage, or (c) a detached garage. The 
accessory living unit shall be architecturally integrated with the structure to which it is attached. The entrance 
to an accessory living unit shall not be visible from the street adjacent to the front yard setback. 

 The maximum allowed area of the accessory living unit shall be 640 square feet. The minimum allowed area 
of the accessory unit shall be 350 square feet. 

 The total floor area of all structures shall not exceed the maximum floor area (FAR) for the site. 
 The owner of the property must continually occupy either the main dwelling unit or the accessory living unit. 

For purposes of this section, “owner” includes a lessee if the leasehold includes both the main dwelling and 
accessory living unit. 

 One  off‐street  parking  space  shall  be  provided  for  the  accessory  living  unit  and  all  off‐street  parking 
deficiencies shall be corrected. 

 Any construction of an accessory  living unit shall conform to all property development regulations of the 
zone in which the property is located as well as all fire, health, safety and building provisions of this title. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐15 

 The City may offer incentives to encourage development of accessory dwelling units. If owners of accessory 
units elect to file a 30‐year deed restriction to rent the unit to lower income households, the City will consider 
waiving fees and reducing parking and development standards or providing other incentives consistent with 
the Costa Hawkins Act. 

New State Law require cities to lessen certain restrictions surrounding ADUs and JADUs. As part of the Housing Plan 
(Program 1B), the City will commit to amending the ADU/JADU ordinance to be consistent with State law.   
 
Caretaker Units 

A dwelling unit accessory to a principal use on a site and  intended for occupancy on the same site by a caretaker, 
security guard, servant or similar position requiring residence on the site, exclusive of a hotel/motel manager’s unit. 
Caretaker Units are permitted with limitations in the C, SC, LC, OP and LI zones and conditionally permitted in the PI 
zone.  
 
Home Occupations 

An accessory use of a dwelling unit for gainful employment involving the provision or sale of goods and/or services 
and the creation of handicrafts and artwork. A home occupation is incidental to the primary use of the building as a 
residence. Home Occupations are permitted with limitations in all residential zones and in the C, SC, and LC zones. 
 
Live/Work Uses 

An occupancy by an individual or a family maintaining a common household consisting of one or more rooms or 
floors in a building originally designed for industrial or commercial occupancy, or in a new building specifically 
designed for live/work use and includes the following: 

 Cooking and sanitary facilities in accordance with applicable standards as adopted by the city of Solana 
Beach; and 

 Adequate working  space  reserved  for  that  sole purpose and used by one or more persons  residing 
therein. 

Live/Work Uses are conditionally permitted in the C zone.  
 
Emergency Shelters 

Temporary housing with minimal supportive services for homeless persons. No individual or household may be denied 
emergency shelter because of an inability to pay. Emergency Shelters are permitted in the C zone and conditionally 
permitted in the PI zone. 
 
Transitional and Supportive Housing  

Transitional housing  is a  type of supportive housing used  to  facilitate  the movement of homeless  individuals and 
families to permanent housing.  California law defines "transitional housing" and "transitional housing development" 
as buildings configured as rental housing developments but operated under program requirements that call for the 
termination  of  assistance  and  recirculation  of  the  assisted  unit  to  another  eligible  program  recipient  after  a 
predetermined period, not less than six months (Health and Safety Code Section 50675.2).  Residents of transitional 
housing are usually connected to supportive services designed to assist the homeless in achieving greater economic 
independence and a permanent, stable living situation.    
 
Supportive housing links the provision of housing and social services for the homeless, people with disabilities, and a 
variety of other special needs populations.  State law defines “supportive housing” as housing with no limit on length 
of stay, that  is occupied by  low  income adults with disabilities, and that  is  linked to on‐site or off‐site services that 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐16 

assist the supportive housing resident in retaining the housing, improving his or her health status, and maximizing his 
or her ability to live and, when possible, work in the community (California Health and Safety Code Section 50675.14).    
 
The Solana Beach Municipal Code defines Transitional and Supportive Housing in line with the State ‘s definitions and 
requirements.  The  Solana  Beach Municipal  Code  does  not  define where  supportive  and  transitional  housing  is 
permitted. 
 
Tiny Homes 

Tiny Homes are not currently defined or included in the Solana Beach Zoning Ordinance. The State of California also 
does not have existing guidelines for tiny homes, however, the 2018 International Residential Code (IRC) defines tiny 
homes as a dwelling unit which is 400 square feet or less in floor area excluding lofts. In its rulemaking document the 
ICC cited reasons for updating and including tiny homes in the IRC, including the following:  

 The average US home size is increasing, while family size is decreasing;  
 Tiny Houses use a fraction of the wood and wood products of a conventional home;  
 Increased housing cost makes home ownership unfeasible for many, and; 
 Tiny Houses can add to affordable owned and rental housing stock. 

 
Single Room Occupancy Units 

The  Department  of  Housing  and Urban  Development  (HUD)  defines  a  Single  Room Occupancy Unit  (SRO)  as  a 
residential property that includes multiple single room dwelling units. Each unit is for occupancy by a single eligible 
individual. The unit need not, but may, contain food preparation or sanitary facilities, or both. They are distinct from 
a studio or efficiency unit, in that a studio is a one‐room unit that must contain a kitchen and bathroom. Although 
SRO units are not required to have a kitchen or bathroom, many SROs have one or the other and could be equivalent 
to an efficiency unit. Currently, the Solana Beach Municipal Code does not contain specific provisions for SRO units, 
however, they do fall within the category or Multifamily housing and are subject to the same development standards 
as multifamily housing. 
 

 Housing for Persons with Disabilities 
Both the Federal Fair Housing Amendment Act (FHAA) and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act direct 
require governments to make reasonable accommodations (that is, modifications or exceptions) in their zoning laws 
and other  land use regulations to afford disabled persons an equal opportunity to housing. State  law also requires 
cities to analyze potential and actual constraints to the development, maintenance, and improvement of housing for 
persons with disabilities. 
 
The  Housing  Element  Update  must  also  include  programs  that  remove  constraints  or  provide  reasonable 
accommodations for housing designed for persons with disabilities.  The analysis of constraints must touch upon each 
of three general categories: 1) zoning/land use; 2) permit and processing procedures; and 3) building codes and other 
factors, including design, location and discrimination, which could limit the availability of housing for disabled persons.   
 
Reasonable Accommodation 

Persons with mobility disabilities may require modifications to their living quarters such as access ramps, wider doors 
and hallways, larger bathrooms, and lowered countertops.  The City enforces the California Building Standards Code 
which provides flexibility in the design of housing for persons with disabilities.   
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐17 

Both the Federal Fair Housing Act and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act require local governments to 
make  reasonable  accommodations  in  their  zoning  laws  and other  land use  regulations  and practices when  such 
accommodations are necessary to afford disabled persons with an equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.   
  
Reasonable  accommodation  in  the  land  use  and  zoning  context means  providing  individuals with  disabilities  or 
developers of housing for people with disabilities,  flexibility  in the application of  land use and zoning and building 
regulations, policies, practices and procedures, or even waiving certain requirements, when it is necessary to eliminate 
barriers to housing opportunities.  For example, it may be reasonable to accommodate requests from persons with 
disabilities  to waive  a  setback  requirement  or  other  standard  of  the Municipal  Code  to  ensure  that  homes  are 
accessible for the mobility impaired. Whether a particular modification is reasonable depends on the circumstances. 
 
Solana Beach provides reasonable accommodation in procedures and regulations to ensure equal access to housing 
for  persons  with  disabilities  and  the  development  of  housing  for  persons  with  disabilities  in  the  Request  for 
Reasonable Accommodation Ordinance, adopted  in February of 2014. The purpose of the Request for Reasonable 
Accommodation Ordinance  is to provide a procedure under which a person with disabilities, or property owner of 
industrial or commercial uses, may request a reasonable accommodation in the application of zoning regulations to 
secure equal access to housing (or commercial/industrial facilities), and outline a process for decision makers to act 
upon such requests.  A request for a reasonable accommodation in land use, zoning, and building laws, regulations, 
policies, or practices may be made by any person with a disability, or by an entity acting on behalf of a person or 
persons with disabilities,  to  secure equal access  to housing. The  requested accommodation may be approved or 
granted with modifications if the following findings can be made: 

 The housing which  is  the subject of  the request will be used by one or more  individuals with a disability 
protected under the Acts; 

 The accommodation requested  is necessary to provide one or more  individuals with a disability an equal 
opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling; 

 The requested reasonable accommodation will not impose an undue financial or administrative burden on 
the city; and 

 The requested reasonable accommodation will not require a fundamental alteration in the nature of a city 
program or law, including but not limited to the general plan, zoning ordinance, and building laws. 

The following criteria, among other factors, may be considered by the community development director regarding 
the reasonableness of the requested accommodation: 

 Whether there are alternative reasonable accommodations available that would provide an equivalent level 
of benefit; and 

 Whether  the  requested  reasonable  accommodation  substantially  affects  the  physical  attributes  of  the 
property or has impacts on surrounding properties that would fundamentally alter a city program or law. 

 
The community development director may  impose any conditions of approval needed  to ensure  that  the project 
complies with the required findings mentioned above. Conditions may include, but are not limited to, ensuring that 
any removable structures or physical design features that are constructed or installed in association with a reasonable 
accommodation  are  capable  of  being  removed  once  those  structures  or  physical  design  features  are  no  longer 
necessary to provide access to the dwelling unit for the current occupants. 
 
Residential Care Facilities 

The City of Solana Beach Municipal Code defines Residential Care Facilities as any family home, group care facility, or 
similar facility, with or without food services and kitchen facilities, for 24‐hour nonmedical care of persons in need of 
personal services, supervision, or assistance essential for sustaining the activities of daily living or for the protection 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐18 

of the individual including, but not limited to, alcoholism or drug abuse recovery facilities, congregate living facilities, 
community  care  facilities,  intermediate  care  facilities/disabled habilitative,  or  intermediate  care/developmentally 
disabled‐nursing  facilities  licensed  by  the  state  of  California,  excluding  housing  for  the  elderly,  nursing  and 
convalescent homes. 
 
Residential care facilities designed for six persons or fewer are permitted in all residential zones and the C, SC and LC 
zones. A residential care facility for seven or more persons shall be permitted only by conditional use permit. Specific 
conditions providing for the development, operation, and design of any residential care facility for seven to 12 persons 
shall  be made  by  the  director  of  community  development.  Specific  conditions  providing  for  the  development, 
operation, and design of any residential care facility for 13 or more persons shall be made by the city council. 
 
The following development standards are intended as minimum requirements for residential care facilities. Since the 
conditional use permit process  is discretionary, each application will be considered on  its own merits. Additional 
requirements may be imposed in order to meet the objectives of the general plan or to address special circumstances 
of the proposal including, but not limited to, state and county licensing requirements: 

 The use should comply with all property development regulations of the underlying zone, including but not 
limited to setbacks, yards, floor area ratio, height and parking, unless a variance to the above standards is 
granted in conjunction with the conditional use permit. 

 Sleeping areas must meet all of the following criteria: 
o A minimum of 70 square feet of sleeping area per resident, exclusive of closet or storage space. 
o No room commonly used  for other purposes shall be used as a sleeping area. Such  rooms shall 

include but shall not be limited to living rooms, dining rooms, family rooms, dens, recreation rooms, 
hallways, stairways, unfinished attics, basements, garages, storage areas, sheds, or similar attached 
or detached buildings. 

o No sleeping area shall be used as a public or general passageway to another room, bath, or toilet. 
o A minimum of eight square feet of storage (closet or drawers) shall be provided per bed. 

 The facility shall provide one full bathroom (toilet, sink, shower, and/or bathtub) per every seven beds. 
 

 The facility shall be required to provide one parking space per employee and one parking space for every 
seven beds, unless the director of community development determines that additional parking spaces are 
required. 

 The facility shall comply with citywide landscaping regulations. 
 The facility shall be required to provide a common living area of 100 square feet plus five square feet per 

bed, exclusive of the sleeping, dining and kitchen areas. 
 Existing and new facilities shall comply with all other health, building, and safety requirements. 

 
Occupancy Standards 

California law requires local governments to treat licensed group homes and residential care facilities with six or fewer 
residents no differently than other by‐right single‐family housing uses. “Six or fewer persons” does not include the 
operator, the operator’s  family or persons employed as staff.   The City must allow these  licensed residential care 
facilities in any area zoned for residential use and may not require licensed residential care facilities for six or less to 
obtain  conditional  use  permits  or  variances  that  are  not  required  of  other  family  dwellings.  Currently,  Chapter 
17.08.030 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance defines a “family” as “Two or more persons living together as a bona fide 
single housekeeping unit,” the City also permits residential care facilities in all residential zones. The City’s definition 
of family does not produce potential constraints in providing access to care facilities or housing opportunities. 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐19 

 Development Fees 
Residential developers are subject to a variety of fees and exactions to process permits and provide necessary services 
and facilities as allowed by State  law; these fees  include, but are not  limited to, development  impact fees, permit 
issuance,  subdivision  processing  fees,  and  engineering  and  public works  fees.  Development  impact  and  permit 
issuance  fees are used  to support a variety of  functions  including checking submitted plans, paying  local  facilities 
management  fees,  special  road  assessments,  and  public  service‐related  fees  for  other  agencies  such  as  school 
districts, water districts, and utility providers. Subdivision processing fees are used to cover the City’s administrative 
costs  incurred  through  the processing  of  subdivision  applications  and plans.    Engineering  and public works  fees 
perform a similar function. 
 
In general, fees and exactions can impact the cost and feasibility of developing the housing as well as its affordability. 
They can be a constraint to the maintenance, improvement, and development of housing because the additional cost 
borne by developers contributes to overall increased housing unit cost. However, the fees are necessary to maintain 
adequate planning services and other public services and  facilities  in  the City.   According  to  the City’s 2020‐2021 
adopted budget,  in addition  to development and  impact  fees,  Solana Beach  receives primary  funds  through  the 
following top six General Fund revenues:  

 Property Tax 
 Sales Tax 
 Motor Vehicle In‐lieu  
 Transient Occupancy Tax 
 Franchise Fees 
 Fire Benefit Fees 

The City’s revenues,  listed above, help to  fund public  facilities, park maintenance, public arts, and public services, 
additionally in‐lieu housing fees provide revenue supplementary to the listed fees.  
 
The current fee schedule became effective 2020, and which is summarized in Table 3‐7.  Under the fee schedule, the 
City recovers a portion but not all of the City’s administrative costs for processing development applications. The City’s 
Engineering  fees and Development  Impact  fees, also effective 2020, are summarized  in Tables 3‐8 and 3‐9Table  .  
Based on the City’s 2020‐2021 Budget, service charges, which include planning and zoning fees, building/plan check 
fees, public facilities fees , engineering fees, fire plan check fees, and park fees, account for about 3.5 percent of the 
City’s total general fund revenue.  
 
 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐20 

Table 3‐7: Community Development Services Fees 

Description of Service  Fee/Deposit    Description of Service  Fee/Deposit 

Conditional Use Permit  $8,877 

 

Major Subdivision ‐ 
Tentative Map  $14,350 

Bluff Retention Device CUPs 
& Wireless 
Communication Facility CUPs 

Require addt’l deposit 
for third‐party 

reviews at Cost + 15% 

Major Subdivision ‐ 
Final Map  $4,976 

Community Development 
Directors Use Permit  $2,665 Per application  Minor Subdivision ‐ 

Tentative Map  $10,993 

Zoning Letter  $159   Minor Subdivision ‐ 
Parcel Map  $4,033 

Variance ‐ Processing  $6,719  Environmental Impact 
Report 

Deposit for third‐party review at 
Cost 

+ 15% Admin Fee 

General Plan Amendment 

$10,000 
Deposit or a deposit 
determined by staff 
with charges at the 

fully allocated hourly 
rates for all 

personnel involved 
plus any outside costs 

as determined 

Structure Develop. 
Permit ‐ Processing  $3,680 

Rezoning Review/Specific 
Plan 

Structure Develop. 
Permit ‐ Processing 

$1,104 
If in conjunction with a 

Development Review Permit, fee 
will be $1,077 per application 

Zoning Text Amendment  Structure Develop. 
Permit ‐ Processing 

$3,128 
If in conjunction with multiple 
entitlements, a 15% discount is 

applied to lower cost 
entitlements, and fee will be 

$3,052 per application 
Development Review Permit ‐ 
Processing ‐ Level I 
Resident 

$5,228   Landscape Plan 
Review/Inspection 

Deposit for third‐party review at 
Cost 

+ 15% Admin Fee 
Development Review Permit ‐ 
Processing ‐ Level I 
Non‐Resident 

$10,470   Planning Public Noticing  $548 per notice plus mailing and 
Newspaper 

Development Review Permit ‐ 
Processing ‐ Level II 

$17,543   Multi‐permit discount 
of 15% 

A multi‐permit discount of 15% is 
available for each add’l Planning 
Department permit filed on the 

same project at the same time as 
the first permit service. 

Source: City of Solana Beach, Schedule of Fees effective January 1, 2020. 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐21 

Table 3‐8: Engineering Review Fees 
Description of Service  Fee    Description of Service  Fee 

Lot Line Adj./Cert. Of 
Compliance. ‐ Review  $1,881 per application   

Grading Plan check/  
Public Improvement 
Permit/Inspection ‐ 
$200,001+ 

$3,100 + $10 for each $1000 or 
fraction thereof of the construction 

value over $200,000 

Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement Plan Check ‐ 
$0‐$10,000 

$1,025 Min. fee 
 

Grading Deposits 
Based on an Engineer’s Estimate of 

the work 
performed under the permit. 

Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement Plan Check – 
$10,001‐$20,000 

$1,025 + $10.25 for each 
additional $100 or fraction 

thereof of the construction value 
over $10,000 

 
Geotechnical Plan 
Review/Inspection 

Deposit for third‐party review at Cost 
+ 15% Admin Fee 

Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement Plan Check – 
$20,001‐$80,000 

$2,050 + $3.08 for each 
additional $100 or fraction 

thereof of the construction value 
over $20,000 

 

Encroachment Permit  Street Cut ‐ $774 
Standard ‐ $543 

Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement Plan Check – 
$80,001‐$200,000 

$3,898 + $10.25 for each 
additional $1000 or fraction 

thereof of the construction value 
over $80,000 

 
Miscellaneous 
Engineering 
Permit/Inspection 

$226 

Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement Plan Check – 
$200,001+ 

$5,128 + $10.25 for each $1000 
or fraction thereof of the 

construction value over $200,000 

 
Easement 
Abandon/Street 
Vacation 

$1,758 per application or a deposit 
determined by staff with charges at 
the fully allocated hourly rate for all 
personnel involved plus any outside 

costs. 
Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement 
Permit/Inspection – 
 $0‐$20,000 

$1,025 Min. fee 

  
Easement/R.O.W 
Dedication  $487 

Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement 
Permit/Inspection ‐ 
$20,001‐$80,000 

$1,025 + $15.38 for each 
additional $1,000 or fraction 

thereof of the construction value 
over $20,000 

 
Subdivision 
Monuments 

security deposit is based on estimate 
provided by 

surveyor to set the monuments. 

Grading Plan check/ Public 
Improvement 
Permit/Inspection ‐ 
$80,001‐$200,000 

$1,948 + $10.25 for each 
additional $1,000 or fraction 

thereof of the construction value 
over $80,000 

 
Sewer Connection 
Fees 

Future Capacity = 50% 
Ocean Outfall = 27% 

Existing Facility = 23% 
Per total of $4,500 per 1.0 EDU  

Source: City of Solana Beach, Schedule of Fees effective January 1, 2020. 

 
Development Impact Fees 

In addition to City fees charged at the time building permits are issued, developers are required to pay a number of 
impact  fees  (shown  in Table 3‐9). Additionally, school  impact  fees are required and collected by  the San Dieguito 
School district.  Considering the high cost of land in Solana Beach, the fees charged by the City and school district do 
not create a constraint to the construction of market rate housing.  The fees only comprise a very small percentage 
of the entire cost to construct a residence in Solana Beach.  
 
Although there are no specific establishments for a right to receive any additional incentive from the city or any other 
party or agency to enable the developer to meet the obligations of the City’s Code, the city council at its sole discretion 
may discount city fees, expedite the application process, or provide other assistance when it finds that provision of 
such  assistance  is  needed  to meet  housing  needs.  Furthermore,  the  city manager  is  authorized  to  reduce  city 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐22 

development impact fees by 75 percent for accessory dwelling units (ADU) processed consistent with the City’s code, 
provided that a deed restriction for state law affordability provisions is recorded for the term of 99 years. 
 

Table 3‐9: Development Impact Fees 

Description of Service  Fee 

 

Description of 
Service  Fee 

Regional Transportation 
Congestion Program RTCIP Fee 

Single family $3,623 per du 
Third Party Review 

Multi‐family $2,899 per du 
Public Facilities Fee  1% of project valuation  Landscape Review  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  
Master Art Policy Fee  0.5% of project valuation  Wireless Review  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Affordable Housing Impact Fee  $25.28 per sf  Geotechnical 
Review  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Transportation Impact Fee ‐ 
Single Family  $ 15,714.00 per unit  Biological Review  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Transportation Impact Fee ‐ 
Condo & Multi‐Family  $ 11,206.00 per unit  Counsel Review  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Transportation Impact Fee‐ 
Accessory Dwelling (units)  $ 3,929.00 per unit  Stormwater 

Review  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Fire Mitigation Impact Fee ‐ 
Detached Dwelling (units)  $ 1,759.00   Traffic Review   + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Fire Mitigation Impact Fee ‐ 
Attached Dwelling (units)  $ 248.00    Environmental 

Review  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Park Development Impact Fee ‐ 
Detached Dwelling (units)  $ 6,913.00   

Shoreline 
Development 
Noise 

+ 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Park Development Impact Fee ‐ 
Attached Dwelling (units)  $ 5,002.00    Review Cultural 

Resources  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Public Use Facilities Impact Fee ‐ 
Detached Dwelling (units)  $ 640.00     Review Bluff 

Retention  + 15% of Third‐Party Review Cost  

Public Use Facilities Impact Fee ‐ 
Attached Dwelling (units)  $ 463.00    Third Party Review 

Admin Fee  15% of Third Part Review Cost 

Source: City of Solana Beach, Schedule of Fees effective January 1, 2020. 

 
Affordable Housing In‐lieu Fees 

Payment of Affordable Housing Impact Fees 

As an alternative to the construction of affordable units on‐site, a developer may propose to pay affordable housing 
impact fees adopted by city council resolution to mitigate the residential project’s impact on the need for affordable 
housing in the city, if the city council makes both of the following findings: 

 The affordable housing impact fees will be used to provide financial assistance to an identified city or city‐
sponsored  affordable  housing  project  that:  (a)  is  proposed by  an  affordable housing  developer;  (b)  has 
received all discretionary approvals from the city and the Coastal Commission; and (c) requires additional 
funds to commence construction. 

 Provision of the affordable housing impact fee will create more affordable units than would be created by 
on‐site provision of the affordable units. 

Any approved affordable housing  impact  fees shall be paid prior  to  the  first  issuance of a building permit  for  the 
residential development. 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐23 

Affordable Housing Impact Fees 

Any affordable housing impact fees are set by city fee resolution or other action of the city council. Fees may be based 
on a fee per dwelling unit, fee per square foot, or any other reasonable basis. The city council may review the fees 
from time to time at  its sole discretion and may, based on that review, adjust the fee amount. Affordable housing 
impact fees may not exceed the cost of mitigating the impact of residential projects on the need for affordable housing 
in the city. Based on the City’s 2020 adopted fee schedule, the current affordable housing impact fee is $25.28 per 
square foot. 
 
In addition, all affordable housing  impact fees shall be deposited  into the city of Solana Beach designated housing 
fund. The  fees collected and all earnings  from  investment of the  fees shall be expended exclusively to provide or 
assure  continued  provision  of  affordable  housing  in  the  city  through  acquisition,  construction,  development 
assistance, rehabilitation, financing, rent or other subsidies, provision of supportive services, or other methods, and 
for  costs  of  administering  programs which  serve  those  ends.  The  housing  assisted  shall  be  of  a  type,  or made 
affordable at a cost or rent, for which there is a need in the city and which is not adequately supplied in the city by 
private housing development in the absence of public assistance and to the extent feasible shall be utilized to provide 
for low and very low‐income housing. 
 

 Inclusionary Housing and Provisions for Affordable Housing 
Due  to  the High  cost  of  land  and  housing  in  Solana  Beach,  the  City  has  established  and  implemented  different 
programs and  fees  to provide housing access  to all  community members. Title 17, Chapter 70 of Solana Beach’s 
Municipal Code establishes regulations and standards regarding the provision of affordable housing. The code states 
that new housing contributes to the demand for goods and services in the city, increasing local employment at wage 
levels which often do not permit employees to afford housing in the city. Further, new housing construction which 
does not include affordable units aggravates the existing shortage of affordable housing by absorbing the supply of 
available residential land. Providing affordable units or impact fees as required by chapter 70 of the code will ensure 
that part of the city’s remaining developable land is used to provide affordable housing. The requirements, programs, 
and fees, detailed below, coincide with the City's housing goals, as expressed in the Housing Element component of 
the Solana Beach General Plan. 
 
For the purposes of this section, a unit is affordable if it meets the requirements for affordable housing costs for very 
low‐ or low‐income households established by Health and Safety Code Section 50052.5 and regulations adopted by 
the California Department of Housing and Community Development (California Code of Regulations Title 25, Sections 
6910  through 6924) determining affordability of residential housing units based upon household size and  income 
levels.  The  following discussion  identifies Affordable Housing  requirements  and  includes  an  analysis of  potential 
constraints: 

Affordable Housing Required – For‐sale and Rental residential projects 

Developers of  for‐sale  residential projects providing  five or more dwelling units, or  five or more  lots  for  sale  for 
residential purposes, shall construct and set aside 15 percent of all units or lots for sale to very low or low income 
households at  sales prices affordable  to  such persons or households. The  required affordable units  shall  remain 
affordable for 99 years from the date of final inspection, as shown on the inspection record card for the affordable 
unit.  
 
Developers of rental residential projects providing five or more dwelling units shall construct and set aside 15 percent 
of  all  units  for  rent  to  very  low  or  low  income  households  at  rents  affordable  to  such  persons  or  households. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐24 

Additionally, the required rental affordable units shall remain affordable for 99 years from the date of final inspection, 
as shown on the inspection record card for the affordable unit. 
 
As defined by the City’s code, when the calculation of the number of affordable units required for a residential project 
results in a fraction of one‐half or more, one additional affordable unit must be provided. When the calculation results 
in a fraction of less than one‐half, the developer must either provide an additional affordable unit or pay an affordable 
housing impact fee calculated by multiplying the area (in square feet) of the average market‐rate unit in the project 
by  the  fraction and multiplying  that number by  the  impact  fee per square  foot. For example, based on  the City’s 
current fee schedule, if the average market‐rate unit has 2,500 square feet, and there is a fraction of 0.2, the impact 
fee would total 500 multiplied $25.28, generating a total $12,640. 
 
Affordable Housing Plan and Affordable Housing Agreement 

An affordable housing plan  shall be  submitted as part of  the  first approval of any  residential project and will be 
processed,  reviewed,  and  approved,  conditionally  approved,  or  denied  concurrently with  all  other  applications 
required  for  the  residential project. The affordable housing plan may  indicate  that  the developer  intends  to pay 
affordable housing impact fees. However, if affordable units are proposed to be provided, the affordable housing plan 
shall include the following, as applicable: 

 Number, affordability level, unit type, tenure (for‐sale or for‐rent), number of bedrooms, location, unit size 
(square feet), and design of all affordable units. 

 Construction schedule and phasing of affordable units in relation to market‐rate units. 
 Any requested alternative to the provision of affordable units including information as required by the City 

and  reasonably  required  by  the  community  development  director  to  demonstrate  compliance with  the 
Solana Beach Municipal Code. 

 Such  additional  information  as  may  be  required  by  the  community  development  director  to  ensure 
conformance of the project with this chapter or the general plan or any specific plan. 

Additionally, Prior to final or parcel map approval for the residential project, or,  if a tentative or parcel map  is not 
requested  for  the  residential  development,  prior  to  issuance  of  any  building  permit  within  the  residential 
development, an affordable housing agreement between the developer and the city shall be recorded against the 
property included in the residential project. The affordable housing agreement shall be binding on all future owners 
and successors in interest. After approval of the affordable housing plan, the city manager is authorized to approve 
the affordable housing agreement and any additional documents necessary to implement this section. 

The affordable housing agreement shall be consistent with the affordable housing plan and shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following: 

 Number, affordability  level, unit  type,  tenure, number of bedrooms,  location, unit size, and design of all 
affordable units. 

 A description of the household income groups to be accommodated by the housing development, and the 
standards for determining the corresponding affordable rent or affordable sales price and housing cost. 

 A  description  of  provisions  for  income  certification  and  screening  of  potential  purchasers  or  renters  of 
affordable units, resale control mechanisms (in for‐sale units), and ongoing monitoring and administration. 

 Terms of affordability. 
 A schedule  for completion of affordable units and phasing of development  in relation  to construction of 

market‐rate units. 
 A description of remedies for breach of the agreement by either party. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐25 

 For for‐sale affordable units, conditions governing the  initial sale and resale of affordable units to eligible 
households to ensure continued compliance with the restrictions of this chapter; and a condition requiring 
disclosure by the developer to the buyer of affordable units of the existence of the deed restrictions affecting 
the resale of the property. 

 For rental affordable units, conditions establishing rules and procedures for qualifying tenants, setting rental 
rates, filling vacancies, operating and maintaining rental affordable units, and annually monitoring affordable 
units. A rent regulatory agreement acceptable to the city will be recorded against the residential project prior 
to issuance of a building permit for any dwelling unit in the residential project. The rent regulatory agreement 
shall include the developer’s agreement to the limitations on rents required by the City. 

 If an alternative to affordable units is approved (alternatives detailed below), provisions to ensure that the 
affordable housing  is provided and  that the requirements applied to  the alternative have been complied 
with. Where off‐site property is proposed for affordable housing, additional restrictions or agreements may 
be required to be recorded against the off‐site property. 

 Other provisions needed to ensure implementation and compliance with this chapter, to ensure continued 
affordability of the units, or to comply with state or federal law. 

 
Alternatives for Provision of Affordable Units 

The City of Solana Beach has a number of alternatives for the provision of affordable units. The alternatives are broken 
down by the following categories and detailed below. 
 

Rental Units in a For‐Sale Residential Project 

 A developer of a for‐sale residential project may propose to provide rental affordable units rather than for‐
sale affordable units. 

 If the developer elects to provide rental affordable units, at least 15 percent of the units in the residential 
project shall be rented to very low‐ or low‐income households at affordable rents. 

 The rent regulatory agreement will include provisions for sale of the affordable units and relocation benefits 
for tenants of the rental affordable units if the owner of the residential project later determines to offer any 
rental affordable units in the residential project for sale.  

 The owner must also provide all notices to prospective tenants of the residential project required by state 
law and, at the time sale of the units is proposed, provide all tenants of the rental affordable units with the 
same notices, rights, and relocation benefits as provided by state law and the municipal code for tenants in 
condominium conversions. 

 The owner shall provide written notice to the city at least 90 days before offering any rental affordable unit 
for sale. The owner shall provide as many for‐sale affordable units at affordable housing cost as are required.  

 At the time of sale, documents acceptable to the community development director, all consistent with the 
requirements of this chapter, shall be recorded against the for‐sale affordable units for a term of 99 years 
from the date of sale. 

 
Construction of Off‐Site Affordable Housing 

As an alternative to the construction of affordable units on‐site, a developer may propose to construct an affordable 
housing development on other property within the city. The affordable housing plan must provide evidence of and 
contain the following: 

 Financing or a  viable  financing plan, which may  include public  funding,  shall be  in place  for  the off‐site 
affordable units. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐26 

 The off‐site  location must be suitable  for  the proposed affordable housing, consistent with any adopted 
affordable housing guidelines and the housing element, will not tend to cause residential segregation, and 
be located within the city of Solana Beach boundaries with appropriate infrastructure and services. Any off‐
site alternative must comply with the density, intensity and development standards that are permitted under 
the zone for the site. 

 Prior to issuance of a building permit for any unit in the residential development, the off‐site development 
shall have all discretionary permits and approvals necessary for the construction of the affordable housing, 
and the developer approved by the city shall have purchased the site for the off‐site affordable housing. 

 Prior to occupancy of any unit in the residential development, occupancy shall have been authorized for all 
units in the affordable housing development. 

Preservation or Conversion of Existing Unit 

As  an  alternative  to  the  construction  of  affordable  units  on‐site,  a  developer may  propose  to  preserve  existing 
affordable units at risk of loss or convert market‐rate units to affordable units, if the preservation or conversion of 
these  units  is  consistent with  requirements  of  the  City’s  Code  allows  the  city  to  substitute  the  preservation  or 
conversion of these units for the obligation to identify sites. 
 
Legalization of Existing Unpermitted Dwelling Units 

As an alternative to the construction of affordable units on‐site, a developer may acquire and place deed restrictions 
upon existing housing units within the city constructed without building permits, for occupancy by very low‐ or low‐
income households at prices or rents affordable to such households subject to the following standards and conditions: 

 The developer must demonstrate ownership of the unpermitted dwelling units or an executed agreement 
with  the  owner  of  the  dwelling  units  agreeing  to  record  an  affordable  housing  agreement  against  the 
property and to grant the developer access to perform any required rehabilitation or improvements. 

 The existing unpermitted housing units must not have a separate address  that was  included  in  the most 
recent United States Census. 

 The units must be ready for occupancy by an eligible household prior to final inspection, as shown on the 
inspection record card, for any market‐rate units in the residential project. 

 A  building  permit  shall  be  obtained  for  each  unpermitted  dwelling  unit.  Any  substandard  unit  shall  be 
rehabilitated in conformance with applicable local ordinances and state statutes. 

 If the units will be for‐sale or rental affordable units, the number, affordability, and term of affordability of 
the affordable units shall conform with the provisions of the City’s Code requirements. 
 

Affordable Housing Design and Standards 

When an affordable unit is the unit may be constructed as a separate single‐family dwelling unit or may be combined 
with  other  dwelling  units.  Affordable  units must  be  designed  to  be  integrated  into  the  residential  style  of  the 
residential project, and shall have  the same general bulk, scale, average square  footage, same mix, and height as 
market‐rate units  in  the development. Subject  to approval of  the  community development director or designee, 
affordable units may have different  interior  finishes and  features  than market‐rate units  in  the  same  residential 
development  project,  so  long  as  the  finishes  and  features  are  durable,  of  good  quality  and  consistent  with 
contemporary standards for new housing. 
 
Additionally,  affordable  units must  be  comparable  to market‐rate  units  in  overall  number  of  bedrooms  and  the 
proportion of units  in  each bedroom  category.  For multifamily  residential projects,  the  affordable units  shall be 
integrated into the project and located so as not to create a geographic concentration of affordable units within the 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐27 

residential project, unless required to provide housing for senior citizens or to obtain financial assistance from state 
or federal agencies. 
 
Finally, all affordable units must be constructed and occupied concurrently with or prior to the construction and final 
inspection of market‐rate units. In phased residential projects, affordable units shall be constructed and occupied in 
proportion to the number of units in each phase of the residential project. 
 
Waivers of Affordable Housing Requirements 

As part of an application for the first approval of a residential project, a developer may request that the requirements 
of this chapter be waived or modified, based upon a showing that applying the requirements of this chapter would 
result in an unconstitutional taking of property or would result in any other unconstitutional result. Any request for a 
waiver or modification shall be submitted concurrently with the project application. The developer shall set forth in 
detail the factual and legal basis for the claim, including all supporting technical documentation, and shall bear the 
burden of presenting the requisite evidence to demonstrate the alleged unconstitutional result. Any request for a 
waiver or modification based on  this  section  shall be  reviewed  and  considered  at  the  same  time  as  the project 
application. In deciding whether to grant the waiver or modification, the city council shall assume each of the following 
when it is applicable to the project: 

 The developer will provide the most economical inclusionary units feasible in terms of construction, design, 
location and tenure. 

 The developer is likely to obtain housing subsidies when such funds are reasonably available. 
The waiver or modification may be approved only to the extent necessary to avoid an unconstitutional result, based 
upon legal advice provided by or at the behest of the city attorney, after adoption of written findings, based on legal 
analysis and the evidence. If a waiver or modification is granted, any change in the project shall invalidate the waiver 
or modification, and a new application shall be required for a waiver or modification. 
 

 On‐/Off‐Site Improvements 
Site  improvements  in  the City  consist of development  for on‐site  improvements  (fronting  streets,  curbs, gutters, 
sewer/water, and sidewalks), and off‐site  improvements (drainage, parks, traffic, schools, and sewer/water). Thus, 
these are costs that will be added to the sale or rental price of housing. Because residential development cannot take 
place without the addition of adequate infrastructure, site improvement requirements are not seen as a constraint to 
the development of housing within the City. 
 
The  infrastructure  in Solana Beach  is  fully developed and well maintained. As a result, only minimal on or off‐site 
improvements are  required  for most new development.   Typical on‐site  improvements  consist of  curbs, gutters, 
sewers/water, and sidewalks.  Required off‐site improvements are also minimal and directly relate to project impacts.  
For  example,  a  project  approval  may  be  accompanied  by  conditions  for  localized  street  and  intersection 
improvements. But again, because  the City’s  infrastructure  is  largely  in place and because  there  is minimal  land 
available for subdivisions, requirements for construction of new public streets or other significant  infrastructure  is 
very  rare.    The  required  public  improvement  standards  are used primarily  to  ensure  that  the  existing  roadways 
adjacent to new residential construction maintain or provide the appropriate right‐of‐way.  In conclusion, given the 
completely  developed  nature  of  the  City’s  infrastructure,  the  cost  to  developers  of  providing  public  facilities  is 
relatively  low when compared  to other parts of  the  region where  the  infrastructure  is not already available or  is 
inadequate to serve new development. 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐28 

 Building Codes and Enforcement 
The City of Solana Beach’s construction codes are based upon the California Code of Regulations, Title 24 (Building, 
Plumbing, Mechanical, Electrical and Housing Codes) and are considered to be the minimum necessary to protect the 
public health, safety and welfare of the City’s residents. Code enforcement is conducted by the City and is based on 
systematic enforcement  in areas of concern and on a complaint basis throughout the city. The Code Enforcement 
Division works with  property  owners  and  renters  to  assist  in meeting  state  health  and  safety  codes.  The  Code 
Compliance Department investigates complaints regarding violations of the Solana Beach Municipal Codes, Uniform 
Building Codes, Fire Codes, and Parking regulations. The intention and goal is to work together with the community 
to help resolve issues through voluntary compliance.  
 

 Local Processing and Permit Procedures 
The processing time for permits varies in Solana Beach based upon the scope and type of project and the applicant’s 
compliance with the City’s ordinances and completeness of applications. Certain types of applications/permits are 
discretionary and require a public hearing, while others are processed administratively. Projects needing discretionary 
review  typically  involve  significant grading activity or buildings over 500  square  feet  in  size.   On average, permit 
processing  for discretionary projects takes between two and  four months. Administrative approval takes between 
several days to two or three weeks. A significant portion of the permit processing in the City is associated with single‐
family remodels. 
 
Projects that take a longer time to secure final approval generally have significant environmental impacts or involve 
general plan amendments or rezonings. The developers may be responsible for delays by failing to provide information 
or requesting continuances. Permit approval under these circumstances requires more time for public notice, public 
hearings, and negotiation of design modification to resolve problems. 
 
For a discretionary development review permit, the City automatically proceeds with a development proposal hearing 
at  the  next  scheduled  City  Council meeting  once  four  requirements  are met:  (1)  the  proposed  development  is 
consistent with the General Plan and all applicable requirements,  including special regulations, overlay zones, and 
specific plans; (2) the proposed development complies with the development criteria; (3) environmental review as 
required by CEQA  is  completed; and  (4) all  required permits and approvals,  including Variances, Conditional Use 
Permits, comprehensive Site Plans, etc., are processed concurrently with the development review permit. 
 
Once the criteria are met, the City continues to apply the State of California Streamlining Act requirements to ensure 
continued  timely and predictable permit processing. The process  is  further expedited  in  the City of Solana Beach 
because the City has no Planning Commission; the Council acts as the Planning Commission and; thereby, reduces the 
steps  in  the  process  and  removes  uncertainty  of  Planning  Commission‐City  Council  policy  interpretations.  An 
application for a development review permit shall be required for any structure or site development which meets, 
but is not limited to, the following criteria: 

 New construction (including structural additions to existing development) totaling 30,000 gross square feet 
or more, except greenhouses in the (A) zone and structures in residential zones. 

 Any residential projects of 20 or more units. 
 Any  site  development,  including  grading,  or  construction  including  any  structural  additions  to  existing 

development, that involves an aggregate of more than 100 cubic yards of cut and/or fill, excluding: 
o Residential swimming pools/spas 
o City of Solana Beach approved public works projects in the existing right of way 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐29 

 Any new residential structure or structural addition in the MHR or HR zones which exceeds 25 feet in height 
and any new nonresidential structure or structural addition which exceeds 30 feet in height. 

 Any developments located in the Hillside, Scenic, or Floodplain Overlay Zones. 
 Any  development  on  a  coastal  bluff  top  property  or  on  the  face  or  toe  of  a  bluff  for which  a  coastal 

development permit issued by the California Coastal Commission is presently required. 
 Any  new  construction,  including  replacement  of  an  existing  structure or  structural  additions  to  existing 

development in residential zones, shall require a development review permit if either or both of the following 
development criteria are satisfied: 

o The total of existing square footage plus proposed new square footage of the structure exceeds 60 
percent of the maximum floor area allowable under the applicable floor area ratio. 

o If new square  footage  is proposed  for an existing or new second story,  the  total of  the existing 
square footage plus proposed new square footage of only the second story of the structure exceeds 
40 percent of the floor area of the first story existing floor area for residential lots of 6,000 square 
feet or less, or 35 percent of the floor area of the first story existing floor area for residential lots of 
greater than 6,000 square feet. 

No building permit or grading permit shall be issued relating to a project for which a development review permit is 
required by this title until a development review permit  is obtained. Additionally, Solana Beach  is  located entirely 
within the state's coastal zone and all Coastal Development Permits must be heard by the State Coastal Commission.  
 
The general process for obtaining an administrative building permit in Solana Beach is as follows: 

 One  set  (1)  of  building  plans  are  initially  reviewed  by  the  Planning  Department.  Once  the  planning 
department has reviewed and noted required revisions or comments, the plans are marked to proceed with 
plan check.  The applicant is advised to submit four (4) additional sets to the Building Department, which is 
managed by Esgil, an independent firm that provides plan check services to the City of Solana Beach. The 
Engineering, Environmental and Fire Departments conduct their reviews at the same time. The plans are 
reviewed for compliance with both the City’s Municipal Code and applicable State laws. 

 The Building Department plan check process may require plan revisions and subsequent rechecks until the 
plans are determined to meet all California Building Codes. 

 The final set of plans must then be resubmitted to the City of Solana Beach for a “Re‐Stamp.” This Re‐Stamp 
is  required  to allow each department  the opportunity  to  review  the  final plan  to  confirm  that  required 
revisions were made, and to evaluate whether changes required by a different department did not create 
additional comments. Once the building permit plans have been placed in stamp out, the City sets no longer 
than ten days to sign off.  Generally, the Re‐Stamp proceeds more quickly than the initial review.  

 
The City operates a permit and processing counter with daily hours and provides extensive technical assistance to 
project proponents  to ensure  that  their applications are complete and correct.  In  this manner, the City  is able  to 
provide a high degree of certainty and process proposals within seven to eight weeks.  
 

 State Policies and Regulations 
State policies and regulations, which are regularly updated to include new standards for development, requirements 
to improve accessibility, and updated environmental standards, may also serve to constrain housing development in 
local communities. 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐30 

 
California Code of Regulations, Title 24 

The state of California regularly updates and  adopts new standards for construction which are known as the California 
Building Standards Code. The California Building Standards Code is a compilation of three types of buiding standards 
from three different origins, listed as follows: 

 Building  standards  that  have  been  adopted  by  state  agencies without  change  from  building  standards 
contained in national model codes; 

 Building standards that have been adopted and adapted from national model codes to address California’s 
ever‐changing conditions; and 

 Building  standards, authorized by  the California  legislature,  that  constitute amendments not  covered by 
national model codes, that have been created and adopted to address particular California concerns. 

Regulations for residential use, maintenance, and occupancy for existing buildings are found in the California Code of 
Regulations, Title 24 Part 2.5. The most recent Code was published July 1, 2019 and went into effect January 1,2020. 
The  City  of  Solana  Beach  has  adopted  the  2019  Code  as  the  city’s  building  standards,  and  the  regulations  and 
requirements provided by  the California Code are not  considered a  constraint  to development of accessible and 
affordable housing being they are required by law and developed to implement safe and well design standards. 
 
Environmental Protection 

State  regulations  require  environmental  review  of  proposed  discretionary  projects  (e.g.,  subdivision maps,  use 
permits, etc.). Costs resulting from fees charged by local government and private consultants needed to complete the 
environmental analysis, and from delays caused by the mandated public review periods, are also added to the cost of 
housing.   However,  the presence of  these  regulations helps preserve the environment and ensure environmental 
safety to Solana Beach residents. 
 

C. Infrastructure Constraints 
Another factor that could constrain new residential construction  is the requirement and cost to provide adequate 
infrastructure (major and  local streets; water and sewer  lines; and street  lighting) needed to serve new residential 
development.  In most cases, where new infrastructure is required, it is funded by the developer and then dedicated 
to the City, which is then responsible for its maintenance.  Because the cost of these facilities is generally borne by 
developers, it increases the cost of new construction, with much of that increased cost often “passed on” in as part 
of home rental or sales rates.  However, such infrastructure costs do not represent a barrier in Solana Beach because 
as  a  built‐out  community,  Solana Beach’s  infrastructure  is,  likewise,  built  out  and  in place.    Therefore,  the  high 
development  costs often associated with  installing  infrastructure  systems  in other  communities are not  found  in 
Solana Beach.  
 

 Water Supply and Wastewater Capacity 
Among the municipal services that the City of Solana Beach provides are the functions of wastewater, and clean water 
(storm water pollution prevention). These utility services are funded exclusively from fees and rates charged to the 
City’s utility customers related to their use. Water supply is provided by the Santa Fe Irrigation District. 
 
Water Supply 

The Santa Fe  Irrigation District provides reliable water to the Rancho Santa Fe, Fairbanks Ranch and City of Solana 
Beach area, and has been for almost a century. The Mission of the Santa Fe irrigation District is to efficiently provide 
its customers with safe and reliable water. The Santa Fe Irrigation District was originally formed by landowners under 
the California  Irrigation District Act to provide water service to the area. The District serves approximately 19,400 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐31 

customers on 10,200 acres of land in three communities: Rancho Santa Fe, Fairbanks Ranch and the City of Solana 
Beach. 
The Santa Fe Irrigation District has 100% ownership of 151 miles of pipelines and a six million‐gallon filtered water 
reservoir in Solana Beach known as Larrick Reservoir. It shares ownership with the San Dieguito Water District (SDWD) 
of a 40 million‐gallon‐per day (mgd) water treatment and filtration plant (R.E. Badger Filtration Plant). he San Dieguito 
Reservoir was constructed in 1918 and has the capacity to hold 550‐acre feet of raw water. 
 
Wastewater Capacity 

In compliance with the Federal Clean Water Act requirements, the City maintains the sanitary sewer system.  A private 
contractor, under contract with the City of Solana Beach, provides routine cleaning of the public sewer mains.   All 
public sewers are cleaned at least once a year using high pressure jetting and/or mechanical rodding.  Problem sewers 
are cleaned up to four times annually.  Root intrusion and grease buildup are the primary culprits of sewer backups.  
 
The City's sewage is pumped to the San Elijo Water Reclamation Facility in Cardiff for treatment and disposal.  The 
treatment  facility  supplies  reclaimed water  for  landscape  irrigation  and  industrial  applications.    The City Council 
appoints representatives to sit as voting members on the San Elijo Joint Powers Authority Board. 
 
Sewer service charges are billed annually on the County property tax bill.  The charge is determined based upon a user 
classification or category.  Sewer service is not determined by water usage.  The City Council, upon review of operating 
expenses and staff recommendations, determines the annual sewer fees each year. 
 
Based on current service, routine care of the City’s system, and the fact that the City of Solana Beach is built‐out and 
well connected, additional housing does pose a significant impact 
 

 Stormwater Management 
Solana Beach  is  located within the Carlsbad and San Dieguito River Watershed Management Areas (WMAs). Major 
surface water bodies in the Carlsbad WMA that receive urban runoff discharges from areas within the City include the 
San Elijo Lagoon and the Pacific Ocean. Major surface water bodies in the San Dieguito WMA that receive urban runoff 
discharges from areas within the City are the San Dieguito River/Estuary and the Pacific Ocean. The City of Solana 
Beach  Public Works  Department  has  and  is  responsible  for maintaining  the  storm  drain  infrastructure  through 
comprehensive programmatic efforts.   
 
As mandated by the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit Order No. R9‐2013‐0001 (NPDES Permit) 
issued by the Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB), the City is required to prevent and eliminate non‐storm 
water discharges into the City's storm drain system.  Non‐compliance with the NPDES Permit can result in heavy fines 
to the City, up to $10,000 per day per violation.  In order to stay in compliance, the City has a comprehensive program 
to reduce the amount of pollutants that are allowed to enter the storm drain system.  This is important because storm 
drains are NOT connected to wastewater treatment facilities, so the water that enters them flows directly to creeks, 
lagoons, and oceans untreated. The City of Solana Beach prohibits all non‐storm water discharges unless a discharge 
is authorized by a separate NPDES permit. Typical non‐storm water discharges include, but are not limited to: 

 Oil from vehicles 
 Excess pesticides and fertilizer from 

landscaping 
 Bacteria from pet waste 

 Sediment from construction and landscaping 
projects 

 Soap from car washing 
 Litter 
 Lawn and garden debris 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐32 

 Improperly disposed home improvement 
debris 

 Irrigation runoff 
 Water from residential and commercial 

street, sidewalk, and parking lot washing  

 Air conditioning condensation 
 Chlorinated swimming pool discharges 
 Sanitary sewer and septic system overflows 

 
Jurisdictional Runoff Management Program 

The  City  has  a  Jurisdictional  Runoff  Management  Program  (JRMP)  that  governs  the  activities  and  programs 
implemented  to comply with  the NPDES Permit.   The purpose of  the City’s  JRMP  is  to  implement strategies  that 
effectively prohibit non‐storm water discharges to the MS4 and reduce the discharge of pollutants in storm water to 
the maximum extent practicable (MEP). Improving the quality of the discharge from the MS4 should have beneficial 
effects on the local receiving water bodies. 
 
While  the  primary  responsibility  of managing  the  JRMP  lies  with  the  Department  of  Public Works,  other  City 
departments participate  in  the  implementation of  the program. Each Department and associated Division has an 
established role  in  implementing the components of the JRMP. The JRMP  is broken up  into the following sections, 
each with  their own set of guidelines and  requirements  that City  staff must adhere  to and  implement  to stay  in 
compliance with the NPDES Permit: 

 Development Planning 
 Construction 
 Municipal 
 Industrial and Commercial 
 Residential 

 Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination 
 Education 
 Public Participation 
 Fiscal Analysis 
 Effectiveness Assessment 

 
The City also has responsibilities above and beyond the requirements of the JURMP.  The NPDES Permit requires the 
City to participate with neighboring jurisdictions and the entire region to develop and implement Watershed programs 
and a Regional Program.   The City  is  in  two  separate watersheds,  the Carlsbad Watershed and  the San Dieguito 
Watershed, which each have pollution prevention programs called Watershed Urban Runoff Management Programs 
(WURMPs).  City staff must develop and implement programs with staff from neighboring jurisdictions and the region 
to address water pollution on a much larger scale. 
 

 Fire and Emergency Services 
Management of the fire department is handled through a Management Services Agreement with the City of Encinitas. 
Through this agreement the department is staffed with a Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, 4 Battalion Chiefs, Fire Marshal, 
6 Fire Captains, 6 Fire Engineers, 4 Firefighter/Paramedics, 2 Probationary Firefighters, a Management Analyst, and a 
Fire Prevention Specialist.  In addition, the fire station  is home to 6 Paramedics operating an ambulance owned by 
American Medical Response. 
 
Responsibilities 

Duties include supervising fire suppression operations and emergency medical services; emergency management; fire 
prevention activities; purchasing of materials, supplies, and fire equipment; management of service contracts; and 
administrative functions. In addition to Del Mar and Encinitas, the Solana Beach Fire Department has automatic aid 
agreements with  the City of San Diego and  the Rancho Santa Fe Fire District. The Solana Beach Fire Department 
provides mutual aid  to  the Northern San Diego  Zone,  San Diego County and as needed  throughout  the State of 
California 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐33 

 
Emergency Response 

Emergency  response  is  handled  according  to  the  nature  of  the  emergency with  a  combination  of  vehicles  and 
equipment housed at the Solana Beach station and from surrounding agencies through mutual aid and automatic aid 
agreements. For example, a call  for a structure  fire would bring an engine, truck and paramedic unit  from Solana 
Beach as well as engines from Rancho Santa Fe, Del Mar, Encinitas and San Diego. An increase to a second or third 
alarm would bring vehicles from as far as Carlsbad, Oceanside, Vista, San Marcos and Escondido. 
 
The City of Solana Beach contracts with Trauma Intervention Programs of San Diego County, Inc. (TIP), a non‐profit 
organization of specially trained citizen volunteers, to provide immediate emotional and practical support to victims 
and their families in the first few hours following a tragedy. 
 
It  is not anticipated that any new fire or emergency facilities would be required as a result of development on the 
housing sites.  Therefore, this does not place a constraint on development. 
 

 Police Services 
The City of Solana Beach is contracted for law enforcement services from the San Diego County Sheriff’s Department. 
Through contract with the Sheriff’s Department, the City of Solana Beach receives routine patrol of streets by patrol 
and traffic deputies, crime prevention services, and a wide array of other law enforcement services. The North Coastal 
Station  serves nearly 60  square miles which  includes  the  cities of  Solana Beach, Encinitas and Del Mar, and  the 
unincorporated communities of Rancho Santa Fe, Del Dios, Camp Pendleton and San Onofre.  
 
Patrol Division 

Patrol deputies respond to crimes or emergencies in progress and calls for service. They conduct routine patrols with 
their primary focus on the protection and preservation of life. They conduct preliminary investigations and apprehend 
law violators. 
 
Traffic Division 

Traffic deputies focus on vehicle code enforcement, traffic collision investigations and traffic control. The California 
Highway Patrol is the agency responsible for traffic enforcement in the unincorporated areas throughout the state of 
California. 
 
It is not anticipated that any new police facilities would be required as a result of development on the housing sites.  
Therefore, this does not place a constraint on development. 
 

D. Environmental Constraints 
 

 Geologic and Seismic Hazards 
Southern California is considered as one of the most seismically active regions in the United States because the faulting 
is dominated by the compression regime associated with the “big bend” of the San Andreas Fault Zone. The San Diego 
region is transected by several sub‐parallel, pervasive fault zones, as well as smaller faults. Historically, earthquakes 
less than magnitude 4 have been common to the San Diego region. 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐34 

Solana Beach is located on the western edge of the Peninsular Range geologic province. The Peninsular Range province 
is a physiographic feature which includes the Laguna Mountains, the Agua Tibia Mountains, the Santa Rosa Mountains, 
the San Jacinto Mountains, and the Santa Ana Mountains. The formation of this province’s mountain ranges and other 
features is due to the relative movement of the Pacific and North American continental plates along the San Andreas 
fault system. The province is located immediately west of the San Andreas fault and is affected by a number of other 
faults. 
 
Therefore, Solana Beach, like much of southern California, is located in a region of high seismic activity. An offshore 
extension of the Rose Canyon fault lies approximately two miles to the west of Solana Beach and is considered to be 
potentially  active.  Events  are much  less  likely  to  occur  on  potentially  active  faults  as  compared  to  active  faults. 
However, given the close proximity of the Rose Canyon fault to Solana Beach, a strong earthquake on this fault could 
produce severe ground shaking in the city. In addition, recent offshore seismic activity has demonstrated that small 
magnitude earthquakes (less than 4.5 magnitude) can be generated on offshore faults,  located approximately five 
miles offshore, and known as the South Coast Offshore Zone of Deformation. Below  is an analysis of geologist and 
seismic constraints to development in Solana Beach per the City’s Safety Element and Climate Action  Plan. 
 
Geologic and Seismic Constraints to Development 

The suitability of land for development is influenced strongly by the presence of certain geologic and seismic hazards. 
These hazards range from the direct and  indirect effects associated with earthquakes to problems associated with 
slope stability and soil conditions that are not conducive to development.  
 
Seismic Shaking 

The energy released by movement along a fault travels through the earth’s crust as shock waves which cause the 
ground motion associated with earthquakes. The severity of ground motion at any given location is related to the total 
amount of energy released, the distance from the earthquake’s origin, and the character of surface and subsurface 
geologic conditions.  
 
Virtually all of Solana Beach consists of well‐consolidated geologic materials rather than poorly consolidated soils such 
as alluvial deposits. Nevertheless, it should be noted that ground shaking in hillside areas could induce the slumping 
of geologic structures or  landslides  in areas of slope  instability. According  to  the California Division of Mines and 
Geology, Solana Beach  is within an area where the  intensity of maximum expectable earthquakes would  likely be 
moderate. 
 
Liquefication 

Liquefaction is the substantial loss of strength of poorly consolidated and saturated soils due to the effects of seismic 
shaking. The passage of seismic waves  through such soils can cause soil particles  to be suspended  temporarily  in 
water, creating conditions very similar to quicksand. The resultant loss of strength can cause significant damage to 
structures as they settle, tilt, or collapse. 
 
The potential for liquefaction in a given area is dependent upon soil characteristics, groundwater conditions, and the 
intensity of seismic shaking.  In the Solana Beach area, the potential for  liquefaction  is greatest  in the area  located 
generally between Stevens Avenue and Valley Avenue, and in the area north of Via de la Valle between Del Mar Downs 
and Stevens Avenue. These are the only areas  in the city which are underlain by poorly consolidated alluvium and 
slope wash which could liquefy during an earthquake depending upon groundwater conditions. 
 
Seiches 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐35 

Seiches are the oscillation of water in bodies of water sometimes caused by earthquakes. A common example is the 
“sloshing” of water in a swimming pool during an earthquake. Seiches are potentially hazardous when the wave action 
created in lakes or bays is strong enough to threaten human beings and structures nearby the body of water. The only 
area near Solana Beach where this is a potential concern is San Elijo Lagoon. However, this is a very minor concern 
since urban development in the city is not in close enough proximity to the lagoon to be exposed to seiches. 
 
Landslides 

Landslides are the downslope movement of geologic materials. Typically, such movement occurs as block glide or as 
a slump. In addition to landslides, other slope stability problems found in hillside areas must be considered in planning 
future land uses. These problems include soil creep, earthflows, and mudflows.  

 Soil creep is the slow downslope movement of individual soil particles at varying rates. 
 Earthflows involve the downslope movement of soils that have been saturated and form a viscous flow of 

material.  
 Mudflows involve the rapid downslope flow of mud and debris. 

In Solana Beach, the principal area of concern regarding slope stability is along the city’s coastal bluffs. 
 
Bluff/Slope Stability 

Slope stability is a significant concern along Solana Beach’s entire coastal bluff area. The steep bluffs have experienced 
losses resulting from the combined effect of natural and man‐made activities. Urban development on the blufftops 
has placed increased loads upon the geologic structure of the area. All coastal blufftop areas are of concern to the 
city. 
 
The City has recognized the challenges that come with managing the actively eroding shoreline. Multiple factors, such 
as wave action, winter storms, sea‐level rise, and the lack of sand replenishment contribute to an unstable geologic 
environment. Seacliff erosion poses a threat to the public recreational use of the beach and to the homes located at 
the top of the bluffs. Shoreline protective devices along the coast include seawalls, revetments, shotcrete walls/cave 
infills, notch and dripline infills, and mid‐ and upper‐bluff retention systems 
 
Although future development constructed under the Housing Element may involve the construction of new residential 
structures  in a seismically active area, the potential hazards would be  less than significant because of the existing 
regulatory framework related to seismic safety.  Additionally, development standards, updated building codes, and 
design  requirements are  in place  in Solana Beach  to mitigate potential hazards  from natural disasters as well as 
developments. 
 

 Flooding 
Flooding problems in Solana Beach have historically involved coastal flooding and San Dieguito River flooding in the 
area of Stevens Avenue and Valley Avenue.   With  respect  to  coastal  flooding,  the occurrence of  storm events  in 
combination with high astronomical tides and strong winds can cause a significant wave runup and allow storm waves 
to attack higher than normal elevations along the coastline. When this occurs, shoreline erosion and coastal flooding 
frequently result in damage to inadequately protected structures and facilities located along low‐lying portions of the 
shoreline.  
 
Floodplains are relatively flat land areas subject to periodic inundation by nearby drainage courses. These areas have 
historically attracted human settlement by virtue of their flat terrain, proximity to water, and soil characteristics that 
are often very fertile. Flooding represents a hazard only after human settlement on the floodplain exposes people and 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐36 

property to risks associated with the inevitable flood flows. Flood hazard areas in the Solana Beach area have been 
mapped through the National Flood Insurance Program administered by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). According to the City’s Climate action 
Plan, a total of 9,300 people are vulnerable to a 100‐year flood along the San Diego coast.  
 
The relationship between land use and flood hazards has two key aspects. First, the potential for flooding is a major 
constraint to land development in that the hazards posed by flooding severely restrict the types of land uses within 
the floodplain. Second, urban land use development could result in adverse effects on downstream areas by increasing 
the  potential  for  flooding.  Urban  development  can  result  in  adverse  effects  upon  downstream  areas  involving 
increased  flooding  and/or  erosion  and  sedimentation  problems.  Through  the  development  of  buildings,  roads, 
sidewalks, and accompanying infrastructure, the amount of impermeable surfaces increases reducing the amount of 
land area capable of absorbing precipitation. Consequently, stormwater runoff conveyed to the San Dieguito River 
and the San Elijo Lagoon will increase in both volume of flow and flow velocity. While the effect of individual projects 
themselves may  be  relatively minor,  the  cumulative  effect  of  increased  impermeable  surfaces  and  storm  drain 
construction  throughout upstream portions of Solana Beach  could  result  in greater  frequency and magnitude of 
flooding in downstream areas. However, given the extent of existing urbanization in Solana Beach, additional effects 
upon downstream areas are expected to be very minor. 
 
However,  the City  recognizes  the  potential  hazards which  accompany  flooding  and  has  developed  the  following 
measures to prepare: 

 As data and coastal science progress, conduct sea‐level rise studies in addition to the study prepared as a 
part of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Solano Beach & City of Encinitas Coastal Storm Damage 
Reduction Project to better understand the risks and cost/benefits of development within flooding hazard 
zones and potential long‐term mitigation recommendations; 

 Protect existing, and construct new buffers to protect the coastline from flooding; 
 Implement and expand upon the short‐ and  long‐term sediment management programs  identified  in the 

Solano Beach & City of Encinitas Coastal Storm Damage Reduction Project to preserve shorelines through 
beach replenishment and nourishment to address impacts of sea‐level rise on shorelines; 

 Incorporate sea‐level rise effects into capital improvement plans; 
 Install “green  infrastructure,” using vegetation and soils to restore natural processes required to manage 

stormwater, around buildings and other parcel areas; 
 Expand upon living shoreline‐related projects similar to the Southern California Reef Technology Project to 

create shoreline habitat, enhance recreation, and improve sand retention; and 
 Encourage the use of native landscaping with deep roots that can provide a sponge‐effect by absorbing urban 

runoff. 
 Join with other coastal cities in the region to share information and collaborate on adaptation measures. 

 
Using the measures listed above, in addition to the requirements and standards outlined in the Floodplain Overlay 
Zone,  it can be deduced  that  the  impacts of potential  flooding  in Solana Beach will not pose a  serious  threat or 
constraint to the development and maintenance of safe and affordable housing within the City. 

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐37 

E. Housing Resources 
 

 Residential Sites Inventory 
Appendix B of the Housing Element includes the required site analysis tables and site information for the vacant and 
non‐vacant  properties  to  meet  the  City’s  RHNA  need  through  the  2021‐2029  planning  period.  The  following 
discussions summarize the City’s site inventory and discuss the City’s past experience in redeveloping non‐vacant sites 
and sites within non‐residential zones.  
 

 Above Moderate and Moderate Income Sites  
For the 2021‐2029 planning period, the City’s RHNA allocation  is 160 for moderate  income site and 240 for above 
moderate income sites.  The City anticipates growth to meet the moderate and above moderate income need to come 
in existing residentially and commercially zoned areas (that presently permit residential development as a primary 
use) through the development of new units and through the development of accessory dwelling units (ADUs) and 
junior accessory dwelling units (JADUs).   
 
78 moderate income and above moderate income units can be accommodated on residentially zoned sites.  The City 
has also identified commercially zoned sites within the City that permit residential as a primary use with the capacity 
to accommodate 190 above moderate income units.  The City contains the required descriptive information for these 
sites within Appendix B.   
 
An additional 149 units can be accommodated through the development of ADUs/JADUs throughout the community.  
This  is  based  on  the methodology  described within  this  section  and  incorporates  guidance  from HCD’s Housing 
Element Site Inventory Guidebook.   
 
ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S EXISTING CAPACITY AND ZONING 

The Housing Element must demonstrate the City’s ability to accommodate the RHNA either through production or 
the availability of properly zoned land that can accommodate additional growth.  The City of Solana Beach is able to 
accommodate all of its moderate and above moderate income RHNA need through available land with existing zoning 
classifications that permit residential as a primary use, as well as through the anticipated development of accessory 
dwelling units.  Appendix B in this document contains a list and description of the sites designated to meet the City’s 
moderate and above‐moderate need.  Table 3‐10 below summarizes the capacity of the sites by zoning classification 
which can accommodate 44 moderate income and 210 above moderate income dwelling units.  In conjunction with 
ADU development, these amounts exceed the City’s 2021‐2029 RHNA allocation as shown in Table 3‐12.  
 

Table 3‐10: Residential Capacity for Moderate and Above Moderate Income Sites 

 
Max Density 
(DU/AC) 

Realistic Density 
(Used for 

Potential Yield 
Calculations) 

Number of 
Parcels  Acreage  Potential Units 

Above Moderate Income Sites 

LRc  3  3  15  15.01  26 

LRd  3  3  2  1.48  2 

LMRc  4  4  4  2.87  4 

LMRd  4  4  2  1.38  2 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐38 

Subtotal      23  20.74  34 

Moderate Income Sites 

MRd  7  5  7  3.86  13 

MHRd  12  8  15  5.84  31 

Subtotal      22  9.70  44 

Total      45  30.44  78 

 
 

REASONABLE CAPACITY ASSUMPTIONS  

This  section  describes  the methodology  developed  to  determine  the  site  capacity  for  the moderate  and  above 
moderate‐income  sites.    Reasonable  capacity  for  sites  identified  to meet  the  City’s  above moderate  need was 
calculated based on a number of factors, including site size, existing zoning requirements, and the maximum density 
achievable for projects within the LRc, LRd, LMRc, and LMRd zones.  Reasonable capacity for sites identified to meet 
the City’s moderate need was calculated based on the same methodology described above, however the methodology 
assumed development of sites at the minimum density achievable for projects within the MRd and MHRd zones.   
 
Potential constraints, to the extent they are known, such as environmentally sensitive areas and steep slopes were 
considered and deductions made where those  factors decreased the net buildable area of a parcel.   Additionally, 
existing units non‐vacant parcels were analyzed to determine the number of existing units currently on the parcel.  
Replacement of existing units was included as a factor to prevent no net loss of existing housing stock.   
 

 Sites Suitable for Lower Income Housing 
The City of Del Mar has a RHNA need of 316 very‐low income units and 159 low‐income units.  The City has 
identified residentially and commercially zoned parcels that can accommodate 529 dwelling units.  The City also 
anticipates the development of 43 affordable ADUs based on the methodology described in this section.  This is in 
excess of the City’s 475 low and very‐low RHNA need by 97 units, or an additional 20%.   
 
The very‐low and low‐income sites inventory within Appendix B describes each of these sites, with information 
provided per the HCD required data tables.  Dwelling unit yield for each of the parcels within this inventory were 
analyzed to determine a net parcel size based on the City’s established definition of net acreage and known physical 
and environmental constraints.  Due to the nature of infill development opportunities, parcels with non‐residentially 
zoned areas were analyzed differently as described in the following section.  
 
As identified in Appendix B, the City is able to accommodate their lower income RHNA need, including a buffer, on 
sites currently zoned to permit residential as a primary use.  Non‐vacant sites designated to meet the very‐low and 
low‐income RHNA need that have been identified in a previous housing and vacant sites designated to meet the 
very‐low and low‐income RHNA need that have been identified in two previous housing elements will also allow ‘by‐
right’ approval for any project with 20 percent low income housing that does not involve a subdivision per State law.  
This is describe in Program 1F within the Housing Plan.   
 
DEVELOPMENT OF NON‐RESIDENTIALLY ZONED SITES FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

In order to meet the City’s very‐low and low‐income RHNA need of 475 dwelling units, the City has identified parcels 
currently located on non‐residentially zoned parcels that permit residential uses as a primary use.  The City’s existing 
zoning allows for the development of housing  in a mixed‐use setting at 20 dwelling units per acre  in the following 
zones: 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐39 

 General Commercial (C) 
 Special Commercial (SC) 

 
Per  the City of Solana Beach Municipal Code, “Residential dwellings  shall be permitted only on  the upper  floors, 
basement, and  rear 50 percent of  the ground  floor. Alternatively,  residential dwellings may be permitted on any 
portion  of  the  building  (or  buildings)  pursuant  to  a  development  review  permit;  provided,  that  total  residential 
development does not exceed 50 percent of gross allowable floor area.“  Residential units must be a minimum of 650 
square feet in size, however “efficiency units” are permitted in these zones pursuant to a development review permit.  
These units may range in size between 220 and 650 square feet.  The reduced unit size may result in the development 
of more affordable units.   
 
It is anticipated that while all sites identified with the City’s sites analysis have the potential to develop at 20 dwelling 
units per acre at  the  full net acreage,  some  sites  located within non‐residentially  zoned areas may develop with 
commercial uses.   To account  for this, the City has reviewed past residential development within these areas and 
determined  that an 80%  factor  is appropriate  to  realistically gauge  the  residential development potential on  the 
identified sites.  As shown by the examples below, the City has a past history of developing residential uses within the 
general commercial and special commercial zones at approximately 80% of the maximum capacity.   
 
The following residential development projects have been constructed within the City’s general and special 
commercial zones:   

 636 Valley Avenue – 3 dwelling units 
 625 Valley Avenue – 2 dwelling units 
 330 S. Cedros Avenue– 8 dwelling units 
 343 S. Highway 101 – 25 dwelling units (project currently under construction 

Pursuant  to HCD’s Building Blocks,  there are a number of additional methods available  to  the City  to analyze  the 
likelihood of future development within these areas.  These methods include: 

 Discussion of residential development trends (regionally or locally) in nonresidential zones. 
 Description of any existing or planned policies, programs, or local guidance or efforts promoting residential 

development in nonresidential zones. 
 Description of any existing, or planned, mixed‐use or overlay zoning, performance standards, or incentives 

for promoting residential development in nonresidential zones. 
 Demonstrate a surplus of non‐residentially zoned sites relative to the regional housing need.   

 
The  following sections describe  local and  regional development  trends promoting mixed‐use development within 
established  commercial  corridors  as  well  as  Solana  Beach’s  existing  or  planned  policies,  programs,  zoning 
amendments, and incentives for promoting residential development in nonresidential zones.   
 
EXISTING OR PLANNED POLICIES AND PROGRAMS 

The City of Solana Beach currently allows residential development within three of its commercial zones.  Two of these 
zones, General Commercial (C) and Special Commercial (SC) allow for development at 20 dwelling units per acre, a 
density which HCD deems appropriate  for the development of  low  income housing within a  jurisdiction of Solana 
Beach’s size.   
 
In addition to existing zoning, the Highway 101 Corridor Specific Plan (amended July 2006) promotes the development 
of mixed‐use residential and commercial uses along Highway 101 at a range of densities.  The Specific Plan states that 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐40 

mixed‐use development provides the opportunity to work toward the attainment of Housing Element objectives as 
well as provide an opportunity to enhance the pedestrian character of the Plaza and Transit Districts by introducing a 
residential component into the core of the Specific Plan area.   
 
REGIONAL HOUSING NEEDS ALLOCATION 

Future Housing Needs 
Future housing need refers to the share of the regional housing need that has been allocated to the City. The State 
Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) supplies a regional housing goal number to the San Diego 
Association of Governments (SANDAG). SANDAG  is then mandated to allocate the housing goal to city and county 
jurisdictions  in  the  region  through  a RHNA  Plan.  In  allocating  the  region’s  future  housing  needs  to  jurisdictions, 
SANDAG  is  required  to  take  the  following  factors  into  consideration  pursuant  to  Section  65584  of  the  State 
Government Code: 

 Market demand for housing;  
 Employment opportunities; 
 Availability of suitable sites and public facilities;  
 Commuting patterns;  
 Type and tenure of housing;  
 Loss of units in assisted housing developments;  
 Over‐concentration of lower income households; and • Geological and topographical constraints. 

 
HCD, through a determination process, allocates units to each region across California.  It is then up to each region to 
determine a methodology and process for allocating units to each jurisdiction within that region.  SANDAG adopted 
its Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA Plan) in July 2018. This RHNA covers an 8‐year planning period (starting 
in 2021) and addresses housing issues that are related to future growth in the region. The RHNA allocates to each city 
and county a “fair share” of the region’s projected housing needs by household income group. The major goal of the 
RHNA is to assure a fair distribution of housing among cities and counties within the San Diego region, so that every 
community provides an opportunity for a mix of housing for all economic segments. 
 
Solana Beach’s share of the SANDAG regional growth allocation is 875 new units for the current planning period (2021‐
2029).  Table 3‐11, Housing Needs for 2021‐2029, indicates the City’s RHNA need for the stated planning period.  
 

Table 3‐11: Housing Needs for 2021‐2029 

Income Category (% of County AMI)  Number of Units  Percent 

Extremely Low (30% or less) 1  158   

Very Low (31 to 50%)  316  36.1% 

Low (51 to 80%)  159  18.2% 

Moderate (81% to 120%)  160  18.3% 

Above Moderate (Over 120%)  240  27.4% 

Total  875  100.0% 
Note 1: Pursuant to AB 2634, local jurisdictions are also required to project the housing needs of extremely 
low income households (0‐30% AMI).  In estimating the number of extremely low income households, a 
jurisdiction can use 50% of the very low income allocation or apportion the very low income figure based 
on Census data.  This number is not additive to the total allocation. 
Source: Final Regional Housing Needs Allocation, SANDAG, 2019. 

 
CREDITS TOWARD THE 2021‐2029 RHNA 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐41 

The current 5th Housing Element cycle covers the reporting period from January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2020.  The 
projection period for 6th cycle Housing Elements, which is the period  in which cities within the SANDAG region are 
permitted to begin attributing development of housing units towards meeting their RHNA need, begins on June 30, 
2020.  The City is permitted by State law to count any units developed within the projection period prior to adoption 
of the 2021‐2029 housing element towards meeting their RHNA need for the 6th Cycle.  
 
Table 3‐12 shows a summary of  the City’s Appendix B analysis of candidate sites,  including  the City’s progress  in 
developing housing units that count as credit towards the 2021‐2029 RHNA.   
 

ADEQUACY OF SITES FOR RHNA 

Solana Beach has designated housing sites with a capacity to accommodate 546 dwelling units, which is in excess of 
its 475‐unit  lower  income housing need.   Sites designated are on parcels that permit residential development as a 
primary use up to 20 dwelling units per acre.  Due to the nature of parcels within the general commercial and special 
commercial zones, some sites may be smaller in nature.  As previously described, the City has a history of developing 
residential uses within these areas, as demonstrated within this section.  
 
The Housing Element update lists sites that can accommodate approximately 949 additional units,  in excess of the 
required 875 units.  As described in this section, the City believes that due recent State legislation and local efforts to 
promote accessory dwelling unit production, the City can realistically anticipate the development of 192 ADUs within 
the 8‐year planning period.  Overall, the City has adequate capacity to accommodate its 2021‐2029 RHNA.   
  

Table 3‐12: Summary of RHNA Status and Sites Inventory 

 
Extremely Low/  

Very Low 
Income 

Low Income 
Moderate 
Income 

Above 
Moderate 
Income 

Total 

2021‐2029 RHNA  316  159  160  240  875 

     RHNA Credit (Units Built)        2  2 

Total RHNA Obligations  316  159  160  238  873 

Sites Available 
Existing Residentially Zoned 
Properties 

23  44  40  107 

Existing Commercially Zoned 
Properties  480  ‐‐  170  650 

Total Potential Capacity Based on Existing 
GP and Zoning  503  44  210  757 

Accessory Dwelling Unit Production  43  120  29  192 

Total Sites Available  546  164  239  949 

Sites Surplus  71  4  1  76 

 

 Development of Non‐Vacant Sites and Converting to Residential Uses 
The City has designated non‐vacant sites, both residentially and non‐residentially zoned, to meet the their 6th Cycle 
RHNA need.  The Housing Element considers only parcels that are residentially zoned currently to meet their moderate 
and  above moderate RHNA need.   Parcels designated  to meet  the  two  remaining  categories  (very‐low and  low‐
income) are on both residentially and non‐residentially zoned parcels.   The majority of these parcels have existing 
single‐family residential uses on the parcel but have lot sizes and development standards that provide the opportunity 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐42 

for these parcels to subdivide and accommodate additional units while still meeting all of the applicable development 
standards for that zone.   
 
State law requires that the City analyze: 

 the extent to which existing uses may constitute an impediment to the future residential development within 
the planning period, 

 the City’s past experience with converting existing uses to higher density residential uses,  
 current market demand for the existing use,  
 analysis of leases that would prevent redevelopment of the site,  
 development trends,  
 market conditions, and  
 regulatory or incentives to encourage redevelopment.  

 
The following approved projects illustrate the viability of developing non‐vacant residentially zoned sites within Solana 
Beach: 

 636 Valley Avenue – 3 dwelling units 
 625 Valley Avenue – 2 dwelling units 
 330 S. Cedros Avenue– 8 dwelling units 
 343 S. Highway 101 – 25 dwelling units (project currently under construction 

Lease Analysis  

Existing  lease  agreements  on  infill  and  non‐vacant  properties  present  a  potential  impediment  that may prevent 
residential development within the planning period.  State law requires the City to consider lease terms in evaluating 
the use of non‐vacant  sites, however  the City does not have  access  to private party  lease  agreements or other 
contractual agreements amongst private parties.  As part of the sites analysis for very‐low and low‐income sites, the 
City conducted discussions with those property owners who came forward as interested in developing their properties 
for affordable housing through the planning period.   
 

Regulatory Incentives 

Many development projects in infill areas like the Solana Beach  commercial corridor utilize density bonus provisions 
to construct affordable units.  The City understands that existing land use policy may not necessarily contribute to the 
development of housing.  Therefore, regulatory incentives can be helpful in bringing housing units to the market.   
 
The Housing Element looks at the ability to sub‐divide existing residential parcels into multiple lots as one method to 
meet  the  RHNA  need.  Creating  lots  by  subdividing  one  lot  from  another  creates  the  regulatory  structure  land 
resources for additional housing development activity.   
 
The  City  has  created  programs  expressly written  to  address  the  potential  development  of  additional  regulatory 
incentives to incentivize the creation of affordable housing.   
 
Current Market Demand for Existing Uses 

Social and demographic trends within Solana Beach and the San Diego region as a whole have changed since the 
adoption of the 5th cycle Housing Element.  With those changes come changes in the types of housing needed to serve 
the existing and future populations.  According to draft population forecasts developed by SANDAG (Series 13), the 
region’s population will rise to 4,068,759 million  in 2050, from 3,095,313 million  in 2010  (31%  increase).   Current 
SANDAG  modeling  anticipates  that  Senior  Citizens  (ages  65+)  will  drastically  outpace  other  age  demographic 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐43 

categories.   An  increasing elderly population presents cities within the San Diego region with a range of potential 
scenarios  in  regards  to  how  to  adequately  house  and  accommodate  for  a  large  portion  of  the  population with 
potentially  limited mobility  increased community care needs.   These age demographics also typically have fixed or 
decreasing incomes and may look for senior care facilities or easily walkable communities that decrease dependence 
on automobiles.  During outreach workshops across the region, many senior citizens express the desire to age In place 
and stay within  the communities  they have  invested  in and are comfortable with.   This often requires moving  to 
smaller units or other types of senior communities where services and help are readily available.   
 
Another subsect of the population to consider is Generation Y, often referred to as millennials.  As millennials enter 
into their late 20s to mid‐30s, many show the desire to purchase housing in some form.  A 2014 ULI study stated that 
“fully 70% of Gen Yers expect to be homeowners by 2020, despite the fact that only 26 own today (2014)”. (ULI, Gen 
Y  and  Housing,  2014)    The  study  goes  on  to  show  that  35%  of  respondents  lived  in  other  city  neighborhoods 
(neighborhoods outside of main downtown areas) and 28%  lived  in suburbs, while only 13%  lived within or near 
downtown areas.  This indicates an increasing desire for millennials to live in outlying city neighborhoods or suburbs 
where housing  is still relatively cheaper and there  is more opportunity to have  larger  lots and more space.  Solana 
Beach is largely classified as a suburban community situated between the major downtown areas of San Diego and 
Los Angeles.  If trends continue, millennials will continue to seek out opportunities to live in communities like Solana 
Beach, though the current high cost of housing and land values may deter some to less expensive areas.   
 
Development Trends 

As a coastal community with high land values and limited land resources, Solana Beach has developed into a mostly 
built‐out community with little available developable land.  This trend is seen in many of the neighboring North San 
Diego County cities  like Encinitas and Del Mar.   Solana Beach’s comparatively small size  in  terms of physical  land 
further constrains the ability to rely on undeveloped or underutilized parcels to meet their RHNA need.   
 
State, regional, and local policy direction promoting the development of housing at all levels to meet existing housing 
shortages, especially for low‐income families, has further driven up the demand for housing.  The redevelopment of 
existing non‐vacant  land, both  in residential and non‐residential zones, for multi‐family rental and for sale housing 
provides a realistic opportunity to create affordable housing using the resources available within communities such 
as Solana Beach.   
 
Many of the proposed sites within the housing element sites inventory involve the redevelopment and revitalization 
of non‐vacant parcels.  This development is anticipated to occur in existing commercial corridors where commercial 
uses may be both supplemented or replaced by needed housing units as traditional retail uses shift to  focuses of 
smaller physical footprints and a larger online presence.  This follows a statewide shift in development trends towards 
infill properties and creating walkable hubs that rely on alternative methods of transportation such as walking, biking, 
and mass transit.   
 
Development on non‐vacant parcels was analyzed to determine a reasonable development capacity based on known 
constraints and historic development patterns within each of the different zones.   The majority of this development 
is anticipated to occur  in the General Commercial (C) and Special Commercial (SC) zones.   Detailed analysis of the 
methodology and yield for each site in these zones is described in Appendix X.  
 
ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT PRODUCTION 

One of the proposed methods for meeting the City’s RHNA at all income levels is through the production of accessory 
dwelling units (ADUs).   A number of State Assembly and Senate Bills were passed  in 2018 and 2019 that promote 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐44 

development of ADUs and remove barriers that may inhibit their   development  within  communities.    The 
following is a summary of those bills: 

 AB 68 and 881 
o Prohibit minimum lot size requirements 
o Cap setback requirements at 4’, increasing the size and location opportunities for ADUs 
o Prohibit the application of  lot coverage, FAR, or open space requirements that would prevent an 

800 square foot ADU from being developed on a lot 
o Remove the need for replacement parking when converting an existing garage to an ADU 
o Limit local discretion in establishing min and max unit size requirements 
o Mandate a 60 day review period for ADU applications through a non‐discretionary process 

 SB 13 
o Prohibit owner‐occupancy requirements for 5 years 
o Reduce impact fees applicable to ADUs 
o Provide a program for homeowners to delay compliance with certain building code requirements 

that do not relate to health and safety 
 AB 670 

o Prohibits Homeowner’s Associations (HOAs) from barring ADUs 
 
These bills, as well as other significant legislation relating to ADUs creates a development environment that is likely 
to increase the number of ADUs developed within Solana Beach over the 2021‐2029 planning period.  Solana Beach, 
with  a  large  proportion  of  single‐family  residential  properties  (many  on  larger  lots),  is  well‐oriented  for  the 
development of ADUs.   
 
As a result of this legislation and an increased effort by the City to promote ADUs, the City has seen an increase in 
applications so far in 2020.  The City currently has 9 ADUs that have been approved for development between January 
1, 2020 and April 2020, 2 of which are affordable.  HCD guidance states that ADUs may be calculated based on the 
City’s production since January 1, 2018, however Solana Beach believes that due to more recent efforts at the local 
level and further emphasis placed on ADUs through identification of Programs 1B and 1C, the City’s 2020 performance 
from January to April 2020 is a more accurate depiction of the City’s future ADU performance.  In accordance with 
State law, ADUs are allowed in all zones that allow single dwelling unit or multiple dwelling unit development.  Junior 
Accessory Dwelling Units (JrADUs) are permitted only in single dwelling unit zones.   
 
Through the Housing Element, Solana Beach commits to creating an ADU tracking program and performing a mid‐
cycle  assessment  of  their  ADU  development  performance.    As  stated  in HCD  guidance,  the  City may  use  other 
justifiable analysis to calculate anticipated ADU performance.  
 
As part of the sites analysis found within Appendix B, the City has accounted for future ADU and JADU production 
using the City’s 2020 performance to date.  This equates to an anticipated ADU development of 192 ADUs over the 
next 8 years, 43 of which are anticipated to be affordable.  The ADUs not designated to meet the City’s lower income 
RHNA need are anticipated to be affordable at the moderate and above‐moderate income levels.   
 

F. Financial Resources 
Providing an adequate supply of decent and affordable housing requires funding from various sources, the City may 
have access to the following finding sources. 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐45 

 Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher 
The Section 8 Housing Choice Voucher program is a Federal government program to assist very low‐income families, 
the  elderly,  and  the  disabled  with  rent  subsidy  payments  in  privately  owned  rental  housing  units.    Section  8 
participants are able to choose any housing that meets the requirements of the program and are not limited to units 
located within subsidized housing projects.  They typically pay 30 to 40 percent of their income for rent and utilities.  
The County of San Diego administers Section 8 Housing Choice vouchers within the City of Solana Beach.  The County 
makes the determination for the number of vouchers available within Solana Beach based on available funding from 
year to year.  This is not determined by the City of Solana Beach.  
 

 Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) 
The Community Development Block Grant  (CDBG) program provides annual grants on a  formula basis  to cities  to 
develop  viable  urban  communities  by  providing  a  suitable  living  environments  and  by  expanding  economic 
opportunities, principally for low‐ and moderate‐income persons (up to 80 percent AMI).  
 
CDBG funds can be used for a wide array of activities, including: 

 Housing rehabilitation; 
 Lead‐based paint screening and abatement;  
 Acquisition of buildings and land;  
 Construction or rehabilitation of public facilities and infrastructure, and:  
 Public services for low income households and those with special needs. 

 

 HOME Investment Partnership Program (HOME) 
The HOME program provides federal funds for the development and rehabilitation of affordable rental and ownership 
housing  for households with  incomes not exceeding 80 percent of area median  income. The program gives  local 
governments the flexibility to fund a wide range of affordable housing activities through housing partnerships with 
private industry and non‐profit organizations. HOME funds can be used for activities that promote affordable rental 
housing and homeownership by low income households. 
 

 Infrastructure and Facilities 
As  a highly urbanized  community,  infrastructure  facilities  are  available  to  serve development  throughout  Solana 
Beach.   Access to required  infrastructure was a consideration  in determining the draft candidate sites to meet the 
City’s RHNA need.  
 
Safety Considerations for Development Near Railroad Tracks 

The  City  of  Solana  Beach  follows  the  guidelines  for  train  safety  published  by Operation  Lifesaver.  There  are  no 
considerable constraints to development due to the hazards or safety concern caused by the train in Solana Beach. 
Additional train safety information and guidelines for visitors and residents can be found on the Solana Beach website. 
 

 Energy Conservation 
The primary uses of energy  in urban areas are  for  transportation  lighting, water heating, and  space heating and 
cooling. The high cost of energy demands that efforts be taken to reduce or minimize the overall level of urban energy 
consumption. Energy conservation is important in preserving non‐renewable fuels to ensure that these resources are 
available  for use by  future generations. There are also a number of benefits associated with energy conservation 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐46 

including improved air quality and lower energy costs. The City of Solana Beach has many opportunities to directly 
affect energy use within its jurisdiction.  
 

 Title 24 and Solana Beach Climate Action Plan 
Title  24  of  the  California  Administrative  Code  is  a  set  of  requirements  for    energy  conservation,  green  design, 
construction maintenance, safety, and accessibility. Title 24 was published by the California Building Standards Code 
and applies to all buildings  in California, not  just state‐owned buildings. Title 24 regulations and requirements are 
enforced when  an  applicant pulls  a building permit  for  a proposed project  and have plans  reviewed or building 
inspected.  
 
In 2019,  the City adopted  the Solana Beach Climate Action Plan which  sets  targets  for  reducing greenhouse gas, 
identifies strategies to meet the targets, formulates and implementation plan, and discusses adaptation methods for 
the City. Green House gas emissions reduction targets for the CAP were established consistent with State guidance as 
follows, 15 percent below 2010 levels by 2020 and 50 percent below 2010 levels by 2035. The Program also includes 
strategies to reduce water consumption and waste generation, promote energy efficiency and encourage sustainable 
transportation alternatives.  
 

 Solana Energy Alliance 
2002, Community Choice Aggregation  (CCA)  (AB 117) was  signed  into  law.  This  legislation  removed  a  significant 
organizational hurdle for local governments interested in providing electricity to their communities. Unlike AB 1890, 
which required each customer to specifically choose non‐IOU service (“opt‐in” to the new service), formation of a CCA 
assumes  that all utility  customers within  the CCA’s boundaries will become CCA  customers. However,  customers 
within the CCA's boundaries may choose to continue their utility service, to “opt‐out” of the CCA program. Customers 
will have, at a minimum, four opportunities to opt‐out of the CCA and remain with the CCA at no additional cost during 
the CCA formation process. Customers that remain in the CCA can switch back to SDG&E at any time in the future. 
 
Unlike a municipal utility, such as  the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power or  the Sacramento Municipal 
Utility District, a CCA does not own the transmission and delivery systems (i.e., the poles and wires). Instead, a CCA is 
responsible for providing the energy commodity (i.e., the electrons themselves) to  its constituents—which may or 
may not entail ownership of electric generating resources. The  Investor Owned Utility (IOU), SDG&E, still provides 
transmission and delivery, maintains the infrastructure and provides billing services (the customer will see no changes 
in the billing process) in a CCA. 
 
The Value of Forming a CCA 

Many communities want to  increase the amount of non‐polluting, renewable energy they use, and are  looking at 
Community Choice Aggregation as a mechanism  for doing so. CCAs have shown to be one of the most significant 
mitigation measures necessary for communities to reach greenhouse gas reduction targets established by the State. 
 
Local  control over  retail electric  rates  is another  important motivation  for  initiating CCA.  Investor‐owned utilities 
currently propose service rates for electric generation, transmission and distribution, and the California Public Utilities 
Commission either approves or rejects these proposals. Under CCA, decisions about rates, generating resources and 
public benefit programs will be made locally and be accountable to local customers. 
 
The Benefits of CCA 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐47 

A community will need to present strong incentives for choosing CCA to its potential customers. Many California cities 
and counties have agreed to reduce greenhouse gas emissions or have other, similar environmental goals. CCAs can 
help by increasing local consumption of renewable energy. 
 
Local control of electric rates can also allow a community to attract new businesses and retain existing ones by offering 
targeted incentives to these customers. Other communities may want to develop generation projects that increase 
local  employment.  Some  may  focus  on  creating  income  to  offset  municipal  expenditure.  And  perhaps  most 
importantly, preliminary feasibility studies indicate that CCAs, through the use of local government financing, should 
be able to reduce electric rates compared with IOUs. This reduction is because private financing costs are more than 
twice those of a CCA. Based on a pilot project funded by the California Energy Commission, CCA capital costs were 
about 5.5%, compared to 12.9% for IOUs. 
 
This capital financing advantage  is especially  important for high capital, low‐operating‐cost facilities  like renewable 
energy generation. 
 
The Risks of CCA 

The biggest risk is that CCA rates may be higher than utility rates. Well‐managed power pur‐chasing and development 
should mitigate this risk. A well‐balanced portfolio of resources that includes short and long‐term contracts and CCA 
financed new generation projects should result in competitive rates. 
 
One way to hedge against volatile energy prices is to create a rate stabilization fund, which many municipal utilities 
do. This will allow a CCA  to hold prices steady, even when  fuel prices  rise. And  there  is no  fuel cost  to generate 
electricity from wind and solar sources. 
 
Future regulatory decisions could result in cost increases for CCA programs. Most of the decisions about CCA programs 
have already been made by the CPUC, however. Local governments participated in that process, and their concerns 
were favorably reflected in those decisions. 

 

G. Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) Analysis  
Beginning January 1, 2019, AB 686 established new requirements for all California jurisdictions to ensure that local 
laws, programs, and activities affirmatively further fair housing.  All Housing Elements due on or after January 1, 2021 
must contain an Assessment of Fair Housing (AFH) consistent with the core elements of the analysis required by the 
federal Affirmatively Further Fair Housing Final Rule of July 16, 2015.   
 
Under  State  law,  affirmatively  further  fair  housing means  “taking meaningful  actions,  in  addition  to  combatting 
discrimination, that overcome patterns of segregation and foster inclusive communities free from barriers that restrict 
access to opportunity based on protected characteristics.  These characteristics can include, but are not  limited to 
race, religion, sec, marital status, ancestry, national origin, color, familiar status, or disability.   
 
In May 2015, San Diego County and the San Diego Regional Alliance for Fair Housing completed the Regional Analysis 
of Impediments (AI) to Far Housing Choice for FY 2015‐2020.  The City of Solana Beach is one of thirteen jurisdictional 
members of the San Diego Regional Alliance for Fair Housing (SDRAFFH).  The Regional Alliance for Fair housing is a 
coalition of fair housing organizations, community‐based groups, concerned citizens, representatives of the housing 
industry, and government agencies working toward the goal of affirmatively furthering fair housing. 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐48 

The AI identifies impediments that may prevent equal housing access and develops solutions to mitigate or remove 
such  impediments.   Solana Beach’ 6th Cycle Housing Element  references analysis  from  the AI  in order  to  identify 
potential impediments to housing that are specific to the City.   
 

 Needs Assessment 
The AI contains a Countywide analysis of demographic, housing, and specifically fair housing issues for all cities in San 
Diego County, including Del Mar. The City's demographic and income profile, household and housing characteristics, 
housing cost and availability, and special needs populations are discussed  in the Community Profile Section of the 
Housing Element. 
 
Fair Housing Assessment 

The AI identifies impediments to fair housing within jurisdictions in San Diego County.  Within the AI, there are several 
potential constraints that are either directly related to the coastal jurisdictions within San Diego County or to Solana 
Beach specifically.  The following potential constraints are related to analysis within the regional AI: 

 High housing cost and affordability of housing in coastal areas 
 Low number of loan applications due to the built out character of the community 
 Lack of racial diversity 
 Residential density constraints 
 Low concentration of rent‐restricted units 
 Existing growth management policies 
 Lack of education and outreach 

As  part  of  the  AI,  the  County  of  San Diego  surveyed  residents  to  learn more  about  fair  housing  issues  in  each 
jurisdiction.  The County received approximately 1,100 total individual responses, with only 1 response by a resident 
within Solana Beach.  The respondent stated that they believed they were discriminated on the basis of their source 
of income (e.g. welfare, unemployment insurance, Housing Choice Voucher/Section 8 Voucher).  The respondent did 
not report the incident as they did not know where to report it.  There were zero fair housing complaints within Solana 
Beach  filed with  the State Department of Fair Employment and Housing  (DFEH) between 2009‐2014 and one  fair 
housing within Solana Beach filed with the State Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).   

The Regional AI (2015‐2020) provided the following recommendations for the City of Solana Beach.  Some of these 
are in the form of actions that may have been taken by the City since the adoption of the AI.   

1. The City should evaluate its definition of family and revise the definition to ensure that it does not constrain 
the development of housing for persons with disabilities or residential care facilities.  

2. The City should establish a formal reasonable accommodation procedure.  
3. Amend the Zoning Ordinance to permit emergency shelters by right in at least one zone to comply with State 

law  
4. Amend  its Zoning Ordinance  to  include provisions  for  transitional housing,  transitional housing, and SRO 

pursuant to State law. 

Fair Housing Enforcement And Outreach Capacity 

Currently, North  County  Lifeline  (NCL)  provides  fair  housing  services within  Solana  Beach.    Through  Facilitative 
Mediation, NCL provides tools for dispute resolution in order to resolve conflicts outside of court. For those in need 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐49 

of additional assistance, North County Lifeline also provides a monthly legal clinic to provide legal advice to residents 
in need of counseling.  
 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development  (HUD) maintains a  record of all housing discrimination 
complaints filed  in  local  jurisdictions. These grievances can be filed on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, 
disability, religion, familial status and retaliation.  
Racially or Ethnically Concentrated Areas of Poverty (R/ECAP) 

To assist communities in identifying racially/ethnically‐concentrated areas of poverty (R/ECAPs), HUD has developed 
a  census  tract‐based definition of R/ECAPs. The definition  involves a  racial/ethnic  concentration  threshold and a 
poverty test. The racial/ethnic concentration threshold is straightforward: R/ECAPs must have a non‐white population 
of 50 percent or more. Regarding the poverty threshold, Wilson (1980) defines neighborhoods of extreme poverty as 
census tracts with 40 percent or more of individuals living at or below the poverty line. Because overall poverty levels 
are  substantially  lower  in many parts of  the  country, HUD  supplements  this with  an  alternate  criterion.  Thus,  a 
neighborhood can be a R/ECAP if it has a poverty rate that exceeds 40% or is three or more times the average tract 
poverty rate for the metropolitan/micropolitan area, whichever threshold is lower. 

The 2015 AI performed an  analysis of R/ECAPs within  San Diego County  and  found  small pockets within  certain 
jurisdictions.   None were  located within  the City of Solana Beach.   Further analysis using  the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Developments R/ECAP GIS mapping tool confirms that all census tracts within Solana Beach have 
a R/ECAP value of 0, indicating that the census tracts within Solana Beach do not meet the defined parameters for a 
racially or ethnically concentrated area of poverty as defined by HUD.   
Disparities in Access to Opportunity 

The UC Davis Center for Regional Change and Rabobank partnered to develop the Regional Opportunity Index (ROI) 
intended to help communities understand  local social and economic opportunities.   The goal of the ROI  is to help 
target resources and policies toward people and places with the greatest need to foster thriving communities.  The 
ROI  incorporates both “people” and “place components,  integrating economic,  infrastructure, environmental, and 
social indicators into a comprehensive assessment of the factors driving opportunity.   

As shown in Figures 3‐2(a and b) below, the majority of the City of Solana Beach is classified as a high opportunity 
zone.   This  indicates a high  level of relative opportunities that people are able to achieve as well as a high  level of 
relative opportunities that Solana Beach provides.  As such, the analysis indicates that access to opportunity is not a 
substantial issue within Solana Beach.   

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐50 

 

Figure 3‐2(a and b): Regional Opportunity Index, People (Left) and Place (Right), 2014 

     
 
Discussion of Disproportionate Housing Needs 

The analysis of disproportionate housing needs within Solana Beach evaluated existing housing need, need of the 
future housing population, and units within the community at‐risk of converting to market‐rate. 

Future Growth Need 

The City’s future growth need is based on the RHNA production of 316 very‐low and 159 low income units within the 
2021‐2029 planning period.   Figure 3‐3 shows that both existing and proposed affordable units are well dispersed 
throughout  the  community  and do not present  a  geographic barrier  to obtaining  affordable housing.    The  Sites 
Inventory of this Housing Element shows the City’s ability to meet their 2021‐2029 RHNA need at all income levels.  
Appendix B of this Housing Element demonstrates the City’s ability to meet its 2021‐2029 RHNA need at all income 
levels.  This demonstrates the City’s ability to accommodate the anticipated future affordable housing needs of the 
community. 
 
Existing Need 
[City to update information prior to submitting to HCD] 
 
Displacement Risk 
[City to update information prior to submitting to HCD] 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐51 

Assessment of Contributing Factors for Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing in Solana Beach 

The  AI  does  not  identify  impediments  to  fair  housing  specific  to  Solana  Beach,  however  some  of  the  regional 
impediments to fair housing  identified within jurisdictions in San Diego County may assist Solana Beach  in opening 
the community up to a broader range of future residents.  : 

 Fair housing information needs to be disseminated through many media forms to reach the targeted groups. 
 Hispanics  and Blacks  continue  to be under‐represented  in  the homebuyer market  and experience  large 

disparities in loan approval rates.  
 Housing choices for special needs groups, especially persons with disabilities and seniors, are limited. 
 Fair housing enforcement activities, such as random testing, are limited 
 Patterns of racial and ethnic concentration exist  in the region, although there are no racially or ethnically 

concentrated areas of poverty in Solana Beach. 

The  analysis  conducted  in  this  section  regarding  fair  housing  issues within  Solana  Beach  yielded  the  following 
conclusions: 

 There are no racially or ethnically concentrated census tracts (RECAPs) within Solana Beach as identified by 
HUD within the 2020 County of San Diego Analysis of  Impediments (AI).   This  indicates that there are no 
census tracts within Solana Beach with a non‐white population of 50 percent or more or any census tracts 
that have a poverty rate that exceeds 40% or is three or more times the average tract poverty rate for the 
metropolitan/micropolitan area.  

 The UC Davis Regional Opportunity Index shows that the majority of residents within Solana Beach have a 
high level of access to opportunity throughout the majority of the City, with all census tracts showring the 
highest level of access to opportunity.  Additionally, analysis of the TCAC/HCD opportunity Area Maps show 
that all census tracts in Del Mar are classified with the “Highest Resource” designation.  This indicates that 
these census  tracts are within  the  top  twenty percent  in the region  in  terms of areas that  lower‐income 
residents may thrive if given the opportunity to live there.   

 The  City  has  demonstrated  the  ability  to meet  the  anticipated  future  affordable  housing  needs  of  the 
community through the designation of sites to meet the very‐low and low income RHNA need (Appendix B) 
These sites are dispersed throughout the community. 

 [City to confirm status of at‐risk units prior to HCD submittal] 
 

Analysis of Sites Pursuant to AB 686 

AB 686 requires that jurisdictions identify sites throughout the community in a manner that is consistent with its duty 
to affirmatively further fair housing.  The site identification requirement involves not only an analysis of site capacity 
to accommodate the RHNA, but also whether the  identified sites serve the purpose of replacing segregated  living 
patterns with truly integrated and balanced living patterns, transforming racially and ethnically concentrated areas of 
poverty into areas of opportunity.   
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐52 

Figure 3‐3: Existing and Proposed Affordable Housing Locations in Solana Beach 

 
 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐53 

Figure 3‐3 shows the proposed candidate sites to meet the very‐low and low income RHNA for Solana Beach in relation 
to the location of residents of Hispanic origin.  The City of Solana Beach is relatively small in size with the majority of 
housing opportunity areas, including areas with higher access to vital goods, services, and public transportation, are 
located within the downtown areas.  As such, these are ideal areas for the City to focus much of its future housing 
growth.  It is anticipated that accessory dwelling unit growth, including growth for affordable ADUs, will occur in the 
less dense areas of the community.   
 
Figure 3‐4 shows the following findings:  

 18 proposed (totaling 138 potential units, or 26.1% of the total potential units) sites are located within block 
groups that have a percentage of the population that identifies as Hispanic greater than 13 percent 

 2 proposed sites (totaling 69 potential units, or 13.0% of the total potential units) are located within block 
groups that have a percentage of the population that that identifies as Hispanic between 10 percent and 13 
percent 

 27 proposed sites (totaling 322 potential units, or 60.9% of the total potential units) are located within block 
groups that have a percentage of the population that identifies as Hispanic between 7 percent and 10 percent 

The data  shows  that  the proposed  candidate  sites  to meet  the  very‐low and  low  income RHNA need are evenly 
dispersed  throughout  the community with an emphasis on  locating units where  there  is a high  level of access  to 
important  public  services  and  transit.    As  shown  in  Figure  3‐4,  the  distribution  of  proposed  units  does  not 
disproportionately impact areas with larger concentrations of the Hispanic population. 
 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐54 

Figure 3‐4: Candidate Sites – Ethnicity Analysis 

 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐55 

Figure 3‐5 shows location of existing and proposed affordable units within Solana Beach in comparison with census 
data showing the percentage of the population within each block group that is non‐white.   
 
Figure 3‐5 shows the following findings: 

 19 proposed (totaling 242 potential units, or 45.7% of the total potential units) sites are located within block 
groups that have a percentage of the population that is non‐white greater than 10 percent 

 11 proposed sites (totaling 214 potential units, or 40.5% of the total potential units) are located within block 
groups that have a percentage of the population that is non‐white between 5 percent and 10 percent 

 7 proposed sites (totaling 52 potential units, or 9.8% of the total potential units) are  located within block 
groups that have a percentage of the population that is non‐white between 4 percent and 5 percent 

 10 proposed sites (totaling 21 potential units, or 4.0% of the total potential units) are located within block 
groups that have a percentage of the population that is non‐white between 1 percent and 4 percent 

The data  shows  that  the proposed  candidate  sites  to meet  the  very‐low and  low  income RHNA need are evenly 
dispersed  throughout  the community with an emphasis on  locating units where  there  is a high  level of access  to 
important  public  services  and  transit.    As  shown  in  Figure  3‐5,  the  distribution  of  proposed  units  does  not 
disproportionately impact areas with larger concentrations of Non‐white populations. 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐56 

Figure 3‐5: Candidate Sites – Racial Analysis 

 
   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update 

Constraints, Resources, and Fair Housing (DRAFT)    Page 3‐57 

Analysis of Fair Housing Priorities and Goals 

The City  is committed to furthering fair housing through the  implementation of several policies  located within the 
City’s Housing Plan.  The primary method for this is through identifying sites which can accommodate the City’s very‐
low and  low  income RHNA need, as demonstrated  in Appendix B.   Other programs  that affirmatively  further  fair 
housing include: 

 Program 1B, to promote the development of accessory dwelling units and junior accessory dwelling units; 
 Program 1D, to establish a program to convert existing, non‐permitted accessory dwelling units to legal units; 
 Program 1E, to continue to implement the City’s affordable housing ordinance; 
 Program 4B, to update the City’s Municipal Code to permit emergency, transitional, and supportive housing 

as a matter of right in appropriate zoning districts per State law; 
 Program 4C, to accommodate development that provides housing opportunities for residents with physical 

and developmental disabilities; and  
 Program 4D, to work with the San Diego County Housing Authority to administer Section 8 Rental Assistance. 

 
The City will monitor the effectiveness of these programs annually through the completion of their Annual Progress 
Reports (APRs).   



Housing Plan



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐1 

Section 4: Housing Plan 
 

The Housing Plan describes the City of Solana Beach’s 2021‐2029 policy program.  The Housing Plan describes the 
specific goals, policies, and programs to assist City decision makers to achieve the long‐term housing objectives set 
forth in the Solana Beach Housing Element. This Plan identifies goals, policies, and programs aimed at providing 
additional housing opportunities, removing governmental constraints to affordable housing, improving the 
condition of existing housing, and providing equal housing opportunities for all residents. These goals, policies, and 
programs further the City’s overall housing policy goal is to Inspire a more diverse, sustainable, and balanced 
community through implementation of strategies and programs that will result in economically and socially 
diversified housing choices that preserve and enhance the special character of Solana Beach. 

Regional Housing Needs Assessment 
The San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) has conducted a Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) 
to determine the City’s share of the affordable housing needs for the San Diego region.  The RHNA quantifies Solana 
Beach’s local share housing needs for the region by income category.  Income categories are based on the most 
current Median Family Income (MFI) for San Diego County.  The City’s 2021‐2029 RHNA growth need is as follows:  

 316 units ‐ Extremely low (less than 30% County MFI) and Very low income (0‐50% County MFI) 
 159 units ‐ Low income (51‐80% of County MFI)     
 160 units ‐ Moderate income (81‐120% of County MFI) 
 240 units ‐ Above moderate income (120% or more of County MFI) 

875 units ‐ Total 

   



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐2 

A. Housing Goals 

The City of Solana Beach has identified the following housing goals as part of this Housing Element Update: 

Housing Goal #1: A range of housing strategies to accommodate Solana Beach’s share across all income levels.   

Housing Goal #2: Preserve and enhance the existing community and neighborhood quality and character. 

Housing Goal #3: Reduce or eliminate constraints to the development, improvement, preservation, and 
maintenance of housing. 

Housing Goal #4: Equal opportunities to access housing for all persons regardless of age, race, religion, sex, marital 
status, sexual orientation, ancestry, national origin, or disability. 

Housing Goal #5: A sustainable approach to new and existing residential and mixed‐use development through 
increased energy conservation and waste reduction. 

The goals listed above are described below and on following pages with accompanying policies and programs to 
achieve them. 

B. Housing Policies and Programs 

This Housing Element expresses the Solana Beach community’s overall housing goals and supporting policies, 
quantified objectives, and housing programs to achieve them. The stated Housing Programs are based on a review 
of past performance of the prior Housing Element, analysis of current constraints and resources, and input from 
Solana Beach residents and stakeholders. 

Housing Goal #1: A range of housing strategies to accommodate Solana Beach’s share across all income 
levels.   

Housing Policy 1.1:  Maintain sufficient land designated and appropriately zoned for housing to achieve a 
complimentary mix of single‐family and multi‐family development to accommodate Solana Beach’s 
Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) growth needs throughout the planning period. 

Housing Policy 1.2:  Promote a variety of tenures, unit types, and locations of housing throughout the 
community. 

Housing Policy 1.3:  Encourage mixed‐use development opportunities.  

Housing Policy 1.4:  Encourage the consolidation of adjacent parcels to facilitate multi‐family residential 
development. 

Housing Policy 1.5:  Encourage development of local housing opportunities to serve the needs of the local 
workforce and their families. 

Housing Policy 1.6:  Encourage the production of Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU) and Junior Accessory 
Dwelling Units (JADU) through incentivizing and streamlining development.  

Housing Goal 1 ‐ Implementing Programs 

Housing Program 1A:  Mixed‐Use Development on Commercially‐Zoned Sites 

Due to the built‐out nature of Solana Beach, there are very few vacant/underutilized residentially‐zoned parcels in 
the City. The City is reliant upon vacant/underutilized commercial sites that can accommodate mixed‐use 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐3 

development as a way to facilitate additional housing opportunities and permits mixed‐use developments in all 
commercial zones. Solana Beach has two commercial zoning classifications that permit development at 20 dwelling 
units per acre, the City’s default density for accommodating lower income housing development.  As part of this 
Housing Element, the City has identified potential sites that are suitable for mixed‐use development.  

The City will consult with developers early in the planning period to ensure that its development standards 
encourage mixed‐use development. To the extent possible, the City will also identify possible actions to shorten the 
permitting process for mixed‐use development such as through the use of CEQA exemptions for infill projects. 

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 1B:  Promotion of Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) and Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (JADU) 
Development 

The City updated the Solana Beach Municipal Code to incorporate provisions of new State ADU law which expands 
where ADUs and JADUs can be constructed and removes barriers to the development of these units.  ADU 
production has increased since incorporation of these new provisions and the City anticipates that ADUs will factor 
heavily into assisting the City in meeting their RHNA needs, as described in the Housing Resources section of this 
Housing Element.   

The City will continue to research methods to incentive and promote the construction of Accessory Dwelling Units, 
especially those that may be leased at affordable rates.  The City will develop outreach collateral for public 
dissemination, including updates to the City’s website, information at City Hall and via other appropriate print and 
digital media.   

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 1C:  Create ADU Monitoring Program 

The City will create a monitoring program to track ADU and JADU creation and affordability levels throughout the 
planning period.  This will allow the City to monitor the development of accessory units.  Additionally, the City will 
review their ADU and JADU development progress at the planning cycle mid‐point to evaluate if production 
estimates are being achieved 

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 1D:  Conversion Program of Existing, Non‐Permitted Accessory Dwelling Units  

The City will continue to implement its illegal unit conversion program.  This program allows homeowners with 
existing illegally established accessory dwelling units to legal, permitted status.   

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐4 

Housing Program 1E: Affordable Housing Program 

The City will continue to implement its affordable housing ordinance as outlined in the Solana Beach Municipal 
Code.  The purpose of this ordinance is to assist the City in meeting its share of the regional housing needs, to 
implement the City’s General Plan and Housing elements relative to the provision of housing units for all economic 
sectors of its population, and to require affordable housing in both rental and for‐sale housing consistent with 
provisions of the California Government Code.  The City will monitor this program to identify any potential 
constraints and make any necessary adjustments to the ordinance to facilitate successful implementation of this 
program.  

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 1F: Candidate Sites Used in Previous Housing Elements 

Pursuant to State Housing law, candidate sites identified in this Housing Element to accommodate a portion of the 
City’s low‐ and very low ‐income RHNA that were identified in a previously adopted Housing Elements must be 
rezoned to allow residential use by right at specified densities for housing developments in which at least 20 percent 
of the units are affordable to lower income households.  By right shall mean the jurisdiction may not require any of 
the following discretionary actions, except if the project requires a subdivision: 

 A conditional use permit 
 A planned unit development permit 
 Other discretionary, local‐government review or approval that would constitute a “project” 

The City may impose objective design review standards on projects.  The City has identified as part of this Housing 
Element update vacant and nonvacant sites that were used in previous Housing Elements to meet the current RHNA 
need.  To accommodate the provisions of State law, the City shall place a housing overlay zone over all nonvacant 
sites included in a prior Housing Element and all vacant sites included in two or more consecutive planning periods 
that permits by right development for projects that meet the requirements of State housing law.  These sites are 
identified in Appendix B.   

Timeframe: Within 36 months of adoption of the 6th Cycle Housing Element  
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 1G: Federal and State Funding Programs 

The City will review federal and state housing financing and subsidy programs for their potential availability to 
Solana Beach. If the programs could be reasonably thought to be available to Solana Beach, the City would work 
with the appropriate developers and non‐profits to support feasible funding application(s). This program also will 
entail the provision of City staff assistance to developers of housing for lower income housing and assessing the 
potential to match their projects to applicable federal and state programs. Included in this assistance would be pre‐
application meetings and helping the applicant with identifying potential approaches to address design and site 
requirements. 

Timeframe: Ongoing/Annually 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐5 

Housing Program 1H:  Small Lot Subdivision Ordinance 

The City will adopt a small lot subdivision Ordinance to facilitate future subdivision of larger residential lots (i.e. sites 
zoned Estate Residential and Low Residential) into smaller single‐family dwelling unit lots.  The Small Lot Ordinance 
will help to increase housing unit capacity consistent with the Solana Beach General Plan and provide the city 
additional capacity to accommodate a variety of non‐traditional housing types such as tiny homes.   

Timeframe: Within 24 months of adoption of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Sources: TBD 

 

Housing Program 1I: Manufactured Housing 

State law (Government Code Section 65852.3) requires that the city’s zoning code allows and permits manufactured 
housing in the same manner and in the same zone as a conventional structures are permitted.  Specifically, 
manufactured homes should only be subject to the same development standards that a conventional single‐family 
residential dwelling on the same lot would be subject to. In order to comply with State law, the City will amend the 
Solana Beach Municipal Code to define manufactured housing and mobile homes consistent with State law and 
identify the zone(s) where such housing is permitted. The City will also ensure that the requirements for 
manufactured homes is the same as a conventional single‐family dwelling unit in the same zone 

Timeframe: within 24 months of adoption of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Sources: TBD 

 

Housing Program 1J: Update Density Bonus Ordinance 

Government Code Section 65915 requires that a jurisdiction adopt a local Density Bonus Ordinance consistent with 
State law.  State Density Bonus Law requires a local jurisdiction to grant an increase in density, if requested by a 
developer, for providing affordable housing as part of a development project.  Key provisions of the law include 
incremental density bonuses that correspond to the percentage of housing set aside as affordable units. State law 
caps the maximum density bonus at 35 percent and allows the developer to request up to three incentives or 
concessions, if required to provide the affordable units. The law also provides reduced parking requirements and 
allows requests for waivers of development standards, such as increased height limits and reduced setback 
requirements. The developer must provide reasonable documentation demonstrating that incentives reduce costs 
to provide for affordable units; and that waivers are required because the usual standards physically preclude the 
project from achieving the allowed density and incentives. 

To comply with State Density Bonus law, the City will amend the ordinance as needed to ensure that its local 
ordinance remains consistent with State law, but will apply current state law even before local amendments are 
adopted. The City commits to continue to review and approve requests under State Density Bonus Law (including 
requests for incentives, concessions, waivers, and parking reductions) so that projects that qualify are not prevented 
from developing at the densities to which they are entitled.  

Timeframe: within 24 months of adoption of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development  
Funding Sources: TBD 

 

 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐6 

Housing Goal #2: Preserve and enhance the existing community and neighborhood quality and character. 

Housing Policy 2.1:  Promote revitalization and rehabilitation of existing residential dwellings. 

Housing Policy 2.2:  Promote high quality design and development standards to ensure future housing 
development compliments  and enhances neighborhood character. 

Housing Policy 2.3:  Ensure residential and mixed‐use projects are designed and developed to discourage 
crime.   

Housing Policy 2.4:  Encourage mixed‐use and transit, bicycle, and pedestrian‐oriented development that 
supports and contributes to a “sense of place” in the community. 

Goal 2 Implementing Programs 

Housing Program 2A: Preservation of At‐Risk Housing 

The City has reviewed the existing affordable housing developments and determined that X units are currently at 
risk of converting to market‐rate.  The City will contact the owners of these properties to explore preservation 
opportunities such as extending affordability covenants, sale/purchasing these developments, non‐profit housing 
organizations assistance, and applying for financial assistance to preserve these affordable units.  

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development  
Funding Sources: TBD 

 

Housing Program 2B: Replacement Housing 

The City may have existing non‐vacant sites that may contain vacant or demolished residential units that were 
occupied by lower income households or households subject to affordability requirements within the last five years. 
The City will implement a replacement housing program to ensure the replacement of any units lost subject to the 
requirements of Government Code section 65915.  

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development  
Funding Sources: TBD 

 

Housing Goal #3: Reduce or eliminate constraints to the development, improvement, preservation, and 
maintenance of housing. 

Housing Policy 3.1:  Promote public awareness of the various methods and resources available to support 
homeownership opportunities. 

Housing Policy 3.2:  Explore opportunities to identify alternative financial assistance for the development 
and/or purchase of housing affordable to extremely low income, very low income, low income, and 
moderate‐income households. 

Housing Policy 3.3:  Explore incentives, bonuses, and flexibility in standards and requirements that could 
benefit affordable housing development, such as flexible development standards, reduced permit fees, and 
streamlined permit processing. 

Housing Policy 3.4:  Encourage remodeling, maintenance, repair, and rehabilitation of existing housing to 
address special housing needs, prevent deterioration, and preserve safe and sanitary housing conditions. 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐7 

Housing Policy 3.5:  Grant priority water and sewer service to housing with units affordable to lower 
income households. 

Goal 3 Implementing Programs 

Housing Program 3A: Compliance with SB 35 Provisions 

The City of Solana Beach is subject to SB 35 streamlining provisions and will be required to permit streamlining for 
projects with at least 50% affordable units. The City must review permits for qualifying housing developments within 
a statutory time frame (90 days for ≤ 150 units; 180 days for ≥ 150 units). Projects cannot go through design review 
or be subject to public hearings, and in many cases the City cannot require parking. All projects covered under SB 35 
are still subject to the zoning and building code. At this time, qualified housing proposals with at least 50% 
affordable units may be eligible for SB 35 streamlining in Solana Beach.  Should compliance status with SB 35 change 
in the future, subsequent projects may be subject other requirements pursuant to state law.  

The City of Solana Beach shall amend, as appropriate, policies, programs and procedures in the Zoning Code and 
other applicable portions of the Municipal Code to comply with the requirements of SB 35.  These provisions shall 
apply when the City is not meeting the requirements Regional Housing Needs Assessments (RHNA) progress.  

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: Planning and Community Development 
Funding Sources: TBD 

 

Housing Program 3B:  Public Education 

The City shall continue to monitor and update information related to the development of housing through the 
continued promotion of public educational materials.  The information describes the benefits of affordable housing 
and the myths and realities of affordable housing through such means as public presentations, newspaper articles, 
and information posted on the City’s website. 

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Goal #4: Equal opportunities to access housing for all persons regardless of age, race, religion, 
sex, marital status, sexual orientation, ancestry, national origin, or disability. 

Housing Policy 4.1:  Enforce fair housing laws addressing discrimination in the building, financing, selling or 
renting of housing based on race, religion, family status, national origin, disability, or other protected class. 

Housing Policy 4.2:  Establish policies, programs and incentives to promote the development of housing for 
very low‐, low‐, and moderate‐income persons, and especially those within Solana Beach’s special needs 
populations. 

Housing Policy 4.3:  Seek to accommodate housing for residents with special needs through appropriate 
zoning standards and permit processes. 

Housing Policy 4.4:  Ensure equal access to housing by providing reasonable accommodation for persons 
with disabilities consistent with Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and Fair Housing Act (FHA) 
requirements. 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐8 

Housing Policy 4.5:  Support efforts to provide services that facilitate aging in place such as senior 
transportation, recreational activities, and other means to help older adults connect to the services they 
need to live independently in their own homes. 

Goal 4 Implementing Programs 

Housing Program 4A: Affirmatively Further Fair Housing 

Pursuant to AB 686, the City will affirmatively further fair housing by taking meaningful actions in addition to 
resisting discrimination, that overcomes patterns of segregation and foster inclusive communities free from barriers 
that restrict access to opportunity based on protected characteristic, as defined by California law.   

The City will partner with capable organizations to review housing discrimination complaints, attempt to facilitate 
equitable resolution of complaints, and, where necessary, refer complainants to the appropriate state or federal 
agency for further investigation and action.  

ADD HERE IDENTIFICATION OF ISSUES 

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 4B: Emergency, Transitional and Supportive Housing and Lower Barrier Navigation Centers 

The City shall permit Low Barrier Navigation Center development as a matter of right in appropriate zoning districts, 
subject to requirements of state law. These requirements include  implementing standards, provisions and 
limitations governing the permitting, development, siting and management of Low Barrier Navigation Centers.  The 
City of Solana Beach shall update its Municipal Code, as appropriate, to comply with State law.  

Timeframe: Within 24 months of adoption of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 4C: Persons with Physical and Developmental Disabilities 

The City will continue to take actions to accommodate the approval of group homes, ADA retrofit efforts, ADA 
compliance and/or other measures through the implementation of Title 24 as well as amend its procedures to 
provide more flexibility in the development of accommodations for persons with physical and developmental 
disabilities by eliminating the need for a variance.  

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Program 4D: Section 8 Rental Assistance 

The City will continue to work with the San Diego County Housing Authority to administer the Section 8 Rental 
Assistance Program, and will continue support the County’s application for additional Section 8 allocations. This 
program provides rental assistance to eligible very low and low income households. The subsidy represents the 
difference between the rent that exceeds 30 percent of a household’s monthly income and the actual rent charged. 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐9 

The City will provide marketing collateral in both English and Spanish informing residents and landlords of the 
availability of Section 8 rental assistance. The City will also seek out project‐based Section 8 vouchers to assist with 
the operational income of affordable housing projects. 

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: TBD 

 

Housing Program 4E: Mortgage Credit Certificate (MCC) 

Homeownership can be an asset to maintaining a healthy community. The Mortgage Credit Certificate (MCC) 
program assists low and moderate income first time home buyers. Under this program, which is administered by the 
County of San Diego, qualified first‐time home buyers are able to take a federal income tax credit of up to 20 
percent of the annual interest paid on their mortgage. This frees up more capital to buy the home. The City of 
Solana Beach will continue to distribute information on the MCC program. 

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

Housing Goal #5: A sustainable approach to new and existing residential and mixed‐use development 
through increased energy conservation and waste reduction. 

Housing Policy 5.1:  Work with energy providers, such as San Diego Gas and Electric (SDG&E), to promote 
energy conservation programs and incentives. 

Housing Policy 5.2:  Encourage the use of building placement, design, and construction techniques that 
promote energy conservation. 

Housing Policy 5.3:  Promote the use of green building practices in new and existing development to 
maximize energy efficiency and conservation. 

Housing Policy 5.4:  Encourage affordable housing developments that receive public subsidies to obtain 
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) certification. 

Housing Policy 5.5:  Encourage construction projects to recycle construction debris and promote the use of 
recycled materials as part of new construction or renovations, including the reuse of existing building 
shells/elements. 

Goal 5 Implementing Programs 

Housing Program 5A:  Energy Conservation 

The City of Solana Beach is committed to conserving energy and being a sustainable community. Several existing 
programs promote energy conservation and City continues to explore additional opportunities to promote energy 
conservation. For example: 

 The City recently adopted an ordinance to reduce single use plastic bags in grocery stores, retailers, and 
restaurants. 

 The City will continue to implement the Solana Beach Green Building Incentive, which offers expedited 
permit processing for green building applications, permit fee reimbursement for projects that receive 
GreenPoint Rated certification, and public recognition. 



City of Solana Beach    [**INTERNAL DISCUSSION DRAFT ONLY**] 
2021‐2029 Housing Element Update [DRAFT] 

Housing Plan [DRAFT]    Page 4‐10 

 The City will continue to provide information on the City’s website regarding steps residents can take to 
increase their energy efficiency and SDG&E rebate/voucher programs available to Solana Beach residents 
and businesses. 

 The City will develop an energy efficiency program for the community and continue to monitor pertinent 
legislation which would make it easier to implement solar installations. 

The City will continue to work with the Clean and Green committee to develop additional energy conservation and 
sustainability programs. 

Timeframe: Ongoing 
Responsible Agency: City of Solana Beach Community Development 
Funding Source: General Fund 

 

C. Summary of Quantified Objectives 

Table 4‐1: Summary of Quantified Objectives 
Income Group  Extremely 

Low 
Very Low  Low  Moderate  Above 

Moderate 
Total 

New  Construction 
(RHNA) 

158 units*  158 units  159 units  160 units  240 units  875 units 

Accessory Units             
Conservation             
Rental Subsidy             
Rehabilitation             
*Extremely Low Units are defined by HCD as half of the City’s Very‐Low Income need.  

 

 

 



Appendix A: 
Review of Past Performance



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 
 

Appendix A [DRAFT]                                  Page A‐1 
 

Appendix A: Review of Past Performance 
The following chart is a review of the City of Solana Beach’s housing project and program performance during the current Planning Cycle (2014 – 2021). It is an evaluation if the 5th Cycle’s policies and programs and considers all current and 
existing programs and projects as well as the most current accomplishments and effectiveness and appropriateness. 

Past Performance 

#  Program  Program Objective  Program Action 
Current Planning Period 

Accomplishments 
Effectiveness and Appropriateness 

1  Encourage Mixed‐Use Development 

1.A  Encourage Mixed‐Use 
Development ‐ Continue to 
identify potential sites for 
mixed‐use development 

Identify adequately zoned and available sites for 
the current planning period, monitor development 
trends and update the adequate sites analysis as 
additional potential sites become viable for mixed‐
use development. 

The City has already identified adequately zoned and available sites for the current 
planning period.  
On an ongoing basis, the City will continue to identify potential sites that are suitable 
for mixed‐use development and will work with the community and property owners to 
identify these sites. These sites could include, but not necessarily be limited to: 

1. Older commercial centers needing revitalization; 
2. Sites that facilitate pedestrian, bicycle, and transit‐oriented development, 

especially those along transit routes; 
3. Sites where planned infrastructure would enable infill or additional residential 

development to occur; 
4. Sites where public investments could be used to complement mixed‐use 

development, especially projects containing affordable housing. 

Two mixed‐use projects netting 
in 33 dwelling units were 
approved in December 2016 and 
July 2018. 

Mixed‐Use development continues to be an 
effective method to accommodating for 
housing growth in communities with limited 
vacant land.  The City will continue to 
encourage the use of mixed‐use development 
to meet their 6th Cycle RHNA needs.   

1.B  Encourage Mixed‐Use 
Development ‐ Facilitate 
mixed‐use development 

Consult with developers to ensure that the City’s 
mixed‐use development standards facilitate 
mixed‐use projects. Compare the City’s 
expectations for mixed‐use development to the 
feedback gathered from developers to evaluate 
the effectiveness of mixed‐use developments 
standards. Make revisions to the standards to 
encourage and facilitate mixed‐use development, 
as appropriate. Work to implement procedures 
that will allow for CEQA streamlining for eligible 
projects pursuant to SB375 and other CEQA 
exemptions. 

The City will continue to support applications for financing and/or funding for mixed‐
use projects. At this time, the City does not believe that additional revisions to its 
development standards are needed; however, it will continue to consult with 
developers to ensure that its development standards encourage mixed‐use 
development. To the extent possible, the City will also identify possible actions to 
shorten the permitting process for mixed‐use development such as through the use of 
CEQA exemptions for infill projects. 

  The City will continue to encourage the use of 
mixed‐use development to meet their 6th 
Cycle RHNA needs.   

1.C  Encourage Mixed‐Use 
Development ‐ Increase 
awareness of the potential 
for mixed‐use 
development 

The City will ensure that developers are aware of 
the mixed‐use development opportunities in the 
city. 

The City will continue to work to increase developer awareness of the potential for 
mixed‐use development. The City will continue to pursue both for‐profit and non‐
profit developers to determine the best method to implement this program.  

  The City will continue to provide information 
relating to development opportunities as 
required by State law.  

1.D  Encourage Mixed‐Use 
Development ‐ Federal and 
State Programs 

Review State and federal affordable housing 
programs for grant opportunities that can facilitate 
housing development in Solana Beach. 

The City will regularly review potential federal and state housing financing and subsidy 
programs for their potential availability to Solana Beach. If the programs could be 
reasonably thought to be available to Solana Beach, the City would work with the 
appropriate developers and non‐profits to support feasible funding application(s).  

  The City will continue to seek opportunities 
for financing and subsidy programs that may 
assist in the development of mixed‐use within 
Solana Beach.  

2  Encourage Accessory Living 
Units 

Distribute information to the public regarding the 
accessory living unit program at the permitting 
counter and other public venues, assess program 
effectiveness, and continue to monitor 
development standards and the permitting 

The City currently has an accessory living unit ordinance, and the City will continue to 
encourage the development of accessory living units. 
 
The City is committed to providing incentives that could include, but would not be 
necessarily limited to, continuing to assess development standards and implementing 

Ordinance 470 was adopted on 
November 9. 2016 to amend the 
municipal code to comply with 
Senate Bill 1069 and Assembly 
Bill 2299 related to accessory 

Per the new requirements of State housing 
law, the City will update their existing 
accessory living unit ordinance to meet the 
necessary requirements relating to the 
development of ADUs and JADUs.  The City 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 
 

Appendix A [DRAFT]                                  Page A‐2 
 

Past Performance 

#  Program  Program Objective  Program Action 
Current Planning Period 

Accomplishments 
Effectiveness and Appropriateness 

process. Seven additional accessory dwelling units 
are expected to be approved between 2013 and 
2020 based on past trends. 

a faster permit approval process for these units. The City will also distribute 
information to the public regarding the accessory living unit program at the permitting 
counter and other public venues. In addition, the City will evaluate the progress that it 
makes from 2013 to 2020 in order to assess the program’s effectiveness and take 
appropriate action to enhance program effectiveness, if necessary. 

dwelling units..  The provisions 
for accessory living units were 
removed from the municipal 
code as they were no longer 
consistent with the provisions of 
SB 1069 and AB 2299. 

will continue to make updates to the 
ordinance as new legislation is passed 
throughout the 6th Cycle planning period. 

3  Density Bonus Program  Develop an educational hand‐out regarding the 
State’s density bonus law. 

The City will continue to implement its density bonus ordinance to facilitate developer 
use of this program, and to comply with state law. The City will develop educational 
materials regarding the State’s density bonus law. 

A handout has been developed 
and is available at the front 
counter and on the city website. 
   

The City successfully developed an 
educational hand out detailing the 
requirements and applicable exemptions for 
density bonus projects.  The City will continue 
to update their educational materials to 
reflect updates to new State law or local 
density bonus ordinance changes.   

4  Affordable (Inclusionary) 
Housing Program 

Continue to enforce the City's Affordable Housing 
Ordinance for new developments. Utilize any 
Affordable Housing Impact Fees to provide 
affordable housing through new construction or 
conversion from market‐rate housing. 

The City will continue to monitor its effectiveness and provide incentives to the 
developers of affordable inclusionary housing units, as needed. The City will continue 
to monitor this program to identify any potential constraints and make adjustments to 
the ordinance if necessary to facilitate successful implementation of this program. 

Inclusionary provisions of the 
City’s Municipal Code were 
modified to adopt a new 
Affordable Housing Impact Fee; 
adopted March 23, 2011.  
 
Two mixed‐use project netting 
in 33 dwelling units approved in 
2016 and 2018 were subject to 
the impact fee. 

The City will continue to apply the 
requirements outlined in the local Affordable 
Housing Ordinance to new development 
projects in the 6th Cycle.  

5  Replacement Housing  Replacement of ten very low‐income units per the 
Haro settlement. 

The City desires to retain affordable housing in the coastal zone, and the City's 
Affordable Housing Program, described in Program 4, is intended to meet the City's 
obligation to provide housing for low‐ and moderate‐income households in the coastal 
zone. 
 
Under the terms of a settlement agreement in Haro v. City of Solana Beach, the City 
committed to replacing 13 units of affordable housing. 

One mixed‐use application 
consisting of 10 very low‐
income units on city‐owned land 
was approved in 2014 and 
received a time extension in 
December 2015. On August 24, 
2016 the City Council conducted 
a public hearing under the Tax 
and Equity Fiscal Responsibility 
Act (TEFRA) and approved the 
use of tax exempt bonds for the 
financing of the project. 

 

6  Address and Mitigate Constraints to Housing Development 
6.A  Monitor Affordable 

(Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance 

Monitor the effectiveness of the Inclusionary 
Housing Ordinance in achieving additional 
affordable housing units. 

The City will continue to monitor its effectiveness and provide incentives to the 
developers of affordable inclusionary housing units, as needed. The City will continue 
to monitor this program to identify any potential constraints and adjust the ordinance 
if necessary to facilitate successful implementation of this program. 

Staff discusses the inclusionary 
program with all applicants 
proposing 5 or more units and 
any interested party. 

The City will continue to discuss the potential 
incentives associated with the development 
of affordable inclusionary housing units as 
new development occurs within the 6th Cycle.  
As a requirement of adoption of the 6th Cycle 
Housing Element Update, the City is required 
to identify and analyze potential 
governmental constraints to development, 
including constraints associated with existing 
inclusionary housing policies.   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 
 

Appendix A [DRAFT]                                  Page A‐3 
 

Past Performance 

#  Program  Program Objective  Program Action 
Current Planning Period 

Accomplishments 
Effectiveness and Appropriateness 

6.B  Monitor Permit Processing 
Procedures 

Monitor permit processing procedures. 
 

The City will continue to monitor its permit processing procedures over the housing 
element period to ensure that they are not acting as a constraint to the development 
of housing. If the City finds that its procedures are overly burdensome on residential 
projects, it will consider revising the permitting process to mitigate potential 
constraints. 

The City continues to review its 
permit processing procedures 
over the course of the 5th Cycle 
Housing Element planning 
period.  

As a requirement of adoption of the 6th Cycle 
Housing Element Update, the City is required 
to identify and analyze potential 
governmental constraints to development, 
including constraints associated with existing 
permit processing procedures and timelines.   

6.C  Public Education  Publish/post a new story or information or 
conduct a presentation once a year. 

The City shall initiate a public education program to provide information that describes 
the benefits of affordable housing and the myths and realities of affordable housing 
through such means as public presentations, newspaper articles, and information 
posted on the City’s website. 

Educational information 
regarding affordable housing 
was posted on the website. 

Public education regarding new State housing 
laws is an important component of the public 
outreach process for the 6th Cycle Housing 
Element.  As part of the update process, the 
City will conduct the required community 
outreach and post relevant educational 
materials on the City’s website. 

6.D  Constraints for Persons 
with Disabilities/ 
Transitional and Supportive 
Housing 

Consistent with SB2, amend the City’s zoning 
ordinance to treat transitional and supportive 
housing as residential uses subject to the same 
requirements as any other residential use in the 
same zone in which it is proposed and amend the 
definition of residential care facility to delineate 
the difference between residential care facilities 
and transitional or supportive housing. Revise the 
reasonable accommodation procedures to 
eliminate the need for a variance and continue to 
monitor zoning and land use rules and regulations 
to ensure that they do not constrain the 
development of housing for persons with 
disabilities. 

The City will continue to facilitate the development, maintenance and improvement of 
housing for persons with disabilities. Also, the City will continue to ensure the City’s 
zoning does not constrain the development of housing for persons with disabilities or 
residential care facilities. In addition, it will amend its zoning ordinance to treat 
transitional and supportive housing as residential uses subject to the same 
requirements as any other residential use in the same zone. 

Ordinance 445 amending zoning 
was adopted 2/12/14.  
Ordinance 445 amended the 
City’s Zoning code to comply 
with Request for Reasonable 
Accommodate under the Fair 
Housing Act and clarified the 
definitions of Supportive 
Housing, Transitional Housing, 
and Residential Care Facilities.  
 

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.  The City will analyze 
constraints relevant to the provision of 
housing for persons with disabilities and 
other special needs portions of the 
population as required by State law.   

6.E  Facilitate Housing for the 
Extremely Low Income 

Amend the City’s zoning ordinance to clarify that 
SROs are considered studios or efficiency units, 
which are permitted in multi‐family zones.  

The City permits studios/efficiency units in its multi‐family zones and will amend its 
zoning ordinance to clarify that SROs are considered a multi‐family use. In addition, 
the City will encourage and facilitate the development of housing for extremely low‐
income households through a variety of activities such as holding workshops with 
housing developers, providing financial or in‐kind technical assistance or land write‐
downs, providing expedited permit processing, identifying grant or funding 
opportunities, applying for or supporting applications for funding on an on‐going basis, 
and offering a reduced fee schedule. 

In 2016, the City amended its 
zoning code to clarify that 
single‐room occupancy units 
(SRO's) are permitted in multi‐
family zones.   
 
 

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.   

6.F  Priority Water and Sewer 
Service for Affordable 
Housing 

Immediately following adoption, provide the Santa 
Fe Irrigation District with a copy of the Housing 
Element. Adopt priority sewer service for 
affordable housing. 

The City will immediately forward the adopted Housing Element and any subsequent 
amendments to the Santa Fe Irrigation District. The City will also develop priority 
service procedures for its sewer service. 

The Housing Element was sent 
to the Water Authority. 

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.   

6.G  Housing Element 
Consistency and 
Monitoring 

A housing element that is consistent with the rest 
of the General Plan and other important planning 
and policy procedures 

The City will continue to monitor the Housing Element as part of its annual general 
plan implementation report. This includes monitoring the Housing Element for 
consistency with any amendments made to the Safety, Conservation, and/or Land Use 
Elements pursuant to AB162 and the required annual review of floodplain maps. If 
sites identified in the Housing Element as suitable for housing are subsequently 
identified as inappropriate due to changes in the flood maps, additional sites may 
need to be identified. 

The City’s General Plan 
consistency review between the 
adopted current Housing 
Element and the other elements 
within the General Plan is 
ongoing. 

Per State law, the City is required to maintain 
consistency between all elements of the 
General Plan.  As revisions are made to other 
elements within the City’s General Plan 
during the 6th Cycle, the City will amend the 
Housing Element if necessary to remain 
consistent.  



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 
 

Appendix A [DRAFT]                                  Page A‐4 
 

Past Performance 

#  Program  Program Objective  Program Action 
Current Planning Period 

Accomplishments 
Effectiveness and Appropriateness 

6.H  Employee Housing Act 
Compliance 

Ensure compliance with the Employee Housing 
Act. 

Review the City’s regulations for compliance with the Employee Housing Act, 
particularly sections 17021.5 and 17021.6 of the Health and Safety Code regarding 
farmworker housing. Make amendments to the City’s regulations as necessary. 

Employee Housing Act has been 
reviewed and the Housing 
Element was found in 
compliance.. 

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.  If future revisions to 
the Employee Housing Act occur, the City will 
make the necessary amendments to remain 
in compliance.   

7  Emergency Shelter Housing 
Site Identification 

Amend the zoning ordinance to allow emergency 
shelters by right in the General Commercial zone 
and develop objective standards for their 
development. 

To ensure compliance with this requirement, the City will modify its zoning ordinance 
to permit emergency shelters in its General Commercial zone and develop objective 
standards for their development. 

Zoning ordinance amending 
emergency shelters outright in 
General Commercial and 
permitting them in the 
Public/Institutional zone with a 
Director's Use Permit with 
development standards was 
adopted February 12, 2014. 

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.   

8  Illegal Unit Conversion  Continue to implement the illegal unit conversion 
program. Research the feasibility of implementing 
an amnesty program. 

This program allows homeowners with illegally established accessory dwelling units on 
their property to apply for legalization. 

No applications for conversion 
have been received so far in the 
planning period. 

This program will be continued in the 6th 
Cycle Housing Element.  New state law 
regarding ADU compliance, development 
standards, and permitting requirements will 
be addressed.   

9  Preserve Existing At‐Risk 
Units 

Continue to monitor units at risk of conversion, 
identify non‐profit housing organizations capable 
of assisting with the preservation of at‐risk units, 
and identify available funding sources. Prevent the 
one at‐risk unit from converting to market rate. 

The City will contact the owners of properties with affordable units at risk of 
converting to market rate to learn of their plans and explore the possibility of 
purchasing these developments through HUD or a non‐profit corporation, actively 
seeking out non‐profit housing organizations that could assist in the preservation of 
the at‐risk units, and applying for financial assistance from sources such as CDBG and 
HOME funds to attempt to offer financial incentives to extend the terms of the 
affordability restrictions. Once a non‐profit is identified, the City will assess the non‐
profit corporations’ capacity to acquire and manage, assist or support funding 
applications, and provide tenant counseling. 

Received project application for 
Solana Highlands in 2014 with 
32 affordable units, which will 
replace units previously 
monitored by the County of San 
Diego.  The expiration date for 
these affordable units was 2011 
and 18 units currently remain. 
The project was approved by 
City Council in December 2018. 

The City is required by State law to address 
the preservation of units at‐risk of converting 
to market‐rate within the next 10 years.  This 
analysis is included within the 6th Cycle 
Housing Element. 

10  Section 8 Rental Assistance  Assist developers in applying for project‐based 
Section 8 rental assistance as opportunities arise 
and continue to work with the County of San Diego 
Housing Authority regarding the administration of 
the Section 8 Rental Assistance Program. 

The City will provide flyers in both English and Spanish notifying residents and 
landlords of the availability of Section 8 rental assistance. The City will also seek out 
project‐based Section 8 vouchers to assist with the operational income of affordable 
housing projects. 

The City has continued to 
coordinate with the County of 
San Diego Housing Authority to 
implement and administer 
Section 8 Rental Assistance. 

The City will continue to provide community 
members with updated information materials 
regarding the availability of Section 8 Housing 
Choice Vouchers so long as funding for the 
program remains available.   

11  Capital Improvements 
Program 

Update the Capital Improvement Program on an 
annual basis. 

The City annually prepares and adopts as part of its annual budget process a multi‐
year program of capital improvements. The primary focus of the program is repair and 
maintenance activities. 

Continued to implement City's 
CIP program, annual budget 
adopted each year. 

The City successfully updated and 
implemented its CIP and will continue to do 
so in the 6th Cycle Housing Element planning 
period.   

12  Condominium Conversion 
Policy 

Continue to implement the ordinance.  The City will consider requests for the conversion of existing rental housing of ten or 
more units to condominium units only when the rental vacancy rate exceeds 6 
percent.  
 
In the event that a conversion request is granted, the project is subject to the 
affordable (inclusionary) housing ordinance, which requires that 15 percent of the 
units be set aside as affordable. 

No applications for conversion 
have been received so far in the 
planning period. 

The City will continue to implement the 
existing condominium conversion ordinance 
as detailed within the City’s Municipal Code.  



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 
 

Appendix A [DRAFT]                                  Page A‐5 
 

Past Performance 

#  Program  Program Objective  Program Action 
Current Planning Period 

Accomplishments 
Effectiveness and Appropriateness 

13  Residential Code 
Enforcement 

Expand the program to make complaint forms 
available in Spanish and available to download on 
the City’s website. The City will monitor and 
review code enforcement activity on an annual 
basis and identify all housing complaints by type, 
action taken, and results achieved. 

The City will expand its residential code enforcement program by making complaint 
forms available in Spanish and including additional information on the City’s website. 

A code action data base for 
housing complaints is routinely 
maintained and the complaint 
form is available in English and 
Spanish. 

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.   

14  Residential Rehabilitation  Continue to provide informational materials to 
promote this County program. 

The City of Solana Beach provides information regarding the residential rehabilitation 
program. The residential rehabilitation program addresses a wide range of 
rehabilitation needs. These include minor repairs as well as substantial structural, 
heating, electrical, or plumbing modifications, as well as technical assistance with 
applying for loans, housing inspections, and construction inspections. 

City staff continues to make 
available informational 
materials discussing the 
County’s residential 
rehabilitation program to the 
public. 

The City will continue to make available to 
residents any existing and updated 
information discussing this County program 
for as long as it remains available.   

15  Mortgage Credit Certificate 
(MCC) 

Continue to provide informational materials 
regarding this County program. 

The Mortgage Credit Certificate (MCC) program assists low and moderate‐income first‐
time home buyers. Under this program, which is administered by the County of San 
Diego, qualified first‐time home buyers are able to take a federal income tax credit of 
up to 20 percent of the annual interest paid on their mortgage. 

No applications have been 
received, the MCC handout has 
been made available at City 
Counter. 

The City will continue to make available to 
residents any existing and updated 
information discussing this County program 
for as long as it remains available.   

16  Distribute Fair Housing 
Information 

Continue to provide informational materials 
regarding fair housing. 

The City will stay informed of the current fair housing complaint process, continue to 
distribute the FHCSD’s information on fair housing, and refer fair housing questions 
and housing discrimination claims to the FHCSD. The City will distribute and make 
available informational material at both the Building and Planning Department 
counters and identify other venues (e.g., libraries and other public venues) and 
opportunities to distribute the information. The City will also maintain a record of fair 
housing inquiries, referrals for fair housing assistance, and complaints filed. 

The City distributes brochures at 
the Library and City Hall and 
participates in Fair Housing 
Council. No complaints received 
or referred to FHC during 2016. 

The City is required by State law to analyze 
current and future efforts to affirmatively 
further fair housing (AFFH) as part of the 6th 
Cycle Housing Element Update.  The City will 
continue to make materials and resources 
regarding fair housing available to the public.  

17  Energy Conservation  Complete the development of the energy 
efficiency program. 

The City will continue to implement the Solana Beach Green Building Incentive, which 
offers expedited permit processing for green building applications, permit fee 
reimbursement for projects that receive GreenPoint Rated certification, and public 
recognition. 
 
The City will continue to provide information on the City’s website regarding steps 
residents can take to increase their energy efficiency and SDG&E rebate/voucher 
programs available to Solana Beach residents and businesses. 
The City will develop an energy efficiency program for the community and continue to 
monitor pertinent legislation which would make it easier to implement solar 
installations. 
 
The City will continue to utilize the Ad‐Hoc Subcommittee on Environmental 
Sustainability to work closely with the Clean and Green committee to develop 
additional energy conservation and sustainability programs. 

The City implemented the PACE 
program in winter 2014 and 
continues to identify areas and 
programs for reducing energy 
use in the development of the 
Climate Action Plan. 
 
The City currently has 
information regarding the 
programs in the City Website, 
on the Energy Efficiency 
Programs page, including links 
to rebates and services and 
additional state information. 

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.   

18  Public Participation  Keep track of public noticing and participation 
procedures and as part of the annual review of the 
housing element, identify and implement effective 
public communication strategies. 

The City must make a diligent effort to achieve public participation of all economic 
segments of the community. As part of the annual review of the housing element, the 
City will evaluate the effectiveness of its public communication strategies 

The City maintains all notices 
provided to the public and 
mails, Eblast, places information 
on the City website and 
Facebook, and has used surveys 
to obtain feedback and 
information. 

The City is required by State law to conduct 
community engagement as part of the 6th 
Cycle Housing Element Update process.  All 
community outreach materials, workshop 
summaries, and written comments are 
included within the 6th Cycle Housing Element 
Update as well as on the City’s website.   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 
 

Appendix A [DRAFT]                                  Page A‐6 
 

Past Performance 

#  Program  Program Objective  Program Action 
Current Planning Period 

Accomplishments 
Effectiveness and Appropriateness 

19  Affordable Housing on City‐
Owned Property 

Issue RFPs to develop affordable housing on the 
City‐owned sites identified in the suitable sites 
inventory (Sites 3 and 4). 

The City will be issuing requests for proposals (RFP) for the development of the other 
two sites (Sites 3 and 4). To encourage development of these sites, the City will offer 
incentives such as a reduced fee schedule, land write‐downs, and expedited permit 
processing. 

There are currently two RFP’s on 
the City’s website.  

The City successfully completed this program 
as part of the implementation of their 5th 
Cycle Housing Element.  As part of the 6th 
Cycle Housing Element Update, the City will 
evaluate the appropriateness of these sites in 
using them to meet the City’s RHNA need, 
given the reuse requirements of State law.   

 



Appendix B: 
Candidate Sites Analysis



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix B [DRAFT]  Page B-1 

This appendix will be updated following receipt of the technical 
guidance template from the State Department of Housing and 
Community Development (HCD). 

Appendix B: 
Candidate Sites Analysis 
Candidate Sites Analysis Overview 
The Housing Element is required to identify sites by income category to meet the City’s RHNA 
Allocation.  The sites identified within the Housing Element represent the City of Solana Beach’s 
ability to develop housing at the designated income levels within the planning period (2021-
2029).  These sites are either residentially zoned or within a zone that permits residential as a 
primary use.   
 
The State Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) is currently preparing a 
standardized sites analysis inventory matrix for jurisdictions to complete.  This matrix is anticipated 
to include detailed information on the sites identified to meet the City’s RHNA, including: 

 Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 
 Address 
 Size (Net Acres as defined by the City and in Appendix D)  
 Zoning 
 Description of Existing Use 
 Ownership 
 Density 
 Potential Development Capacity (Dwelling Units) 

A summary of this information is included within the Housing Resources section (Section 3) of 
Solana Beach’s 2021-2029 Housing Element. 
 
Table B-1 shows the City’s 2021-2029 RHNA need by income category as well as a breakdown of 
the sites identified to meet that need.  The analysis within Appendix B shows that the City of 
Solana Beach has the capacity to meet their 2021-2029 RHNA allocation through a variety of 
methods, including: 

 Identification of additional capacity on existing, residentially zoned sites and 
commercially zoned sites that permit residential and a primary use 

 Identification of City owned properties suitable for the development of housing 
 Future development of accessory dwelling units (ADUs)  

 
Water, Sewer, And Dry Utility Availability  
Each site has been evaluated to ensure there is adequate access to water and sewer 
connections as well as dry utilities. Each site is situated with a direct connection to a public street 
that has the appropriate water and sewer mains and other infrastructure to service the candidate 
site. 

Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 
As a result of this legislation and an increased effort by the City to promote ADUs, the City has 
seen an increase in applications so far in 2020.  The City currently has 9 ADUs that have been 
approved for development between January 1, 2020 and April 2020, 2 of which are affordable.  
HCD guidance states that ADUs may be calculated based on the City’s production since January 



City of Solana Beach 
2021-2029 Housing Element       Appendix B - 2 

1, 2018, however Solana Beach believes that due to more recent efforts at the local level and 
further emphasis placed on ADUs through identification of Programs 1B and 1C, the City’s 2020 
performance from January to April 2020 is a more accurate depiction of the City’s future ADU 
performance.  This analysis will be updated to reflect current conditions prior to the City’s HCD 
submittal.  In accordance with State law, ADUs are allowed in all zones that allow single dwelling 
unit or multiple dwelling unit development.  Junior Accessory Dwelling Units (JrADUs) are permitted 
only in single dwelling unit zones.    

As part of the sites analysis found within this appendices, the City has accounted for future ADU 
and JADU production using the City’s 2020 performance to date.  This equates to an anticipated 
ADU development of 192 ADUs over the next 8 years, 43 of which are anticipated to be affordable.  
The ADUs not designated to meet the City’s lower income RHNA need are anticipated to be 
affordable at the moderate and above-moderate income levels.   

Table B‐1: Summary of RHNA Status and Sites Inventory 

 

Extremely 
Low/  

Very Low 
Income 

Low 
Income 

Moderate 
Income 

Above 
Moderate 
Income 

Total 

2021-2029 RHNA 316 159 160 240 875 

     RHNA Credit (Units Built)    2 2 

Total RHNA Obligations 316 159 160 238 873 

Sites Available 

Existing Residentially Zoned 
Properties 23 44 34 107 

Existing Commercially Zoned 
Properties 506 -- 190 650 

Total Potential Capacity Based on 
Existing GP and Zoning 529 44 224 757 

Accessory Dwelling Unit 
Production 43 120 29 192 

Total Sites Available 572 164 253 949 

Potential Unit Surplus 97 4 15 76 

  



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix B [DRAFT]  Page B-3 

B.1 Very Low and Low Income Sites Inventory 
This section contains a description and listing of the candidate sites identified to meet the Solana 
Beach’s very low and low income RHNA need.  A full list of these sites is presented in Table B-2.  

The City of Solana Beach has identified sites with capacity to accommodate the City’s 2021-
2029 RHNA.  This capacity is based on existing zoning and does not require the City to complete 
rezones in order to add capacity to what currently exists.  This City has identified 48 parcels within 
the high density residential, general commercial, and special commercial zones.  Each of these 
zones permits residential as a standalone use.  As shown below, the City has a past history of 
developing residential uses within these zones.  The following residential development projects 
have been constructed within the City’s general and special commercial zones:   

 636 Valley Avenue – 3 dwelling units 
 625 Valley Avenue – 2 dwelling units 
 330 S. Cedros Avenue– 8 dwelling units 
 343 S. Highway 101 – 25 dwelling units (project currently under construction 

While these projects do not contain affordable units, they show that the City has a past 
performance of developing residential units within the general and special commercial zones.  
The Housing Plan section outlines actions the City will take to promote the development of 
affordable units within the downtown and commercial areas.   

Selection of Sites 

Sites identified to meet the City’s very-low and low income RHNA were selected based on their 
ability to meet the default density of 20 dwelling units per acre and the AB 1397 size 
requirements of at least .5 acres but not greater than 10 acres.  While several sites identified in 
the City’s sites analysis do not meet this requirement, the City has a history of developing 
residential uses on parcels in the downtown that are less than half an acre.  This shows the 
viability of these sites.  Additionally, the City has identified sites under a half acre in size that are 
either adjacent or share characteristics such as common ownership.  This is shown under the 
consolidation group column of Table B-2.   

Sites were selected based on their realistic viability to accommodate lower income housing 
within the 2021-2029 planning period.  This includes an evaluation of vacant land within the City 
(Table B-2) as well as underutilized sites that may provide the potential for redevelopment to 
accommodate residential at higher densities.  Solana Beach is almost entirely built out, with the 
little vacant land within the City containing steep slopes or other characteristics which make it 
difficult to develop.  As such, all sites identified within the housing element are on non-vacant 
parcels.  As shown in the previous section, the City has a history of developing residential units on 
non-vacant parcels.   

Figure B-1 shows the locations of all parcels identified to meet the City’s lower income RHNA 
need.  A detailed map and list of candidate sites can be found on the City’s website.  

 

  



City of Solana Beach 
2021-2029 Housing Element       Appendix B - 4 

Figure B-1: Map of Very Low and Low Income Sites 

 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix B [DRAFT]  Page B-5 

Table B-2: Sites to Accommodate Low and Very Low RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Capacity 
Factor 

Potential 
Capacity Vacant Notes Consolidation 

Group 

2980910600 SC 
507 S 
CEDROS AVE 

CHURCH BRIAN L 
& DEBRA G 0.31 20 0.8 3   Existing car lot 

 

2982118100 C N/A 
CITY OF SOLANA 
BEACH 0.33 20 0.8 5   Parking lot 

7 

2982114000 C 

511 S 
HIGHWAY 
101  

HARRISON FAMILY 
TRUST 01-09-91 1.15 20 0.8 17   Gym Facility 

7 

2980102000 C 
236 S SIERRA 
AVE 236 S SIERRA LLC 0.53 20 0.8 7   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2980106100 C 

155 S OLD 
HIGHWAY 
101  101 PLAZA L L C 0.55 20 0.8 6   

Commercial 
Shopping Center 

 

2980106200 C 
120 S SIERRA 
AVE 

BRIXTON COVE 
LLC 0.58 20 0.8 8   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2980521200 C 

305  
HIGHWAY 
101  

LONGS DRUG 
STORES 
CALIFORNIA INC 
(SUBLESSEE) <LF> 1.80 20 0.8 27   

Commercial 
Shopping Center 

 

2980531700 C 

405 S 
HIGHWAY 
101  

BANK OF 
AMERICA 
NATIONAL 
TRUST&SAVINGS 
ASSN 0.98 20 0.8 15   

Commercial 
Shopping Center 

 

2980735200 SC 
214 S 
CEDROS AVE THREE HILLS CORP 0.61 20 0.8 6   

Small Commercial 
Shopping Center 

 

2980761200 SC 
342 S 
CEDROS AVE DFTC INC 0.66 20 0.8 10   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2980910100 SC 
337 S 
CEDROS ST 

HARRISON 
KEITH&SARA 0.71 20 0.8 7   

Commercial 
Shopping Center 

 

2980920100 SC 
410 S 
CEDROS AVE 

SOUTH CEDROS 
ASSOCIATES L L C 0.93 20 0.8 10   

Light 
Industrial/Storage 

5 

2980921100 SC 
0  CEDROS 
AVE 

SOUTH CEDROS 
ASSOCIATES L L C 0.91 20 0.8 11   

Light 
Industrial/Storage 

5 



City of Solana Beach 
2021-2029 Housing Element       Appendix B - 6 

Table B-2: Sites to Accommodate Low and Very Low RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Capacity 
Factor 

Potential 
Capacity Vacant Notes Consolidation 

Group 

2981121500 SC 

741  
ACADEMY 
DR 

ACADEMY 
HOSPITAL LLC 0.58 20 0.8 6   Professional Offices 

 

2981121900 SC 
524  STEVENS 
AVE 

CANTERBURY 
2008 
IRREVOCABLE 
TRUST 05-22-08 0.62 20 0.8 6   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2981122000 SC 
532  STEVENS 
AVE 

SOLANA 
PARTNERS L P 1.79 20 0.8 21   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2981122100 SC 

722  
GENEVIEVE 
ST 

SOLANA 
PARTNERS L P 2.43 20 0.8 29   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2981122200 SC 

742  
GENEVIEVE 
ST 

SOLANA 
PARTNERS L P 1.61 20 0.8 19   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2633513500 SC 
124  LOMAS 
SANTA FE  

OZAWA FARMS 
INC <DBA J&T 
INVESTMENTS> 1.82 20 0.8 28   

Commercial 
Shopping Center with 
Two Buildings 

 

2982114700 C 

647 S 
HIGHWAY 
101  

PINNACLE 
SOLANA II L L C 0.82 20 0.8 12   

Small Single-Family 
Residence 

 

2982114900 C 

731 S 
HIGHWAY 
101  BLUE MAX 1.72 20 0.8 27   

Commercial 
Shopping Center 

 

2982118400 C 

617 S 
HIGHWAY 
101 

SUNSET MOTORS 
INC 0.54 20 0.8 7   

Enterprise Rental 
Facility 

 

2982118500 C 

635  OLD 
HIGHWAY 
101  

CITY OF SOLANA 
BEACH 1.08 20 0.8 17   City Hall 

 

2982118800 C 

621 S 
HIGHWAY 
101  

ALPS HOSPITALITY 
INC 0.84 20 0.8 13   Hotel 

 

2982402400 C 
100  BORDER 
AVE 

COOPER-HARRIS 
FAMILY TRUST 01-
07-04 0.60 20 0.8 9   

Commercial 
Shopping Center 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix B [DRAFT]  Page B-7 

Table B-2: Sites to Accommodate Low and Very Low RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Capacity 
Factor 

Potential 
Capacity Vacant Notes Consolidation 

Group 

2982405800 C 

777  
HIGHWAY 
101  

PACIFIC 
EXECUTIVE PLAZA 
L L C 1.11 20 0.8 17   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2985301900 SC 

761  
ACADEMY 
DR 

MAX FIRSTENBERG 
WEINSTOCK 
FAMILY L L C 1.03 20 0.8 11   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2985302000 SC 

809  
ACADEMY 
DR 

ACADEMY 
GROUP LLC 1.03 20 0.8 12   Gym Facility 

 

7729805300 C 

329 S 
HIGHWAY 
101  

INFORMATION 
ONLY 0.96 20 0.8 15   

23 total parcels, 
mobile home spots, 
mostly vacant 

 

2980103200 C 

201 S 
HIGHWAY 
101 

KORNBERG 
FAMILY TRUST 08-
11-92 PERL FAMILY 
MARITAL TRUST 0.35 20 0.8 5   Vacant Lot 

3 

2980103100 C 
204 S SIERRA 
AVE 

KORNBERG 
FAMILY TRUST 08-
11-92 PERL FAMILY 
MARITAL TRUST 0.43 20 0.8 6   Vacant Lot 

3 

2980106300 C 
140 S SIERRA 
AVE 

CITY OF SOLANA 
BEACH 1.00 20 0.8 16   

City-Owned Surface 
Parking Lot 

 

2634210800 C 
607  LOMAS 
SANTA FE DR 

SECURITY PACIFIC 
NATIONAL BANK 
<LF> ANDERSON 
CAROL 1.05 20 0.8 15   

Commercial/Business 
Park 

 

2634210900 C 
225  STEVENS 
AVE 

SOLANA BEACH 
PRESBYTERIAN 
CHURCH 2.02 20 0.8 31   Church Facilities 

 

2630532000 C 

435 N 
HIGHWAY 
101 C C S B INC 0.22 20 0.8 4   

Existing Commercial 
Use 

6 

2630531900 C 

421 N 
HIGHWAY 
101 

NAYLOR FAMILY 
TRUST 06-02-00 0.07 20 0.8 1   

Existing Commercial 
Use 

6 



City of Solana Beach 
2021-2029 Housing Element       Appendix B - 8 

Table B-2: Sites to Accommodate Low and Very Low RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Capacity 
Factor 

Potential 
Capacity Vacant Notes Consolidation 

Group 

2630530300 C 

445 N 
HIGHWAY 
101 

OUR TOWN 
RENTALS 0.07 20 0.8 1   

Existing Commercial 
Use 

6 

2630530200 C 
N HIGHWAY 
101 

OUR TOWN 
RENTALS 0.07 20 0.8 1   Parking Lot 

6 

2980920200 SC 
444 S 
CEDROS AVE 

SOUTH CEDROS 
ASSOCIATES L L C 0.48 20 0.8 5   

Light 
Industrial/Storage 

5 

2633040800 C 

301 N 
HIGHWAY 
101 V D M 383 LLC 0.07 20 0.8 1   Existing Commercial 

4 

2633040900 C 

301 N 
HIGHWAY 
101 V D M 383 LLC 0.11 20 0.8 2   Existing Commercial 

4 

2633041000 C 

301 N 
HIGHWAY 
101 V D M 383 LLC 0.12 20 0.8 2   Existing Commercial 

4 

2633041100 C ACACIA AVE V D M 383 LLC 0.19 20 0.8 3   Vacant Lot 
4 

2633041200 C 
312 N 
ACACIA AVE V D M 383 LLC 0.08 20 0.8 0 VAC 

Single-family 
detached house 

4 

2632936000 C 

971 LOMAS 
SANTA FE 
DRIVE 

PACIFIC SOLANA 
BEACH HOLDINGS 3.98 20 0.8 63  Existing Commercial 

 

2981643200  
802  STEVENS 
AVE 

ARNAIZ RONALD 
M&HILL-ARNAIZ 
MAKAYLA R 0.51 20 1.0 4  

Two single-family 
houses and accessory 
buildings 

 

2982810900  
841  STEVENS 
AVE 

GRANADOS 
FAMILY TRUST 10-
22-18 0.59 20 1.0 6  Single-family house 

 

2980100900  
153 S SIERRA 
AVE 

UNITED STATES OF 
AMERICA 1.01 20 1.0 13  Post Office 

 

 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix B [DRAFT]  Page B-9 

B.2 Moderate and Above Moderate Sites Inventory 
This section contains a description and listing of the candidate sites identified to meet the Solana 
Beach’s moderate and above moderate income RHNA need.   

Calculation of Unit Capacity 

The capacity for sites identified to meet the City’s above moderate RHNA need was determined 
by multiplying the net parcel size by the maximum achievable density for that zoning 
designation and rounding down to the nearest whole dwelling unit.  Alternatively, the capacity 
for sites identified to meet the City’s moderate RHNA need was determined with the same 
methodology using the minimum achievable density for that zoning designation.  In taking this 
approach, the City is using a conservative methodology.  Where information is known, acreage 
has been netted out for potential constraints to development.  

Selection of Sites 

This Appendix B contains a selection of those sites that are most likely to be developed for 
moderate and above-moderate income housing.  For the purpose of identifying sites with the 
potential to be redeveloped within the planning period, this analysis considered existing 
residentially zoned parcels within the following zones based on the permitted densities within 
those zones:  

 Above moderate 
o LRc, Low Residential C 
o LRd, Low Residential D 
o LMRc, Low-Medium Residential C 
o LMRd, Low-Medium Residential D 

 Moderate:  
o MRd, Medium Residential D 
o MHRd, Medium-High Residential D 

Due to the primarily developed nature of Solana Beach’s communities, sites with a capacity 
through the existing zoning to develop for at least one additional unit were considered within the 
analysis.  In most instances, additional units are achievable through the subdivision of an existing 
property and addition of dwelling units.   

For the purposes of this analysis, accessory dwelling unit potential was calculated separately as 
outlined within the Candidate Sites Analysis Overview section above.  ADUs represent additional 
potential units to meet the City’s RHNA.   

A detailed map and list of candidate sites identified to meet the City’s moderate and above 
moderate RHNA need can be found on the City’s website.  

 

 



City of Solana Beach 
2021-2029 Housing Element       Appendix B - 10 

Table B-3: Sites to Accommodate Moderate and Above Moderate RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Potential 
Units Vacant Notes 

2630321800 LMRc 717  SEABRIGHT LN 
HARTMAN BLAYNE TRUST 
04-27-05 

0.53 4 1  Single-family house 

2630311200 LMRc 645 N RIOS AVE 
POPE S&K FAMILY TRUST 
03-24-03 

0.54 4 1  Single-family house 

2980838600 LMRc 
130 S GRANADOS 
AVE 

MUELLER FAMILY TRUST 
04-09-01 

0.56 4 1  Single-family house 

2630320800 LMRc 725  SEABRIGHT LN 

WAKEHAM RAY 
H&PATRICIA V FAMILY 
TRUST 09-16-88 

0.53 4 1  Single-family house 

2634040100 LMRd 321  EL VIENTO ST 
MARTIN JOHN A&LOIS K 
TRUST 11-06-89 

0.73 4 1  Single-family house 

2634041000 LMRd 
390  LOMAS SANTA 
FE DR 

ZIMMERMAN FAMILY 
TRUST 08-29-07 

0.65 4 1  Single-family house 

2980943200 LRc 0  GRANADOS AVE 
CARLTON FAMILY TRUST 
12-10-93 

0.34 3 1 VAC Vacant parcel 

2981215600 LRc 524 S NARDO AVE SANCHEZ FELIX 
1.19 3 2  Single-family house 

2630821700 LRc 
615 N GRANADOS 
AVE 

GUNTHER HERBERT J&W 
RUTH TRUST 11-16-77 

0.77 3 1  Single-family house 

2634020500 LRc 148 S NARDO AVE CARADINE JON C 
1.79 3 4  Single-family house 

2634022200 LRc 170 S NARDO AVE 
BATCHMAN FAMILY 
TRUST 10-13-10 

1.26 3 2  Single-family house 

2980811100 LRc 302 S NARDO AVE 
BARTHELL FAMILY TRUST 
12-12-02 

2.02 3 4  Single-family house 

2980812500 LRc 258 S NARDO AVE 
BARTHELL FAMILY TRUST 
12-12-02 

1.56 3 2  Single-family house 

2980844400 LRc 422 S NARDO AVE 
SWORTWOOD 
CHRISTOPHER 
G&HEATHER 

0.85 3 1  Single-family house 

2980844500 LRc 430 S NARDO AVE BUSER MARTIN&CYNTHIA 
FAMILY TRUST 12-03-97 0.86 3 1  Single-family house 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix B [DRAFT]  Page B-11 

Table B-3: Sites to Accommodate Moderate and Above Moderate RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Potential 
Units Vacant Notes 

2980844700 LRc 326  NARDO AVE SCHLIFF FAMILY TRUST 
05-13-10 0.68 3 1  Single-family house 

2980844800 LRc 318 S NARDO AVE MCHALE FAMILY TRUST 
02-23-18 0.74 3 1  Single-family house 

2980921000 LRc 526 S CEDROS AVE 

ESTRADA EDDIE 
M&GLORIA A 
REVOCABLE TRUST 04-
08-08 

1.10 3 1  Two single-family 
houses 

2980921300 LRc 0  RIOS AVE 

ESTRADA EDDIE 
M&GLORIA A 
REVOCABLE TRUST 04-
08-08 

0.42 3 2 VAC Vacant parcel 

2980921400 LRc 0  RIOS AVE NORTH COUNTY 
COASTAL LLC 0.40 3 1 VAC Vacant parcel 

2980934400 LRc 535 S GRANADOS 
AVE 

SIHOTA JAGBIR S TRUST 
06-14-11 1.05 3 2  Single-family house 

2631607100 LRd 403  MARVIEW DR BURGER FAMILY TRUST 
02-07-95 0.78 3 1  Single-family house 

2631607500 LRd 404  MARVIEW DR HOUSTON 1992 TRUST 12-
18-92 0.70 3 1  Single-family house 

2981331300 MHRd 820  VERA ST DYER GARY&JOAN 0.16 8 1  Single-family house 

2981331100 MHRd 834  VERA ST CLARK MIRIAM E 1992 
TRUST 06-30-92 0.15 8 1 VAC Vacant Parcel 

2982120100 MHRd 601 S CEDROS AVE GILLIAM FAMILY TRUST 
04-27-93 0.30 8 1  Single-family house 

2633510600 MHRd 147 N RIOS AVE FLAGG KENNETH&ANITA 0.29 8 1  Single-family house 

2981401400 MHRd 667  IDA AVE MURO TRUST 10-26-01 0.29 8 1  Single-family house 

2982124400 MHRd 755  CEDROS AVE D J D 2002 TRUST 04-13-
02 0.27 8 1  Single-family house 



City of Solana Beach 
2021-2029 Housing Element       Appendix B - 12 

Table B-3: Sites to Accommodate Moderate and Above Moderate RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Potential 
Units Vacant Notes 

2981400600 MHRd 635  IDA AVE HERNANDEZ FAMILY 
TRUST 07-30-07 0.27 8 1  Single-family house 

2981340300 MHRd 819  VERA ST GRACIANO ARTURO 0.27 8 1  Single-family house 

2981401800 MHRd 655  IDA AVE FOWLER CHRYSTALYNN 0.26 8 1  Single-family house 

2982932100 MHRd 804  IDA AVE GONZALES FAMILY TRUST 
02-11-99 0.51 8 1  Single-family house 

2981400900 MHRd 645  IDA AVE PICKERING JENNIFER A 
M 0.38 8 2  Single-family house 

2981340501 MHRd 833  VERA ST JONES SETH J&ROBIN K 0.46 8 2  Two small single-family 
structures 

2982932000 MHRd 0  IDA AVE BRISA MAR 
DEVELOPMENT 0.51 8 4  Underutilized site w/ 

fence 

2981623700 MHRd 0  IDA AVE K N N MANAGEMENT 
LLC 0.77 8 6 VAC Vacant Parcel 

2982604400 MHRd 0  DEL MAR DOWNS 
RD 

SAINT JAMES CATHOLIC 
PARISH IN SOLANA 
BEACH 

0.94 8 7 VAC Vacant Parcel 

2982701800 MRd N/A MARANDINO FAMILY 
TRUST 08-17-03 0.21 5 1 VAC Vacant Parcel 

2982701600 MRd 686  VIA DE LA 
VALLE  

MARANDINO FAMILY 
TRUST 08-17-03 0.41 5 1  Single-family house 

2982703500 MRd 684  VIA DE LA 
VALLE  

MENGLER 
BRUCE&GRAHAM 
SUSAN FAMILY TRUST 05-
20-15 

0.51 5 1 VAC Vacant Parcel 

2630212500 MRd 637 W CIRCLE DR STEINBERG JOSEPH 
S&DIANE H 0.46 5 1  Single-family house 

2982704400 MRd 690  VIA DE LA 
VALLE  

DOH REVOCABLE 
LIVING TRUST 01-04-12 0.44 5 1  Single-family house 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix B [DRAFT]  Page B-13 

Table B-3: Sites to Accommodate Moderate and Above Moderate RHNA 

APN Zone Address Owner Size 
(AC) 

Realistic 
Density 

Potential 
Units Vacant Notes 

2982830900 MRd 880  STEVENS AVE PELLERITO JAMES J 0.62 5 2  Single-family house 

2982704100 MRd 990  HIGHLAND DR 
M C S DEL MAR 
CORPORATE CENTER 
LLC 

1.22 5 6  Parking Structure 

26342110 C 
663 SAN RODOLFO 
DR S B T C HOLDINGS L L C 3.49 20 54  

Commercial Shopping 
Center 

26342112 C 
114 SOLANA HILLS 
DR S B T C HOLDINGS L L C 3.26 20 51  

Commercial Shopping 
Center 

26342113 C 0  SOLANA HILLS DR S B T C HOLDINGS L L C 0.51 20 8  
Commercial Parking 
Lot 

26342115 C 
667  SAN RODOLFO 
DR S B T C HOLDINGS L L C 1.55 20 23  

Commercial Shopping 
Center 

2981313000 C 616  STEVENS AVE WINDWARD PLAZA LLC 1.00 20 15  
Existing Commercial 

26330401 C 354  ACACIA AVE 
HAGIO MICHIO TRUST 
01-31-02 0.52 20 8  

Collection of Light 
Industrial Buildings 

 



Appendix C: 
Community Outreach



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix C [DRAFT]    Page C‐1 

Appendix C: 
Community Engagement Summary 
Section 65583 of the Government Code states that, "The local government shall make diligent effort to 
achieve  public  participation  of  all  economic  segments  of  the  community  in  the  development  of  the 
housing element, and the program shall describe this effort." Meaningful community participation is also 
required  in  connection  with  the  City's  Assessment  of  Fair  Housing  (AFH).  A  discussion  of  citizen 
participation is provided below.   

As part of the 6th Cycle Housing Element Update process, the City of Solana Beach has conducted extensive 
public outreach activities beginning in 2020. These recent outreach efforts included presentations, City 
Council  and  Planning Commission  Study  Sessions, Community Workshops, digital media,  and noticed 
Public Hearings. Project materials, including summaries from community workshops and public meetings, 
notices, and draft public review documents are available on the City’s website: https://www.ci.solana‐
beach.ca.us/housingelement  

Outreach  for  the  6th  Cycle Housing  Element  to  the  Solana  Beach  community,  includes  the  following 
actions:  

 Community Workshop#1  – The City conducted a community workshop on March 5, 2020 at City 
Hall  that was  advertised  using  both  handouts  and  flyers  as well  as  the  City’s website.  The 
Workshop had 13 attendees.   The workshop  is available  for viewing on  the City’s webpage at 
https://www.ci.solana‐beach.ca.us/housingelement. At the workshop participants were provided 
with  an  overview  of  the  planning  process.  The  City’s  RHNA  obligations  and  engaged  in  an 
interactive  exercise  to  focus  on  and  identify  the  responses  and  creatives  solutions  to  the 
following:  

o What are the biggest challenges to housing in Solana Beach? 
o What creative ways can Solana Beach provide housing in the future? 
o What types of programs r assistance could the City provide to facilitate housing? 
o What other opportunities or ideas do you have to address housing issues in Solana Beach? 

 
 Community Workshop #2 – The City will conduct a  second  community workshop virtually on 

October 15.  This section will be updated upon completion of that meeting. 
 

 City Council Study Session – The City will hold a City Council Study Session on October 28, 2020.  
This section will be updated upon completion of that meeting. 

 
 Housing Element Update Website – A website developed for public consumption, which can be 

accessed at https://www.ci.solana‐beach.ca.us/housingelement.  The website provides relevant 
information about the update process, key features of the housing element, project timeline and 
a calendar of events for outreach activities. The website also provided a link to the community 
survey tool as well as the contact information of city for residents and community members to 
send additional comments or request additional information.  



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix C [DRAFT]    Page C‐2 

As  required  by  Government  Code  Section  65585(b)(2),  all written  comments  regarding  the  Housing 
Element made by the public have previously been provided to each member of the City Council.  

This Appendix contains a summary of all public comments regarding the Housing Element received by the 
City at scheduled public meetings, and the Appendix has been provided to the City Council. [Note: This 
section to be updated prior to adoption to include additional public meetings and outreach.] 

   



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix C [DRAFT]    Page C‐3 

C.1  Community Workshop #1 

This section contains all available public oral comments provided during the first Community Workshop, 
as well as, provided materials and handouts. Public comments were received in written and oral form.  

   



City of Solana Beach
2021-2029 Housing Element Update
Community Workshop

For questions, please contact Joseph Lim at (858) 720-2434 or 
by email at jlim@cosb.org

The City of Solana Beach is kicking off the update for the 2021-2029 Housing 

Element! Please join us to learn about the contents of the Housing Element, the 

State’s requirements of the update process, and the schedule for public input.

WHEN: March 5, 2020, 6 p.m.

WHERE: Council Chambers, 635 Hwy 101



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Workshop 1, Summary 
Date: March 5, 2020 
 
On Thursday, March 5th, 2020 the City of Solana Beach held a public community workshop for the 2021-
2029 6th Cycle Housing Element Update.  The purpose of the meeting was to provide information on the 
Housing Element update process and to gather input and ideas from the public that will shape the goals, 
policies and programs in the Housing Element.  The workshop included a PowerPoint presentation as 
well as an interactive feedback session to answer the following questions: 

• What are the biggest challenges to housing in Solana Beach? 
• What types of programs or assistance could the City provide to facilitate housing? 
• What other opportunities or ideas do you have to address Housing issues in Solana Beach? 

A video of the full presentation and the PowerPoint slides are available on the City’s website.  Below are 
the comments and responses received at the workshop. 

What are the biggest challenges to housing in Solana Beach? 

1. Maintain open space balance and permeable land (for runoff) 
2. Lack of freely developable property 
3. Fear of the types of people who live in affordable housing 
4. Cost 
5. The parking requirements 
6. Already dense 
7. Zoning limits 
8. Support appropriate setbacks but they can be a limitation 
9. How to classify different types of housing? 

a. Ex: mobile homes, tiny homes 
10. High cost of materials and labor to produce housing 
11. Cost of land and construction 
12. Financing building and permits 
13. Calling people NIMBY’s does not help and only inflames fears 
14. Emerging ways to build, construction changes 

a. Example: 3D printers 
15. High cost of land 
16. Excessive taxation 
17. Loss of private property rights mandated by the State 
18. Regulations with HOA’s 
19. NIMBY attitudes 
20. Lack of vacant land 
21. Zoning- a lot of rural zoning on the east side 
22. State legislation creating constraints in Cities 
23. Population increases – how to accommodate growing numbers 

What creative ways can Solana Beach provide housing in the future? 

1. Limited and clearly delineated regulatory process 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Workshop 1, Summary 
Date: March 5, 2020 
 

2. Simplified ADU permitting 
3. Golf course 
4. ADUs 
5. Multi-generational and co-housing (at the train station?) 
6. Living units at businesses 
7. Adding backyard limits will destroy our neighborhood, too dense, too many cars, parking on 

streets. 
8. Reasonable expectations, cohesive positions, flexibility, education 
9. On church parking lots 
10. More mixed-use development with studio lofts 
11. Co-housing 

a. Varied designs 
b. Maybe a contest when property is selected 

12. Political will 
13. Expedite the permitting process 
14. Transit oriented development with minimum parking regulations 
15. Tiny villages (Seattle) 
16. Live work 
17. Accelerated approvals 
18. Multi-use TOD development at NCTD transit center 
19. ADUs will change the character of the community 
20. Utilize parking lot behind Vons for apartments (3 story ok!) 
21. Tie parking for ADUs to house on property  to help address parking concerns  
22. Reduce/restrict short term rentals in residential neighborhoods  

a. It limits housing for people who want to live and work full time in Solana Beach 
b. Not against it, just need to regulate it 
c. You could probably provide/build more housing is you saw that people were actually 

living full time in the City 
23. Eliminate or lower fees for ADUs if deeded affordable 
24. Allow single family homes to be split into multiple units 
25. Rethink zoning in certain parts of community such as shopping centers near freeways, they 

might be able to accommodate mixed-use/live-work 
26. Micro-units 
27. Pre-approve certain types of buildings and plans 
28. Shared parking resources 
29. To provide more affordable housing we need better public transit 

a. Frequency and additional routes 

What types of programs or assistance could the City provide to facilitate housing? 

1. Cohousing 
a. Micro-units 
b. Small units 



City of Solana Beach Housing Element Update 
6th Cycle (2021-2029) 
Workshop 1, Summary 
Date: March 5, 2020 
 

2. Down payment assistance – affordability issues 
3. Accessory Dwellling Unit (ADU)/Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (JADU) program 

a. Example: City of Encinitas 
4. Land bank/ use of existing structures and lots available 

a. CVS area  
b. Existing commercial 

5. Vertical development 
6. Mixed-use development 

a. Incentives, planning 
7. City approved auxiliary housing units 
8. Fee waivers or reduction for ADUs deed restricted affordable 
9. Annex and subdivide Rancho Santa Fe 
10. Financing for building/splitting to increase density if units are publicly available (not for within 

family) 
11. P3 ground lease any viable empty city property 
12. Research and educate on  

a. Building plans for ADUs 
b. 3D printers 
c. Architects builders etc. 

13. City can use incentives (go to the front of the line, etc) 
14. Limit affordable housing to people who serve Solana beach such as fireman, police, medical 

personnel, and teachers for instance 

What other opportunities or ideas do you have to address Housing issues in Solana Beach? 

1. New development should maintain community character (bulk, scale, and maintain 
buffers/setbacks between property) 

a. Relax standards within reason 
2. HOA issues – Park Del Mar 
3. Educate community on new regulations and options 

a. Architects 
b. Land owners 
c. Fliers at hardware stores 
d. Etc. 

4. Funding 
a. Hold contests  
b. Promotional 

5. Educate community on funding opportunities for ADUs etc 
6. Use church parking lots 













City of Solana Beach
2021-2029 Housing Element Update

The City of Solana Beach is updating the Housing Element for the 2021-2029 planning 
period. This Fact Sheet provides answers to commonly asked questions and provides 
information about the update process.

What is a Housing Element?
The Housing Element is a state-required policy document within the Solana Beach General Plan that 
establishes housing-related policies and programs addressing existing and projected future housing needs 
for all economic segments in the City. 

Key Features of the Housing Element include:

• A population and demographic community profile

• An evaluation of housing constraints and resources

• An analysis of sites appropriate for potential housing

• Development of policies, programs and objectives

What is the Regional Housing Needs Assessment  and 
Housing Element Update Process?
The Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) is mandated by State Housing Law.  The RHNA quantifies 
estimated future housing growth need and informs local planning by addressing existing and future 
housing needs that result from changes in population, employment, and households. State law requires 
cities to accommodate estimated future housing growth by identifying sites available for Housing. 

The San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) has allocated the City of Solana Beach’s regional 
share of housing units by income category:

City of Solana Beach  2021-2029 RHNA Housing Growth Need

Income 
Category

% of Median 
Family Income 

(MFI)1

Income 
Range1

Solana Beach RHNA 
Allocation 

(Housing Units)
Min. Max.

Very Low Income 0 – 50% $0 $43,150 316 units

Low Income 51 – 80% $43,151 $69,040 159 units

Moderate Income 81 – 120% $69,041 $103,560 160 units

Above Moderate Income >120% $103,561 >103,561 240 units

TOTAL 875 units

1 Income Range is based on the 2019 HUD Median Family Income (MFI) for San Diego County of $86,300.



City of Solana Beach
2021-2029 Housing Element Update

Why is the City updating the Housing Element?
The City of Solana Beach is required by state law to update its Housing Element every eight years. The 
current adopted Housing Element is for the 5th Cycle, 2013-2021 planning period. The City is now planning 
for the 6th Cycle, 2021-2029 planning period. The statutory deadline for submittal to the Department of 
Housing and Community Development (HCD) is April 30, 2021.

Housing Element Update Schedule:

The following dates are tentative. Please visit the City’s 
website for the most recent schedule as well as project 
updates and materials.

Community Workshop #1 March 5, 2020

City Council Work Session May 2020

Community Workshop #2 June/July  2020

Draft Element for Public/HCD Review August 2020

City Council Public Hearing Winter  2020-21

Importance of Housing Element Certification:

• Ensures the City complies with State Law

• Allows the City to become eligible for State grants 
and funding sources

• Demonstrates the City’s ability to meet future growth 
needs

How you can participate in the Process?

There are a number of ways you can participate and stay 
involved including:

• Two Community Workshops to learn about the process and provide your ideas.

• Review and provide comments on the public draft.

For more information, visit:
www. https://www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us

Or contact:
Joseph Lim, Community Development Director, by phone at (858) 720-2434 

or by email at jlim@cosb.org.



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix C [DRAFT]    Page C‐4 

C.2  Community Workshop #2 

The City will conduct a second community workshop virtually on October 15.  This section will be updated 
upon completion of that meeting. 

 

   



City of Solana Beach
2021-2029 Housing Element Update
Community Workshop #2

The City of Solana Beach is preparing to release the Public Review Draft of 

the 2021-2029 Housing Element. Please join us for a virtual workshop to learn 

about the different parts of the draft document as well as how you can provide 

feedback during the public review period.

WHEN: October 15, 2020, 6 p.m.

WHERE: The link to this virtual meeting will be made available on the

 City’s Housing Element Update page, located on the City’s website

 (www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us) 

For questions, please contact Joseph Lim at (858) 720-2434 or 
by email at jlim@cosb.org



Ciudad de Solana Beach
Actualización del Elemento Vivienda 2021-2029

Taller Virtual

La Ciudad de Solana Beach se está preparando para publicar el Borrador 

de la Revisión Pública del Elemento Vivienda 2021-2029. Por favor únase a             

nosotros en un taller virtual para aprender acerca de las diferentes partes 

del documento preliminar así como también proporcionar sus comentarios        

durante el periodo de revisión pública. 

CUÁNDO: 15 de Octubre de 2020, 6 p.m.

LUGAR: El lugar de enlace para esta reunión virtual estará disponible en 

la página de Actualización del Elemento Vivienda de la ciudad, ubicada en el 

sitio web de la ciudad (www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us)

 (www.ci.solana-beach.ca.us)

Para preguntas, contactar Joseph Lim a (858) 720-2434 o jlim@cosb.org



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix C [DRAFT]    Page C‐5 

C.3  City Council Study Session Notes 

The City will hold a City Council Study Session on October 28, 2020.  This section will be updated upon 
completion of that meeting. 
 

 



Appendix D: 
Glossary of Terms



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐1 

Appendix D: 
Glossary of Housing Terms 
Above‐Moderate‐Income Household. A household with an annual income usually greater than 120% of 
the  area median  family  income  adjusted  by  household  size,  as  determined  by  a  survey  of  incomes 
conducted by a city or a county, or in the absence of such a survey, based on the latest available legibility 
limits established by the U.S. Department of housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the Section 8 
housing program. 

Affirmatively  Furthering  Fair Housing  (AFFH): Affirmatively  Furthering  Fair Housing  (AFFH)  is  a  legal 
requirement that federal agencies and federal grantees further the purposes of the Fair Housing Act. AFFH 
means "taking meaningful actions,  in addition to combating discrimination, that overcome patterns of 
segregation and foster inclusive communities free from barriers that restrict access to opportunity based 
on protected characteristics. Specifically, affirmatively furthering fair housing means taking meaningful 
actions that, taken together, address significant disparities in housing needs and in access to opportunity, 
replacing  segregated  living  patterns with  truly  integrated  and  balanced  living  patterns,  transforming 
racially  and  ethnically  concentrated  areas  of  poverty  into  areas  of  opportunity,  and  fostering  and 
maintaining compliance with civil rights and fair housing laws. 

Apartment. An  apartment  is one  (1) or more  rooms  in  an  apartment house or dwelling occupied or 
intended or designated for occupancy by one (1) family for sleeping or living purposes and containing one 
(1) kitchen.  

Assisted Housing. Generally multi‐family rental housing, but sometimes single‐family ownership units, 
whose  construction,  financing,  sales  prices,  or  rents  have  been  subsidized  by  federal,  state,  or  local 
housing programs including, but not limited to Federal state, or local housing programs including, but not 
limited  to  Federal  Section 8  (new  construction,  substantial  rehabilitation,  and  loan management  set‐
asides),  Federal  Sections 213, 236, and 202,  Federal  Sections 221  (d)  (3)  (below‐market  interest  rate 
program), Federal Sections 101  (rent  supplement assistance), CDBG, FmHA Sections 515, multi‐family 
mortgage revenue bond programs,  local redevelopment and  in  lieu fee programs, and units developed 
pursuant to local inclusionary housing and density bonus programs. 

Below‐Market‐Rate (BMR). Any housing unit specifically priced to be sold or rented to low‐ or moderate‐
income households for an amount less than the fair‐market value of the unit. Both the State of California 
and  the  U.S.  Department  of  Housing  and  Urban  Development  set  standards  for  determining which 
households qualify as  “low  income” or  “moderate  income.”  (2) The  financing of housing at  less  than 
prevailing interest rates.  

Build‐Out. That  level of urban development characterized by full occupancy of all developable sites  in 
accordance with the General Plan; the maximum level of development envisioned by the General Plan. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐2 

Build‐out does not assume that each parcel is developed to include all floor area or housing units possible 
under zoning regulations. 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). A grant program administered by the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) on a formula basis for entitled communities and administered by 
the State Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) for non‐entitled jurisdictions. This 
grant  allots  money  to  cities  and  counties  for  housing  rehabilitation  and  community  development, 
including public facilities and economic development. 

Condominium. A structure of two or more units, the interior spaces of which are individually owned; the 
balance of the property (both  land and building)  is owned  in common by the owners of the  individual 
units. (See “Townhouse.”)  

Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (CC&Rs). A term used to describe restrictive limitations that may 
be placed on property and its use, and which usually are made a condition of holding title or lease.  

Deed. A legal document which affects the transfer of ownership of real estate from the seller to the buyer. 

Density Bonus.  The  allocation of development  rights  that  allow  a parcel  to  accommodate  additional 
square footage or additional residential units beyond the maximum for which the parcel is zoned, usually 
in exchange for the provision or preservation of an amenity at the same site or at another location.  

Density, Residential. The number of permanent  residential dwelling units per acre of  land. Densities 
specified in the Housing Element are expressed in units per net developable acre. 

Developable Land. Land that  is suitable as a  location for structures and that can be developed free of 
hazards to, and without disruption of, or significant impact on, natural resource areas. 

Down Payment. Money paid by a buyer from his own funds, as opposed to that portion of the purchase 
price which is financed.  

Duplex. A detached building under single ownership that is designed for occupation as the residence of 
two families living independently of each other. 

Dwelling Unit (DU). A building or portion of a building containing one or more rooms, designed for or 
used by one family for living or sleeping purposes, and having a separate bathroom and only one kitchen 
or kitchenette. See Housing Unit.  

Emergency Shelter. A facility that provides immediate and short‐term housing and supplemental services 
for the homeless. Shelters come in many sizes, but an optimum size is considered to be 20 to 40 beds. 
Supplemental  services  may  include  food,  counseling,  and  access  to  other  social  programs.  (See 
“Homeless” and “Transitional Housing.”) 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐3 

Extremely Low‐Income Household. A household with an annual income equal to or less than 30% of the 
area median family income adjusted by household size, as determined by a survey of incomes conducted 
by a city or a county, or  in the absence of such a survey, based on the  latest available eligibility  limits 
established by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the Section 8 housing 
program. 

Fair Market Rent. The rent, including utility allowances, determined by the United States Department of 
Housing and Urban Development for purposed of administering the Section 8 Program. 

Family. (1) Two or more persons related by birth, marriage, or adoption [U.S. Bureau of the Census]. (2) 
An Individual or a group of persons living together who constitute a bona fide single‐family housekeeping 
unit  in a dwelling unit, not  including a fraternity, sorority, club, or other group of persons occupying a 
hotel, lodging house or institution of any kind [Governor’s Office of Planning and Research, General Plan 
Guidelines]. 

General  Plan.  A  comprehensive,  long‐term  plan  mandated  by  State  Planning  Law  for  the  physical 
development of a city or county and any land outside its boundaries which, in its judgment, bears relation 
to  its planning.  The plan  shall  consist of  seven  required  elements:  land use,  circulation, open  space, 
conservation, housing, safety, and noise. The plan must include a statement of development policies and 
a diagram or diagrams illustrating the policies. 

Goal. A general, overall, and ultimate purpose, aim, or end toward which the City will direct effort. 

Green Building. Green or sustainable building  is the practice of creating healthier and more resource‐
efficient models of construction, renovation, operation, maintenance, and demolition. (US Environmental 
Protection Agency)  

Historic Preservation. The preservation of historically significant structures and neighborhoods until such 
time as, and in order to facilitate, restoration and rehabilitation of the building(s) to a former condition. 

Historic Property. A historic property is a structure or site that has significant historic, architectural, or 
cultural value. 

Household. All those persons—related or unrelated—who occupy a single housing unit. (See “Family.”) 

Housing  and  Community  Development  Department  (HCD).  The  State  agency  that  has  principal 
responsibility  for  assessing,  planning  for,  and  assisting  communities  to meet  the  needs  of  low‐and 
moderate‐income households.  

Housing Element. A State‐mandated element of a local general plan, it assesses the existing and projected 
housing needs of all economic segments of the community, identifies potential sites adequate to provide 
the  amount  and  kind  of  housing  needed,  and  contains  adopted  goals,  policies,  and  implementation 
programs  for  the preservation,  improvement, and development of housing. Under State  law, Housing 
Elements must be updated every eight years. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐4 

Housing  Payment.  For ownership  housing,  this  is defined  as  the mortgage payment, property  taxes, 
insurance and utilities. For rental housing this is defined as rent and utilities. 

Housing Ratio. The  ratio of  the monthly housing payment  to  total gross monthly  income; also  called 
Payment‐to‐Income Ratio or Front‐End Ratio. 

Housing Unit. The place of permanent or customary abode of a person or family. A housing unit may be 
a  single‐family dwelling, a multi‐family dwelling, a  condominium, a modular home, a mobile home, a 
cooperative, or any other residential unit considered real property under State law. 

Housing and Urban Development, U.S. Department of (HUD). A cabinet‐level department of the federal 
government that administers housing and community development programs. 

Implementing Policies. The City’s statements of its commitments to consistent actions. 

Implementation. Actions, procedures, programs, or techniques that carry out policies. 

Infill Development. The development of new housing or other buildings on scattered vacant lots in a built‐
up area or on new building parcels created by permitted lot splits. 

Land Use Classification. A system for classifying and designating the appropriate use of properties. 

Live‐Work Units. Buildings or spaces within buildings that are used jointly for commercial and residential 
purposes where the residential use of the space is secondary or accessory to the primary use as a place 
of work. 

Low‐Income Household. A household with an annual income usually no greater than 51%‐80% of the area 
median family income adjusted by household size, as determined by a survey of incomes conducted by a 
city  or  a  county,  or  in  the  absence  of  such  a  survey,  based  on  the  latest  available  eligibility  limits 
established by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the Section 8 housing 
program. 

Low‐income Housing Tax Credits. Tax  reductions provided by  the  federal and State governments  for 
investors in housing for low‐income households. 

Manufactured Housing. Residential  structures  that are constructed entirely  in  the  factory, and which 
since June 15, 1976, have been regulated by the federal Manufactured Home Construction and Safety 
Standards  Act  of  1974  under  the  administration  of  the  U.S.  Department  of  Housing  and  Urban 
Development (HUD). (See “Mobile home” and “Modular Unit.”) 

Mixed‐Use. Properties on which various uses, such as office, commercial,  institutional, and residential, 
are combined in a single building or on a single site in an integrated development project with significant 
functional  interrelationships  and  a  coherent  physical  design.  A  “single  site” may  include  contiguous 
properties. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐5 

Moderate‐Income Household. A household with an annual income usually no greater than 81%‐120% of 
the  area median  family  income  adjusted  by  household  size,  as  determined  by  a  survey  of  incomes 
conducted by a city or a county, or in the absence of such a survey, based on the latest available eligibility 
limits established by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for the Section 8 
housing program. 

Monthly Housing  Expense.  Total  principal,  interest,  taxes,  and  insurance paid by  the borrower on  a 
monthly basis. Used with gross income to determine affordability. 

Multiple Family Building. A detached building designed and used exclusively as a dwelling by three or 
more families occupying separate suites. 

Net Acre. 43,560 square feet of land area, not including public streets or road easements. 

Ordinance. A law or regulation set forth and adopted by a governmental authority, usually a city or county. 

Overcrowded  Housing  Unit.  A  housing  unit  in which  the members  of  the  household,  or  group  are 
prevented from the enjoyment of privacy because of small room size and housing size. The U.S. Bureau of 
Census defines an overcrowded housing unit as one which is occupied by more than one person per room. 

Parcel. A lot or tract of land. 

Planning  Area.  The  area  directly  addressed  by  the  general  plan.  A  city’s  planning  area  typically 
encompasses the city limits and potentially annexable land within its sphere of influence. 

Policy. A specific statement of principle or of guiding actions that  implies clear commitment but  is not 
mandatory. A general direction that a governmental agency sets to follow, in order to meet its objectives 
before undertaking an action program. (See “Program.”) 

Poverty Level. As used by the U.S. Census, families and unrelated individuals are classified as being above 
or below the poverty level based on a poverty index that provides a range of income cutoffs or “poverty 
thresholds” varying by size of family, number of children, and age of householder. The income cutoffs are 
updated each year to reflect the change in the Consumer Price Index. 

Program. An action, activity, or strategy carried out in response to adopted policy to achieve a specific 
goal or objective. Policies and programs establish  the “who,” “how” and “when”  for carrying out  the 
“what” and “where” of goals and objectives. 

Redevelop. To demolish existing buildings; or to increase the overall floor area existing on a property; or 
both; irrespective of whether a change occurs in land use. 

Regional. Pertaining  to activities or economies at a scale greater  than  that of a single  jurisdiction and 
affecting a broad geographic area. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐6 

Regional Housing Needs Assessment. A quantification by the local council of governments of existing and 
projected housing need, by household income group, for all localities within a region. 

Rehabilitation. The repair, preservation, and/or improvement of substandard housing. 

Residential. Land designated in the General Plan and zoning ordinance for building consisting of dwelling 
units. May be improved, vacant, or unimproved. (See “Dwelling Unit.”) 

Residential Care Facility. A facility that provides 24‐hour care and supervision to its residents. 

Residential, Multiple Family. Usually three or more dwelling units on a single site, which may be in the 
same or separate buildings. 

Residential, Single‐Family. A single dwelling unit on a building site. 

Retrofit. To add materials and/or devices to an existing building or system to improve its operation, safety, 
or  efficiency.  Buildings  have  been  retrofitted  to  use  solar  energy  and  to  strengthen  their  ability  to 
withstand earthquakes, for example. 

Rezoning. An amendment to the map to effect a change in the nature, density, or intensity of uses allowed 
in a zoning district and/or on a designated parcel or land area. 

Second Unit. A self‐contained  living unit, either attached to or detached  from, and  in addition  to, the 
primary residential unit on a single lot. “Granny Flat” is one type of second unit. 

Section 8 Rental Assistance Program. A  federal  (HUD)  rent‐subsidy program  that  is one of  the main 
sources of  federal housing assistance  for  low‐income households. The program operates by providing 
“housing  assistance  payments”  to  owners,  developers,  and  public  housing  agencies  to make  up  the 
difference between the “Fair Market Rent” of a unit (set by HUD) and the household’s contribution toward 
the rent, which is calculated at 30% of the household’s adjusted gross monthly income (GMI). “Section 8” 
includes  programs  for  new  construction,  existing  housing,  and  substantial  or  moderate  housing 
rehabilitation. 

Senior Housing. Typically, one‐ and  two‐bedroom apartments or condominiums designed  to meet the 
needs of persons 62 years of age and older or, if more than 150 units, persons 55 years of age and older, 
and restricted to occupancy by them. 

Shared Living Facility. The occupancy of a dwelling unit by persons of more than one family in order to 
reduce  housing  expenses  and  provide  social  contact, mutual  support,  and  assistance.  Shared  living 
facilities serving six or  fewer persons are permitted  in all residential districts by Section 1566.3 of  the 
California Health and Safety Code. 

Single‐Family  Dwelling,  Attached.  A  dwelling  unit  occupied  or  intended  for  occupancy  by  only  one 
household that is structurally connected with at least one other such dwelling unit. (See “Townhouse.”) 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐7 

Single‐Family Dwelling, Detached.  A  dwelling  unit  occupied  or  intended  for  occupancy  by  only  one 
household that  is structurally  independent from any other such dwelling unit or structure  intended for 
residential or other use. (See “Family.”) 

Single Room Occupancy (SRO). A single room, typically 80‐250 square feet, with a sink and closet, but 
which requires the occupant to share a communal bathroom, shower, and kitchen. 

Subsidize. To assist by payment of a sum of money or by the granting to terms or favors that reduces the 
need for monetary expenditures. Housing subsidies may take the forms or mortgage interest deductions 
or tax credits from federal and/or state income taxes, sale or lease at less than market value of land to be 
used for the construction of housing, payments to supplement a minimum affordable rent, and the like. 

Substandard Housing. Residential dwellings that, because of their physical condition, do not provide safe 
and sanitary housing. 

Supportive Housing. Housing with no limit on length of stay, that is occupied by the target population as 
defined  in California Health  and  Safety Code  Section 53260(d),  and  that  is  linked  to onsite or offsite 
services that assist the supportive housing resident in retaining the housing, improving his or her health 
status, and maximizing his or her ability  to  live and, when possible, work  in  the  community.  “Target 
population" means adults with low incomes having one or more disabilities, including mental illness, HIV 
or AIDS, substance abuse, or other chronic health conditions, or individuals eligible for services provided 
under the Lanterman Developmental Disabilities Services Act and may, among other populations, include 
families with children, elderly persons, young adults aging out of the foster care system, individuals exiting 
from  institutional  settings, veterans, or homeless people.  [California Health and Safety Code Sections 
50675.14(b) and 53260(d)] 

Target Areas. Specifically, designated sections of  the community where  loans and grants are made  to 
bring about a specific outcome, such as the rehabilitation of housing affordable by Very‐Low and Low‐
income households. 

Tax  Increment.  Additional  tax  revenues  that  result  from  increases  in  property  values  within  a 
redevelopment area. State law permits the tax increment to be earmarked for redevelopment purposes 
but requires at least 20 percent to be used to increase and improve the community’s supply of very low‐ 
and low‐income housing.  

Tenure. A housing unit is owner‐occupied if the owner or co‐owner lives in the unit, even if it is mortgaged 
or not fully paid for. A cooperative or condominium unit is owner‐occupied only if the owner or co‐owner 
lives in it. All other occupied units are classified as renter‐occupied including units rented for cash rent 
and those occupied without payment of cash rent. 

Townhouse. A townhouse is a dwelling unit located in a group of three (3) or more attached dwelling units 
with no dwelling unit located above or below another and with each dwelling unit having its own exterior 
entrance. 



City of Solana Beach 
2021‐2029 Housing Element [DRAFT] 

Appendix D [DRAFT]    Page D‐8 

Transitional Housing.  Shelter  provided  to  the homeless  for  an  extended period, often  as  long  as  18 
months, and generally  integrated with other  social  services and  counseling programs  to  assist  in  the 
transition  to  self‐sufficiency  through  the acquisition of a  stable  income and permanent housing.  (See 
“Homeless” and “Emergency Shelter.”) 

Undevelopable. Specific areas where topographic, geologic, and/or superficial soil conditions indicate a 
significant danger to future occupants and a liability to the City. 

Acronyms Used 

ACS: American Community Survey 
BMPs: Best Management Practices 
CALTRANS: California Department of Transportation 
CEQA: California Environmental Quality Act 
CHAS: Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy 
CIP: Capital Improvement Program 
DDS: Department of Developmental Services 
DIF: Development Impact Fee 
DU/AC: Dwelling Units Per Acre 
EDD: California Employment Development Department 
FAR: Floor Area Ratio 
FEMA: Federal Emergency Management Agency 
HCD: Department of Housing and Community Development 
HOA: Homeowners Association 
HUD: Department of Housing and Urban Development 
LAFCO: Local Agency Formation Commission 
MFI: Median Family Income 
NPDES: National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
RTFH: Regional Task Force on the Homeless 
RTP: Regional Transportation Plan 
SANDAG: San Diego Associations of Governments 
SDCAA: San Diego County Apartment Association 
SPA: Sectional Planning Area 
STF: Summary Tape File (U.S. Census) 
TOD: Transit‐Oriented Development 
TDM: Transportation Demand Management 
TSM: Transportation Systems Management 
WCP: Water Conservation Plan 



 

 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
______________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM C.2. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 

  
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
FROM:  Gregory Wade, City Manager  
MEETING DATE:  October 28, 2020 
ORIGINATING DEPT: City Manager 
SUBJECT: Senate Bill 1383 Organic Waste Requirements and Impacts 

 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Methane emissions resulting from the decomposition of organic waste in landfills are a 
significant source of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions contributing to global climate 
change. Organic materials – including waste that can be readily prevented, recycled, or 
composted – account for a significant portion of California's overall waste stream. Food 
waste alone accounts for approximately 17-18 percent of total landfill disposal. Increasing 
food waste prevention, encouraging edible food rescue, and expanding the composting 
and in-vessel digestion of organic waste throughout the State will help reduce methane 
emissions from organic waste disposed in California's landfills. Food rescue has the 
added benefit of assisting Californians who are unable to secure adequate, healthy food 
by diverting edible food to food banks and pantries.  Anaerobic digestion produces biogas 
that can be used to create electricity or renewable transportation fuels. 
 
Senate Bill (SB) 1383 refers to regulations specific to addressing these issues of diverting 
organic waste from the landfills in California.  SB 1383 was signed by Governor Jerry 
Brown on September 16, 2016.  It is considered to be the most significant waste reduction 
mandate to be adopted in California in the last 30 years, establishing targets to achieve 
a 50 percent reduction in the level of statewide disposal of organic waste from 2014 levels 
by 2020 and a 75 percent reduction by 2025. Additionally, the law grants CalRecycle the 
regulatory authority required to achieve the organic waste disposal reduction targets and 
establishes an additional target that not less than 20 percent of current disposed edible 
food is recovered for human consumption by 2025. The law focuses on both residential 
and commercial generators and comes with both performance targets and the potential 
for penalties levied against a jurisdiction for non-compliance. Enforcement and penalties 
for non-compliance begin January 1, 2022 for jurisdictions.  
 
The City of Solana Beach (City) belongs to a Joint Powers Agency (JPA) comprised of 
the cities of Del Mar, Encinitas, Escondido, National City, Poway, Solana Beach and Vista 



October 28, 2020 
SB 1383 Update 

Page 2 of 6 

 

known as the Regional Solid Waste Association (RSWA).  The primary purpose of RSWA 
is to provide stable, long-term, environmentally responsible, cost effective options for all 
aspects of solid waste disposal including recyclables and hazardous waste. Recently, the 
RSWA leadership has identified an opportunity to address some of the mandates of SB 
1383 as a region in order to capitalize on the regional nature of some of the issues and 
potentially capture some economies of scale as far as cost when addressing those issues.  
SB 1383 and how RSWA cities can work together to meet the mandates is being 
discussed in the course of that agency’s regular business.  Staff felt it appropriate to 
provide an update to the entire Council as the regulations prescribe actions that will likely 
require City resources.  
 

This is an informational item before the Council to discuss the legislation and proposed 
regulations.  
 
DISCUSSION: 
 
The following is a summary of the main requirements of SB 1383 by category to be in 
place by January 1, 2022 and the City’s current state of compliance.  
 
Recycling and Organic Waste Collection Services (Partially Compliant)  
 

All residential and commercial organic waste generators must divert organic materials, 
including food waste, green waste, and paper from landfill disposal. EDCO currently offers 
a 3-container collection program (one container each for garbage, recycling, and green 
waste), and the current program will be expanded on January 1, 2021 to include food 
waste in residential organics collection. Additionally, containers will need to meet labeling 
and color requirements. This is significant as the compost from material with food scraps 
must meet different regulations than that which contains only yard waste. In addition, only 
businesses that generated 4 cubic yards of waste or more per week were previously 
required to have a green bin.  SB 1383 now requires almost every business to pay for 
green bin service if they generate 2 cubic yards of waste or more.  Therefore, the City will 
have to educate businesses about this new requirement and associated costs. 
 

Contamination Monitoring (Non-Compliant)  
 
Annual route reviews or composition studies will be added by EDCO and the City will 
need to ensure this is completed in accordance with SB 1383 requirements.  Non-
compliance results in enforcement action and penalties to generators. This will require 
inspectors to look into bins and potentially cite for non-compliance at the household level 
if cross-contamination of the waste materials has occurred.  
 
Edible Food Recovery (Non-Compliant)  
 
Jurisdictions will be required to implement Edible Food Recovery Programs in their 
communities that include recordkeeping and inspection tasks along with the following 
planning and implementation tasks: 



October 28, 2020 
SB 1383 Update 

Page 3 of 6 

 

 

 Assess Capacity of Existing Food Recovery  
o How many food recovery organizations exist and what is their capacity to 

receive this available food? 
o How can we fund the expansion of edible food recovery organizations? 

(Grants, partnerships, sponsorships, etc.) 

 Expand Existing Infrastructure if necessary 
o What gaps do we have in our current infrastructure and what do we need to 

do to close them? 

 Inspect Commercial Generators for Compliance 
o How many commercial generators do we have? How much edible food 

could they donate?  

 Education and Outreach 
o We must develop a food donation guide that includes information on the 

following: Safe edible food donation and food safety training materials; 
Foods most needed; Foods that organizations will not accept; and the 
California Good Samaritan Food Donation Act of 2017. 

 What partnerships currently exist and what new partnerships need to be 
established? 

 
Some examples of businesses that will be considered as commercial food generators 
and to whom these statutes will apply include grocery stores, certified farmer’s markets, 
community events with a temporary food facility, and large events (an event that serves 
an average of more than 2,000 people per day).  This list is just a sample of such 
businesses.  
 
Operators of edible food generator facilities will be required to arrange collection of all 
excess edible food each day that food is served and to keep a record of each arrangement 
with each food recovery organization. In addition, operators must educate their 
employees about the requirement to recover edible food. Food recovery organizations 
will be required to maintain records of the amount of food collected, the disposition of all 
food collected, and the amount of food rejected. The City will be responsible for enforcing 
all these requirements. 
 

Education and Outreach  
 

 Food Recovery (Non-Compliant) – Jurisdictions will need to provide businesses 
that generate edible food waste with information regarding the jurisdiction’s edible 
food recovery program, generator requirements, reduction of edible food, and food 
recovery organizations.  

 

 Residential, Commercial, and Multi-Family Organics (Partially Compliant) – Upon 
implementation of the organic waste collection program, each jurisdiction must 
contact each generator directly to inform them of the requirement to recycle 
organic waste. Additionally, they must be provided with a written notice of the 
requirements every six months, unless the jurisdiction can demonstrate that 



October 28, 2020 
SB 1383 Update 

Page 4 of 6 

 

contamination within the organic waste stream is less than 10%. For generators 
that have been found to have contamination exceeding 10% within their bin, the 
jurisdiction must provide targeted education to each generator, including at least 
one written notice. CalRecycle specifies guidelines on what to include in these 
educational materials. EDCO will be a partner to meet these requirements and 
provide further outreach regarding SB 1383.  

 
Procurement of Materials  
  

 Organic Waste (Partially Compliant) – Each jurisdiction must procure recovered 
organic waste products (i.e. compost or renewable transportation fuel) in quantities 
that comply with SB 1383 requirements. Procurement quantities shall be 
determined by the State every five years and are to be based on each jurisdiction’s 
population. Once the City receives our official targets we will be better able to 
determine compliance. 

 

 Recycled-Content Paper (Compliant) – Jurisdictions must procure recycled-
content paper consistent with the Public Contract Code. Currently, the City’s paper 
product purchases contain at least 30% postconsumer recycled content, which is 
the required percentage. 

 
Ordinances (Non-Compliant)  
 
Jurisdictions must adopt enforceable ordinances or similar mechanisms to achieve local 
compliance with SB 1383, including ordinances for recycling/organics, self-haul/backhaul, 
edible food recovery, hauler regulations, and enforcement. Currently, there are no 
ordinances in place that meet SB 1383 compliance. Model Ordinances have been 
released by CalRecycle for use by jurisdictions.  
 
Inspection and Enforcement Plan (non-compliant) 
 
Additionally, all jurisdictions must adopt an inspection and enforcement plan for all 
regulated entities and the plan must be approved by Council by January 1, 2022. 
Regulated entities include Organic Collection Service entities; commercial business 
generators; multifamily residential generators; annual or regularly-scheduled events; and 
large venues. The draft regulations specify that all new businesses shall be inspected 
within one year of receiving a business license and that no fewer than 20% of regulated 
entities shall be inspected each year. The records of all inspections and enforcement 
actions must be maintained for a minimum of five years. The enforcement process shall 
begin with a Notice of Noncompliance. Prior to January 1, 2024, anyone in violation of the 
requirements shall be given educational materials. After January 1, 2024, the 
enforcement process becomes effective and will involve progressive enforcement action, 
including monetary penalties if necessary. The draft regulations also include provisions 
for a complaint process that addresses the requirements each jurisdiction must follow 
when a report of violation or complaint is received from a member of the public. 
 



October 28, 2020 
SB 1383 Update 

Page 5 of 6 

 

Compliance Reporting 
 

 Implementation Record (Non-Compliant) – Jurisdictions will report on their 
implementation and compliance with SB 1383 to CalRecycle. The Implementation 
Record will contain all actions taken for compliance with SB 1383 and shall be 
readily available upon request. This includes ordinances adopted, contamination 
records, education and outreach records, edible food recovery records, 
procurement records, enforcement records, etc. 

 

 Initial Compliance Report (Non-Compliant) – The initial Compliance Report details 
ordinances adopted and reporting items identified in the Annual Report. 

 

 Ongoing Reporting (Non-Compliant) – An annual report will need to include all 
information regarding compliance with SB 1383 (enacted ordinances, organics 
collections, contamination monitoring, food recovery, volumes, diverted, overall 
compliance of generators, etc.).  

 
Jurisdiction Penalties 
 

Penalties for non-compliant jurisdictions depend on the severity of a violation.  Violations 
are categorized as “minor,” “moderate,” or “major” and have associated fees ranging from 
$500 to $10,000 per violation per day. 
 
Generator Penalties 
 

Penalties for non-compliant generators and haulers range from $50 to $500 per offense. 
 

CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: 
 
Not a project as defined by the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no impact to the General Fund at this time, but there will be future implementation 
costs associated with SB 1383 which will be presented to Council as those costs 
considerations are analyzed. 
 
WORK PLAN:  
 
N/A 
 
OPTIONS: 
 

 Approve Department recommendation. 
 

 Do not approve Department recommendation. 



October 28, 2020 
SB 1383 Update 

Page 6 of 6 

 

 

 Provide alternative direction. 
 
DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends the City Council receive a presentation from Staff on SB 1383 and 
provide direction to Staff as appropriate. Direction could include to draft regulations and 
ordinances as required by SB 1383 for Council to consider and to explore options to 
address SB 1383 requirements collaboratively with other RSWA cities. 
 
CITY MANAGER’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve Department Recommendation 
 
 
_________________________  
Gregory Wade, City Manager  
 

 



 

 
COUNCIL ACTION: 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
AGENDA ITEM C.3. 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH 

 
  

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
FROM:  Gregory Wade, City Manager  
MEETING DATE:  October 28, 2020 
ORIGINATING DEPT: City Manager 
SUBJECT: Consideration of Resolutions 2020-136 and 2020-140 

Approving the Allocation of Community Development 
Block Grant CARES Act (CDBG-CV) and CARES Act CRF 
Funding for a Mobile Food Pantry Event and Rental 
Assistance Program and Approval of the Memoranda of 
Understanding with the Community Resource Center to 
Administer the Rental Assistance Program 

 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program provides annual grants on a 
formula basis to states, cities, and counties to develop viable urban communities by 
providing decent housing and a suitable living environment, and by expanding economic 
opportunities primarily for low- and moderate-income persons and families.  Recently, 
supplemental Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act funding was 
allocated to the CDBG Program (known as CDBG-CV) through the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) specifically to address funding needs associated 
with the COVID-19 pandemic.  The County of San Diego’s Health and Human Services 
Agency (County) is administering these funds as the grantee for the San Diego Urban 
County Region. 
 
The County previously received $2.5 million of CDBG-CV funding and of this amount, the 
City of Solana Beach (City) received $26,190, or 1.04% of the available funding.  
Recently, the County received another $4.3 million of CDBG-CV funding and the City’s 
allocation is $70,475.  At the October 14, 2020 City Council meeting, Council directed 
that $10,000 of this funding should be allocated to a mobile food pantry event around the 
holidays and the remaining $60,475 to a Rental Assistance Program.   
 
This item is before the City Council to consider adoption of Resolution 2020 – 136 and 
Resolution 2020 – 140 approving the allocation of CDBG-CV funding and CARES Act 
CRF funding as well as to approve the Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) with the 
Community Resource Center (CRC) to administer the Rental Assistance Program.  
 



October 28, 2020 
Rental Assistance Program 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
On September 23, 2020, Council allocated $61,976 of Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
Economic Security (CARES) Act funding received from the State of California to establish 
a Rental Assistance Program to help Solana Beach residents who are unable to pay rent 
due to economic hardships suffered as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.   
 
On October 14, 2020, Council discussed how to allocate $70,475 of CDBG-CV funding.  
Previously, the City used CDBG-CV funds to host three mobile food pantry events through 
the North County Foodbank in partnership with Casa de Amistad and St. Leo’s Church.  
The events were well-received, and Council directed Staff to use $10,000 of the new 
allocation to host another mobile food pantry event over the holidays. Council directed 
Staff to allocate the remaining $60,475 of the new CDBG-CV funds to Rental Assistance 
Program as well, bringing the total amount available in the Rental Assistance Program to 
$122,451 to benefit Solana Beach residents.   
 
As also discussed and supported by Council on October 14th, the Community Resource 
Center (CRC) will administer the Rental Assistance Program under two MOUs with the 
City (one for CARES Act and one for CDBG-CV).  They will receive and process all the 
applications and review the documentation to determine eligibility and issue payments to 
property owners.  CRC is a trusted community non-profit with experience working with 
low-income residents in the community and with managing federal grant and CDBG 
programs.  CRC will receive 5 percent or $6,123 of the Program Funding to cover their 
administrative costs, leaving $116,328 to distribute as grants.  As directed by Council, 
each eligible household will receive up to $2,500 to cover any rent they were unable to 
pay due to economic hardship caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. This could help 
approximately 46 households depending on the stated needs of the applicants. 
 
Because there are two sources of funding for the Rental Assistance Program, one from 
the State and one from the County, with different reporting requirements, Staff is 
preparing two MOUs with CRC in order to keep accounting and record keeping for the 
different funds separate.  The Scopes of Work and other major MOU terms are identical. 
As of the time of preparation of this Staff Report, the MOUs are still being finalized and 
will be distributed to the Council and public via a Blue Folder prior to the Council meeting. 
 
In addition, at the October 14, 2020 meeting, Council established a sub-committee 
comprised of Deputy Mayor Hegenauer and Councilmember Zito to address any issues 
or provide direction on any matters related to the Rental Assistance Program should they 
arise. 
 
CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: 
 
This project is necessary to mitigate an emergency and is exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15269(c) of the State CEQA 
Guidelines.  
 
 



October 28, 2020 
Rental Assistance Program 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no impact to the General Fund due to the use of the CDBG-CV or CARES CRF 
funds other than the dedication of Staff time.  Staff anticipates that the City will receive 
CDBG-CV funding of approximately $70,475, $10,000 of which will be used to support 
the North County Food Bank within Solana Beach and $60,475 of which will be used to 
support the implementation of a Rental Assistance Program by CRC. As reported 
previously, the City received $61,976 in CARES CRF funds, which brings the total funding 
available for the Rental Relief Program to $122,451. 
 
WORK PLAN:  
 
N/A 
 
OPTIONS:  

 

• Approve Department recommendation. 
 

• Do not approve Department recommendation. 
 

• Provide alternative direction. 
 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council: 
 

1. Adopt Resolution 2020 – 136 approving the use of CDBG-CV funding for the Food 
Distribution Event and the Rental Assistance Program. 

2. Adopt Resolution 2020 – 140 approving the use of CARES Act CRF funding for 
the Rental Assistance Program. 

3. Approve the MOUs with CRC to administer the Rental Assistance Program. 

4. Authorize the City Manager to enter into any and all agreements with the County 
of San Diego to administer the CDBG-CV program. 

 
  



October 28, 2020 
Rental Assistance Program 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

CITY MANAGER’S RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve Department Recommendation 
 
 
 
_________________________________  
Gregory Wade, City Manager 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Resolution 2020 – 136 
2. Resolution 2020 – 140 
3. CRC MOU_CDBG-CV Funds (to be distributed via Blue Folder) 
4. CRC MOU_CARES Act Funds (to be distributed via Blue Folder) 

 



RESOLUTION 2020-136 
 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SOLANA BEACH, CALIFORNIA, REQUESTING FISCAL 
YEAR 2020-2021 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK 
GRANT CORONAVIRUS FUNDS FOR THE NORTH 
COUNTY FOOD BANK AND COMMUNITY RESOURCE 
CENTER 

 
 

WHEREAS, the City participates in the Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) Program as administered through the County of San Diego (County) as the City 
is not eligible to submit as an “Entitlement City”; and 

 
WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom proclaimed a State of 

Emergency to exist in California as a result of the threat of the novel coronavirus and the 
disease it causes, known as COVID-19; and 

WHEREAS, on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared 
COVID-19 a pandemic; and 

 
WHEREAS, on March 13, 2020, a federal emergency was issued as a result of 

the rise in COVID-19 cases; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act was 
passed by Congress and signed into law on March 27, 2020; and 
 

WHEREAS, on April 9, 2020, the Department of Housing and Urban Development’s 
Office of Community Planning and Development (CPD) announced that four provisions 
in the CARES Act pertaining to the CDBG program (CDBG-CV) were immediately 
available; and 
 

WHEREAS, CPD states that grantees may use CDBG-CV funds to prevent, prepare 
for and respond to the coronavirus pandemic; and 

 
WHEREAS, the CARES Act eliminates the CDBG law’s 15% cap on the amount of 

a jurisdiction’s grant (and any program income) that is obligated in a program year for 
“public services” and makes it clear that this provision is available immediately; and 

 
WHEREAS, on September 23, 2020, October 14, 2020, and October 28, 2020, the 

City Council held public meetings to discuss and consider the use of CDBG-CV funds for 
eligible public services programs to serve residents impacted by the Coronavirus 
pandemic in Solana Beach; and 

 
WHEREAS, on October 28, 2020, the City Council approved the use of $10,000 of 

CDBG-CV funds for the North County Food Bank to administer a mobile food pantry 
distribution event and $60,475 for the Community Resource Center to administer a rental 
assistance relief program. Both programs provide needed services to Solana Beach 
residents impacted by the Coronavirus pandemic; and 

 

mbavin
Text Box
Attachment 1



Resolution 2020-136 
CDBG-CV Funding 

  Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Solana Beach, California, does 
resolve as follows: 
 

1. That the above recitations are true and correct. 
 

2. That the City Council finds the funding request and program implementation are 
necessary to mitigate an emergency and are exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15269(c) of the State 
CEQA Guidelines.  
 

3. That the City Council approves the funding allocation of $10,000 to North County 
Food Bank who will work with local non-profit partners. 

 
4. That the City Council approves the funding allocation of $60,475 to Community 

Resource Center to administer the Rental Assistance Program on behalf of the 
City. 

 
5. That the City Council requests the Fiscal Year (FY) 2020 CDBG-CV Funds in the 

amount of $10,000 for North County Food Bank and in the amount of $60,475 to 
Community Resource Center. 

 
6. That the City Council finds that all of the CDBG-CV funds, presently estimated 

at a total of $70,475, are designated to be used for North County Food Bank 
($10,000) and Community Resource Center ($60,475). 

 
7. That the City Council authorizes the City Manager to execute the County contract 

for management and implementation of the CDBG-CV program and such other 
agreements and memoranda of understanding related thereto. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 28TH day of October, 2020 at a meeting of the City 

Council of the City of Solana Beach, California by the following vote: 
      

AYES:   Councilmembers –  
NOES:   Councilmembers –  
ABSENT:   Councilmembers – 
ABSTAIN:  Councilmembers – 
      
 

______________________________ 
JEWEL EDSON, Mayor 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _______________________________ 
JOHANNA N. CANLAS, City Attorney  ANGELA IVEY, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION 2020-140 
 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
SOLANA BEACH, CALIFORNIA, ALLOCATING $61,976 
OF CARES ACT CRF FUNDING TOWARD A RENTAL 
ASSISTANCE PROGRAM AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE A MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING WITH THE COMMUNITY RESOURCE 
CENTER TO ADMINISTER THE PROGRAM  

 
WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Gavin Newsom proclaimed a State of 

Emergency to exist in California as a result of the threat of the novel coronavirus and the 
disease it causes, known as COVID-19; and 

WHEREAS, on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared 
COVID-19 a pandemic; and 

 
WHEREAS, on March 13, 2020, a federal emergency was issued as a result 

of the rise in COVID-19 cases; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act was 
passed by Congress and signed into law on March 27, 2020; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County has received an allocation from the Coronavirus Relief Fund 
(CRF) established under Title V, Section 5001 of the CARES Act; and 
 

WHEREAS, CRF funding may only be used to cover costs that: 
 
1) are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with 

respect to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID–19); and 
2) were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 

2020; and  
3) were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020, and ends on 

December 30, 2020; such costs to be referred to herein as “Eligible 
Expenditures;” and  

 
WHEREAS, the County may allocate CRF funding to cities as long as cities spend 

the funding in accordance with the CARES Act and only for Eligible Expenditures; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County finds it necessary to provide financial assistance to cities 
within the County’s geographical boundaries due to the public health emergency with 
respect to COVID-19 and that such assistance is an eligible expense under the CARES 
Act; and 
 

WHEREAS, on May 19, 2020, the Board of Supervisors allocated funding for the 
purposes set forth in this Agreement and authorized the execution of this Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, on June 10, 2020, the City Council approved the use of CARES Act 

CRF funds for Economic Support Initiatives; and 
 

mbavin
Text Box
Attachment 2



Resolution 2020-140 
CARES Act CRF Funding 

  Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 

WHEREAS on September 23, 2020, the City Council directed the use of $61,976 of 
CARES Act CRF funds to establish a Rental Assistance Program benefiting Solana 
Beach residents who cannot pay their rent due to economic hardship caused by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Solana Beach, California, does 

resolve as follows: 
 

1. That the above recitations are true and correct. 
 

2. That the City Council authorizes the use of $61,976 of the CARES Act CRF funds 
designated for Economic Initiatives toward a Rental Assistance Program 
administered by the Community Resource Center. 

 
3. That the City Council authorizes the City Manager to execute the Memorandum 

of Understanding with the Community Resource Center for use of the CARES 
Act CRF funds and take any all actions needed to effectuate the Agreement. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 28TH day of October, 2020 at a meeting of the City 

Council of the City of Solana Beach, California by the following vote: 
      

AYES:   Councilmembers –  
NOES:   Councilmembers –  
ABSENT:   Councilmembers – 
ABSTAIN:  Councilmembers – 
      
 
 
 

______________________________ 
JEWEL EDSON, Mayor 

 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _______________________________ 
JOHANNA N. CANLAS, City Attorney  ANGELA IVEY, City Clerk 



COUNCIL ACTION: 
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________ 

STAFF REPORT 
CITY OF SOLANA BEACH

TO: 
FROM: 
MEETING DATE:  
ORIGINATING DEPT: 
SUBJECT:  Amending 

Honorable Mayor and City Councilmembers  
City Manager’s Office 
October 28, 2020 
City Attorney’s Office/Human Resources Dept. 
Consideration of Resolution 2020-139 
Administrative Policy Related to Vacation Accrual 

BACKGROUND: 

Executive management and mid-management employees accrue vacation as set forth 
in the Personnel Rules and Regulations.  Pursuant to those rules, executive and mid-
management employees may not cash out any vacation time.  The City also maintains 
Administrative Policy No. 31, entitled Vacation, Sick Leave, and Other Leaves Use, and 
Accrual (“Policy No. 31”).  This policy does not currently allow executive and mid-
management employees to cash out accrued vacation. 

This item is before Council to consider adopting Resolution 2020-139 (Attachment 1) 
approving and directing the City Manager to amend current polices to allow executive 
and mid-management employees to cash out a certain number of vacation hours on an 
annual basis.

DISCUSSION: 

While revisions to administrative policies are within the City Manager’s purview, this 
policy amendment is elevated to the City Council for consideration as the changes will 
also apply to the City Manager’s benefits package. Under the proposed amendment, 
executive management employees are able to cash out up to eighty (80) hours of 
accrued leave in December of each year, provided that the employee has at least eighty 
(80) hours of accrued leave remaining after the cash out.  The amended policy would
also allow mid-management employees to cash out up to forty (40) hours of accrued
leave in December of each year, provided that the employee has at least forty (40)
hours of accrued leave remaining after the cash out.  Part-time executive management



October 28, 2020 
Vacation Policy Amendment 

Page 2 of 2

or mid-management employees would also be allowed to cash out vacation based on a 
pro-rata calculation. 
CEQA COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: 

Not a project as defined by CEQA. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The total fiscal impact of the amendment would be approximately $60,000 if all eligible 
employees cashed out the maximum available hours for Fiscal Year 2020-21.   

WORK PLAN: 

N/A 

OPTIONS: 

• Approve Staff recommendation.

• Approve Staff recommendation with alternative amendments / modifications.

• Provide direction.

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the City Council consider and, if acceptable, adopt Resolution 
2020-139 approving and directing the City Manager to amend current polices to allow 
executive and mid-management employees to cash out a certain number of vacation 
hours on an annual basis.

____________________________ 
Gregory Wade, City Manager 

Attachment: 

1. Resolution 2020-139



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-139 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF SOLANA BEACH, CALIFORNIA, AUTHORIZING THE 
AMENDMENT TO ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY RELATED 
TO VACATION ACCRUALS  

WHEREAS, the City of Solana Beach (“City”) maintains Administrative Policy No. 
31, entitled Vacation, Sick Leave, and Other Leaves Use, and Accrual (“Policy”); and  

WHEREAS, under the current version Policy, executive management and mid-
management employees may not cash out accrued vacation; and 

WHEREAS, the City desires to amend the Policy to allow executive management 
and mid-management employees to cash out accrued vacation, provided the 
employees maintain a specified amount of vacation hours in their accrual banks after 
the cash out. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Solana Beach, California, 
does resolve as follows:  

1. That the above recitations are true and correct.

2. The City Council of the City of Solana Beach hereby approves the
amendment to Administrative Policy 31 to allow:

a. Executive management employees to cash out up to eighty (80)
hours of accrued leave in December of each year, provided that the
employee has at least eighty (80) hours of accrued leave remaining
after the cash out.

b. Mid-management employees to cash out up to forty (40) hours of
accrued leave in December of each year, provided that the
employee has at least forty (40) hours of accrued leave remaining
after the cash out.

ATTACHMENT 1 



Resolution 2020-139 
Vacation Policy 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c. Part-time employees would also be allowed to cash out vacation 
based on a pro-rata calculation. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this _____ day of _______, 2020 at a regular meeting 

of the City Council of the City of Solana Beach, California by the following vote: 
      

AYES:   Councilmembers –  
NOES:   Councilmembers –  
ABSTAIN:  Councilmembers – 
ABSENT:   Councilmembers – 
 
 

______________________________ 
JEWEL EDSON, Mayor 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:   ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________  _______________________________ 
JOHANNA N. CANLAS, City Attorney  ANGELA IVEY, City Clerk 


	Minutes
	List of Demands
	Gen Fund Update FY 20/21
	Holiday Closure 
	Planning Services 
	Housing Element Update
	Organic Waste
	CDBG, CARES 
	Vacation Policy



